OFFICIAL

FULL RIGHTS VERSION
(DEFCON 705)
Conditions of Supply - Full Rights
This document is supplied in confidence to MOD in accordance with Contract No DSTL/AGR/R/PS/03
The 'CONDITIONS OF PURCHASE', by which this Purchase Order is to be governed, are to be as per Framework Agreement DSTL/AGR/R/PS/03
Purchase Order - DSTLX-1000134353
Academic-Industrial Partnership between DSTL and the University of Southampton, Thales and QinetiQ
The document comprises information proprietary to The University of Southampton and whose unauthorised disclosure may cause damage to the interests of the University of Southampton, Thales and QinetiQ.
The document is supplied to MOD as a FULL RIGHTS VERSION under the terms of DEFCON 705 (Edn 11/02) and, except with the prior written permission of the University of Southampton, Thales and QinetiQ. MOD's rights of use and dissemination in the document are limited to those set out in that Condition and the Contract for the use of Full Rights Versions of Technical Deliverables.
Requests for permission for wider use or dissemination should be made to the relevant University of Southampton, Thales and QinetiQ Channel or Account Managers.

Engineering and the Environment E&E Partners

Southampton

Unmanned Air Systems – a Capability and Research Landscape Review

A. Sóbester, D. J. J. Toal, J. P. Scanlan, S. Ramchurn¹ M. Quinlan², H. M. Figueiredo, M. O'Dell, P. Kent, D. Coe³

November 2019

¹University of Southampton ²Thales UK Limited ³QinetiQ The technology behind the next generation of unmanned aircraft systems lies at the confluence of numerous research disciplines. These cover areas conventionally associated with aircraft engineering, such as airframe design, internal combustion engine optimisation, radar systems, autopilots, communications and so on. Modern unmanned aircraft systems engineering, however, also relies on areas that the aircraft engineers of yesteryear will have seldom associated with their craft or even have heard of, such as battery and fuel cell chemistry, autonomy, human-machine teaming, micro-technologies, global positioning systems and much else.

This report aims to provide a snapshot of this underpinning technology, with a particular focus on the low TRL (Technology Readiness Level) ideas being explored in research labs around the world. Some of these ideas will turn out to be dead ends. Others will only be enabled by other technologies whose time is yet to come. But some will be key enablers of the unmanned aircraft technology of the coming decades and a few may bring about revolutions that will open up up whole new areas of applications or lead to step changes in the 'real world' usability of drones. Like all such reviews, this report makes no claims of completeness, nor does it devote exactly the same level of attention to all of the areas listed above. It does, however, aim to be a tool that will enable researchers and decision makers to gain an understanding of the directions in which this industry is headed and where some of the key roadblocks and opportunities may lie.

A few important notes and caveats.

The first one is to do with terminology. We use terms like unmanned aircraft, drone, and UAV (unmanned air vehicle) interchangeably, to mean a remotely piloted/autonomous air vehicle, without implying any further details about the aircraft (e.g., fixed wing or rotary), and without loading any of these terms with distinctive meanings.

The second important note about this document is that it is entirely based on public domain information. In compiling this report we consulted over 850 public domain documents; they are listed at the back of the report.

Third, this document makes occasional references to commercial products related to the world of unmanned aircraft systems. These are meant simply as illustrative examples. This document is not a comprehensive review or comparative survey of the commercial landscape. Readers approaching this report from a procurement perspective should treat it simply as a review of the technical background and some of the research directions and trends in the field and they are invited to perform their own due diligence in selecting a product suitable for their needs.

The following is the work of a team of researchers from the University of Southampton, Thales UK and QinetiQ. We are all grateful to the UK's Defence Science and Technology Laboratory [dstl] for their support of and guidance in the compilation of this work.

Southampton, November 2019



Contents

N	omei	nclatur	e.	6
1	Air	borne	Platform Design & Systems Integration	14
	1.1	Rotar	y Wing Platforms	14
		1.1.1	Helicopters	14
		1.1.2	Ornicopters	18
		1.1.3	Multirotors	19
		1.1.4	Cyclocopters	23
		1.1.5	Cross-flow Fan Based Aircraft	27
		1.1.6	Transitioning Rotorcraft	29
		1.1.7	Personal Air Transportation Systems	32
	1.2	Fixed	Wing Platforms	33
		1.2.1	Fixed Wing Platforms With Distributed Propulsion	34
		1.2.2	Morphing Aircraft	35
	1.3	'Vanis	shing' Drones	35
	1.4	Smart	\mathbf{Dust}	36
		1.4.1	Examples of Existing Smart Dust Systems	37
		1.4.2	Smart Dust Development & Challenges	38
2	Pro	pulsio	n Systems	40
-	2.1	Gas T	urbines	40
	2.2	Pistor	Engines	43
		2.2.1	Engines Derived From Manned Aviation Designs	45
		2.2.2	Engines Derived From Automotive Designs	46
		2.2.3	Case study: An Academic Research Team's Experience With Low Cost Piston	
			Engines	46
		2.2.4	Recent Developments	48
	2.3	Electr	ric Propulsion	49
		2.3.1	Traditional Electric Motors	49
		2.3.2	Superconducting Electric Motors	50
		2.3.3	Role of ALM in Motor Design	51
		2.3.4	The Wider Electric Powertrain	51
		2.3.1	Solid State Electric Propulsion	52
	2.4	Electr	ic – Internal Combustion Hybrid Powertrains	53
		110001		00
3	On-	board	Energy Storage & Power Supply Systems	54
	3.1	Batter	ries	54
		3.1.1	Lithium Batteries	54
		3.1.2	Primary Batteries	57

		3.1.3 Structural Batteries & Capacitors	58
	3.2	Hydrogen	59
	3.3	Solar Power	61
	3.4	Automated Refuelling & Recharging	62
	3.5	Thermal, Orographic, Dynamic & Regenerative Soaring	65
	3.6	Tethering & In-Flight Power Beaming	67
	3.7	Other Energy Sources	69
4	Mis	ssion Planning & Navigation	70
	4.1	Mission Planning	70
		4.1.1 A Selection Of Mission Planning Tools	72
		4.1.2 Research & Trends	74
	4.2	Navigation	75
		4.2.1 Global Navigation Satellite Systems	75
		4.2.2 Inertial Navigation Systems	77
		4.2.3 Terrain Referenced Navigation: Visual, LIDAR and SLAM	80
		4.2.4 Ground-based Navigation: Enhanced Long Range Navigation (eLoran)	80
		4.2.5 Infrastructure Independent Navigation: Automated Celestial Navigation	81
		4.2.6 Signals of Opportunity & All Source Positioning & Navigation	82
5	Cor	nmunications	83
Č	5.1	Control & Telemetry	83
	5.2	Mission Data	84
	5.3	Radio Frequency	84
	5.4	Software Defined Radio (SDR)	85
	5.5	Data Networks	85
	5.6	Optical Technologies	86
	5.7	Acoustic Communications	86
	5.8	Metamaterials	86
6	Sen	sor Systems	88
Ŭ	61	Radar Systems	88
	0.1	6.1.1 Synthetic Aperture Badar	91
		6.1.2 Badar Altimetry	91
		6.1.3 Microwave Badiometry	92
		6.1.4 Badar Scatterometry	92
		6.1.5 Passive Radar Systems	92
		6.1.6 Bistatic Radar / Holographic Radar	92
		6.1.7 Quantum Radar	93
		6.1.8 LIDAR	93
		6.1.9 Platform Considerations: Size, Weight & Power	94
		6.1.10 Radar & Autonomy	94
		6.1.11 Persistent Radar Surveillance	94
		6.1.12 Perching Platforms	95
		6.1.13 Mission Fit Sensor Payloads	95
		6.1.14 Applications of Radar Systems	95
		6.1.15 Advances & Trends	98
	6.2	Hyperspectral & Optical Sensors	100
		6.2.1 Panchromatic Sensors	101

	6.3	6.2.2Multi-Spectral16.2.3Pan-sharpened16.2.4Hyper-Spectral Sensors16.2.5Electro-Optical & Infrared Imaging16.2.6Visible Light16.2.7Sonar & Other Acoustic Sensors1Chemical & Radiation Sensors16.3.1Graphene1	01 01 02 06 06 07 07 07
7	Aut	pilot Systems 10	08
	7.1	Case Study: An Academic Research Team's Experience	08
	7.2	Reliability \ldots	09
	7.3	Auto-Tuning	11
	7.4	Path Planning	13
		7.4.1 The Unmanned Aircraft Systems Context	13
		7.4.2 A Broader View: General Approaches & Their Potential In Autopilot Design $\ .\ .\ 1$	14
8	Arti	icial Intelligence & Machine Vision	16
	8.1	Swarm Intelligence	10
		8.1.1 Definition of Swarm Robotics	10
		8.1.2 Advantages of Swarm Robotics	10
		8.1.3 Local Information: Communication and Sensing	17
		8.1.4 Collective Decision-Making	17
		$8.1.5 \text{Design Channenges} \qquad \dots \qquad $	10
		8.1.6 Swarm Robotics vs Multi-Robot Systems	18
		8.1.7 Examples of Swarm Robotics Systems	18
	0.0	8.1.8 Aerial Robot Swarms	18
	8.2	Advanced Recognition Systems	18
		8.2.1 Computer Vision & Deep Learning	19
		8.2.2 Object Detection	19
		8.2.3 Image Segmentation	20
		8.2.4 Generative Adversarial Networks	20
		8.2.5 Beyond Computer Vision	21
g	Prot	ection Technologies	22
Ŭ	9.1	Electromagnetic Interference	22
		9.1.1 Jamming	$23^{}$
		9.1.2 GNSS jamming	-• 24
		9.1.3 Spoofing	25
		9.1.4 Electromagnetic Pulse	25
	9.2	Signature Reduction	25
	9.3	Redundancies	26
		9.3.1 Swarms	26
10	Coll	borative Robotics & Human-Machine Teaming 12	27
	10.1	Interaction Modalities	27
		10.1.1 Gesture & Voice	28
		10.1.2 Brain-Computer Interfaces	28
	10.2	Collaborative Robotics & Human-Machine Teaming $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	29
		10.2.1 Interacting With Multiple Robots	29

10.2.2	Human-Swarm Interaction						 							 130
10.2.3	Human-Machine Teaming		 •	• •	•	•	 							 132

Nomenclature

- ABSAA Airborne Sense and Avoid
- AC Alternating Current
- ACM Automated Celestial Navigation
- AESA Active Electronically Scanned Array
- AI Artificial Intelligence
- Al Aluminium
- Al(OH)3 Aluminium Hydroxide
- ALM Additive Layer Manufacture
- AM Additive Manufacturing
- ANS Adaptable Navigation Systems
- AR Augmented Reality
- AROD Airborne Remotely Operated Device
- ARRL American Radio Relay League
- ASPN All Source Positioning and Navigation
- ASTM American Society of Testing and Materials
- ATM Air Traffic Management
- ATR Automatic Target Recognition
- BBC British Broadcasting Corporation
- BBQ Barbecue
- BCI Brain-Computer Interface
- BEA Bureau Enquêtes-Accidents (France)
- BER Bit Error Rate
- BLOS Beyond Line-of-Sight
- BMEP Brake Mean Effective Pressure

BSFC	Brake	Specific	Fuel	Consumption
------	-------	----------	------	-------------

BVLOS Beyond Visual Line-of-Sight

- C2 Command and Control
- CAMPS Civil Aircraft Missile Protection System
- CAPTEAM Collaborative Airborne Planning, Task Evaluation and Authorisation Manager

CCD Charge Coupled Device

- CDMA Code Division Multiple Access
- CFA Colour Filter Array
- CFD Computational Fluid Dynamics
- CFF Cross-Flow Fan
- CNN Convolutional Neural Network
- COMINT Communications Intelligence
- COMPACT Configurable Operating Model for Automated Control of Tasks
- CPRA Controlled Radiation Pattern Antennas
- CPU Central Processing Unit
- DAL Design Assurance Level
- DARPA Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency
- DC Direct Current
- DoD Department of Defence
- DOF Degrees of Freedom
- DSSS Direct sequence spread spectrum
- dstl Defence Science and Technology Laboratory
- DVB-T Digital Video Broadcasting Terrestrial
- EAD Electroaerodynamics
- EFI Electronic Fuel Injection
- EKF Extended Kalman Filter
- eLORAN Enhanced Long Range Navigation
- EM Electromagnetic
- EMI Electromagnetic Interference
- EMP Electromagnetic Pulse

EO Earth Observation						
EO/IR Electro-Optical / Infrared						
EPSRC Engineering & Physical Sciences Research Council						
ESM Electronic Sensor Measures						
ETH Zurich Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich						
EU European Union						
FAST Future Advanced SATCOM Technology						
FIAC Fast Inshore Attack Craft						
FIRE Fully Integrated Robotised Engine						
FKFS Research Institute of Automotive Engineering and Vehicle Engines Stuttgart						
FNIRS Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy						
FOG Fibre Optic Gyroscope						
FOPEN Foliage Penetration						
FSO Free-Space Optical						
GA General Aviation						
GaAs Gallium Arsenide						
GAN Generative Adversarial Networks						
GaN Gallium Nitride						
GCS Ground Control Station						
GLONASS Globalnaya Navigatsionnaya Sputnikovaya Sistema						
Glossary						
GMTI Ground Moving Target Indicator						
GNSS Global Navigation Satellite System						
GPS Global Positioning System						
GPU Graphics Processing Unit						
H2O Water						
HACs Human-Agent Collectives						
HALE High Altitude Long Endurance						
HCCI Homogeneous Charge Compression Ignition						
HF High Frequency (RF)						

- HFE High Fuel Economy
- I/O Input / Output
- IAI Israeli Aerospace Industries
- ICAO International Civil Aviation Organisation
- ICARUS Inbound, Controlled, Air-Releasable, Unrecoverable Systems
- ICE Internal Combustion Engine
- ICL Imperial College London
- IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
- IF Intermediate Frequency
- IMA Integrated Modular Avionics
- IMU Inertial Measurement Unit
- INS Inertial Navigation System
- IR Infrared
- IrDA Infrared Data Association
- JCTD Joint Capability Technology Demonstration
- JPL Jet Propulsion Laboratory
- LAN Local Area Network
- LCD Liquid Crystal Display
- LCO Lithium Cobalt Oxide (LiCoO2)
- LCTF Liquid Crystal Tunable Filters
- LFP Lithium Iron Phosphate (LiFePO4)
- LFV Luftfartsverket
- Li Lithium
- Li-S Lithium-Sulphur
- LIDAR Light Detection and Ranging
- LMO Lithium Manganese Oxide (LiMnO2)
- LOI Levels of Interoperability
- LORAN Long Range Navigation
- LOS Line-of-Sight
- LTE Long Term Evolution

- LTO Lithium Titanate (Li2TiO3)
- LVC Live Virtual Construction
- MADCAT Mission Adaptive Digital Composite Aerostructure Technologies
- MALE Medium Altitude Long Endurance
- MAV Micro Air Vehicle
- MAVIS Massive Atmospheric Volume Instrumentation System
- MCP Multi-Core Processor
- MDSET Multi-Domain Synchronized Effects Tool
- MEMS Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems
- MIT Massachusetts Institute of Technology
- ML Machine Learning
- MOD Ministry of Defence
- MP Mission planning
- MRFS Multi-Function RF System
- MTBF Mean Time Between Failures
- MUM-T Manned, Unmanned-Teaming
- MWR Microwave Radiometry
- NaBH4 Sodium Borohydride
- NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration
- NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organisation
- NATS National Air Traffic Service
- NCA Nickel Cobalt Aluminium Oxide (LiNiCoAlO2)
- NCC National Coordinating Center for Communications
- NCM Nickle Cobalt Manganese Oxide (LiNiCoMnO2)
- NED North-East-Down
- NH3 Ammonia
- NiMH Nickel Metal Hydride
- NIR Near Infrared
- NLP Natural Language Processing
- NOC National Oceanography Centre

- NOTAR No-Tail-Rotor
- NOx Nitrogen Oxides
- NRL US Naval Research Laboratory
- NWP Numerical Weather Prediction
- O2 Oxygen (molecularH2O)
- OMPS Onboard Mission Planning System
- P3HB poly-3-hydroxybutyrate
- P4HB poly-4-hydroxybutyrate
- PACT Pilot Authority and Control of Tasks
- PATS Personal Air Transportation System
- PDF Pseudo-Derivative Feedback
- PHA poly-hydroxyalkanoate
- PHBV poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate)
- PID Proportional Integral and Differential
- PIV Particle Image Velocimetry
- PLA Polylactic Acid
- PNT Position, Navigation and Time
- PRM Probabilistic Road Maps
- PRS Public Regulated Service
- QUARC QinetiQ UxV Autonomy Research Capability
- QuASAR Quantum-Assisted Sensing and Readout
- Radar Radio Detection and Ranging
- RC Remote Control
- RDE Rotating Detonation Engine
- RF Radio Frequency
- RGB Red Green Blue
- RIBI Remote Intelligence for Building Interiors
- RLG Ring Laser Gyroscope
- RPM Revolutions per Minute
- RRT Rapidly Exploring Random Trees

- RTG Radioisotope Thermoelectric Generator
- RTK Real-time kinematic
- SACI Spark Assisted Compression Ignition
- SAR Synthetic Aperture Radar
- SATCOM Satellite Communications
- SBAS Space Based Augmentation System
- SCADE Safety-Critical Application Development Environment
- SDR Software Defined Radio
- SFC Specific Fuel Consumption
- SHARP Stationary High-Altitude Relay Platform
- SiGe Silicon-Germanium
- SLAM Simultaneous Location and Mapping
- SMART Smart Material Actuated Rotor Technology
- SnCl2 Tin Chloride
- SoOP Signals of Opportunity
- SPCCI Spark Controlled Compression Ignition
- STANAG Standardization Agreement (NATO)
- STOL Short Take-off and Landing
- SWAP Size, Weight and Power
- TBC Thermal Barrier Coatings
- TEF Task Execution Framework
- TEL Tetraethyllead
- THOR Transformable Hovering Rotorcraft
- TRL Technology Readiness Level
- TRM Transmit / Receive Module
- TT&C Tracking, Telemetry & Control
- TU Delft Technische Universiteit Delft
- UAS Unmanned Air System
- UAV Unmanned Air Vehicle
- UEL UAV Engines Ltd.

- UHF Ultra High Frequency (RF)
- UK United Kingdom
- UMTS Universal Mobile Telecommunications System
- US United States
- USA United States of America
- USN US Navy
- UV Ultraviolet
- UxV Unmanned Vehicle (undefined environment)
- VHF Very High Frequency (RF)
- VO2 Vanadium Oxide
- VR Virtual Reality
- VTOL Vertical Take-off and Landing
- WLAN Wireless Local Area Network
- WPT Wireless Power Transfer
- YSZ Yttria-Stabilized Zirconia

Chapter 1

Airborne Platform Design & Systems Integration

The definition of an unmanned air system (UAS) encompasses a huge variety of aircraft platform types and scales, from large HALE aircraft to pico scale rotorcraft weighing tens of grams, and sub-millimetre scale 'smart dust'. Each UAS platform is, by definition, a complex integration of multiple components and sub-systems which combine to make the system as light and efficient as possible. No aircraft platform concept can ever be successful without such tight integration and we observe this time and time again throughout the literature.

The following chapter considers the two primary categories of aircraft platform, fixed and rotary wing along with their various derivatives and also introduces the less familiar concept of 'smart dust'. The current state of the art of each platform is considered in turn and we identify researchers both developing completely new platforms and finessing and improving the performance of existing platforms through the adoption of new technologies.

1.1 Rotary Wing Platforms

The concept of a rotary wing aircraft is not a recent one and has, in fact, been around in one form or another as long as the concept of fixed wing flight. There are, however, a considerable number of platforms which fall within the rotary wing category. Here we define a rotorcraft, or a rotary wing platform, using the rather loose definition of an aircraft whose main source of lift is derived from some form of rotating wing. Based on this definition the majority of rotary wing aircraft are capable of VTOL or, at the very least, STOL.

The following review commences by considering what is probably the most familiar and longest serving rotary wing aircraft, the helicopter. We then consider a novel variant of the helicopter, the *ornicopter*, before moving on to discuss multirotor aircraft. Cyclocopters and their mechanically simpler cousins, crossflow fan based aircraft, are then considered before moving on to aircraft capable of transitioning between flight modes. Finally, given their potential as a future driver of rotorcraft technology, personal air transportation systems are considered.

1.1.1 Helicopters

Perhaps one of the most instantly recognisable aircraft configurations due to the plethora of manned variants used by air taxis, emergency services etc., the helicopter employs a single primary lift rotor usually mounted onto a fuselage with a secondary tail rotor used to cancel the torque of the main rotor and enable yaw control. Helicopters employ a relatively complex mechanical system to enable control of the aircraft with a swash plate used to translate pilot inputs from the non-rotating fuselage to control the pitch of the rotating blades. Most multi-rotor aircraft forego this complexity in favour of directly driven propellers. Nevertheless, there are a number of unmanned helicopter systems currently in operation.

Helicopters have been an integral part of manned flight operations in their current guise since the 1940s and take little introduction. Rather than focus on the underlying physics or operation of these aircraft, we instead focus on the research trends in helicopter design over the past 5-10 years.

Given the relative maturity of the underlying principles of helicopter design it is rather unsurprising that there have been very few step changes in helicopter performance in recent years. Instead the story is one of gradual incremental improvement from a variety of disciplines and, as is typically the case for a mature technology, improvements are aimed towards robustness with respect to uncertainty, emissions improvements, fault tolerance etc. As noted by Ormiston [606] the mission performance of conventional helicopters has essentially plateaued with future leaps in capability unlikely without a shift to derivatives of the traditional helicopter configuration.

The rotor blades of a helicopter have undergone a significant transformation from the 1940s as experimental investigations coupled with advances in computational fluid dynamics simulations have driven the development of novel blade tip shapes [245] in the pursuit of higher levels of efficiency. Despite these developments, and as noted by Brocklehurst and Barakos [245] this has not resulted in a single overriding 'best' blade design. With the slowing down in blade efficiency improvements research has begun to focus more on blade robustness to icing [798], impact damage [751] and interactions with complex flows e.g. those behind a ship [714] while the growing trend towards aircraft electrification has opened doors for improvements in lift and propulsive efficiency due to the ability to more effectively control rotor RPM [696].

The drive for electrification is perhaps more prominent in manned helicopter systems rather than unmanned systems which tend to be already electrified, particularly when one considers relatively small-scale unmanned helicopters. Never-the-less it is worth considering here as advances made in the electrification of manned systems flow down to improve unmanned systems and frequently the proof of concept prior to application in a manned system is development of an unmanned demonstrator. Electrification introduces a number of other advantages in the design and efficiency of helicopters, the need for highly contaminant oil is reduced, complexity and mass of the engine is reduced while efficiency is increased, part wear is reduced while reliability is increased due to removal of the gearbox [696]. The ability to easily and independently modify main and tail rotor rotational speeds could greatly improve overall performance and expand the flight envelope while the removal of the engine and transmission would almost eliminate internal noise and vibrations. Serafini et al. [696] suggest that by 2030 a Li-S based electric helicopter will have equivalent performance to an existing fuel powered aircraft, in terms of cruise speed, endurance etc.

The prevalence of electrification within unmanned helicopter systems coupled with the current low power densities of batteries has led a number of researchers to explore the development of autonomous docking, recharging and battery swapping [543, 746]. With increasing battery capacity one might expect research in this area to become redundant over time, however, requirements for autonomous delivery systems will still drive a need for docking and automated payload swapping (see Section 3.4 for more on automated recharging).

Helicopter control is a significant and ongoing area of research within the current literature which focuses on the development of control systems which are effective at coping with more extreme conditions and manoeuvres for both unmanned and manned systems. Hu and Gu [432] point out that the challenges facing the control of large-scale helicopters include dealing with system uncertainties e.g. ground effect, near ground wind gusts and atmospheric turbulence and development of control systems capable of stabilising a helicopter across all of the highly complex manoeuvres that it is capable of performing. When examining the literature on both manned and unmanned helicopter systems the major focus in recent years has been on finding solutions to these control problems compared to



Figure 1.1: NASA wind tunnel test of the SMART rotor hub (image courtesy of NASA).

other areas of investigation. Significant effort, for example, has been expended investigating systems to dampen the response of underslung loads [231, 232], be more robust to uncertain operating conditions [194, 486, 334, 453] and operate at the optimal trim conditions [537]. Considerable research has also gone into methods for controlling helicopters when landing on moving or oscillating platforms in the presence of unfavourable flow conditions such as the deck of a ship [431, 801, 435]. Goulos and Bonesso [381] demonstrated that through optimal control of rotor speed and blade twist mission fuel consumption and therefore NOx production can be reduced by 5% and 8% respectively, compared to a fixed rotor.

Helicopters can face unexpected engine failure which can result in loss of the aircraft. Over recent years multiple researchers have developed approaches for control of helicopters during autorotation [510, 739, 491, 698]. Setu and Abhishek [698], in particular, have flight tested this capability using a Pixhawk 2.0 flight controller. Other efforts to develop robust control systems include those for actuator failures [629], obstacle avoidance [313, 794], operation in a degraded visual environment [727] and autonomous landing in cluttered previously unmapped terrain [685].

A further extension of helicopter control research encompasses the development rotor flaps with associated control loops [732]. The smart material actuated rotor technology (SMART) rotor, for example, includes a piezoelectric-actuated trailing-edge flap on each blade. The full scale rotor demonstrated that an 80% reduction in vibratory hub loads and up to 6dB noise reduction through active control of the flap.

Other recent research on improving the robustness of autonomous helicopter systems include intelligent algorithms to deal with windy conditions when flying long distances [321] and the optimal trajectory control within 'aggressive' manoeuvring [365].

As with all classes of aircraft there is a continual drive towards smaller and lighter airframes. The unmanned 100g micro helicopter developed by Bermes et al. [227] is a good example of developments within this area, however, in the past 3-4 years research into advanced helicopter configurations has been driven primarily by the need for an autonomous helicopter system to explore Mars [712, 392, 210]. Whilst the proposed Martian platform could not be classed as 'micro' in terms of its physical dimensions, the lower air density of the Martian atmosphere means that the rotors will be operating at extremely low Reynolds numbers [712] (<5000). Recent successful flights of helicopter systems designed for operation on Mars have therefore been forced to make advances in flap dynamics and rotor sensitivity to edgewise flows [392] which will naturally filter down over time to improve the performance of terrestrial micro helicopter designs. Of course Mars is also a GPS denied environment which necessitates advances in robust vision-based navigation systems [210], a capability which terrestrial micro helicopters, operating within buildings etc. can also take full advantage of in time.

Both Yeo [834] and Ormiston [606] have identified a requirement for an increase in cruise speed and



Figure 1.2: Sikorsky Rotor Systems Research Aircraft (RSRA) compound configuration (image courtesy of NASA).

range over that currently offered by a 'traditional' helicopter configuration and propose the compound helicopter as an alternative to a tiltrotor as a way in which these requirements could be fulfilled in the future. Originally investigated in the 1950s, compound helicopters have been largely ignored until recently due to the aeroelasticity issues associated with early prototypes which saw the tiltrotor overtake it as a preferred configuration to meet 'highspeed' mission requirements [606]. As the forward speed of a helicopter increases asymmetric flow conditions adversely affect the lifting and propulsive force capabilities of the rotor [834], a compound helicopter includes an additional fixed wing and/or propulsor which unload the main rotor in terms of the lift and propulsive force it is required to produce as forward speed increases. As the rotor is unloaded the pitch or RPM can be reduced reducing the level of asymmetric flow that the rotor sees and increasing the efficiency of the entire system in cruise. Hover performance can, however, be impacted due to the additional mass and, as with a tiltrotor, the level of performance advantage over a helicopter depends heavily upon the mission profile. Regardless of this, the compound helicopter configuration offers a considerable reduction in complexity over a tiltrotor configuration.

Research and development of compound helicopters has fallen far behind that of tiltrotors and helicopters with Ormiston [606] outlining the improvements required to realise their full potential. These include low-drag hub with a minimal frontal area, low-drag rotor design, advances in numerical simulation and control. Controller design is particularly important given the complex coupling between the rotor and propulsor in flight to ensure trim.

The future of helicopter development over the coming 5-10 years and beyond is therefore a mixed bag. With the exception of fundamental research into the aerodynamics and control of helicopters with rotors operating at low Reynolds numbers, improvements to 'traditional' helicopter configurations appear to be incremental and focused on robustness and control. Increased electrification in manned aircraft will demonstrate some advantages but the impact of this on unmanned systems will be less significant given that they are generally already electrified. The future, however, appears to be in developing hybrid concepts such a tiltrotors and compound helicopters which may be improved further still through the application of current and near term advances in helicopter technologies such as smart material rotors, greater electrification and control algorithms.

1.1.2 Ornicopters

As noted above, a conventional helicopter configuration requires some mechanism to cancel out the torque from the main rotor. Typically this is achieved through the use of a tail rotor or a similar system such as the Fenestron or NOTAR (no-tail-rotor) systems which employ, respectively, either a shrouded ducted fan within the tail fin or variable pitch fan within the tail boom to counter the main rotor torque and provide yaw control. The tail rotor, no matter the mechanism, consumes a substantial amount of the power generated by a helicopter, can suffer from control problems, is noisy and can be a significant cause of helicopter reliability issues [792]. Harris et al. [411], for example, state that 50% of US civil helicopter accidents between 1963 and 1997 are attributed to the tail rotor system. Removal of the rotor therefore has the potential of reducing maintenance and reliability issues and improving overall efficiency.

There are a number of other ways in which torque cancellation can be achieved. A counter rotating coaxial main rotor can be employed to cancel the torque as can a secondary offset rotor i.e. a bicopter or twincopter configuration such as on the Boeing Chinook. A pair of intermeshing blades, (a syncrocopter) can have a similar torque cancelling effect. An alternative approach is to design the operation of the main rotor such that no torque is imparted onto the fuselage in the first place. Inspired by flapping wing ornithopters which provide both propulsion and lift through the flapping of the aircraft's wings, Theo van Holten, proposed the concept of an aircraft with a set of rotating flapping wings, the Ornicopter [424]. This system consists of a single rotor helicopter that uses a set of flapping blades to propel the rotor thereby eliminating the reaction torque on the fuselage [772, 771].

Since its inception in 2002 the ornicopter concept has been almost exclusively developed by researchers at TU Delft. There are relatively few publications on the subject with the most recent in 2016 being an extension of the work carried out by Wan as part of his PhD thesis [792]. While perhaps currently being a relatively niche subject of investigation the ornicopter does offer some advantages over traditional helicopter systems although, as will be discussed below, these do currently come at a cost.

Wan's PhD thesis [792] represents the most extensive survey of the ornicopter literature and includes an investigation into the various aspects of the design, performance and operation of an ornicopter. By developing a series of ornicopter design and analysis tools Wan successfully demonstrated that compared to a conventional helicopter configuration (the BO-105), ornicopters have similar power requirements [791, 793], similar longitudinal and lateral stability but offer lower yaw stability [790], a smaller flight envelope [791] and suffer increased vibratory loads [792].

As noted above the removal of the tail rotor should remove a significant proportion of the power requirements for the rotorcraft. While this is indeed true, the main rotor of an ornicopter has been demonstrated to be less efficient than that of a traditional helicopter so that the overall power requirements are similar for both concepts [791]. Wan demonstrated that an ornicopter requires a larger rotor compared to a conventional helicopter configuration to reduce the induced power and keep the total increase in required power to a minimum [793].

Compared to the baseline BO-105 helicopter Wan demonstrated that an ornicopter with similar performance requirements suffered from poorer directional handling qualities. Removing the tail rotor impacts both the yaw stability and yaw damping [791] of the aircraft. However, Wan also demonstrated that implementing a simple stability and control augmentation system can improve performance somewhat [790].

Wan also demonstrated that ornicopters can suffer from a reduced flight envelope as they are more susceptible to rotor stall than a conventional helicopter configuration due to the larger variation in the angle of attack of the blades [792, 791]. However, stall performance has been demonstrated to be improved by reducing the mean blade element angle of attack.

Rather unsurprisingly, given the flapping mechanism through which an ornicopter achieves flight,

these systems tend to generate significantly higher unfavourable vibratory loads than a conventional helicopter. These loads have been shown to be reduced significantly through the addition of more blades and/or through the modification of the blade flapping modes themselves [792].

As well as introducing additional vibrations into the system the flapping nature of the rotor coupled with the need to vary the level of flapping at different points around the circumference of the rotor requires a more complex mechanism than that of a traditional helicopter. However, whilst helicopters have generally converged around a mechanical configuration employing a swash plate to control blade pitch, there has been no convergence around a single solution to control of an ornicopter's rotor. Wan [792, 791] provides an interesting overview of the potential solutions to this particular mechanical problem which include a secondary swash plate, a gearwheel or some form of mechanism with an eccentricity. While a more complex rotor mechanism means an increase in maintenance and a potential reduction in reliability of the ornicopter the removal of the maintenance and reliability issues associated with the tail rotor may potentially outweigh this. However, the lack of convergence around a single mechanism and the lack of flying platforms and associated failure data makes this difficult to confirm. The unmanned demonstrator aircraft developed by TU Delft suffered from mechanism failures [792] during its operation although it was successful at illustrating the validity of the principle and that a torqueless state could be achieved.

While offering an attractive tailless single rotor configuration, the disadvantages associated with an ornicopter configuration currently limit it to an interesting research activity. However, this does not necessarily mean that the issues discussed above cannot be overcome in the coming 10-15 years making the ornicopter a viable alternative to other unmanned rotorcraft systems. Wan demonstrated [793] that if the design space for an ornicopter can be increased by introducing more freedom in terms of the number of rotors, flapping configuration, rotor size etc. such a system can approach the performance of an equivalent helicopter. Further improvements through, for example, the application of high harmonic control, individual blade control and variable RPM motors may also improve vibratory response of the system and performance in general [792]. But perhaps the immediate future of such a configurations lies in its hybridisation with other, more conventional configurations. A system whereby a fin compensates for torque in forward flight thereby enabling the flapping to be minimised and permitting the system to operated in a similar manner to a traditional helicopter has already been proposed by Wan [792].

1.1.3 Multirotors

We define a multirotor aircraft as any aircraft whose primary source of lift and propulsion is provided by one or more rotor. While helicopters can be considered within this classification we consider them separately due to their additional tail rotor and their ubiquity and familiarity within manned flight and, as shall be illustrated within this section, there are other single rotor platforms which cannot be classified as traditional helicopters.

Multirotor aircraft can come in a variety of configurations with different numbers of rotors and examples exist throughout the literature of almost all of them, these include monocopters, bicopters, tri-rotors, the familiar quadcopter, pentacopters, hexacopters, octocopters, decacopters, dodecacopters while the two seat Volocopter 2X has 18 rotors. Even within these broad classifications based on the number of rotors there exist sub-variants depending on whether or not the rotors are coaxial, for example, 'Y6' and 'X8' configurations of hexacopter and octocopter exist. Even within the relatively familiar quadrotor class there are a number of ways of arranging the rotors including, for example, 'X', '+', 'Y4' and even a four rotor V-tail. While a detailed taxonomy of each of these configurations and rotor arrangements is beyond the scope of this review it is worth noting that multirotors are highly configurable and flexible systems offering potential for considerable levels of redundancy with increasing numbers of rotors.

The past 5-10 years has seen a rapid growth of the unmanned multirotor sector fuelled by reductions



Figure 1.3: A NASA research & development quadrotor (image courtesy of NASA).

in flight controller cost and complexity, improvements in motor design and battery capacity [299]. The literature therefore contains many examples of these systems being applied throughout numerous walks of life to achieve mission objectives that would either have been impossible beforehand, required additional much more expensive equipment or a manned flight. Multirotors have been extensively deployed as a low cost platform for aerial imaging for a variety of purposes including, mapping for road design [864], rut and pothole identification [666], detection of pedestrians [298] and ground targets [422] including cattle [652]. Other example applications include the localisation of radio signals [317], inspection [702], wave and tidal measurement [437] and atmospheric sampling [384]. Multirotors have also seen a rapid rise in popularity within the hobbyist market due to the relative ease with which they can be flown by a novice compared to a fixed wing aircraft whilst providing a stable camera platform. The growth of drone racing activities in recent years has also helped catapult multirotors into the minds of the populous with drone racing leagues being set up around the world, races broadcast on television and large prize funds of over \$100,000 on offer.

Naturally such a growth in the range of multirotor applications corresponds with a considerable increase in research effort. This research can be divided up into a number of distinct categories including, control, path planning, fundamental aerodynamics research, system design processes, novel multirotor configurations and nano (<0.1m and 50g) systems.

Despite the plethora of commercial off the shelf multirotor flight control systems developed over recent years, particularly for the hobby market, the development of novel multirotor control approaches continues to be an active research area. The development of novel rotor configurations naturally drives the development of novel control systems but beyond this there are fundamental control issues encountered by all unmanned systems which are also of interest in multirotor development e.g. controller robustness. Hori et al. [425] have explored the development of an adaptive control system capable of effectively controlling the altitude of a multirotor even if the dynamics of the aircraft change. Arear et al. [187] and Michieletto et al. [566] have explored control systems which enable a multirotor to remain in place at a fixed altitude upon failure of one or more propellers. Michieletto et al. [566], in particular, demonstrated the limitations of a number of existing multirotor configurations in this regard. Other researchers have investigated position and attitude control [471, 357, 262], control in the presence of a suspended payload [697, 482], autonomous landing onto a moving ground vehicle [394] and rejection of disturbances [279].

Moving beyond basic control the literature includes a number of examples of efforts to implement automated path planning and obstacle avoidance particularly within GPS denied environments. Such a capability has a number of applications including, for example, inspection, search and rescue, parcel delivery and surveillance. Pradeep et al. [626] and Dorling et al. [315] have investigated solutions to path planning problems for trajectory optimisation for, respectively, precision agriculture and drone delivery. However, a number of authors have developed systems for path planning within enclosed spaces where there are an unknown number of obstacles at unknown locations [247, 591, 197, 335]. Azevedo et al. [197], for example, developed a LIDAR-based real-time collision avoidance system while Brown and Rogers [247] developed a real-time probabilistic path planner for UAVs operating in cluttered environments. Drone racing has also been employed as a framework through which automated path planning and obstacle avoidance systems can be developed and tested due to the useful figure of merit, lap time. Jung et al. [456], for example, have developed a real-time system for an autonomous racing drone capable of quickly and reliably detecting race gates and avoiding collisions based on deep learning. Moon et al. [579] provides an interesting comparison of a number of University teams attempting to autonomously traverse a drone racing course using a variety of techniques. it is envisaged that this competition will be held annually and drive multirotor control and automation technologies in the same way that competitions such as the Large Scale Visual Recognition Challenge have driven the development of deep learning and neural networks in recent years.

Unlike fixed wing aircraft where there has been an established design methodology for a number of decades there is no agreed definitive approach to the design of a multirotor system. The recent literature therefore contains a number of examples of authors attempting to remedy this gap in knowledge by proposing different conceptual design and optimisation tools [359, 809, 476, 604, 292] each of which have been validated against a range of different aircraft sizes and configurations. Given the wealth of potential multirotor configurations possible a number of authors have wrapped their conceptual design systems up within a larger optimisation workflow to enable the optimal number of blades etc. to be automatically determined for a particular mission [541, 542, 213]. These efforts in developing optimal multirotor propulsion systems [493] and quantify other figures of merit such as manoeuvrability and agility [778] or station-keeping [201].

The multirotor literature contains a number of examples of research into the fundamental aerodynamics of rotor blades all of which have important implications for the prediction of multirotor dynamics and therefore controller development and aircraft design. This includes performance characterisations of static rotors [307], studies into the impact of overlapping rotors [242, 713] and the influence of the rotor wash on wind speed measurements [576]. Models to predict the performance of multirotors in hover [379] and in ground effect [675, 648] have been developed. Other researchers have focused on the prediction of multirotor performance in forward flight determining, for example, that airframe drag is an important factor limiting multirotor performance [282] and that the performance of the rear rotor can be significantly impacted by the wake from the leading rotor in flight [590].

In addition to the above fundamental research into control, path planning, design and aerodynamics the literature also contains a number of interesting developments of the fundamental multirotor platform itself. Hockley and Butka [423], for example, have developed a biologically inspired autonomous monocopter. Inspired by the shape of a maple seed (similar to a sycamore seed with only one 'blade'), the aircraft consists of a single foam wing rotating around an axis located at one tip with a ducted fan on the opposite side of the axis of rotation. This configuration enables flight in any direction as well as hover, with any sensors on board the aircraft becoming scanning due to the rotation of the entire system. Whilst an automated flight of this system has been demonstrated the aircraft remains to be fully characterised and there is a considerable lack of experimental data going forward. Both Fujita et al. [346] and Tafreshi et al. [747] have taken the concept further and developed improved control systems for similar monocopter aircraft but currently this configuration remains somewhat of an oddity.

Shaiful et al. [699] have developed the monocopter concept a little further to create a unique transitioning aircraft. The Transformable Hovering Rotorcraft (THOR) concept consists of a wing which is able to rotate around a central axis and simultaneously effect changes to the pitch of either side. Similar to a monocopter, except the system is symmetric as opposed to asymmetric, the aircraft

can take off and hover vertically when the entire aircraft rotates. As it moves forward the rate of rotation then slows until the aircraft transitions into a flying wing.

Traditionally multirotor systems employ a set of fixed pitch propellers with the RPM of the electric motor effecting control. As stated above this is mechanically a much simpler mechanism than the swash plate found on helicopters, however, the pitch control offered by a swash plate can bring aerodynamic benefits. Porter et al. [625] recently explored the application of variable pitch rotors in the context of a multirotor and found that compared to fixed pitch rotors the system was more efficient in terms of energy consumption under similar operating conditions.

Multirotor performance is naturally limited by the capacity of any on board power source. Jung et al. [457] developed a tethering system through which to power a multirotor and achieve considerable increases in endurance for low-altitude applications. Another option to reduce power consumption is to remove the loiter stage entirely from a mission and enable the aircraft to land, or perch, on buildings, lamp posts or similarly tall infrastructure in order to perform a surveillance mission. Lin et al. [518], for example, have developed an automated perching system to enable a multirotor to land onto, and remain attached to, a fence post.

Perching drones are an example of one of the ways researchers are beginning to explore alternative ways in which multirotors can more effectively interact with their environment. The work of Molina and Hirai [575] is an excellent illustration of the potential direction this kind of research may go in the coming years. Most aircraft are designed so that any payload carrying capability is focused around the aircraft's centre of gravity, this way any change in mass does not impact the stability of the system. Multirotors are no different in this regard, however, this constraint restricts the possible interactions that such an aircraft can have with the environment, a multirotor working in a warehouse for example cannot take packages off a shelf as the centre of gravity will shift considerably far forward. However, Molina and Hirai [575] employed the landing gear as a kind of 'tail' by which any shift in centre of gravity can be offset by moving the landing gear rearwards.

Continuing on the theme of environmental interaction Zhao et al. [854] developed an extremely novel transformable multirotor with the aim of passing through small spaces and wrapping itself around objects it is required to lift. The system consists of a set of six linked modules each with a shrouded propeller and a battery. Each of these modules are daisy-chained together using a set of actuators thereby enabling the modules to articulate in 2D. The entire system is capable of transforming in mid-air from a conventional hexagonal to a 'long thin' configuration on anything in between. This enables the system to navigate small passages and also 'wrap' around objects and lift them up.

Whilst multirotor systems can be relatively reliable due to the redundant rotors their reliability can be improved further through inbuilt health monitoring. Brown et al. [249] have developed an embedded structural health monitoring system capable of classifying propeller, motor, and structural hardware failures via an inbuilt sensor network. Such systems enable monitoring of future drone delivery systems, for example, thereby maximising in-air time and enabling maintenance planning and scheduling in a manner similar to that of modern aero engines.

The current limitations of multirotor endurance and forward flight speed has also led researchers to investigate cooperative missions with fixed wing aircraft. Jo et al. [454], for example, present experimental results from a number of tests whereby a multicopter is launched from a fixed-wing UAV involving automated waypoint navigation and landing. Advances in this area could see swarms of smaller multirotors launched from much larger unmanned or manned aircraft for rapid mapping or search and rescue missions.

As with all unmanned systems, multirotors have been the subject of continual efforts to miniaturise them. Nano quadcopter systems have been developed by a number of researchers in recent years. Zhang et al. [852] for example, developed a nano quadcopter weighing less than 45g with a diameter of under 0.15m which was capable of fully autonomous flight within a GPS-denied environment with the aid of an on-board vision system. More recently Garcia et al. [354] developed and successfully test flew an autonomous nano quadcopter smaller than that of Zhang et al., weighing only 27 g. The latest version of this aircraft, the Crazyflie 2.1, is available for purchase for approximately £200. With a maximum payload of 15 g and a flight time of 7 minutes with the stock battery, the platform is intended to be an open source development kit for swarming research.

The recent rapid rise of the multirotor has seen it achieve a ubiquity that other unmanned aircraft platforms can only dream of. it is not uncommon, for example, to find small quadcopters on sale on the high street or even in supermarkets, ASDA, for example, have sold nano quadcopters for as little as $\pounds 29$. Whilst perhaps not offering the performance of some of the cutting edge systems described below these 'toys' are indicative of the pace of multirotor development.

The above literature review points to a number of potential developments in multirotor design in the short to medium term. Improved predictive tools derived from a better understanding of the fundamental physics of multirotor flight combined with optimisation methods will help drive multirotor designs to be as efficient as possible using whatever components are available at the time. Controllability issues will continue to be addressed and drive towards a robust, fault tolerant control system capable of reacting seamlessly to changes in the dynamics of the system as it interacts with its environment. These improvements will also drive the development of novel mission specific systems or indeed systems which can exploit the flexibility of the multirotor platform to maximise multipoint operating performance through either in-flight adaptation/morphing or through hybridisation with other platforms e.g. transitioning aircraft. The continual investigation of applications for multirotors will see the development of further novel mechanisms through which multirotors can effectively interact with their environment again driving the need for an aircraft capable of adapting in real time.

1.1.4 Cyclocopters

A cyclocopter, otherwise known as a cyclorotor or cyclogyro, consists of an aircraft with a number of rotors each of which comprise of several blades rotating about a horizontal axis perpendicular to the direction of normal flight [844]. A pitch control mechanism within each rotor is used to vary the pitch of each blade relative to the tangent of the circle prescribing the blade's path. The pitch of each blade can be adjusted in both amplitude and phase angle thereby permitting a resultant thrust force in any direction perpendicular to the axis of the rotor. In operation the rotor is similar to that of a Voith Schneider propeller within the marine industry [615]. The cyclocopter is not a recent concept but has been around for over 100 years with early investigations into the feasibility of the concept dating back to 1909 [316, 663]. However, despite several attempts in the 1930s it is only in the past 15-20 years that a viable flying cyclocopter platform has been demonstrated. Failure of the early prototypes can be attributed to a number of factors including, available materials, the mass of contemporary engines and insufficient knowledge of the aerodynamics governing the operation of such rotors [695] all of which have advanced considerably in recent years.

There are predominantly two variants of the cyclocopter class of aircraft within the literature. The first is a dual rotor configuration with an additional conventional propeller used to counter the torque from both rotors and control pitch. The second is a quad rotor configuration which employs counter rotating rotors for torque cancellation and pitch control. While both of these quad rotor aircraft have two sets of parallel rotors other 'plus' configurations have been demonstrated within the literature [221].

Cyclocopter demonstrators within the literature vary hugely in their scale. Lee et al. [509] successfully demonstrated a large 110 kg cyclocopter with two cycloidal rotors and a single tail propeller for torque cancellation and pitch control in stable hover. Benedict et al. [221] successfully flight tested a 800g cyclocopter with a four rotor plus-shaped configuration. Benedict has also been heavily involved in the drive to produce cyclocopters of smaller and smaller scale. In 2014 Benedict et al. [222] demonstrated the successful flight of a 100g aircraft with a dual rotor and tail propeller configuration while in



Figure 1.4: An example of a cyclocopter (courtesy Wikipedia Creative Commons)

2016 the Benedict was also involved in the development of a 29g aircraft [663]. Also a dual rotor plus tail propeller configuration but with no exposed rotor shaft, novel semi-elliptical blades and a custom built autopilot with PID controller weighing just 1.3g, this aircraft represents the smallest cyclocopter ever built.

Other variations of the cyclocopter concept include an all-terrain version developed by Shrestha et al. [708] which is capable of transition between aerial, terrestrial and aquatic locomotion. At just over 1 kg this aircraft employs four cycloidal rotors as a source of propulsion for all modes with terrestrial locomotion achieved using the outer 'rims' of the rotor and aquatic locomotion achieved with the aid of a set of floats with the rotors providing propulsion.

Schwaiger and Will's D-Dalus [695] concept employs four cyclorotors integrated within a lifting body to improve performance in forward flight while Ejaz et al. [328] have proposed the integration of dual cyclorotors within a novel autogyro concept.

The cyclocopter concept offers a number of considerable advantages over other rotary wing platforms. As already alluded to above the ability to change the pitch of the blades enables thrust to be vectored anywhere within the 360° parallel to the rotor's plane of rotation. The system therefore offers an almost instant variation in the magnitude and direction of thrust [578] which enables VTOL. Forward flight can also be achieved without the need to pitch the aircraft forward as with a more traditional multirotor concept or the need for a complex transition mechanism. The ability to instantaneously vector thrust may also offer enhanced manoeuvrability compared to conventional multirotor concepts which improves its utility in highly constrained and indoor operations [663]. A cyclocopter's rotors typically operate as a reduced RPM compared to conventional propellers which results in a lower noise level further enhancing their utility with respect to both indoor and general surveillance operations [663, 221, 578].

Unlike a traditional propeller the span of each blade within a cycloidal rotor experience broadly the same flow regime which makes the design and optimisation of these blades a much simpler operation compared to a propeller [663]. There are numerous examples throughout the literature that demonstrate that the power loading (thrust per unit power) of a cycloidal rotor can be considerably higher than that of a conventional rotor of a similar scale resulting in a much more efficient hover [844, 663, 221, 578, 219]. Some studies even suggest that the efficiency of a cycloidal rotor will improve with increasing forward flight speed [695]. Shrestha et al. [710], for example, state that the power to maintain a steady level flight drops by approximately 35% up to an advance ratio of 1.0 due to the associated increase in the lift producing efficiency of the rotor. Reed et al. [643] demonstrated a similar, 40% increase in efficiency for a rotor operating at low Reynold's numbers at advance ratios approaching unity.

A major advantage of a cyclocopter is its performance at small scales relative to that of a conven-

tional multirotor. At low Reynold's numbers $O(10^4)$ conventional rotor blade designs suffer from a considerable reduction in their efficiency due to the large values of profile drag associated with thick boundary layer formations on the blades, large induced losses, and higher rotational and turbulent losses in the downstream wake of the rotating blades [663, 708]. This, coupled with the efficiency of the micro-motors necessary to power the propellers at this scale, can considerably limit the endurance of such an aircraft. The cycloidal rotors on a cyclocopter, however, have the potential to be much more efficient at small scale with some studies, particularly at the University of Maryland, demonstrating optimised cycloidal rotors with greater efficiencies than conventional propellers at these scales [221, 219].

The main disadvantage of the cyclocopter concept is relatively large fraction of the aircraft's empty weight taken up by the rotor when compared to other rotary wing concepts [222, 439]. Even though the rotor itself may be more efficient the additional mass of the rotor can put the system at a disadvantage. Rotor mass is directly related to the mass of the individual blades and the design of these blades to overcome the centrifugal loads on the system. Given that the stiffness of the blades directly impacts their performance it is only been with the advent of modern composite materials that the blade and rotor mass has been reduced enough to make the cyclocopter a viable system.

A considerable amount of work has carried out within the literature with regards to understanding and predicting the aerodynamic performance of cycloidal rotors. Analytical models have been developed which enable rapid preliminary design [844, 578] while 2D and 3D CFD simulations have been shown to correlate very well with experimental tests both in terms of overall performance prediction and the prediction of flow features [844, 509, 841, 434]. It should be noted though that the 'virtual camber' experienced by a blade section, whereby the rotation of the blade results in a curvilinear flow over the aerofoil, can introduce difficulties when using analytical techniques [578].

These investigations have highlighted the important design features for this class of aircraft. The number of blades has a direct impact on both the level of thrust [844] produced by the system and the systems vibratory response. However, there is a diminishing return with each additional blade and a clear optimal number of blades for maximum system efficiency has been reported by a number of authors [844, 615, 814]. With an increasing number of blades the level of interference between blades increases [749].

While the planform shape of the rotor blades has been shown to have some impact on performance (increasing aspect ratio can slightly improve efficiency) the blade aerofoil and pitching motion are generally agreed to be significantly more important [434]. Highly cambered aerofoils have been demonstrated to reduce performance while symmetric aerofoils, or aerofoils with a small amount of positive or negative camber (-5 - 1%) have been shown to be beneficial [814, 849, 750]. Aerofoil thickness has also been shown to have an impact on performance with thicker aerofoils impacting the level of variation in the side forces produced by the system, thereby reducing vibrations, delaying stall and also enabling a better structural design [814, 433]. Thicker aerofoils do, however, also increase drag which requires a compromise to ensure overall rotor performance is maximised [750, 814]. Blade tip vortices have been demonstrated to play an important role in determining the performance of a cycloidal rotor [841] with end plates often being added to reduce their impact [509]. Neglecting the cross flow caused by these vortices has been shown to impact the prediction of the force produced by a blade at each circumferential position [841].

As noted above control of the pitch of the blades as they rotate around the rotor axis is extremely important to effectively and efficiently control the aircraft. High levels of pitch can lead to blade stall and a dramatic increase in the required power [844] whilst the non-zero horizontal component of the resultant thrust force [749], caused by a combination of the Magnus effect, variations in the induced velocity on the advancing and retreating blades and the impact of virtual camber [509], requires the ability to offset the phase angle of the blade pitch to correct. To date the most common form of pitch control in flight proven aircraft is a four-bar linkage [221, 222, 578, 711] mechanism with the location of

a secondary axis eccentric to the main rotor axis used to control the level and phase of blade pitch. it is been long recognised that in order to fully exploit the potential performance advantage of a cycloidal rotor, particularly at higher advance ratios [220], that a more effective control method of blade pitch is required. The literature contains few examples of research into the pitching mechanism itself with only the novel 3D cam designed by Adams et al. [167] considered a significant departure from the norm. This mechanism offers much more control over the blade kinematics and takes a significant step towards achieving the non-traditional pitching advocated by Siegel et al. [715] for improved forward flight performance.

As alluded to above the unsteadiness in the flow produced by the rotor causes oscillations to the sideways component of the thrust vector, although the time averaged resultant force and direction doesn't vary as a result of this it can introduce vibrations into the system. While these vibrations can reduce the mechanical efficiency of the rotor as a whole [433] there has currently been little research into ways in which these vibrations can be minimised apart from the inclusion of additional blades. Two bladed rotors, for example, are particularly impacted by unwanted vibrations [844].

The literature contains a number of examples of research into the structural design of individual rotor blades. Modern lightweight rotor blades tend to be the result of a combination of carbon or glass fibre composite materials, styrofoam, mylar film and balsa wood [844, 509, 440] to ensure they are as light and as stiff as possible. Experiments carried out by Halder and Benedict [401] into the impact of flexible blades on rotor performance demonstrated a clear correlation between an increase in blade flexibility and a simultaneous decrease in rotor thrust and increase in power consumption.

A number of studies have been performed into the control aspects of cyclocopters, however, these have primarily been carried out on the dual rotor plus tail propeller configuration [709, 430, 710]. Shrestha et al. [709], for example, developed a 6-DOF flight dynamics more of a cyclocopter from which it was discovered that there existed an inherent roll-yaw coupling in forward flight. Hrishikeshavan et al. [430], employed a series of infra red cameras and reflective markers to track a similar aircraft and determine the control derivatives. Again lateral and yaw modes were noted to be highly coupled but the longitudinal and heave degrees of freedom were found to be decoupled from remaining system dynamics. Hrishikeshavan et al. also estimated that the system was tolerant to gusts of 7.9 and 17 m/s in the longitudinal and lateral directions respectively, a significant increase over the 3 m/s tolerance of the shrouded MAV used to compare their cyclocopter to. Shrestha et al. [710] eventually implemented a control strategy based upon their earlier work on a dual rotor cyclocopter becoming the first to achieve stable forward flight using purely thrust vectoring i.e. without pitching the aircraft forward and maintaining a level attitude throughout.

Unlike more established rotary wing concepts the cyclocopter has undergone relatively little research and development and, as already noted, has only really become practical in the past 15-20 years. To date the focus of this research has been on miniaturisation, understanding the aerodynamics and control with little attempts made to date to serious optimise the system given the tools that have been developed. Some examples of the potential performance gains which are possible given time already exist within the literature. During the development of their D-Dalus concept Schwaiger and Wills almost doubled the thrust produced by their system whilst maintaining both the power consumption and the size of the rotor [695]. Tang et al. [750] demonstrated the potential for the application of modern design optimisation techniques to improving the performance of a cycloidal rotor with an 18%increase in rotor efficiency by modifying only four parameters controlling the aerofoil shape. Much more considerable improvements could be possible by optimising more parameters relating to the aerofoil shape and considering the pitching kinematics etc. There is considerable scope to investigate alternate mechanisms to control blade pitch which could potentially unlock huge improvements in performance be they from improved aerodynamic performance but by also removing losses from the mechanism itself. The incorporation of dielectric barrier discharge plasma actuators for active flow control has already been explored within the literature [815] and shows promise for the improving performance of the rotor blades under deep stall.

In terms of future applications. The suitability of the cyclocopter to small scale 'micro' aircraft operations is abundantly clear from the literature with relatively little optimisation an impressive figure of merit of 0.65 has already been demonstrated at a Reynold's number of approximately 18,000 [643]. This is already on par with the most efficient multirotor system at that scale and with better understanding of the flow physics, better pitch control mechanism and a lighter design this performance could improve further in the coming 5-10 years. Applications to high altitude long endurance (HALE) aircraft which also operate at relatively low Reynolds numbers compared to conventional aircraft could also potentially benefit from improvements in cyclorotor technology [715]. Gaps in knowledge around the performance of such as system in forward flight at advance ratios greater than one currently exist but given the improvements in thrust (\times 3.5 that in hover when travelling at 30m/s) in forward flight demonstrated by the D-Dalus [695] development program there is potential for the system to be more widely employed in higher speed aircraft designs. Regardless, advancements will need to be made in the design of the rotor in order to reduce the mass of the system to make it truly competitive.

1.1.5 Cross-flow Fan Based Aircraft

First proposed by Paul Mortier in 1893 [723] the cross-flow fan (CFF) could be considered as a distant cousin of the cycloidal rotor. Like the cycloidal rotor the fan consists of a series of blades rotating around an axis perpendicular to the main direction of air flow. However, unlike a cycloidal rotor there tends to be more blades in a CFF, the pitch of each blade is fixed as they spin around the axis and the fan is contained within a housing. A typical CFF consists of an inlet to the fan followed by an outlet to a diffuser. Unlike an axial fan the walls of the casing play a significant role in the overall performance and efficiency of the fan [609]. End walls are present to remove tip losses from the system which results in a broadly two dimensional flow [294], although some recent evidence suggests some 3D features close to the end walls when the fan has a relatively short span [264]. As with a cycloidal rotor the flow through a CFF passes over the blades twice, however, as the pitch of the blades remains constant a pair of eccentric vortices are created on the walls on either side of the fan. This recirculating flow introduces a loss into the system which makes it difficult for a CFF to be as efficient as a more traditional axial fan or propeller. While adiabatic compression efficiencies of up to 80% can be achieved with a CFF this is lower than that for an axial fan [619]. However, what the CFF lacks in efficiency it makes up for in compactness with the large span to diameter ratio of the fan making it ideal for embedding within structures and removing blade strike hazards [294, 619, 498, 497].

CFFs are ubiquitous within the air conditioning industry with their large span to diameter ratio being extremely useful for generating 'curtains' of cooling or heating air. As their application within this industry is rather mature a great deal of research has gone into optimising both the blades and casing for maximum efficiency. However, despite interest in CFF based STOL/VTOL aircraft as part of a US research programme in the 1980s [294] it is only in the past 20 years that CFFs are beginning to be investigated seriously for aerospace applications. As a result the knowledge and understanding of CFFs as a source of propulsion, lift augmentation, vectored thrust and for boundary layer ingestion is relatively immature.

CFF based concepts explored in the 1980s tended to employ the CFF as a high lift device or a way to ingest the boundary layer along a wing or fuselage, see the review by Dang and Bushnell [294]] for details. However, none of these concepts found their way onto a flight demonstrator aircraft. It wasn't until the late 1990s, early 2000s, when Patrick Peebles¹ took a different approach to cross-flow fan technology that a CFF based aircraft was successfully flown. Rather than embedding a small fan within the wing or fuselage the 'fanwing' concept employed a large fan along the entire leading edge of a wing with an unusually thick triangular aerofoil profile. Here the fan generates and maintains a vortex

¹http://www.fanwing.com/

at its center, the low pressure from which 'sucks' the wing forward. Simultaneously the fan accelerates air over the top of the wing which increases the lift generated and gives the concept its impressive STOL performance. Whilst not a true CFF, as there is no throughflow, it remains an interesting concept in its own right with considerable potential for further development. Recently, for example, Siliang and Zhengfei [716] developed a tandem variant of the fanwing concept with a combination of CFD and wind tunnel experiments used to optimally place the wings relative to each other.

Apart from the fanwing concept the majority of CFF based fixed wing aircraft concepts employ a fan embedded within the wing. The work of Kummer and Dang [498, 497] on their 'propulsive wing' concept is an excellent example of this particular configuration. Here a CFF is embedded within the trailing edge of the wing with the inlet to the fan on the wings upper surface and the fan exhaust along the trailing edge of the wing. Here the CFF is used to augment lift, maintain flow attachment at high angles of attack and provide propulsion. Kummer and Dang successfully demonstrated an aerofoil with the CFF in this configuration to be capable of maintaining attached flow up to 40° while simultaneously generating a lift coefficient of over 6.4 and a drag coefficient of -0.98 i.e. significant amounts of lift and thrust. Compared to other embedded CFF concepts Kummer and Dang chose to base their concept upon an unusually thick aerofoil. This enables the aircraft to be structurally more efficient and, coupled with the enhance lift capability, carry larger ($\times 10$ volume) and heavier ($\times 3$ mass) loads compared to similarly sized aircraft [723].

More recent fixed wing applications reported within the literature have focused on CFFs for lift augmentation and boundary layer ingestion. Kerho et al. [469] performed a series of experimental tests to determine the performance of a transonic aerofoil with an embedded CFF. The results of this study found that an aircraft crusing at Mach 0.7 would see a 62% reduction in drag and an 11.8% reduction in fuel burn. Karpuk et al. [462] and Raush et al. [642] have also explored the potential for CFF integrated within a wing as, respectively, a high lift device and for simultaneous thrust and lift enhancement with Karpuk et al. considering the CFF within the conceptual design of a medium range 'multi-purpose' aircraft. Perry and Ansell [619] explored the use of CFFs for distributed propulsion and boundary layer ingestion in transonic aircraft and noted that unlike axial fans CFFs are relatively insensitive to inlet distortion issues.

The literature contains a number of examples of CFFs being employed within VTOL aircraft. Explored primarily by the Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, California over the past 20 years, a number of CFF VTOL concepts have been successfully flight tested. Mainly the work of masters students studying at the school there are no peer reviewed publications on this concept within the academic literature.

Gossett [380] initially investigated the application of a CFF within a hypothetical single seat VTOL aircraft and determined that the concept was viable but only with further investigation of power plant technology and fan design parameters and relationships. These finds inspired a number of masters projects to further understand CFF performance and driving parameters. Cordero [286] investigated the impact of a set of inlet guide vanes, however, a notable improvement in performance was not demonstrated. Delagrange [302] investigated a CFF propulsion system experimentally and demonstrated that reliable computational simulations could be performed. Kwek [499] performed a set of numerical and physical experiments comparing straight and helical CFF blades which suggested that helical blades offered a potential 40% increase in thrust, less variation in torque and a reduction in noise compared to straight blades. Martin [550] demonstrated, once again through a combination of numerical and experimental studies, that an optimal number of blades exists in order to maximise thrust and isentropic efficiency. This work was instrumental in demonstrating that a thrust to weight ratio of greater than 1.0 could be achieved. Yeo [835] assessed the feasibility of combining two CFFs in a back-to-back configuration and whether or not thrust could be augmented. Yeo found that air is indeed drawn between the CFF housing and the degree of this is dependent on the separation between the fans. However, it was also discovered that when close to the ground such a configuration can suffer from a degraded performance due to the being drawn back up between the fans.

In 2015, Smitley [723], exploited all of the prior research at the Naval Postgraduate School to successfully fly, unterhered, the worlds first CFF VTOL. The aircraft consisted of a quad rotor configuration and was capable of a maximum thrust to weight ratio of 2.57. Fulton took the concept a stage further and combined the concept of Kummer and Dang [498] with Smitley's quad rotor to produce a quad rotor configuration where the fans are embedded within aerofoils. This aircraft was developed with the view to enable transition from vertical to horizontal flight but was only demonstrated in hover.

As noted above, CFFs are relatively immature within the aerospace sector and, in addition to, the aircraft concepts described above the literature contains numerous examples of more fundamental research being carried out in recent years on CFFs. Considerable work has been carried out to understand the impact of each of the CFF design features on system performance. Govardhan and Sampat [382] investigated the impact of blade number using 3D CFD and confirmed a change in performance with blade number. Toffolo [759] carried out a campaign of numerical simulations on different fan configurations and noted that the fan performance depends on the complex non-axisymmetrical flow within the fan which is heavily influenced by the design of both the casing and geometry. In particular the radial width of rear wall followed by the position and the thickness of the vortex wall were deemed to be the most important parameters. Fukutomi and Nakamura [347] studied the effect of angle and length of the inlet guide wall and noted an improved efficiency was possible by suppressing the circulating flow. As part of his PhD thesis, Kummer [497] performed a series of extensive validation studies of his numerical models and used these to study the impact of CFF parameters. He found that the vortex cavity, reducing the blade-wall clearance and moving to blades described by double circular arcs all have positive impact on efficiency. Kim et al. [480] reinforced the importance of the rear wall shape and noted that an Archimedes spiral raised the pressure coefficient of the CFF and improved efficiency. Similar to the later work of Cordero [286], Chen and Choi [278] investigated the impact of an inlet guide vane on CFF performance, however, they employed only a single vane compared to the cascade of inlet vanes studied by Cordero. Chen and Choi also noted that inlet angle will impact efficiency but unlike Coredo suggest that there is an optimal angle. The study carried out by Ozer and Kumluta [609] represents the single most exhaustive experimental study of the impact of CFF design parameters. Carrying out over 480 PIV experiments, they quantified the relative impact of a number of important design parameters on flow rate and determined that the vortex wall and curvature of the volute have a significant effect on flow rate. Noise production from CFFs has also been recently studied by Yang and Wu [831] and Li [517].

In addition to investigating a tandem fanwing, Siliang et al. [717] also investigated the CFF as a helicopter anti-torque device. Embedded along the length of the helicopter tail boom the CFF would provide a lateral thrust and therefore an opposing torque to that from the main rotor. The concept was demonstrated to be successful during wind tunnel tests.

Despite this recent research there remain a number of areas less understood. The influence of CFF design on noise production in aerospace applications is very immature. Little has been done on high speed flight either in an embedded configuration or within a multirotor configuration. The influence of the CFF within any configuration on aircraft flight dynamics has not been explored to date neither has the application of such a propulsion system to low Reynolds number systems i.e. micro unmanned aerial vehicles. The immediate future of CFF based aircraft concepts over the coming 5-10 years is one of continual development, proof of concept and research into the fundamentals of the fluid flow.

1.1.6 Transitioning Rotorcraft

The definition of a transitioning aircraft can encompass both fixed and rotary wing configurations. In the following section we consider only rotary wing aircraft capable of transitioning between vertical and horizontal flight but we extend our definition to include transitioning between mediums i.e. water



Figure 1.5: V-22 Osprey transitioned into cruise and landing vertically (courtesy US DoD and US Airforce)

and air.

The tiltrotor could be considered as the 'classical' transitioning rotorcraft configuration. Typically employing a pair of proprotors installed on the tips of a fixed wing the engine nacelle is capable of rotating through 90° from a vertical to a horizontal position. The aircraft will take-off or land with the nacelles vertical with the rotors then tilting around into the horizontal position during a transition phase into forward flight. While there are relatively few manned examples of this configuration, the V-22 Osprey and the V-280 Valor being two notable exceptions, there are considerably more unmanned examples of this configuration due to the reduction in transmission complexity when moving to an electrically powered system. While a twin rotor system is relatively common, examples of the rotors tilt with others remaining fixed. Such a configuration enables the propulsion system to be optimised more effectively for different parts of the flight envelope [839].

In a similar vain to the more established rotorcraft concepts discussed above, the majority of recent literature around tiltrotors is focused on the development of robust control strategies particularly when transitioning (with and without suspended loads). However, the transitioning flight manoeuvre has inspired a number of fundamental studies into the aerodynamics of the system in particular rotor-aircraft interactions during transition [458].

Optimal controllers for transitioning have been developed by a number of authors. Yang et al. [826] have developed alternative strategies for transition flight control while Chen et al. [270] have developed an optimal system for attitude control. Xiao et al. [813] went slightly further and proposed a novel control methodology with improved fault tolerance to improve aircraft safety. Almeida and Raffo [296] have developed a control strategy to solve the suspended load transportation problem for tiltrotor aircraft. Control of other configurations has also been addressed within the literature with Yu et al. [842] developing a control system for a tri-rotor configuration with two tilting front rotors and a fixed aft rotor. More recently a number of authors [583, 836, 489] have developed transition control systems for quad-tiltrotor configurations and in both cases demonstrated a successful transition. In this configuration two rotors are fixed and two rotate enabling the aircraft to move in six degrees of freedom while maintaining a level central body.

Other novel tiltrotor configurations have been explored within the literature to date. Raeisi and Alighanbari [633], for example, demonstrated a tiltrotor configuration which employed wing tip mounted ducted fans instead of proprotors while Ma et al. [536] took this concept further by combining a set of rotating ducted fans with a high aspect ratio box-wing.

A number of authors have investigated improvements to the design of the rotor blades within a tiltrotor configuration. Park et al. [613], for example, explored the performance advantages of variable-twist tiltrotor blades using shape memory alloy hybrid composites. This enabled different twist distributions to be built-in along the span of the blade thereby enabling the blade to operate more efficiently in different flight modes. Employing this design the authors noted a 5.35% reduction in rotor power coefficient at modest levels of thrust and a 2.44% reduction at high levels of thrust. Kim et al. [479] investigated the ability of a series of synthetic jets along the blade to control separation of the leading and trailing edges in both hover and transition. Whilst only performed computationally the study did demonstrate that a reduction in drag was possible. There is, of course, no reason why these concepts could not be implemented on other rotorcraft configurations.

With the exception of Sanchez et al. [674] very few recent papers have investigated improvements in the transmission or mechanisms enabling control. Sanchez et al. proposed a mechanically simpler alternative to the swashplate traditionally used on tiltrotors to enable control.

While traditional tiltrotor concepts install the proprotors on the tips of the wing, Burrage [254] discussed a novel configuration where a pair of inter-meshing rotors are mounted on the fuselage of the aircraft and act as pusher propellers during forward flight. In this configuration the design of the wings are unconstrained by requirements associated with bearing the rotors and any associated transmission or nacelles. While fuselage mounted tilting meshed rotors leads to a very compact design it introduces considerable complexity in terms of the control and mechanics associated with the tilting and transition flight phase. Young [839] presents an excellent overview of a number of other novel tiltrotor concepts noting that while these concepts increase both aircraft complexity and weight a future combination of advanced technologies will offset these current drawbacks and the improved mission capability will justify their selection. Examples of the configurations considered by Young include, pusher tiltrotors, tiltrotor oblique wings, quad rotor systems with heterogeneous rotors tailored for discrete operating conditions, twin hull aircraft with tilting rotors on the mid-span and variable sweep wings.

Closely related to the tiltrotor configuration, a tiltwing rotates both the rotor nacelle and the wing on which they are mounted. As with the tiltrotor configuration the majority of recent literature on tiltwings has focused on the development of flight control systems with a particular emphasis on the transition phase of flight [608, 797, 655]. Other authors have developed tiltwing preliminary design tools [693] and investigated the aerodynamic interference between propeller and wing during different flight phases [165].

An alternative approach to achieving transition using a rotorcraft without adjusting the orientation of the propulsion system relative to the aircraft's body is the tail-sitter configuration. In this configuration the aircraft sits on its tail with the axis of all of the rotors aligned with the vertical. The aircraft then takes-off with the rotors providing the only source of lift before the entire aircraft rotates to the horizontal for forward flight. In this mode, as with a tiltrotor, the wings provide lift with the rotors providing only propulsion. The layout of the rotors can vary with both dual [855, 795, 738, 784] and quadrotor [605, 535, 786, 741] configurations within the recent literature. The duel rotor configuration, in particular, brings a number of significant challenges compared to the quadrotor configuration in terms of achieving control [784].

As with tiltrotor and tiltwing configurations the majority of recent literature is concerned with transition control for either dual or quad configurations with both computational models and experiments used to demonstrate the effectiveness of the developed strategy. Transition for this aircraft configuration can be particularly challenging given that the wing is stalled for a significant proportion of the manoeuvre [605]. Zhong et al. [855] designed a controller to achieve hover control while Wang et al. [795] developed and successfully implemented a controller to achieve automated transition for a duel rotor aircraft. Lyu et al. [535], Oosedo et al. [605] and Vorsin and Arogeti [786] have all developed control systems to automate transition for a quadrotor configuration. Swarnkar et al. [741] have recently taken the tail-sitter concept further by developing a biplane-quadrotor aircraft including the flight dynamics and control.

The literature includes a number of other variants on the 'tilting' theme. An interesting departure

from the above configurations is the tilting body [350]. While not strictly falling within our definition of a transitioning rotorcraft it is never-the-less worth mentioning here. Developed by Freewing Technology, the tilting body consists of a lifting fuselage with a tractor propeller which is free to rotate. Unlike a traditional fixed wing aircraft the angle of attack of the wings remains constant with respect to the freestream instead the fuselage is tilted to vector the thrust from the propeller and achieve STOL performance. Other than the aircraft developed by Freewing, no other systems have been demonstrated to employ this configuration, probably due to the inherent additional complexity, particularly within the aircraft structure and the mechanics of the movement of the fuselage and folding tail.

The ducted fan UAV is another popular transitioning rotorcraft configuration employing a single, relatively large, lift fan with a set of stators and control vanes to, respectively, counteract the torque generated by the fan and direct the high-speed exhaust flow to enable aircraft control [484]. There are a number of existing UAV systems based around this configuration including the Honeywell MAV, iSTAR and the Sandia National Labs AROD. As with most transitioning aircraft there is a great deal of research within the literature around the development of control systems [803, 451], however, recently there have been a number of researchers investigating the fundamental aerodynamic or mechanical operation of such aircraft. Hou et al. [429], for example, explored the replacement of the control vanes at the exit of the fan with a set of rotating cylinders which enabled direction of the flow by exploiting the Magnus effect. The operation of such aircraft tends to result in flow separation over the lipskin of the duct which reduces performance, Camci and Akturk [257], investigated a concept to reduce inlet separation significantly thereby improving performance and controllability.

Other authors have investigated the fundamental aerodynamics of these systems. Deng [304], for example, investigated the impact of ground effect on VTOL ducted fan performance while Minhyoung et al. [665] analysed the impact of tip clearance on a counter-rotating ducted fan finding that the clearance should be minimised to reduce losses.

Yang et al. [829] present an excellent review of aquatic UAV concepts with a particular focus on UAVs that are capable of transitioning between underwater and aerial operations. Such aircraft have a variety of military and civilian applications including, but not exclusive to, combat, reconnaissance, communications relay, search and rescue, inspection, marine patrol and ecosystem monitoring. Yang et al. [829] reviews a number of waterproof quadrotor systems including the Aquacopter, QuadH2o and Mariner Quadcopter. These systems are all capable of operating in both air and shallow water for a short period of time, however, their underwater capability is limited due to the inefficiencies of the propulsion system which is designed for aerial flight. While demonstrating the feasibility of such systems challenges remaining regarding the design of the propulsion system, pressure-resistant structures, system layout, weight in both air and water and communications before these systems become commonplace. Progress has been made with respect to some of these challenges recently with, for example, Ye and Marzocca [833] investigating a system capable of deployment from a torpedo tube with a novel hybrid propeller system to enable the vehicle to operate more efficiently in water and in air.

1.1.7 Personal Air Transportation Systems

The concept of a personal air transportation system (PATS) is not a particularly new or novel idea and has long been the go-to staple of the science fiction writer. Be it the personal 'jet pack' or the flying 'cars' in the Jetsons cartoons or Blade Runner the ability to jump into a vehicle and fly oneself as part of a daily commute has a considerable appeal. Whilst PATS have been developed on a very small scale for a number of decades, the Aerocar of the late 1940's being an early example, it is only recently that PATS have begun to be seriously explored by large aerospace and automotive companies. Aston Martin, Airbus, Boeing, Rolls-Royce, to name but a few, are all currently investigating PATS in addition to newer PATS specific start-ups such as Lilium, Volocopter, Ehang and Aeromobil etc., with many having already flown full size or scaled demonstrators.

Whilst the concept of a PATS may not be obviously applicable to the future of unmanned systems the two are in fact inextricably linked. The same developments in technology which have driven improvements in unmanned systems e.g. propulsion, control, materials, battery capacity etc. have enabled PATS to become a potential reality. Vice versa if infrastructure and regulatory issues can be overcome a sudden large market for PATS with a correspondingly impressive level of research funding may drive technological improvements which could filter down into the unmanned systems sector. One should also be aware that a considerable number of the PATS concepts do actually involve autonomous flight operations in order to remove the requirement for a qualified pilot. it is worth, therefore, briefly considering PATS within this review.

The work of Rehmatullah and Kelly [645] is a good example of the duality between PATS and 'pure' unmanned systems. As part of their research they developed a system to aid the operator of a PATS in avoiding obstacles. The system monitors the surroundings of the aircraft for obstacles and employs a repulsive potential field to define appropriate control inputs thus enabling the system to fly around an obstacle. Throughout this haptic feedback is provided to the pilot. Whilst developed for PATS this system has obvious applications in a purely unmanned system.

Liu et al. [526] provide an excellent overview of recent endeavours into the development of PATS noting that advances made in recent years in terms of distributed electric propulsion, V/STOL capabilities and automation have made the concept feasible. Distributed propulsion, for example, has enabled multicopters with 10s of rotors, such as the Volocopter, to become a reality. Such configurations offer a improved level of reliability of the propulsion system while a reduced tip speed offers reduced noise levels [700] compared to a helicopter. However, Liu et al. [526] point out that there are still considerable challenges remaining around the safety and reliability of such systems, the infrastructure necessary for them to be widely used and public acceptance.

Fleisher et al. [340] lay out the strong economic case for PATS in terms of congestion and discuss the main technological drivers for such systems including, lightweight materials, propulsion and battery technologies and control, communication and information processing. As with Liu et al. they highlight the considerable infrastructure issues related to battery charging and landing sites within cities which, along with public perception may limit widespread adoption.

1.2 Fixed Wing Platforms

The word 'drone' conjures up a multi-rotor platform in the minds of the general public, but the term carries no such layout-specific meaning. Nor does the advent of the now ubiquitous multi-rotor vertical take-off aircraft mark the beginning of the history of the drone (or unmanned aircraft concept). In fact, the very first drone, the *Hewitt-Sperry Automatic Airplane* (which first flew a century ago!) was a fixed wing biplane.

Fixed wing aircraft continue to dominate applications where range or endurance are of interest and this is unlikely to change. This is true of both manned and unmanned systems. An enormous amount of work is invested by research teams around the world into improving the speed, the aerodynamic and structural efficiency, the robustness (in the 'robust design' sense), etc. of fixed wing airframes; the interested reader may wish to consult the proceedings of numerous conferences – for example those of the Royal Aeronautical Society or the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics – or the journals of these learned societies, to gain an insight into the numerous lines of enquiry associated with these research areas. In this report dedicated to unmanned air systems technology we shall limit ourselves to two selected areas of particular interest from the perspective of the future of drone design.



Figure 1.6: NASA distributed propulsion experiment – measuring lift at low speeds on a wing equipped with 18 electric motors (image by Tom Tschida, courtesy of NASA).

1.2.1 Fixed Wing Platforms With Distributed Propulsion

The generally smaller scale and shorter range of unmanned aircraft makes electric motors (see Section 2.3) a feasible propulsion design choice. They have numerous advantages, one of which is that they scale down quite efficiently. Thus, the engineer has the choice of one or two large motors to satisfy a given power requirement, or a large number of small motors, a so-called *distributed propulsion system*.

Fractionating the power in this way has multiple advantages. Careful layout design (in terms of the setting angles of the motors and their positioning around the airframe) can yield exceptional aerodynamic efficiency. Additionally, and perhaps more obviously, careful systems engineering has great benefits in redundancy (the failure of one motor has an entirely different impact on a twin than on an 18-motor aircraft!). Of course, reaping the greatest benefits from this architecture requires enormous attention to detail in terms understanding how the weight of the motors and their ancillary systems scales with distributing the task of thrust generation and in terms of understanding where any subsystems shared by multiple motors may cut into the theoretical redundancy gains of distribution. There are other, less obvious wins associated with breaking up large point masses into several small ones; for example, strategic placement of small propulsion units around the lifting surfaces can serve as a useful means of flow control, especially for slow flight.

One of the highest profile programmes aiming to answer the outstanding research questions around distributed propulsion is NASA's X-57 Maxwell, a demonstrator to feature a mix of 'cruise motors' (60kW each) and 'high-lift motors' (10.5kW each) mounted on the leading edge.

Kim et al. [477], reviewing the current state of the art in distributed propulsion, conclude that it is "a disruptive concept that can lead to unprecedented improvements in future aircraft designs", noting new opportunities (in addition to those mentioned above) in control (including reducing requirements on control surfaces through the use of differential thrust strategies), acoustic shielding (in the case of small electric ducted fans), and 'wake filling'.

While designing a distributed propulsion system is commonly achieved, reaping maximum benefits from the idea and a thorough understanding of the engineering trade-offs involved is still some way away, especially in terms of conclusions that can be integrated into systematic, evidence-based design processes.
1.2.2 Morphing Aircraft

The history of morphing aircraft goes back a very long way; indeed, the Wright Flyer already featured warping wings (see [452] for a historical review). The fundamental driver has remained the same through more than a century: a fixed geometry aircraft is unlikely to be optimal for all of its operating points – a solution is to design an aircraft with variable geometry. Hinged control surfaces, all-flying tail planes, etc. are generally not included under the 'morphing' heading.

Numerous (manned) morphing aircraft have reached maturity (mostly featuring variable sweep), but the world of unmanned aviation is now looking for bolder geometry changes as a possible means of mission optimization, enhanced control, gust alleviation, etc. An area of particular interest from the perspective of long endurance pseudo-satellites, on which distributed control loads along the wing span can be used to achieve the optimum wing geometry on a highly flexible very high aspect ratio wing at various flight conditions [406].

The EU FP7-funded CHANGE (Combined morphing assessment software using flight envelope data and mission based morphing prototype wing development) project [824, 1] explored a range of mechanical means of achieving morphing geometries. Wind tunnel tests of a morphing leading edge [632] and investigations into a morphing wing with span extension and camber morphing [214] resulted in mixed success.

The scale of the structure supporting the morphing of the outer mould line of the aircraft is one of the interesting questions being examined in research labs, with fine scale lattice scaffolds showing promise some promise of late [289].

Exotic means of morphing bring about exotic control and autopilot tuning challenges too and this is likely to be an active research area, with some unconventional approaches (e.g., machine learning based) needed. An example is the investigation by Xu et al. of the morphing control of a new bionic morphing drone with deep reinforcement learning [816].

1.3 'Vanishing' Drones

The desire for a drone to 'vanish' after completing its mission may be driven by environmental considerations (the avoidance of harm to wildlife ingesting a single-use vehicle that landed away from any 'home base') or by the strategic goal of not leaving a landed (or crash-landed) vehicle in enemy hands. Some technologies that could facilitate this may be useful in either case.

In 2015 DARPA launched its Inbound, Controlled, Air-Releasable, Unrecoverable Systems (ICARUS) call for proposals for the development of a balloon-launched glider capable of precision landing 150km away from its 35,000ft high balloon launch point, carrying a three pound payload, followed by its real 'party trick', the requirement to "fully vanish within four hours of payload delivery or within 30 minutes of morning civil twilight (assuming a night drop), whichever is earlier". 'Vanishing' is defined in this context by the "full and complete physical disappearance (to the naked eye) of a complete system and its constituent materials – independent of the surrounding environment", with no remaining parts of the aircraft (save for a tennis ball sized container carrying guidance and control equipment) exceeding 100μ m on its longest dimension [295, 2]. To date, no details have been released on the outcome of the competition, but the call, as well as the results of an earlier DARPA call aimed at developing sublimating polymers, indicated that the mission is plausible, though a very significant materials science challenge at this stage.

Biodegradability, which means 'vanishing' over somewhat longer timescales, is also on the horizon. Take, for example, the cardboard flying wing developed by San Francisco robotics company *Otherlab*, developed (also with DARPA funding) as a single-use delivery vehicle for emergency scenarios [3]. At a smaller scale, a team at the University of Southampton developed a family of paper sensorcraft designed to be launched from balloons, forming large sensor clouds capable of transmitting environmental data



Figure 1.7: MAVIS paper sensorcraft built with conductive inkjet printing (CIP) technology.

via 433MHz telemetry, before landing and decomposing (with the exception of some of their small electronic components). The MAVIS (Massive Atmospheric Volume Instrumentation System) aircraft carry their avionics on the surface, upon which the circuitry is printed using an off-the-shelf inkjet printer [481] (Figure 1.7).

In addition to paper, the emerging field of biodegradable drones is likely to be looking towards new materials, some even suitable for additive manufacturing. PLA (polylactic acid, most often derived from corn starch) seems to be emerging as an early leader on the biodegradable thermoplastic polymer market, scoring highly from a mechanical design point of view through its good strength to weight ratio and compatibility with a range of fused deposition modelling printers. Its biodegradation performance is less attractive, however, with larger components likely to retain their structural integrity for over a year, even in a marine environment. A 12-month long test conducted by Greene [385] against the standard set by the American Society of Testing and Materials (ASTM) showed that only 8% of a PLA sample exposed to sea water biodegraded into carbon dioxide, which was only marginally more than the 6% measured on the low-density polyethylene plastic bag used as a control. PHA (poly-hydroxy-alkanoate), another family of materials (including plastics such as P3HB, P4HB PHBV) with good mechanical properties and suitable for fused deposition modelling, performed far better in the Greene study. Two PHA sample parts were tested, with 12-month degradations of 52% and 82% (38% and 45% recorded after six months).

1.4 Smart Dust

Whether it be a need to reduce cost, improve stealth or explore smaller areas for scientific reasons, as with all engineering systems there is a continual drive to miniaturise unmanned systems. The above review of rotorcraft, fixed wing and hybrid unmanned air systems graphically illustrates the reduction in platform size from large HALE systems to 'pico' size quadcopters and flapping wing systems of the order of 10s of millimetres in size. If one were to continue this trend of minimisation of autonomous systems one naturally arrives at sub-millimetre scale systems commonly referred to as 'smart dust'.

The smart dust concept, first developed by Warneke et al. [799], revolves around a single submillimetre scale 'chip' comprising of multiple micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) often including some sort of wireless communication system, some sensors, a programmable microprocessor and some sort of energy harvesting and storage system. While seemingly not directly related to unmanned air systems the uses for such devices within the literature are often accompanied by a deployment process involving a much larger unmanned system [412] whilst smart dust systems can even propel themselves [703], float or be carried on the wind [412, 656]. Coupled with the ability to sense and communicate with each other or a base station and potentially act as a swarm [558] this puts smart dust systems squarely into the category of an unmanned air system.

1.4.1 Examples of Existing Smart Dust Systems

Since the seminal work by Warneke et al. [799] there have been a considerable number of advances in both the underpinning technology and the applications of this technology with smart dust systems whose dimensions are of the order of 100μ m being produced.

Lee et al. [512] developed a 1mm³ sensing platform constructed from five interconnected layers comprising of two processors, a temperature sensor, a low-power imaging system and an energy harvesting system. The system included a novel low power I²C (Inter-Integrated Circuit) interface to facilitate communication between the layers of components whilst the system is capable of harvesting energy from solar, thermal and microbial fuel cells. Overall the system uses 20μ W of power when operating.

The smart dust concept relies on a combination of perpetual energy harvesting and extremely efficient low power components, of the order of 10nW per component, in order to be practical [512]. In 2010, Chen et al. [271, 272] demonstrated a 8.75mm³ sensor platform capable of near perpetual operation thanks to an inbuilt 1mm² solar cell and a thin film solid state battery. The system was equipped with a pressure sensor and was designed for intraocular pressure monitoring.

Kim et al. [475] developed an energy autonomous system with an embedded 160×160 pixel image sensor, optics and wireless communications within a $2 \times 4 \times 4$ mm platform. The system is capable of motion detection and remote wake-up via an optical receiver. While an inbuilt RF transmitter is used to transmit image data to an associated receiver, the system requires the receiver to be positioned 15mm away. This highlights one of the current limitations of such smart dust systems, the wireless transmission of data, with the power requirements for RF communications still posing a considerable challenge.

Early smart dust systems, such as those developed by Warneke et al. [799], disregarded RF communications in favour of an optical solution with embedded active or passive reflectors or micro-mirrors for data transmission. Whilst undoubtedly more efficient such optical communication systems are limited by a requirement for line of sight to other dust motes or a base station and can struggle with intense ambient lighting conditions. Whilst RF communication has improved since the development of these early systems it still poses a considerable challenge, a more recent system by Chen et al. [276], for example, has only managed to achieve RF communication over distances of 15m indoors.

There exist a number of other extensions or variations of the general smart dust concept throughout the literature, including 'Claytronics' [372], smart surfaces [212] and 'lablets' [559]. Each of these proposed systems involves a large number of small MEMS-like devices, similar to smart dust, operating in tandem through a distributed intelligence [238] to achieve a goal.

The Claytronics project, proposed by Goldstein et al. [372], aimed to explore how programmable matter could change the computing experience with the goal of developing a material whose shape, motion, appearance etc. can be controlled arbitrarily by a computer. This was to be achieved by harnessing millions of millimetre sized spherical robots which could stick together and move around each other like a fluid. To date this vision is yet to be fully realised but it's considered not a case of 'if' but rather 'when' the technology develops sufficiently to enable such a system to be realised. Bourgeois & Goldstein [238], who provide an excellent review of all such distributed intelligence systems, present a number of technological advances that have already been made towards the realisation of this vision in terms of manufacture and self-assembly [646, 461], motion of the spheres [238, 658, 308] and programming languages [659, 191].

Smart surfaces [212] consist of surfaces with a series of micro-manipulators built into them which work together to enable automated positioning. Each micro-manipulator contains a micro-actuator, a micro-sensor, a processor and some form of communication capability. Examples of this type of system can create an airflow from each micro-actuator in four directions which enables the position of an object on top of the surface to be manipulated. Given that each node of the surface communicates only with its immediate neighbours the system is an interesting proving ground for distributed intelligence control systems [211]. One can clearly observe parallels between this technology and that which may potentially develop within larger systems such as the MADCAT intelligent wing [387, 289] which includes a considerable number of small modular units which permit the entire wing structure to morph in order to affect flight manoeuvres or maintain the most efficient aerodynamic shape.

Lablets, first proposed by McCaskill et al. [559], are similar in a number of ways to the smart dust concept of Warneke et al. except that they operate within a chemical solution, are significantly smaller, $O(100\mu m)$, aiming to operate at a scale similar to that of living cells and aim to 'load or dose chemicals, modify surfaces, initiate reactions within complex chemical environments' [559]. Other applications include, remote sensing, experimentation with chemical and biochemical systems, epidemic monitoring with lablets ultimately mooted as an important stepping stone on the path to artificial life [558]. Despite their ultimate purpose and scale being different they exhibit a number of the aspects of the distributed intelligence systems discussed by Bourgeois & Goldstein [238] and yet are not considered within their review. Funke et al. [348] actively compare the lablet concept to that of smart dust and note both include sensors, some form of communication and perhaps locomotion and must operate collaboratively within swarms to achieve a goal. However, some of the issues with smart dust systems are more profound within a lablet, such a RF communication which is penalised even further by the highly-damped transmission within solution and the even smaller antenna footprint.

The lablet system developed by Funke et al. [348] is a recent example which illustrates the capabilities of such systems. The lablet in this case is approximately $200\mu m \times 100\mu m \times 35\mu m$ in size and contains a pH sensor, actor electrodes which allow the system to interact with its chemical environment. Recognising the limitations of RF communications within solution, Funke et al., present a novel communication system via local contact between lablet or a docking station in the base of the vessel containing the solution. Such base station and inter-lablet communication is reminiscent of the work on distributed intelligence control systems in other smart dust-like systems.

Sharma and McCaskill [703] demonstrated how a lablet of a 100μ m scale can be propelled by an electroosmotic drive with sufficient force to overcome viscous drag acting on the lablet. They then demonstrated, via simulation, that such lablets can dock and self-assemble to form compartments and perform chemical operations.

McCaskill [558] provides an excellent overview of the recent advances in the field of lablets. A key component within the overall lablet architecture, Straczek et al. [731] developed a microelectrode array system as a docking platform to enable both charging and communication with lablets. Liu et al. [524] presented protocols for controlling the patterning of conducting polymers on surfaces which has direct applications to the reversible self-assembly of lablets [558]. While Sarvašová et al. [678] demonstrated the dispersion and aggregation of micro-particles 'remotely' via RF signals in addition to the remote release of encapsulated payloads enabling future swarm like behaviour and interactions with other soft-matter. Finally, Zhirnov and Cavin [783] discuss the development of lablets beyond the 10μ m scale.

1.4.2 Smart Dust Development & Challenges

Distributed intelligent systems such as smart dust, or more recent incarnations of lablets, claytronics and smart surfaces, are currently limited in very similar ways and will require advances in a number of different areas for these to become feasible on the kinds of scales first proposed by Warneke et al. [799].

For smart dust systems to become useful requires the production of millions of individual motes. The majority of smart dust systems demonstrated within the literature, particularly those based on MEMS, include only a single mote which has been fabricated, rather laboriously, by hand with each mote including many individual wire bonds between each of the sub-systems. Clearly this method of manufacture does not lend itself well to the production of millions of systems and new manufacturing techniques are required [238]. 3D-silicon processing techniques, to which there is currently limited access to, could be employed to improve the scalability of such systems [558]. Hardware scalability is also somewhat hampered by the requirement for the logic and MEMS actuation on such devices to operate at different voltages which can lead to integration issues. The MEMS onboard each mote will be operating exposed to the environment but currently such systems are sensitive to dust or air quality which could change the response of the system.

Whilst scalability is limited by manufacturing issues it is also limited by software issues that are yet to be overcome. Programming languages are yet to be developed which hide the overall complexity of a system comprising of millions of elements and enable the system architect to programming the overall ensemble and not have to programme individual motes.

With an increasing number of motes within the dust cloud, short comings with the control and communication both to and within such an ensemble become apparent. Communication within such a system becomes an order of magnitude more complex that current systems or communication protocols can cope with and this becomes more complicated still when one factors in the mobility of individual motes and the freedom they have to make or break connections with each other as they move around. Communication and coordination of actuators to affect not only movement, but collaborative operation [558] is also a considerable challenge. While inter-mote and mote base station communications have been demonstrated [348], the scale is much smaller than that would be required to be useful and other systems currently struggle with irregular or dynamic networks [238] and significant research is required to enable effective control. The overall software architecture must also be tolerant of uncertainty due to faults within the system or as a result of the operating environment.

As demonstrated above through the work of Chen et al. [271] we are rapidly approaching perpetual powering of systems on the 1-10mm scale but moving to the smaller lablet scale, encapsulated power will remain a difficult challenge to overcome but it is within reach in the next few years [558].

While lablets suffer from the same hardware and software challenges list above, the focus of their application within the chemistry field leads to a number of other, more specific, challenges, namely the encoding of chemical functionality within each lablet which will require further advances in the fields of electrochemistry and neuro-electronics [558]. However, while there are challenges Lablets are viewed as potentially realising a 'pourable' digital platform capable of interacting with biological cells and complex chemicals within the next 10 years [558].

Of course, the production and dispersion of millions of small micrometer scale electronic devices, whilst technically possible, within the next 10 years, will have its considerable critics and opponents. The scale of smart dust systems places them squarely in the definition of microplastics and regulation may prevent their application outside of a controlled environment unless safeguards are in place, such as ensuring the biodegradability of each mote.

Chapter 2

Propulsion Systems

In order to fly and overcome drag (or gravity, in the case of a VTOL aircraft), UAS require some form of propulsion system, which ultimately results in the acceleration of air behind the aircraft, propelling it forward. In the majority of cases this is achieved through a propeller or fan driven by a motor or turbine of some description. Propeller technology is relatively mature and current research trends in this area have already been discussed in the context of rotary wing platforms in Section 1.1. The following chapter therefore concentrates on the state of the art with respect to the piston engines and electric motors used to drive a propeller along with gas turbines and recent advances in hybrid electric systems which combine an electric motor with some form of internal combustion engine. Also considered within this chapter are the recent advances in solid state electric propulsion, which results in a virtually silent aircraft.

2.1 Gas Turbines

Gas turbines have been around for several decades and within that time have undergone continual development and improvement, the gas turbine literature is therefore extremely extensive and as a result the following review shall be restricted to the previous 5-10 years. In addition to this, while gas turbines have power generation, marine as well as aerospace applications the following review is restricted to aerospace applications, although there is significant cross-over in a number of the technologies under development. As will be made clear below, there is relatively little research within the literature that has been undertaken on gas turbines specifically for unmanned system applications, before addressing these applications let us consider general developments to gas turbines for manned applications.

Current state-of-the art in gas turbine research and development falls distinctly into two camps. The first represents incremental improvements to existing gas turbine technologies where through, for example, the application of optimisation, robust design or uncertainty quantification, the goal is to incrementally improve performance of compressor and turbine blades, combustion systems, cooling schemes [511] etc. so that reliability and value can be maximised. The second category represents research into lower TRL technologies which are approaching a level of technical maturity which may see them implemented on a real engine but which represent a fairly substantial architectural shift. The following review therefore neglects incremental improvements to gas turbine performance in favour of focusing on these more substantial changes.

The inclusion of intercoolers and recuperators within gas turbine engines is widely seen as a way in which engine performance can be improved [672, 516, 562]. Zhang and Gummer [847] note that the incorporation of recuperators shows considerable potential to lower both emissions and fuel consumption. However, this does not currently hold true for short range aircraft where the fuel consumption reduction is not enough to offset the increased mass of the recuperator. However, they point to the potential of future novel compact, low mass, highly effective heat exchangers to remedy this. Schmidt and Staudacher [687] point to realistic efficiency improvements of 10% when intercooling, recuperation and other technologies are incorporated into a gas turbine, with intercooling being identified as a driving technology towards higher efficiency systems. Kyprianidis and Rolt [500] present improvements in overall SFC when intercooling is combined with a geared fan.

The gas turbine combustion system continues to be a source of considerable research and development, not least because the accurate numerical prediction of combustion chamber performance and emissions is still an incredibly challenging task. Combustor development continues to struggle with the competing objectives of low NOx and soot emissions through the arrangement of dilution and mixing ports [851], management of air fuel ratios and combustor geometry. The performance and therefore size of the combustion chamber has a significant impact on the overall engine driving its length and therefore overall mass. Enabling fuel injection, mixing and combustion to occur in the smallest volume possible is therefore a continual objective of the combustion sub-system designer. The fuel injection system is critical to the combustion process and there are a number of novel injection approaches considered within the literature. The review of future fuel atomisation technologies by Alajmi et al. [173], for example, considers four competing technologies, air-assisted, plasma-assisted, ultrasonic-assisted and supercritical fluid-assisted atomisation. Plasma and ultrasonic atomisation were found to result in the finest droplets but ultrasonic was found to be cheaper and easier to adopt.

An alternative approach to improving combustion efficiency is to better control the combustion process itself. Delaat et al. [301] present an active combustion control system for gas turbine engines which suppresses combustion instabilities. Operating at engine pressures, temperatures and flows the system employs a high-frequency fuel value to perturb the fuel flow into the combustor thereby acheiving control.

An alternative to the annular combustion systems found in most modern gas turbines is to replace this with the combustion chamber found within a rotating detonation engine (RDE) [413]. The RDE combustion process offers a number of advantages, the process requires a relatively simple structure but offers high thermal efficiencies [859]. Consisting of a coaxial cylinder with a series of fuel injecting nozzles at one end together with a slit to permit the entry of an oxidant into the chamber, a detonation wave propagates in a circumferential direction around the chamber with combustion products of high temperature and pressure being produced behind the wave. These burnt products are ejected at high temperature and pressure axially out of the chamber thereby providing thrust. Compared to a traditional combustion system the effective thrust produced is relatively large at a lower pressure ratio which reduces the required number of compressor stages compared to a traditional gas turbine thereby reducing both mass and the demands on the turbine. While the RDE is still very much in the research and development stage, stable and continuous detonation waves for a long duration have been achieved using a variety of fuels [859]. Significant challenges still exist around the injection and mixing mechanisms, for example, before this technology will find its way onto an aircraft.

Somewhat related to combustion technologies, there is a growing body of research within the literature over the past 5-10 years focused on the consideration of alternative fuels for gas turbine engines. Biodiesel [653, 521], synthetic paraffinic kerosene [233], ammonia [770, 485], n-octane, methanol, methane and hydrogen [371] have all been the subject of investigation within the literature. This investigation is driven by a number of objectives including, for example, the reduction of carbon emissions and improved fuel security.

Biodiesels are an attractive option as either a drop-in replacement for jet-A or as part of a fuel blend. Blakey et al. [233], Litt et al. [521] and Rochelle and Najafi [653] all point out the advantages of biodiesels including reduced exhaust emissions, improved biodegradability and a higher flash point. Whilst temperatures, pressures and power production are not negatively affected by biodiesel usage fuel flow rates do tend to be higher than jet-A only. However, they point out that there are significant developmental hurdles including oxidative stability and cold flow properties.

Ammonia combustion has also gained some traction within the literature as it is completely carbon free (NH₃) and offers a hydrogen storage vector without the additional complexity associated with pressurised containers. Valera-Medina et al. [770], Goldmann et al. [371] and Kobayashi et al.[485] have all performed studies on ammonia based combustion within gas turbines. Whilst being carbon neutral (during combustion), they point out that ammonia demonstrates very slow reaction speeds, requires higher ignition temperatures, produces considerably high NOx emissions and produces less heat. Valera-Medina et al.[770] discuss countering some of these issues by doping the ammonia with another molecule. Both they and Goldmann et al.[371] suggest that a 50:50 mix of hydrogen and ammonia shows potential with the hydrogen being obtained by cracking the ammonia.

The drive to increase gas turbine efficiency has been accompanied by an increase in turbine entry temperatures. This has lead to a considerable amount of research into the development of cooling technologies. These advances have seen an overall increase in component cooling effectiveness from 0.1 to 0.7 over the past 50 years[252]. Cooling within a gas turbine engine continues to be an area of active research with new cooling schemes, materials etc. all being developed[821]. Thermal barrier coatings (TBC) are often applied on high-temperature surfaces within a gas turbine in order to extend component life, increase performance and durability[368]. Ghosh[366] describes possible future ceramic, glass-ceramic, and composite TBC materials which may offer improved performance over existing materials while Yoon et al.[837] describe the development of a yttria-stabilized zirconia (YSZ) aerogel which offers a thermal conductivity 30-40 times less than that of the YSZ coating used in commercial gas turbines.

Bunker[252] describes technologies that may have a transformative effect on gas turbine cooling and chief amongst these is the ability to include micro cooling or transpiration thanks to the capabilities offered by additive manufacturing (AM). Beyond just efficient cooling schemes AM is widely recognised as enabling the manufacture of complex organic, cellular or lattice structures which may result in a simultaneous reduction in overall mass, part count and complexity and an improvement in structural performance[362, 540].

Other areas of recent gas turbine development include advanced sealing technologies to reduce oil and air leakages, the development of high temperature resistant materials and abradables in order to prevent fast degradation at high temperatures and health monitoring systems to anticipate sub-system degradation and failure[718].

As already noted above gas turbine engines have not been widely adopted for unmanned aircraft applications primarily due to their lower efficiency at smaller scales compared to internal combustion engines which means they suffer from significantly increased fuel consumption [383]. Never-the-less gas turbines have a higher reliability and power density and also remove the vibration issues associated with piston engines [661] and these advantages have driven researchers within the recent literature to improve the performance of gas turbines for UAS applications.

Hybridisation is an obvious method by which the benefits of a gas turbine can be leveraged within UAS. Bryner et al.[251] present the design of a small scale gas turbine based hybrid propulsion system where the gas turbine provides power for a hybrid electric aircraft. Rouser et al.[661] present a similar hybridised system where the electric power produced by a gas turbine is utilised within a distributed propulsion system. Powered by a 1.8kg turboshaft engine producing 5.2kW of power the system has a significantly longer range and endurance compared to a battery only system. Aguiar et al.[168] have also considered employing gas turbines and solid oxide fuel cells to improve the performance of high altitude long endurance (HALE) unmanned aircraft.

Another method of hybridisation considered within the recent literature is to use the gas turbine to drive a propeller as part of a turboprop configuration. Such a configuration offers improved cycle efficiency thereby increasing its competitiveness compared to a pistol engine powered propeller system[654, 185, 547]. Such turboprop configurations have also been demonstrated to offer significantly lower noise levels (17 dB lower) than an equivalent turbojet[323].

Vick et al.[781] developed a 3kW recuperative ceramic turboshaft engine which offered improved reliability, life, noise and vibration characteristics compared to an internal combustion engine. Citing a need to improve the efficiency of miniature gas turbines to make them competitive when integrated within long range unmanned systems, Vick et al. developed a novel, cost-effective ceramic turbine rotor, heat exchanger and turbine stator. The resultant system was demonstrated to have a reduced sensitivity to internal flaws, creep, and foreign object damage. More recently Large and Pesyridis[505] demonstrated the conversion of a micro turbojet into a turbofan with the aid of a continuously variable gearbox. This system demonstrated a 65.8% improvement in thrust specific fuel consumption and a 38.46% increase in thrust at maximum engine RPM.

Gas turbines are evident in other aircraft configurations within the literature. Jafari et al.[447], demonstrated an aircraft employing four gas turbines in a quad configuration capable of VTOL performance. This was treated as more of an interesting control problem than a viable efficient aircraft concept.

While gas turbine development will no doubt go on unabated for the foreseeable future this development will be primarily focused towards manned systems rather than unmanned systems. The technical challenges and cost associated with shrinking these technologies down to a scale where they can be widely adopted within unmanned systems may be so significant that by the time they are addressed other technologies e.g. batteries, fuel cells, electric motors etc. have been improved so much in parallel that gas turbines (an also internal combustion engines) become redundant even for long range missions. One should, however, point out that large scale unmanned systems can benefit directly from gas turbine technologies developed for manned applications. In this instance, perhaps value for money becomes more of a critical factor where, depending on the mission, a systems architect may be reluctant to install a expensive propulsion system on an aircraft with a significantly lower level of reliability than a manned system.

2.2 Piston Engines

Developments in piston engine technology have largely been led by the automotive industry. Largely as a result of emissions concerns, automotive companies are diverting development resources away from traditional internal combustion research towards electric and hybrid propulsion. The trend in the automotive industry is towards smaller, lighter turbocharged engines as part of a hybrid powertrain. Considerable efficiency gains are achieved by the ability to run such engines at a single design point by avoiding idle and part load conditions [419].

A notable development in the pursuit of higher efficiency is the homogeneous charge compression ignition (HCCI) engine. HCCI combines characteristics of conventional petrol engine and diesel engines [446]. The challenge in this technology is to be able to get the timing of combustion right. A further development of HCCI pioneered by Mazda is the Spark Controlled Compression Ignition (SPCCI) engine which solves many of the problems associated with HCCI. The Research Institute of Automotive Engineering and Vehicle Engines Stuttgart (FKFS) is developing a similar technology that they call Spark Assisted Compression Ignition (SACI).

Other engine developments underway in research labs around the world include work towards engines with increased compression ratios, lean combustion, reduced pumping losses (use of deactivated cylinders) and optimal combustion timing control.

BACKGROUND NOTES

PISTON ENGINES

Propulsion systems for unmanned aircraft are dominated by three types of internal combustion engines: four stroke engines, two stroke engines and Wankel engines (more on the latter below). These types may be naturally aspirated or utilise fuel injection. Furthermore the fuel injection might be direct (into the combustion chamber) of indirect (into the intake manifold).

The attraction of internal combustion engines is the relatively **high energy density** of the overall system. Whilst the efficiency of an internal combustion engine is low at around between 25-40%, a single litre of petrol contains approximately 34 megajoules of energy. By comparison the latest battery technology achieves a typical volumetric energy density of 0.7-1.27 MJ/L. In other words, internal combustion engines continue to have an order of magnitude of energy density advantage compared with battery powertrains.

An important measure of engine efficiency is **Brake Specific Fuel Consumption (BSFC)**, defined as $BSFC = \frac{r}{P}$, where r is the fuel consumption rate in grams per second (g/s), P is the power produced in Watts where $P = \tau \omega$, τ is the engine torque in Newton meters and ω is the engine speed in radians per second. The resulting units of BSFC are grams per joule (g/J). A typical efficiency figure for a Rotax 914 engine is 29% [660].

Another important measure of engine performance is the **Brake Mean Effective Pressure** (**BMEP**), the mean effective pressure calculated from a measured dynamometer power (torque). This is the actual output of the internal combustion engine, at the crankshaft. Brake mean effective pressure takes into account the engine efficiency and is defined as $P_{\rm me} = W/V_{\rm d}$, where $P_{\rm me}$ is the mean effective pressure (Pa), W is the work performed in a complete engine cycle and $V_{\rm d}$ is the engine (cylinder) displacement [418].

Aircraft internal combustion engines generally lag behind automotive technology for reasons of conservatism and certification requirements. Typical General Aviation engines have, for decades, been dominated by petrol fuelled engines. These require high octane 100LL avgas. Most commonly used grades of avgas still contain *tetraethyllead (TEL)*, a toxic substance used to prevent engine knocking (detonation), with ongoing experiments aimed at eventually reducing or eliminating the use of TEL in aviation gasoline. Avgas is widely available in the USA, but in many areas of the world it is difficult to source.

Many unmanned aircraft engines have started life as General Aviation petrol engines. These tend to be of a **two**, four and six cylinder horizontally opposed layout with dual redundant magneto-based ignition systems and twin spark plugs. The main advantage of these engines lies in their simplicity and the fact that they have well known life and reliability characteristics.

Wankel rotary engines are receiving increasing amounts of attention in the unmanned aircraft world. They are typically smaller than a reciprocating engine of similar power rating because they have three work-generating expansion events per rotation of the rotor, as opposed to a standard fourstroke engine, which only has one per 720° rotation of the crankshaft. However, the shaft turns at triple the rate of the rotor in a Wankel rotary engine, which results in the engine having about twice the power output compared to a four-stroke reciprocating engine for the same combustion volume [390]. All this amounts to a number of potential advantages over reciprocating piston engines: higher power output and lower mass for similar displacement, lower noise, lower vibration levels and lower part count. Moreover, having an iron rotor in an aluminium housing reduces the likelihood of engine seizure. Contrasting these advantages, the mean time between overhauls and the reliability of some commercial Wankel engines has been questionable (see, for example, the accident report on the recent loss of Watchkeeper aircraft [300], a platform powered by a petrol engine with a total loss lubrication system).

2.2.1 Engines Derived From Manned Aviation Designs

Very few unmanned aircraft are powered by traditional aviation petrol engines. The one exception is the Rotax family of four stroke aircraft engines, which differ from conventional GA aircraft engines in that they have air-cooled cylinders with liquid-cooled heads. Rotax 912/914 engines now constitute more than 80% of the whole piston engine powered aerial vehicle fleet. They use a reduction gearbox to reduce the engine's relatively high 5,800 rpm shaft speed to a more conventional 2,400 rpm for the propeller. For example, the General Atomics MQ-1 Predator, and the IAI Heron unmanned aircraft use Rotax 914 turbo-charged engines in a pusher configuration.

There is an increasing trend in General Aviation to adopt Diesel engines (typically running on Jet A1). This is particularly the case in Europe where, in many areas, avgas is becoming difficult to obtain.

In the late 1990s a promising Diesel based aviation engine was developed by *Thielert* in Germany. These are based on heavily modified Mercedes-Benz automotive engines. Initial applications included the highly successful Diamond aircraft range of light aircraft. After a promising start, incidents started to occur. Between 2003 and the end of August 2011, the French air accident investigations bureau (BEA) launched 44 investigations into Thielert engine related incidents. These incidents demonstrated the complexity of taking proven automotive technology and trying to apply it in the aviation domain. Problems included issues with clutches (seven incidents), low pressure fuel pumps (three incidents), high pressure fuel pumps (four incidents) and electrical failures (eight incidents) [4].

As a result of these incidents, in May 2008, Thielert went bankrupt. Although it was resurrected from insolvency in January 2009, by then Cessna had dropped plans to install their engines, and Diamond Aircraft had now developed its own in-house diesel engine: the Austro Engine E4.

Austro Engine now produce engines for unmanned aircraft, including, for example, the Schiebel Camcopter S-100, which uses the AE50R heavy fuel engine. Similarly, the Austro Engine AE300 is used in the Aurora Flight Sciences developed Orion very long range platform.

Several hundred Thielert-powered manned airplanes are still flying, however, and Continental have now bought the rights to the Thielert engines and have developed the technology. Piper Aircraft delivered its first Diesel jet-A-powered Archer DX in June 2015. Following considerable testing and evaluation, the company chose Continental's CD-155 power plant. However, the engine has very strict life limits and must be replaced every 2,100 hours, the gearbox has to be replaced for an inspection at 900 hours, the high-pressure pump has a life limit of 600 hours, the alternator 600 hours, friction disk 900 hours, V-ribbed belt 1,200 hours.

The Thielert Centurion 1.7 engine was used in the General Atomics MQ-1C Gray Eagle. However poor system reliability [5] led to the development of the improved Gray Eagle (IGE) equipped with the Lycoming DEL-120 Heavy Fuel Engine (HFE) [341].

In June 2017 Textron's Cessna Aircraft division announced a jet-A version of the 172 powered by a Diesel Continental CD-155 jet-A engine installed in-house. Textron however dropped this offering in May 2018. It has also dropped the diesel 182 that suffered from poor sales.

2.2.2 Engines Derived From Automotive Designs

According to a report by the Australian Transport Safety Bureau piston engines have a failure rate of one every 3200 flight hours [657]. Compared with a typical aircraft turboshaft engine such as the P&W PT6, which has an in-flight shutdown rate of one per 651,126 flight hours, this internal combustion engine reliability is extremely poor [622].

The RQ-2B Pioneer drone attributed over 50% of systems failures to engine/propulsion failures [765]. The UAV exhibited a MTBF (Mean Time Between Failures) of 28.6h. A typical (very inexpensive) automotive engine has an MTBF of over 4000 hours based on actual data retrieved from car black boxes by an Italian insurance company [621].

The advantage that the automotive industry has is twofold: economies of scale and considerable in-service data. As an example, between 1989 and 2018, approximately 50,000 Rotax 912/914 series aircraft engines were delivered, which have accumulated approximately 45 million flight hours. By comparison, in the same period, over eight million Fiat FIRE (Fully Integrated Robotised Engine) engines were produced, which have accumulated approximately 20 billion hours [621].

The IAI RQ-5 Hunter uses the Mercedes HFE Diesel, inline 3 cylinder, 800CC, 56 HP engine that was originally developed for the Daimler AG Smart car. This engine features a single-overhead camshaft with two valves per cylinder and an aluminium alloy cylinder block and head. It is turbocharged and has an exhaust gas recirculation system. The engine was updated in 2007 and received increased performance due to a new common rail fuel system with increased boost pressure.

The most prominent internal combustion engine research is largely being carried out by automotive companies. Arguably the most advanced engine with mass production potential is the Mazda Spark Controlled Compression Ignition (SPCCI) engine. Mazda plan to release this engine into production as the Skyactiv-X. Essentially, this engine will combine the advantages of Diesel (efficiency) and petrol engines (low emissions). This is a specific implementation of the Homogeneous Charge Compression Ignition (HCCI) technology that many automotive companies are working on.

It is likely that automotive derived high efficiency engines will be attractive to the unmanned aircraft market, although the automotive trend away from heavy fuels is an issue for military usage. Certainly, for naval drones the ability to run on heavy fuels is mandatory. The US military, for example, has made a considerable effort to convert all of its petrol-powered equipment to operate on a single fuel under the One Fuel Forward initiative. The largely kerosene based JP8 is one of the primary fuels used for this initiative. The reason for using this fuel over gasoline is that it is very hard to ignite, and it can sit in storage containers for a very long time without degrading. This makes it relatively safe and reduces the risk of fire on a ship or base [507].

2.2.3 Case study: An Academic Research Team's Experience With Low Cost Piston Engines

Beyond engine designs adapted from aviation and from the automotive industry, many small drones use engines that have been derived from or sourced from the model aircraft 'hobby' industry. Several manufacturers that had been focused on the hobby market are now specifically addressing the UAV market (3W, RCV, Rotomotor), providing low cost solutions that open up opportunities for rapid prototyping and research activities, as well as some commercial and defence related applications. This raises interesting research questions in terms of engineering trade-offs; in particular one that is alien to most propulsion system engineers in the (manned, traditional) aerospace industry: how do our design processes accommodate large uncertainties around life and reliability for the reward of cost savings of an order or magnitude or greater. Let us consider a brief example of the integration of such designs into research drones from the perspective of a university research team.

The University of Southampton has developed a small twin-engine aircraft (SPOTTER). As part of this research work, an extensive survey of available engines was carried out. The conclusions of



Figure 2.1: SPOTTER prototype platform and its 3W engine installation.

this survey have been documented by Keane et al. [468]. The original prototype SPOTTER aircraft (Figure 2.1) used 2-stroke engines: 3W 28iCSs that can develop 2.65 Kw (3.6 HP) from a capacity of 28.5cc.

The 3W 28iCS engine is relatively cheap (around EUR800). It has unknown reliability and life, but researchers at Southampton flew this platform for many tens of hours. The fuel consumption of the engine is poor, with an overall burn rate on SPOTTER of two litres per hour per engine at cruise conditions. The right-hand panel of Figure 2.1 shows a photograph of the 3W engine installation with a belt-driven brushed electrical generator integrated to power the aircraft avionics. The SPOTTER platform has been enhanced over recent years; a major improvement was the fitment of O.S. GF40 four-stroke engines. The GF40 engine has a slightly higher power to weight ratio compared to the 3W 28i. More importantly, it has a fuel burn of approximately half that of the 3W engine at an overall one litre per hour of mission per engine. The standard engine costs approximately the same as the 3W engine.

A major concern in operating cheap 'hobby'- derived engines is, of course, reliability. As a result of extensive test flying it was revealed that the valve gear on the GF40 engine needed adjustment approximately once every ten hours of operation. Following discussions with Ripmax (the UK distributor of this engine), O.S. provided the researchers at Southampton with a modified version of this engine, which has upgraded valve-gear. The team put one of these modified O.S. engines in an engine test cell to establish a better understanding of the life characteristics of this product. A typical engine flight cycle was programmed into the engine test cell, consisting of: start, high power climb (100% throttle), cruise power (75% power), descent (20% power), idle, shutdown. The engine was put through this cycle continuously whilst monitoring 'health' parameters such as power (torque), cylinder head temperature, and exhaust gas temperature. After a total of over 40 hours of such operation no significant performance degradation was observed. The engine was subsequently stripped down and inspected, and no significant wear was detected, particularly within the valve-gear. From this testing it was concluded that this modified version of the O.S. engine shows a substantial improvement in durability and can achieve at least 50 hours before any adjustment is required.

The unmanned aircraft prototyping team at the University of Southampton has also purchased and tested a large number of other small engines such as the ROTO 85 FS-NG, NGH four stroke, and the OS49 Wankel. These 'model aircraft' engines are all significantly inferior to the 3W and OS GF40 in either power to weight ratio or/and fuel consumption. Of note is the Wankel engine shown in the right of Figure 2.2 (O.S. Engines 49-PI Type II $0.30in^3$). This was evaluated for a platform which required very low level of vibration. Although the Wankel engine did indeed have lower vibration levels and a reasonable power to weight ratio (2.7 kW/kg), the fuel consumption was extremely high.

In order to achieve high levels of fuel economy, fuel injection is desirable. However, in small engines



Figure 2.2: A selection of alternative engines for small unmanned aircraft.



Figure 2.3: Fuel injected 2 stroke engine (UAV Factory, left) and RCV DF70 twin cylinder engine.

(<5kw) the fuel injection system is relatively bulky, heavy and consumes a significant amount of electrical power. The left-hand panel of Figure 2.3 shows the UAV factory UAV28-EFI engine that the team purchased for evaluation. Whilst this engine is very fuel efficient (400 g/kWh in cruise) it is heavy (weighing nearly 2.5kg). It is also relatively expensive at over £15k. The life of this engine is not published, and little is known about the required servicing intervals. However, the engine is supplied with a maintenance kit for a target 300 hours, which includes: five spark plugs, coarse fuel filter, two muffler packaging material kits, two exhaust gaskets, two-cylinder head gaskets, two modified cylinder head kits, two piston assemblies. This implies that the spark plug must be changed every 60 hours and the engine must be fully rebuilt with new pistons and gaskets every 150 hours.

The university also evaluated a single and twin cylinder engine from Dorset-based manufacturer RCV. The RCV DF70 twin cylinder engine (Figure 2.3, right hand panel), for example, has the advantage of being able to run on heavy fuel. This engine is a similar price to the UAV28-EFI engine, has a power output of 4Kw but has a lower fuel consumption of 330 g/kW.hr for a weight of 2.7 kg. The great advantage of the RCV engine is the use of rotary valves which leads to manufacturing simplicity and significant improvements in reliability. A particular advantage of the RCV DF70 is the ability to run on a wide variety of fuel types including heavy fuels (JP8). The RCV engines have been fitted in a range of US military funded UAV programmes.

2.2.4 Recent Developments

The unmanned aircraft piston power research agenda is driven, to a large extent, by power to weight ratio as an objective. Wankel engines (see also Background Notes panel) offer advantages in this regard. Drone applications include the Textron Shadow, the IAI Malat Searcher, the Elbit Hermes 450, the Leonardo Falco, the IAI MBT Harpy and Harop, Schiebel's Camcopter and the UK's Watchkeeper aircraft. Wankel engines have amassed over a million flight hours in service. One of the leading

manufacturers is UAV Engines Ltd. (UEL), who produce air cooled and water cooled rotary engines from 38hp to 95hp. Their engines are used on the AAI Shadow 200 and several other global UAV platforms, including the Watchkeeper vehicle.

A number of heavy fuel Wankel engines are presently being developed. A DARPA funded initiative concerns the LiquidPiston 30kW X4 engine, which is expected to weigh just 30lbs and fit into a 10in box, while achieving 45% brake thermal efficiency [200].

Another important recent development is the use of thermal barrier coatings, particularly for piston crowns. Efficiency and reliability improvements have been reported in trials of this technology [464].

Engines with Continuously Variable Compression Ratio show promise for increased thermodynamic efficiency. Such an engine is indifferent to operation on full or part load; hence its efficiency gain. However, these engines are more complex, heavier and more costly [193].

2.3 Electric Propulsion

The continual growth of air traffic coupled with the competing demands for increased performance, reliability and availability, reduced maintenance, operating costs and emissions are gradually pushing the civil airliner industry towards more electric aircraft [261, 538]. This is driving research into electric motors, magnetic and electrical materials, advanced manufacturing processes, thermal management techniques and an improved understanding of the failure mechanisms of these systems [538]. The general consensus, however, is that hybrid aircraft architectures, for example, turbo-electric systems, provide a realistic near-term pathway to improved performance while other key enabling technologies are refined [204].

The following section considers the current state of the art within the literature with respect to electric propulsion. The term, electric propulsion, could be considered to cover all aspects of the electric powertrain of any vehicle including automobiles, trains, ships as well as aircraft. Given the higher demands of reduced mass and increased reliability within the aerospace sector the following section will focus on cutting edge electric propulsion in only aerospace.

The electric power train of an aircraft can be further decomposed into a number of individual sub-systems including, for example, battery storage or any other form of power generation, control systems, electric motors and the propulsor. As a number of these sub-systems are considered elsewhere within this overall literature review the following section will primarily focus on electric motors and the technology driving their improvement, some of the multidisciplinary considerations of electric powertrains and recent developments in solid state electric propulsion.

2.3.1 Traditional Electric Motors

A 'traditional' electric motor is defined within this document as any motor other than a superconducting electric motor. This includes, for example, inductance, switch reluctance, brushed and brushless AC/DC motors etc. Henke et al. [414] provide an excellent overview of each of these motor types along with the pros and cons of each from the point of view of their suitability as part of an electric aircraft. Electrically excited synchronous machines are normally ruled out of aerospace applications as their brushes and slip rings require regular maintenance. Reluctance machines have no permanent magnet or rotor winding, are cheap to produce and offer lower losses compared to inductance machines. However, they tend to be 50% larger than equivalent power permanent magnet synchronous machines which makes them generally unsuitable for aerospace propulsion applications. Induction machines tend to be robust, low cost, have no permanent magnets but suffer issues with mechanical stresses within the squirrel cage. Permanent magnet electric motors are widely thought of as being the most feasible system for use in electric aircraft [414, 236] due to their higher efficiency, higher power density, lower levels of heat production and lower maintenance requirements. The use of permanent magnets, however, does increase their cost relative to other motors. Currently the commercial electric motor with the highest rated power and power density is the Siemens SP260D, a permanent magnet motor capable of 260kW and with a power density of 5.2 kw/kg. Weighing a total of 50kg it powers the propulsor of the Extra 330LE.

The current literature around such electric motors tends to present incremental improvements in performance through a combination of improved understanding and/or the application of optimisation techniques. Hannan et al. [408], for example, employed design optimisation approaches to develop better control algorithms for induction motors while Chiu et al. [283] optimised the phase shift angles of a motor and demonstrated a reduction in motor noise, vibration and an improvement in overall motor efficiency.

As with any mature system, electric motors are seeing increasing attempts to explore the uncertainties driving variations in motor performance. Al-Timimy et al. [171] explored the influence of permeable rotor end caps on magnetic end leakage and demonstrated that this should be taken into account in order to accurately predict motor performance computationally. Al-Timimy et al. [172] also explored the impact that incorrect assumptions of material properties after manufacture have on the numerical prediction of motor performance finding that efficiency predictions can be off by over 1% if ignored.

The high reliabilities expected within aerospace applications naturally drive research into understanding motor failure mechanisms and improving fault tolerance. Barater et al. [203] employed a thermal vacuum chamber through which temperature and pressure were cycled to mimic the operation of an aircraft in order to develop models to predict the degradation of motor insulation. While Cao et al. [261] have developed an electric motor tolerant to the occurrence of a single electrical fault.

2.3.2 Superconducting Electric Motors

As noted above the latest 'traditional' electric motor literature presents incremental performance improvements, significant step changes in motor efficiency and power density only really come about when one considers superconducting electric motors. Superconductors encompass a class of materials which offer almost zero electrical resistance below a critical temperature with a sub-class of high temperature superconductors defined as any material exhibiting this characteristic where the critical temperature is greater than 20K. Motors employing this material therefore replace copper within any windings with a superconducting material which results in a significant improvement in performance, as described above, and/or a reduction in mass [370, 414]. 'Traditional' electric motors can offer a power rating of the order of 5kW/kg [754] whereas superconducting motors can offer >40kW/kg [416, 737] and efficiencies of over 99% [236]. Schiferl et al. [686] compare a 6000hp induction motor to its superconducting equivalent and note that efficiency increases from 96.6% to 98.5%, the motor is 58% smaller and weighs 73% less. An aircraft employing such motors has the potential of reducing fuel burn by between 12% and 70% depending on the configuration of the aircraft [740].

The majority of superconducting electric motors tend to have only the rotor constructed from a superconducting material with a conventional copper stator used [610, 677, 616]. Fully superconducting motors, where both stator and rotor are made from these materials have been built once or twice but there is relatively little literature on them. Applications of superconducting motors have primarily been within the marine sector [596] where system performance is less sensitive to mass and there is ample space for cryogenic cooling. Marine generators operating at >98.7% efficiency and motors operating at over >97.3% efficiency have all been demonstrated [610, 740].

A number of theoretical superconducting motors have been designed by various authors throughout the literature with a view to employing them within an aircraft. Terao et al. [754] designed both a 3MW and 5MW motors with power densities of 19.4kW/kg and 25.2kW/kg respectively with a view to installing them within a 180 passenger civil airliner. Similar studies into theoretical superconducting motors have been perfromed by Luk [530], Kong et al. [488] and Manolopoulos et al. [546]. Liu et al. [522] have designed and manufactured a 500kW, 12,000 rpm motor but it is not for use in aerospace applications and is yet to be tested.

To date a practical superconducting motor for aerospace applications remains to be demonstrated and there are considerable issues which remain to be addressed [740]. Sarlioglu and Morris [677] outline a number of opportunities and challenges that exist including, the development of new motor topologies, new high energy density magnets, improved redundancy, reductions in mass and volume, the use of novel lightweight composite materials, new cooling techniques, advances in structural design and better insulating materials. The pace of development, however, has been relatively slow with regards to these technologies despite early proponents of superconducting motors stating that they were already mature enough for use in aircraft in 2007 [554].

2.3.3 Role of ALM in Motor Design

Electric motors, as with almost all aspects of aircraft design, can benefit considerably from the application of additive layer manufacture (ALM). The recent literature reflects this with a number of papers actively exploring the application of ALM within both traditional electric motor architectures as well as superconducting electric motors. Garibaldi et al. [355] note that ALM offers a route for the creation of innovative three-dimensional designs for magnetic core structures otherwise impossible with traditional manufacturing techniques. Goll et al. [373] present three novel topologies of a soft magnetic core including internal slits and multiple material layers to reduce eddy-current losses which can only be produced by ALM. Henke et al. [414] note that ALM offers a number of opportunities to implement new more efficient cooling technologies.

However, as with any new technology the application of ALM comes with a note of caution. Rassolkin et al. [641] note that significant challenges still exist within the ALM process which can introduce issues regarding the reliability and strength of the manufactured part. This is particularly important when one considers the application of ALM within high speed rotating components such a the rotor within an electric motor.

2.3.4 The Wider Electric Powertrain

Progression towards a more electric aircraft has also seen a number of researchers study the wider system level implications. The introduction of electric motors on board an aircraft can introduce issues associated with cooling, the mass of additional wiring, generator and propulsor placement and integration of power storage within the aircraft. Naturally this further complicates what is already a heavily coupled design problem before electrification is even considered. The literature therefore includes a number of examples where researchers have attempted to address these problems.

The work of Gur and Rosen [398] represents an early attempt to solve this complex design problem and produce an optimal aircraft configuration by employing multidisciplinary optimisation techniques to design the complete electrical power train of an unmanned aircraft. This process simultaneously considered battery, motor and propeller sizing in order to define an optimal system. Gnadt et al. [369] went a step further, assuming a number of different motor topologies and aircraft configurations, they performed a multidisciplinary sizing optimisation for a 180 passenger commercial aircraft.

State of the art non-superconducting electric motors and generators typically have peak efficiencies of 95%, a 0.55 MW electric motor therefore produces a similar level of heat to a BBQ [344]. Thermal management therefore becomes a critical issue in the design of more electric aircraft and one which is further exacerbated if superconducting motors requiring cryogenic cooling are employed [344]. A number of researchers within the recent literature have considered motor thermal management either directly or as part of a motor design study. McCluskey et al. [560], for example, discuss an approach

for the thermal management of a smart electric motor for hybrid electric aircraft propulsion via indirect liquid cooling. Patel et al. [616] explored the integration of novel cryogenic cooling techniques within the restricted space between stator teeth.

2.3.5 Solid State Electric Propulsion

The traditional view of aircraft electric propulsion is that of an electric motor driving some sort of propulsor, a propeller or a fan, for example. However, recently, significant steps have been made towards solid state electric propulsion where an 'ionic wind' generated by the aircraft provides the main source of thrust.

The field of electroaerodynamics (EAD) is not a new one and has been studied extensively to provide local flow control but prior to the seminal work of Xu et al. [818] it was widely accepted that the limitations in thrust-to-power ratio and thrust density associated with this form of propulsion would make it infeasible to propel a heavier than air aeroplane. Xu et al. [818] achieved this feat through a combination of the application of cutting edge design processes and the development of an ultralight high-voltage power converter. The aircraft and powertrain were considered within a multidisciplinary design optimisation employing genetic programming which sought the most viable size and power for the prototype aircraft design. The power converter, capable of stepping up battery voltage to 40 kV achieved a specific power 5-10 times higher than conventional systems for the voltage and power used. This reduction in mass was therefore a significant factor in developing an aircraft capable of sustained flight. The prototype aircraft generated a thrust-to-power ratio of 5N/kW which is of a similar to conventional propulsion methods but the thrust density of the system $(3N/m^2)$, is significantly lower than that of a conventional UAV $(10N/m^2)$ or an civil airliner $(1000N/m^2)$. Despite an overall efficiency of 2.56% the aircraft was capable of sustained steady level flight for approximately 10s. The authors suggested that with a few modifications to the aircraft an efficiency of 5% is readily achievable with existing technology and that electroaerodynamics theory for an idealised system suggests that the efficiency of the thrust could be as high as 50%. Within their more recent paper, Xu et al. [817] successfully demonstrated that through optimisation of the voltage and frequency of the dielectricbarrier-discharge the thrust to power ratio can be increased to 6.7N/kW from the 5.N/kW recorded for their prototype aircraft.

Naturally the success of Xu et al. has spurred a recent flurry of activity into solid state electric propulsion for aircraft. Sato et al. [679] proposed a method of generating an ionic wind through surface dielectric-barrier-discharge which does not require a high-voltage power supply that may be suitable for application on small unmanned systems. Chen et al. [274] have used a combination of experiments and numerical models to explore the influence of electrical and flight parameters as well as power storage on the performance of an EAD aircraft. Orriere et al. [607] successfully demonstrated the generation of an ionic wind using nanosecond repetitively pulsed microplasmas. While not implemented on an aircraft the experimental study using particle image velocimetry (PIV) demonstrated that the approach could produce a flow velocity of 2m/s using 1W of power.

Applications of this technology are not restricted to fixed wing aircraft and efforts are already underway to investigate rotorcraft applications. Ieta and Chirita [441], for example, have successfully demonstrated the first rotational ionic device to fly. In this case a propeller has been modified to include a strip of copper tape along the blade. When power was applied the generated ionic wind was found to be capable of rotating the propeller around a shaft and generating enough lift to overcome the mass of the propeller.

2.4 Electric – Internal Combustion Hybrid Powertrains

The simple idea of an internal combustion engine (ICE) and one or more electric motors working in tandem, as part of the same powertrain, in a way that allows each to play to its strengths and plug the gaps in the capabilities of the other, has seen immense success in the automotive world. The uptake is broad, ranging from mass market family hatchbacks (pioneered by Toyota) through high performance supercars, to Formula 1. While the tendency in that sector is towards full electrification (with ICE bans looming in the distance in several countries), systems with varying levels of hybridisation are likely to be around for a while yet. Such powertrains range from systems with a dominant ICE supported at low speeds and in high power demand situations by a small electric propulsion system that runs largely on energy it harvests through regenerative braking, to electrically dominated systems powered through most of the mission by a powerful electric motor, assisted by a small range extender ICE designed to alleviate the driver's range anxiety.

We have already seen in the case of pure piston engine powered systems that the aviation industry in general and unmanned aircraft powerplant engineering in particular, tend to be, to an extent, slaves to and late adopters of the technologies of the automotive world; so, is this the case with hybrids?

To an extent, the answer is 'yes', but there are two major differences between the two applications. First, the ease with which excess kinetic energy can be recovered (through regenerative braking, effectively reversing the polarity of the drive motor, with the battery as the load) makes cars prime candidates for such hybridisation. Second, the energy required to propel a car in cruise (say, on the motorway) is largely independent of its mass (save for a small rolling resistance penalty), but this is far from being the case in aviation, where the lift-induced drag of a cruising fixed wing aircraft will be heavily mass-dependant. This is why the automotive world's unwillingness, at the moment, to fully ditch the ICE with its tremendously energy-dense fossil fuel, in favour of poorer energy density battery electric vehicles is largely due to non-technical reasons (and, even with all economic and political roadblocks, the ICE, as automotive powertrain technology, is heading towards an inexorable demise), while, in contrast, aviation has very strong technical reasons to hang on to ICEs for a while longer (at least for long range applications). Weight is still the number one driver of all aircraft design discussions!

All this adds up to the conclusion that hybrid systems have a different role and potentially different drivers, constraints, pressures and design rationales in unmanned aircraft design. It is also more likely in aviation for the best design solution (for example, in terms of the balance between electric and ICE power) to be very mission dependent and methodologies for developing bespoke solutions are a likely emerging area of research.

Indeed, this is an exciting time from a research and technology development perspective, as the foundations of a new field are having to be laid down in this area. The German aviation think tank *Bauhaus Luftfahrt* are among the pioneers from this point of view, having started to set out the key metrics we may use to analyse proposed hybrid systems [444]. Fundamental questions going back to appropriate alterations of the Breguet range equation [363] and an understanding of related scaling effects [243] (are optimal solutions not just mission-sensitive, but also heavily scale-dependant?) and optimal topologies (parallel/serial layouts) are being debated in the research community.

There is a slowly increasing number of manned prototypes emerging too, potentially paving the way towards applications in larger drones – notable examples include the Cambridge SOUL [345] and the Wankel – battery electric hybrid *Diamond DA36 E-Star* [111].

Chapter 3

On-board Energy Storage & Power Supply Systems

The conceptual design process of a new unmanned aircraft system is likely to have the future platform's energy source at the forefront of the designers' thought processes. Preliminary decisions on this aspect are taken even before the first curve of the tentative geometry of the vehicle is drawn and the choices made on energy storage and power supply and intimately interlinked with every aspect of the design of the platform.

The design problem is generally three-fold: how do we supply the propulsive energy required by the flight mission, how do we power the on-board systems of the aircraft and how do we power the payload? A secondary question is do we store the required energy on board, and, if so, how? If not, how do we capture it? Does it require some sort of conversion process and, if so, what are the mass, volume, cost, efficiency, observability, and performance implications of this process (an example might be the conversion of the chemical energy stored in a hydrocarbon fuel into the electrical power required by a camera or some other payload).

There are many factors at play that drive the latest research and the future of unmanned aircraft energy and power, and we shall discuss some of these in what follows. The general trend is one of diversification, with most future vehicles and their payloads and on-board systems (especially in the case of larger, more complex platforms) likely to be powered by increasingly sophisticated mixes of chemical and electrical components.

3.1 Batteries

3.1.1 Lithium Batteries

Lithium-based chemistries dominate unmanned aircraft on-board energy storage today and this is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future (Lithium is the lightest metal and has the lowest reduction potential of any element, which leads to high gravimetric and volumetric capacity and power density and the highest possible cell voltage [595] – neither fact is likely to change!). We therefore focus here on the current research landscape around Lithium batteries.

The theoretical limits of Lithium battery energy densities and specific capacities are a somewhat contentious topic (see [326] for a discussion of some of the reasons). There is also some debate over what 'real-life' impact further improvements in chemistry can make, considering that the weight of current collectors and structural components accounts for a significant fraction of the overall mass budget and any significant changes to these components without an impact on safety are relatively unlikely. That said, there is some agreement that whatever gains *can* be made at this point, will

require major changes, such as new electrode materials, new cell architectures, and/or transitioning from intercalation to conversion chemistry [820] or hybrids of the two.

BACKGROUND NOTES

BATTERIES

Capacity is the amount of charge the battery is able to receive, store and discharge. On the assumption that the discharge occurs at a constant current I over a time period t (after which the *cut-off voltage* is reached and the battery is considered discharged), the capacity is calculated as $I \cdot t$ and typically measured in Ah (ampere-hours) or mAh. The value typically quoted is the *nominal capacity*, which assumes a certain constant discharge current. High discharge currents may reduce the effective capacity available (*capacity offset*) due to thermal losses. The greater the *internal impedance* of the battery, the greater such losses are and the less capable it is of meeting spikes in demand. A related performance metric of relevance in UAV design is the maximum safe current draw of the battery (typically expressed as a *C-rating* in the case of Lithium-polymer batteries).

The **energy storage capability** of a battery is the product of its capacity and the differential potential (voltage) it is able to maintain between its cathode and anode.

Lithium-ion batteries are dominating applications where high energy density is critical. While the previously ubiquitous Nickel metal hydride (NiMH) cell chemistry offered higher peak discharge rates, Li-ion batteries offer not only significantly higher energy density, but have greater cell voltage (by a factor of three), low self-discharge rates and withstand a large number of charge cycles. The term covers a range of cathode chemistries, characterised by their intercalation materials. Typically, layered transition metal oxides are used: NCA (LiNiCoAlO₂, found in the Tesla/Panasonic 18650/2170 electric vehicle battery cells), LCO (LiCoO₂, commonly used in mobile phones), NCM (LiNiCoMnO₂), LFP (LiFePO₄), LMO (LiMnO₂) and LTO (Li₂TiO₃).

Intercalation or conversion? Lithium-ion batteries feature one of two fundamental types of chemistries. In batteries with *intercalation* cathodes a solid host network stores guest ions (Li^+) , which can be inserted into and removed from the host network (reversibly, in rechargeable batteries). The host network compounds are usually the transition metal oxides listed above, or metal chalcogenides, or polyanion compounds. Conversely, *conversion* electrodes undergo a solid-state redox reaction during lithiation/delithiation (discharging/charging), in which there is a change in their crystalline structure, accompanied by the breaking and recombining of chemical bonds [595].

Solid state batteries have a solid electrolyte (not to be confused with dry electrolyte batteries). The overwhelming majority of current Lithium-ion batteries have chemistries based on liquid organic electrolytes, because they have high conductivity and wettability on the surfaces of the anode and the cathode. But they do have familiar drawbacks compared to solids, mainly related to safety; for example, they do not prevent thermal runaway on impact (no solid barrier to separate the anode and the cathode in case of deformation) [832]. This, as well as the possibility of higher energy densities and better cycle performance motivate much current research into solid state batteries.

Caveat emptor... The performance figures quoted in relation to batteries must always be studied with great care, as different research teams may use different definitions of seemingly simple quantities. For example, there are energy density values published in some research papers that are calculated

with respect to a dry cell, that is, the overall mass does not include the mass of the electrolyte! It is also worth considering the practical implications of what is claimed in relation to a new chemistry or a new cell architecture. For example, some performance figures are only maintainable on a practical battery pack given a sophisticated battery management system (capable of balancing temperatures, charge levels, voltages, etc. across the pack) and the mass of such systems is rarely included in the claimed energy density figures. Along similar lines, certain cycle numbers may only be achievable if a battery is hardly ever discharged below, say, 20%, and is rarely fully charged, so it is worth checking that the energy density quoted alongside the cycle number does not actually refer to a full charge (it almost always does!). When reading about a quoted cell energy density of, say, 250Wh/kg, it is worth bearing in mind that, for purposes of conceptual design calculations (that is, accounting for all of the above), a realistic overall on-board energy storage figure might be around 150Wh/kg.

An active area of development is that of Li-S chemistries. Consider, for example, the work of Zhou et al [857], who propose the combination of intercalation and conversion reactions to improve the volumetric capacity of the cathode in Li–S batteries. Their proposed cathode consists of hollow VO2@S microspheres, which achieves greater volumetric capacity (1084 mAh/cm³ at 0.1C) by combining the intercalation and conversion mechanisms. They also report good rate capability and cycling performance (440 mAh/g at 1.0C after 200 cycles) (see also the work of an MIT team recently reporting on a cell featuring a hybrid cathode delivering an energy density of 366 Wh/kg when assembled into a pouch cell [822]).

Commercially available Li-S packs with performance metrics (energy density and cycle number) that may make them viable as propulsion system batteries for unmanned aircraft are on the horizon; for example, Oxis Energy claim to have achieved 400Wh/kg at the cell level with a goal, by 2021, of 500 cycles, and the added bonus of a 100% available depth of discharge¹.

The use of *aqueous ('water-in-salt') electrolytes* is another active area of research interest in battery chemistry (has been for over a decade, see, for example, work by Nobel laureate John Goodenough [529]). A recent contribution that has garnered much attention is the work of a large team bringing together researchers from the University of Maryland, the US Army Research Laboratory, the Chinese Center for High Pressure Science and Technology, Argonne National Laboratory and City University of Hong Kong [825]. They report impressive energy densities (304Wh/kg with the electrolyte mass included and 460Wh/kg calculated with the mass of the anode and the cathode alone), demonstrated thus far over 150 charge cycles. This is a low number in the context of consumer electronics or electric road vehicles, but 150 flights is comparable to the mean time between overhauls of certain combustion engines used on aircraft; in particular, in the case of small to medium sized unmanned air vehicles, very high energy density at the expense of low charge cycle counts may be an attractive proposition.

Other efforts underway in this area include the development of aqueous lithium rechargeable batteries with a lithium anode and an aqueous $SnCl_2$ solution cathode separated by a lithium-ion conducting solid electrolyte, by a Japanese team (see Watanabe et al. [800]), who report theoretical energy densities of 681Wh/kg.

Focusing on cell degradation and cycle performance in near-100% depth of discharge operations², Harlow et al. [410] present the results of three years of testing on $\text{LiNi}_{0.5}\text{Mn}_{0.3}\text{Co}_{0.2}\text{O}_2$ (NCM) 40mm x 20mm x 3.5mm pouch cells (with a moderate specific energy of 200Wh/kg) with a range of electrodes and at a range of temperatures. The benchmark chemistry they propose uses a single crystal NCM

¹These claims are made on https://oxisenergy.com/technology, as of September 2019.

²This is of relevance to unmanned aircraft in cases where the decision to attempt to land at, say, 80% depth of discharge, in marginal conditions, may be coloured by the knowledge that a diversion involving close to 100% depth of discharge might have a significant cost in remaining charge cycles. Similarly, a battery with good tolerance of 100% state-of-charge storage has the potential to improve the operational readiness of an unmanned aircraft.

electrode in which, in their tests, no micro-cracking can be observed after 5,300 cycles. Their test protocols included simulating storage followed by daily discharge cycles to 100% depth of discharge (over a period of 6 hours) was designed to be representative of electric lorry operations (the work is part of a long-standing research partnership with Tesla, Inc.), but these are also features of some unmanned aircraft operations. From this point of view, 200Wh/kg maintained over in excess of ten years of daily, deep discharge operations, appears to be a useful data point representing the state of the art going into the 2020s.

Increasing volumetric charge capacities, energy densities and cycle life are not the only active areas of battery research of relevance to unmanned air systems design. Faster charging (see [828] for some recent work), low leakage currents, increased safety (reduced flammability), better shaping (different form factors), and good temperature performance are other areas being targeted.

Solid state batteries (that is, batteries featuring a solid electrolyte) show some indications of answering much of this wish-list. While high capacity solid state batteries are currently in development, the higher levels of the readiness level range of the research landscape (demonstrations in the 'real' environment) are populated by low capacity, extremely light batteries, suitable for powering, for example, sensors with modest energy needs. An example of research results on the cusp of making into industrial applications is the Ilika Stereax[®] family of micro-batteries³ designed for Internet-of-Things applications (the researchers predict wearable device scale batteries by 2022). Instead of the polymer electrolyte of the ubiquitous Li-Po batteries that dominate unmanned aircraft applications, the Stereax batteries have a ceramic ion conductor. For now, this category of batteries shows the most promise, from an unmanned aircraft point of view, in applications such as structural health monitoring (sensors and batteries powered by small solar cells or using energy harvesting technologies). Larger, unmanned aircraft powerplant scale batteries are estimated to arrive in the next decade.

Solid state batteries also feature on the research horizons of areas such as flexible batteries (see [856] for a review into progress in flexible lithium batteries). Like many other developments in battery technology, this is primarily driven by the needs of the consumer electronics industry (roll-up devices, wearable electronics) or the biomedical sector (e.g., implantable devices), but they could play an interesting role in unmanned aircraft design too, for example in fixed wing platforms with warping wings.

There is thus a great deal of interest in solid state batteries and there are key chemistry questions yet to be answered (including the best choice of solid polymer matrix, with polyether, polyester, polyacrylonitrile, and polysiloxane among the contenders [850]). A recent review by Yao et al. [832] discusses the current state of the art in polymer-based composite electrolytes for Lithium batteries.

3.1.2 Primary Batteries

Primary (non-rechargeable) batteries generally have greater energy densities than rechargeable batteries, which makes them potential candidates for unmanned aircraft applications. From an operational perspective, they certainly make sense in the case of aircraft designed for one-way missions (e.g., sensor platforms designed to return telemetry data from harsh environments, such as an area affected by nuclear contamination), but logistical, cost and disposal considerations generally make them impractical for more conventional operations.

A future exception might be metal-air batteries, in particular, aluminium-air batteries which would make practical sense in a greater variety of concepts of operations if they could be 'mechanically recharged' in an affordable and environmentally responsible manner (effectively replacing the consumed aluminium anodes with aluminium reclaimed from the electrolyte of the spent battery). An aluminiumair battery (perhaps it would be more apt to call it an air-breathing fuel cell), uses oxygen from the

³For more details see https://www.ilika.com/battery-technology.

air and water (in addition to the aluminium anode) and converts it into aluminium hydroxide while maintaining a cell voltage of 2.71V:

$$4 \operatorname{Al} + 3 \operatorname{O}_2 + 6 \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O} \longrightarrow 4 \operatorname{Al}(\operatorname{OH})_3 + 2.71 \operatorname{V} \cdot$$

Their practical energy density is generally estimated to be an order of magnitude greater than that of rechargeable lithium batteries, though power densities tend to be lower (see Vegh and Alonso's recent analysis [776] of the technology from an aircraft design point of view).

Research into aluminium-air chemistries goes back several decades (see, for example, Zaromb's work [845] from the 1960s) and is continuing with generally far lower funding levels than lithium-ion battery development (see [527] for a recent review). Research mainly focuses on reducing costs (most cells require high purity aluminium [327])and increasing power densities, as well as solving the practical obstacles around 'recharging' (minimising the amount of water required and converting the $4 \text{ Al}(\text{OH})_3$ back into Al). Israeli start-up *Phinergy*, as well as UK-based *MAL Research and Development Limited* (makers of the *Métalectrique* cell) are reported to be working on commercially viable solutions [6].

3.1.3 Structural Batteries & Capacitors

Conventional electric propulsion aircraft design treats the battery pack as a self-contained, modular object, whose only function is to provide energy for flight and for on-board systems and payloads. An emerging school of thought sees the battery as a component that could take on additional functions, as a means of reducing overall system mass; crucially, as a structural member in itself, or part thereof, such that, in addition to its energy storage role, the battery also carries stresses that would otherwise be carried by structural members of the airframe, thus allowing weight savings on the latter.

Combining structural and energy storage functions is being considered in several research labs around the world, at several different scales. Till et al [166] offer a helpful classification of structural batteries from this point of view, from complete separation to micro/nano-level integration (e.g., energy carrying fibres).

It is clear that adding structural duties to those of a battery will reduce its energy (and power) density, and, of course, there comes a point where the sacrifice is such that the structural battery will no longer be earning its keep. Scholz et al. [689] estimate this break-even point to be 51.8Wh/kg and 103.3W/kg (in terms of specific energy and power respectively) for a particular architecture, though clearly this is very much a function of the actual design. It does, however, offer a ballpark number to target by researchers. Their case study predicts possible endurance gains of 31%. State of the art values appear to be falling short of this at present, with designs around the 25Wh/kg mark being reported [455] (contrast this to the state of the art Lithium battery energy density values reported elsewhere in this section).

An alternative route is represented by structural super-capacitors, which have the main advantage of charging more rapidly than batteries; this is, however, a very low TRL area at present, with power densities of 34W/kg, and energy densities of 0.12Wh/kg reported [448].

This is clearly another area where a systems level view is likely to pay dividends. On stark energy density numbers alone, structural batteries are a long way away from practical use, but clever engineering might bring benefits by reducing the amount of wiring required (if the airframe structure can be 'tapped into' anywhere), as well as offering natural cooling to the cells. It is also likely that the numbers will make sense at specific scales (e.g., very small or very large vehicles), depending on the type of integration.

3.2 Hydrogen

Hydrogen has always been of great interest, as a fuel, in aeronautical engineering research, due to the simple physical fact that it has the highest specific energy of all non-nuclear fuels [733].

Research into fuel cells (systems capable of generating electrical power using hydrogen stored on board and atmospheric oxygen) as aircraft power sources has intensified over the last two decades, driven by the fundamental observation that such systems have the potential to achieve some of the advantages of electric motors (low noise and vibration, low environmental impact, low cost, low maintenance) with the specific energies typical of internal combustion engines. A typical system would be powered by a polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) fuel cell, receiving its fuel supply from a gaseous or liquefied hydrogen tank integrated into the airframe (though on-board hydrogen generation is another option being considered).

The downside of fuel cell powered aircraft propulsion systems (other than the obvious issues related to safety and the absence of a Hydrogen infrastructure that have so far also limited the uptake of fuel cells in the automotive industry to a small number of low production number designs) is that, while they shine on specific energy, they tend to be poor on specific power. Fuel cell powered aircraft concepts therefore tend to have highly constrained performance envelopes and low payloads [239], which pushes them into the high persistence, moderate payload niche of the design space.

Indeed, this is the type of mission the highest profile such vehicle, the AeroVironment Stratospheric Global Observer was designed for. It first flew in 2010, under the Joint Capability Technology Demonstration (JCTD) programme [7], with a stated endurance target of 5-7 days. The aircraft suffered a 'mishap' later in the flight test programme [8] (which later led to the cancellation of the demonstrator programme) and AeroVironment's current efforts in the ultra-persistent aircraft domain appear to be focused on solar powered platforms [118].

Interestingly, Boeing's answer to the GlobalObserver, the PhantomEye high altitude pseudo-satellite first flown in 2012 [139], also used hydrogen, but in an entirely different type of propulsion system: it used turbocharged piston engines supplied by Ford.

We are, it seems, into a second wave of development, driven by the conclusions of these early attempts, which have proven the basic principle and highlighted a number of research needs.

The Ion Tiger program at the US Naval Research Laboratory [126] (see Figure 3.1 showing the 16kg gross take-off weight, low altitude platform) has tackled two of these. First, efficient hydrogen storage: the 48-hour endurance of the Ion Tiger vehicle is partly thanks to the NRL's in-house developed cryogenic liquid hydrogen storage tank and delivery system ⁴. Their lightweight dewar has an internal volume of 20.46 litres, capable of storing 500g of gaseous hydrogen at 35MPa (this is how the vehicle was fuelled early in its flight test programme). The novel cryogenic system allowed the storage of 1.3kg of liquid hydrogen, of which the aircraft was able to use 799g during a 48-hour test flight (the rest was vented to control the inner pressure). The remarkable achievement here was that the endurance of the increased by around 85% compared to its earlier gaseous hydrogen flights, as a result of the increased volumetric efficiency of the hydrogen storage[733, 374]. Second: high fuel cell mass-efficiency drove the development of their 5kW system based on metal foil bipolar plates [126, 151, 374, 744, 745].

There are several other development efforts progressing in labs around the world, aiming to improve the gravimetric and volumetric efficiency of fuel cell propulsion systems. For example, researchers at Washington State University have developed the Genii unmanned air vehicle demonstrator [268], which also features a cryogenic liquid hydrogen tank, albeit of a different architecture. Some systems appear to have reached the higher end of the technology readiness scale, such as the *Hycopter* multi-rotor offered by *HES Energy Systems* [123], running on compressed hydrogen stored in a cylindrical tank, offering an endurance of up to 3.5 hours at sub-0.5kg payloads (the maximum take-off weight is 15kg).

⁴Unlike other gases, hydrogen does not liquefy under pressure; rather, it requires very low temperatures to form a cryogenic liquid [374].



Figure 3.1: The NRL Ion Tiger research aircraft and its fuel cell (inset). Images courtesy of the US Naval Research Laboratory.

As we mentioned earlier, there is an alternative to complex hydrogen storage systems: chemical storage methods that work either via *chemisorption (absorption)*, when hydrogen molecules are dissociated into atoms and integrated in the lattice of the host material or *physisorption (adsorption)*, where hydrogen molecules are attached to the surface of the host material. Absorption generally offers better gravimetric and volumetric efficiencies [374]. The advantages of chemical storage: good storage capacity at the same time as offering simpler systems and a much easier refuelling processes (involving liquids or solids at room temperature) [478].

Absorption-based systems use metal hydrides, borohydrides, amides, imides, and hydrocarbon fuels, with *sodium borohydride* (NaBH₄) perhaps the most popular choice for unmanned aircraft research applications (even some commercial systems are beginning to appear). Systems to date have relatively low power outputs, however, and some cells require the replacement of the catalyst (platinum, ruthenium, cobalt) [374].

An alternative material that has received much attention in the research community is ammonia borane. In particular, a technology developed by a team from Rutherford Appleton Laboratory spinoff *Cella Energy Limited*, University College London and *Chilton Tech*, involving the hydrogen storage in ammonia borane-polymer composite pellets [588] may be a promising avenue (with some early experiments involving a light unmanned aircraft having taken place at the Scottish Association for Marine Science [9]). An interesting related proposal was to integrate the pellets into the primary structure of the airframe [374]. Alas, with Cella Energy in administration at the time of writing, the future of this technology is uncertain.

Current commercial offerings in the solid hydride storage propulsion space include the *HES Aeropak-S* cartridge, capable of 250W standard output and storing 1,500Wh of energy, according to the manufacturer who also supply liquid hydride and compressed gas solutions [104].

While research into increasing the performance of various types of fuel cells continues, there is an increasingly influential school of thought, according to which the limited power density of fuel cells is likely to remain an issue, so the most productive direction appears to be the use of fuel cells as part of hybrid systems, for example combining fuel cell stacks with Li-ion battery packs [594]. The battery packs thus cover mission segments with peak demand (e.g., take-off), while the fuel cell provides the bulk of the cruise power. Verstraete et al. [780] report on the performance of one of the latest such systems, the *HES Aerostak*.

Much of the vehicle energy research landscape is generally driven by the automotive industry (far larger than the unmanned aircraft manufacturing sector) and unmanned aircraft are likely to benefit from this immensely, though at the cost of research directions and requirements being set by automotive design drivers. Lithium batteries are a good example of this. At the same time, another high value industry, that of commercial air transportation, has driven the agenda of cleaner, more efficient gas turbine propulsion. Hydrogen, in particular hydrogen fuel cells are in a curious, somewhat different place. Automotive applications appear to be very limited (largely due to issues around the absence of a hydrogen infrastructure) and scaling issues, as well as technological risk aversion, limit the appetite of the commercial aircraft sector. This leaves unmanned aircraft as a niche application, especially when it comes to ultra-persistent pseudo satellites. While there are some incipient commercial offerings out there (in terms of fuel cells suitable for unmanned aircraft) there are still many interesting areas of research to be pursued if hydrogen fuel cells are ever to hold a significant chunk of the long endurance patch:

- availability of the required fuel and infrastructure at the point of use (off-grid refuelling systems?)
- optimal liquid hydrogen tank design to resolve trade-offs around performance and mission flexibility
- high altitude (low ambient pressure) performance of hydrogen fuel cell systems there is debate over the mechanisms that appear to be causing significant performance degradation with altitude [374]
- water management (membrane hydration is required to maintain conductivity) [374]
- meteorological robustness hybrid systems are currently being designed for idealised conditions, but will weather variability dent the usability of such systems? (e.g., unexpected climbs or mission segments flown into strong headwinds exceeding the power capabilities of the system).

The above is merely a snapshot of the current unmanned aircraft hydrogen power research landscape – the interested reader may find the reviews by Gong and Verstraete [374] and Pan et al. [611] useful in further delving into the state of the art of this potentially promising technological area.

3.3 Solar Power

The advent of increasingly light and efficient photovoltaic cells has brought solar power into the mainstream of unmanned aircraft propulsion system design thinking, especially in the domain of high altitude, long endurance systems. It has been a challenging technological path from NASA's partially successful, but ultimately ill-fated Helios prototype (Figure 3.2) of the early 2000s to today's remarkable QinetiQ/Airbus Zephyr aircraft that measures its endurance in weeks or the *Solar Impulse* manned aircraft⁵ that flew around the world on solar power alone. The key engineering challenge has always been to balance the need for sun-facing real estate (required for structurally inefficient photovoltaic panels) with demands for robustness, altitude and endurance targets and payload carrying capabilities.

Propulsion systems with photovoltaic cells as their main energy source do not scale down well, nor are they very practical at low altitudes where the availability of solar energy is very variable. Nonetheless, there is a small, but persistent stream of research looking at applications in small and micro-air vehicles (where the propulsion system and the payload receive at least some of their power from photovoltaic cells). One argument in favour of such platforms is that, while they do not have the payload capability of high altitude surveillance pseudo-satellites, nor do they need it, as, being closer to the ground, they can obtain similar quality images with lighter cameras. Of course, traffic and conspicuity issues push the balance in favour of the higher altitude platforms... All of this shows that there are no black and white answers and the optimum scale may be very much mission-dependent.

An example of small solar-powered research platform is the hand-launched *AtlantikSolar* (weighing in at 7.36kg without payload), developed at ETH Zurich with the ultimate goal of offering perpetual

⁵https://aroundtheworld.solarimpulse.com



Figure 3.2: The Helios aircraft during its June 2003 mishap when a turbulence encounter caused the aircraft to exceed its design dynamic pressure and this, in turn, led to its catastrophic structural failure. Image courtesy of NASA.

endurance for search and rescue type missions. The AtlantikSolar carries its batteries in the wing spars and the solar panels on the wing surfaces; these supply a peak power of 275W at the sunniest moment of its design mission. The ETH team showed that the batteries alone are capable of sustaining the aircraft for over 12 hours, which indicated that, in theory, it should be capable of staying airborne through the night [600]. Subsequently, AtlantikSolar would go on to achieve an 81-hour perpetual flight, which, according to the Swiss researchers, is currently the longest continuous flight of any aircraft in the sub-50kg category. The aircraft operated during its record-breaking flight in the 600-800m altitude band [601].

Going to smaller scales still requires clever use of the solar panels as structural and even aerodynamic components. An example of this thinking is the *Robo Raven III* flapping wing micro air vehicle, the compliant wing of which almost entirely consists of a flexible solar panel [618].

An interesting, relatively recent realisation in the aircraft design research community is that, when it comes to designing solar-powered aircraft, an entirely novel thought process may be required. In the case of more conventional power sources the problem is formulated as 'given this fixed mission, what is the optimum aircraft that is able to perform it?' Solar-powered unmanned aircraft may require a somewhat more flexible and slightly inverted design process, which asks 'which aspects of the mission would I have to alter slightly to make it significantly better suited to solar powered operations?' Examples include modifying a baseline mission profile to include altitude changes that allow the aircraft to store excess solar energy in the daytime in gravitational potential (to be relinquished subsequently by night-time gliding) [352], modifying the flight path and/or attitude of the aircraft to give better solar exposure to its photovoltaic cells [483, 796, 812] and considering the optimal design of a solar-powered aircraft in the context of the geographical locale of its intended operation [635].

Another shift in emphasis involves the higher level goals driving the missions of solar-powered aircraft – these could be applications that aircraft have not been considered for, such as the provision of 5G network coverage [106] or of persistent surveillance tasks that only satellites would have been capable of previously.

3.4 Automated Refuelling & Recharging

Automated airborne refuelling has attracted significant interest and funding since the beginning of the millennium, with a DARPA-contracted research programme in 2006 an early highlight of these efforts.

Using an optical tracking system and relative GPS/INS systems on both the tanker and the receiver, a pre-production McDonnell Douglas (now Boeing) F/A-18B flew a number of automated engagements (see Figures 3.3 and 3.4) [311]. While automated, this was not a true unmanned demonstration yet – another milestone in that direction would be reached a year later involving truly unmanned (RQ-4 Global Hawk) aircraft through another DARPA effort, but a human pilot was 'in the loop' to 'set conditions and monitor safety during autonomous refuelling operations' [10].



Figure 3.3: Look, no hands! In 2006 the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA), working with NASA's Dryden (now Armstrong) Flight Research Centre, demonstrated the first ever autonomous probe-and-drogue airborne refuelling operation over the Edwards Air Force Base test range. Image courtesy of NASA.

Research efforts involving Global Hawks (both in the tanker and receiver role) continued through to 2012 as part of the KQ-X Autonomous High-altitude Refueling project, with flight tests operated in an unusual configuration: the tanker flew behind and underneath the receiver [127]. Due to time pressures on the aircraft involved, the programme ended before actual fuel transfer could be demonstrated [122].

With the recent first flight of the carrier-launched Boeing MQ-25 Stingray unmanned tanker and a projected entry into service date of 2024 (to support F/A-18 Super Hornet, EA-18G Growler and F-35 operations) [134], the 'tanker side' automation of air-to-air refuelling appears to be reaching the top rungs of the TRL ladder, though the operational level of autonomy of the MQ-25 is unclear at this time. Meanwhile, full automation of drone to drone refuelling operations remains an area of active research interest.

An interesting field of enquiry at present is the optimal configuration of the refuelling system for automated operations. Consider the two main contenders: the flying boom (tanker) and receptacle (receiver) system and the probe (receiver) and passive drogue (tanker) method. There is an interesting tension here between the fact that the control system for the former may be more complicated due to the need for 'steering' both the receiver aircraft and the boom; conversely, the control system of the latter might pose the harder control problem of aiming to make contact with a passive drogue flying less predictably in potentially unsteady flow conditions [756]. The choice of the steered boom architecture raises another interesting research question – should the control system adopt a 'leader-follower' type model or is a collaborative architecture (as described by Thomas et al [757]) the better answer?



Figure 3.4: Camera tracking system image captured during the DARPA/NASA automated refuelling tests at Edwards Air Force Base in 2006. Image courtesy of NASA.

The pre-requisite of air-to-air refuelling, is, of course achieving rendezvous and holding formation in the first place and this is a hot research topic at present, whether with the end goal of achieving a refuelling capability (e.g., [533]) or other concepts of operations (such as aerial recovery of a drone by a 'mother ship' [755]) and whether the target is the leader or a cable/hose towed by it [592]. All these problems are made challenging by having to design control systems for dealing with operational uncertainties, such as actuator failures and wake turbulence [843]. Ultimately, the fundamental technologies underpinning the operation of autonomous systems in general, such as robust control algorithms and computer vision [551], are dictating the pace of developments on all of these fronts.

Recent successes include those of Briggs [244], who reports achieving infrared vision aided close (down to 4m) formation flight over extended periods in wind speeds in excess of 25 km/h. Their docking flight tests achieved 'numerous airborne connections over multiple flights, including five successful docking manoeuvres in seven minutes of a single flight'.

Most of the techniques developed for the in-flight refuelling of drones can also be applied to in-flight recharging of battery-powered aircraft. However, there are interesting alternatives here to a physical umbilical between the 'tanker' and the receiver (analogous to the refuelling hose). Short range wireless power transfer may ultimately prove to be an interesting way for a 'mother ship' tanker (electrical equivalent of) to recharge fleets of electric drones in flight and researchers at Imperial College have recently provided a very early, laboratory demonstration of the idea. As reported by Arteaga et al. [190], they were able to create an inductive coupling between a small, batteryless multi-rotor drone and a charging pad, with the power being sufficient to keep the small drone in the hover. At a larger scale, *Global Energy Transmission*⁶ are offering a similar system that is said to recharge commercial grade drones while they are hovering inside a 'large area power hotspot'.

It is important to note that this type of short range inductive power transfer is highly efficient (>90%), unlike the much longer range radiative power transfer techniques we will be discussing in the section on *power beaming*.

Technologically far simpler, especially in the case of rotorcraft, is the automated recharging of aircraft on ground-based docking stations. The roughly decade and a half long history of such endeavours goes back to the work of Dale [293], who developed the first automated battery recharge landing station at MIT (as well as the first *mobile* recharge platform). The same lab went on to develop a battery *swap* platform, which would reduce the landing pad dwell time of the drone to the duration of

⁶www.getcorp.com

the automated removal of the spent battery and the insertion of a freshly charged one [760].

Such automated battery swapping technology remains, to date, on the low rungs of the technology readiness scale and public domain research in this area is currently very limited. There are indications that charging pads (including pads that can be operated outdoors) are beginning to become a practical reality [11], though they are a long way from becoming widespread (the authors are not aware of any 'real life' cases of operational use). This perhaps indicates certain technological roadblocks, or, more likely, the lack of obvious demand, associated with the lack of a clear use case/mission at the moment. A broader view would have charging pads as components of a more generic infrastructure consisting of docking stations that serve other functions too, such as navigational aids, package handling facilities, etc. A patent recently granted to *Amazon Technologies*[364] indicates that the company may be thinking along these lines.

Using existing infrastructure for charging is the impetus behind such ideas as using high voltage power lines. A US Air Force filed patent[548] describes such a system, noting that 'energy collection is by way of a parked vehicle engagement with the transmission line in a current flow dependent, magnetic field determined, rather than shunt, voltage dependent, conductor coupling'. The sketches illustrating the patent show a fixed wing platform. Another US Air Force patent application[581] also mentions 'power line scavenging circuitry'.

The scavenging process is, of course, only part of the challenge here. Another current area of research interest is around how the aircraft locates the power line, how it exploits its magnetic field for navigation (and, indeed, how it avoids its control systems being affected by the strong electromagnetic fields) and how it manoeuvres to a safe landing – a fruitful area of overlap with the increasingly active research area of perched landing dynamics [580]; and, speaking of overlaps, this is where we also come full circle, in terms of how to actually scavenge the power from the high voltage lines once landing has been accomplished, to the wireless charging methods mentioned earlier.

3.5 Thermal, Orographic, Dynamic & Regenerative Soaring

Human glider pilots apply a set of rules for maximising altitude gained in thermals. These range from the simple (if the starboard wing is lifted by a thermal, start flying right-hand orbits) to the complex, relying on vision and high level mission management thinking (use cumulus clouds, other gliders that appear to be climbing and certain ground features roughly aligned with the planned course, as waypoints).

Implementing machine intelligence that replicates some part of this continuum has long been a goal of unmanned aircraft engineers keen to use some of the 'free energy' available in thermal lift, with NASA's successful flight tests from 2005 [179] marking the first major milestone.

The current line of inquiry in this area appears to have shifted from replicating human glider pilot intelligence to using modern technology to exploit the sort of high level, strategic vision that humans pilots cannot achieve. One example of this is exploiting collaborative behaviour within a swarm of autonomous gliders, which, work together to chart the resources available (lift and solar irradiance) and maximise collective performance. Andersson et al. [184] claimed the first success (in flight tests conducted with two aircraft) in this area, though, clearly, routine operational use of collaborative soaring is still a long way away.

A single aircraft learning an increasingly accurate model of the environment the aircraft operates is another potentially fruitful direction in autonomous soaring. Perhaps the most impressive recent demonstration of autonomous soaring based on this principle is reported by Depenbush et al. [305, 306]. Their soaring algorithm includes thermal mapping, explore/exploit decision making, navigation, optimal airspeed computation, thermal centering control, and energy state estimation. Their approach highlights the importance of a data fusion approach to the automated soaring problem and the success of these early experiments indicates the approach being sufficiently feasible to warrant further research. A related endurance stretching approach is autonomous dynamic soaring [503]. This, as well as the broader problem of exploiting wind fields for automated gliding [288], are largely at the numerical simulation level at present and the jury is still out on the feasibility of practical applications.

Finally, the idea of regenerative soaring (using propellers to harvest energy from updrafts through windmilling) has been simmering on the fringes of the unmanned aircraft energy research agenda for a long time, with Barnes [207] and de Carvalho [297] among recent proponents. The concept of operations typically involves the aircraft thermalling at constant height (as opposed to climbing in the thermal like a conventional glider), recharging its batteries as it does so, before flying on to the next thermal. The key argument (as formulated, for example, in [297]) is that the propeller and generator/motor plus battery combination can also serve as a self-launching powertrain. Once again, this is an idea that has been at the conceptual level for some time, with practical applications seemingly unlikely in the near future, largely due to question marks around the overall efficiency and complexity of the system.

BACKGROUND NOTES

POWER BEAMING

Far field **power beaming** or **wireless power transfer (WPT)** is the transmission of power via electromagnetic waves focused at the receiver, without any wires connecting the transmitter and the receiver. Power beaming is of enormous interest in many applications (e.g., transmitting energy from in-orbit photovoltaic cells to the ground or the opposite, beaming energy from the ground to spacecraft). From an unmanned aircraft systems perspective, such systems have the attraction of eliminating (or drastically reducing) the need to store energy on board the air vehicle.

The useful parts of the spectrum. The atmosphere is opaque to most of the the electromagnetic spectrum, leaving two possible band gaps for ground-to-air power beaming: the radio window and the optical window. The former is limited, from a practical point of view, to centimetre wavelengths (microwaves), as longer wavelengths would require very large antennae.

Rectenna. A contraction of 'rectifier-antenna', this is a key component of microwave power beaming systems. It is meant to convert the alternating current resulting from the captured microwave energy into direct current.

A century-old idea. In the 1920s Nikola Tesla predicted that 'houses will be lighted and powered by wireless, as will be airplanes and other vehicles on land and sea' [188]. Anything approaching a practical flying vehicle had to wait for several decades due to the absence of the technology required for capturing and, if needed, rectifying the electromagnetic radiation beamed up from the ground (either a rectenna, in the case of microwaves, or suitable photovoltaic cells in the case of light). Raytheon's early rectennas and their experiments with a small beamed power helicopter in the 1960s [250] constituted the first proof of concept of Tesla's 'wireless power' aircraft. The next notable experiment was the 1987 flight of the Canadian SHARP (Stationary High-Altitude Relay Platform), a high aspect-ratio, handlaunched single motor fixed wing, microwave beam powered drone. The 150W required for loitering flight were supplied by a rectenna system fitted to the airframe, onto which a 15ft parabolic dish focused a 2.45GHz, 10kW microwave beam [338].



Figure 3.5: Atmospheric opacity across the electromagnetic spectrum. The candidates for unmanned aircraft power beaming are the two opacity gaps (atmospheric windows). Image courtesy of NASA [255].

3.6 Tethering & In-Flight Power Beaming

A solution to unmanned aircraft endurance limitations is to use a ground-based, practically infinite energy source. Conceptually, the simplest implementation of this idea is the use of a physical tether, a cable carrying the power required by the propulsion system and the payload of the drone (as well as, sometimes, data).

Immutable laws of physics will always limit the range (cable length) of such drones, as increasing cable length will demand an increase in drone payload capability and thus power, which, in turn, will demand more power and thus a heavier cable and so on. That said, there are a number of applications where range is of limited interest (e.g., persistent, local, overhead surveillance [144]) and the physical tether has the added benefit of constraining the drone to a hemispherical block of airspace even in the case of complete systems failure.

Powering drones through the targeted beaming of electromagnetic energy from the ground (see the *Background notes* on power beaming) has similar motivations to tethering: taking the primary energy source off the vehicle can extend its endurance, potentially to as long as the service interval of the vehicle. Unlike wired tethering though, power beaming does not physically constrain the vehicle to a hemispherical block of airspace (as one may desire, for example, to ensure airspace deconfliction, even in the case of complete systems failure), the energy efficiency may be lower than on wired systems and the operation of high energy beams may involve complicated safety considerations. On the plus side, the vehicle can be smaller, as the power capturing equipment on board may be smaller and lighter than the equivalent tethering cable.

The unmanned aircraft power beaming research landscape can currently be found around TRL 4, splitting into two distinct schools of thought: one focusing on the microwave 'window', the other on the light (laser) band gap.

The desire for microwave beaming to become a practical means of powering unmanned aircraft is currently driving two pivotal areas of research, one on the aircraft side and one on the ground side: *rectenna design* (see the *Background notes* on power beaming) and phased array microwave transmitters respectively.

A key topic of interest in rectenna design is overall receiver efficiency (microwave to direct current) [436] and, indeed, the end-to-end-efficiency of the ground-air system [553].

Phased array transmitters are ideal for unmanned aircraft applications, as the beam can be steered to track the vehicle without the need to mechanically steer the transmitter [707] (the phased array

approach is not favoured on the receiver side, where greater redundancy and architectural simplicity is achieved via independent elements). Much research here is focused around *beam shaping*, that is, the optimum weighting of each radiating element [553].

Microwave beaming research is particularly active at present in Japanese academic institutions (the Universities of Tokyo and Kyoto), both in terms of phased arrays [707] and applications to unmanned aircraft [586]. Elsewhere (in particular in the US) the use of the 'optical window' appears to be commanding greater interest, motivated chiefly, it appears, by the fact that beam coherence is easier to ensure in the case of lasers than microwave beams.

The proof-of-principle on laser beam powered flight is over a decade-and-a-half old at the time of writing: NASA's MOTH1 and MOTH2 first flew (indoors) in 2003 (see Figure 3.6, [115]), with a human operator tracking the vehicle with a manually steered laser beam.



Figure 3.6: MOTH2 – the first aircraft powered by a ground-based laser, developed at NASA Marshall and the Dryden Flight Research Centre in 2003. The laser being shone at the photovoltaic cell seen underneath the fuselage was a 1.5-kW 940-nanometer (nm) diode array with 50 percent efficiency [552]. Image courtesy of NASA.

Accurate and safe targeting has been one of the critical technology areas considered since this pioneering experiment (clearly, manual steering is impractical outdoors, particularly at higher altitudes), with a patent published in 2006 by Baldis et al. [199] proposing a system with a passive receiver side, requiring no additional on-board power source (the patent is listed as 'abandoned' as of 2019).

In 2011 Ascending Technologies of Germany and LaserMotive of Seattle (US)⁷ reported on power beaming experiments conducted as part of an FP7 research programme [164]. They flew a 1kg quadcopter indoors, for a duration of 12h27' (claimed to be an endurance record for multi-rotor micro air vehicles). The energy required for the flight was transmitted via an infrared laser beam and collected by the drone via a solar array. Outdoor experiments followed in 2012, this time powering a Lockheed Martin Stalker, a Solid Oxide Fuel Cell powered, hand-launched, fixed wing aircraft. The experiment "demonstrated net positive power to Stalker in flight, at ranges up to 600 meters" and "the beam director tracked the receiver for long periods, with centimeter accuracy at 500 meters, despite turbulence and aircraft maneuvers" [130]. The experiments included both day and nighttime operations and the endurance of the UAV was reported to have been increased by 2,400% [12] (this indicates that while the laser may not have covered all the energy needs of the loitering platform, it came quite close).

⁷The company is currently known as *PowerLight Technologies* (URL: http://powerlighttech.com).

3.7 Other Energy Sources

Beyond the energy sources discussed above, a few other means of providing energy for flight are being studied, especially for certain niche applications.

A 'fringe' energy source that has been explored explored for decades for potential use on aircraft and spacecraft is *nuclear power*. A recently published Sandia National Laboratories report [676] ignited some discussion of nuclear-powered unmanned aircraft powerplants, but a feasible aerial platform and suitable concept of operations remains unlikely in the near future. Radioisotope thermoelectric generators (RTGs) routinely used in spacecraft applications [225] may have some technical feasibility for powering pseudo-satellite payloads, but concerns related to safety and environmental contamination, as well as performance issues mean that ubiquitous unmanned aircraft applications are not on the immediate horizon and thus not on public domain research agendas at the moment.

A much more benign, and far cheaper, as well as lower risk means of generating energy for flight is balloon-launching. The concept is simple: a glider is attached to a gas balloon, which lifts it to a very high altitude launch point, where the glider releases to begin its mission, with ranges of the order of hundreds of kilometres achievable. The potential energy resulting from the work done by the buoyancy of the balloon over its long ascent is thus 'converted' into flight (kinetic energy) via gravity doing the same work buoyancy had done, but in the opposite direction. While this launch method has numerous drawbacks – the balloon/glider launch process is very weather-sensitive, the range of possible missions is generally highly dependant on winds aloft, payload capabilities are limited, helium is expensive, etc – it has the great advantage that extremely high altitudes can be reached with very simple systems (indeed, several amateurs have succeeded in such flights) and in certain niche applications the system has great potential. A recent example is the weather forecast model validation flight reported by Schuyler et al. [694]. In a defence context, DARPA's 2015 'Unrecoverable Systems' call [295] also envisaged the design of a balloon-launched vehicle, with target figures of 35,000ft release hight and lateral distance covered of at least 150km.

Chapter 4

Mission Planning & Navigation

The ultimate goal in the development of future UAS is for the system (or systems) to complete a mission without any human intervention. Mission planning is therefore an important part of the process of any UAS operation for both civil or defence applications and includes the consideration of scheduling, mission management or re-planning and route planning – both global and local path planning. Navigation is, of course, central to a UAS being able to complete any mission that has been planned.

The following chapter reviews the state of the art in both of these areas. Current research trends in mission planning employing, for example, enhanced collaboration, machine learning and artificial intelligent are considered before advances in navigation including, for example, GNSS, inertial navigation systems, visual navigation systems etc. are examined.

4.1 Mission Planning

Mission planning (MP) is an important part of the process of any military operation. How the mission should be conducted is planned in great detail in order that operational requirements are achieved. Therefore the complexities of mission planning vary depending on the mission or military operation to be conducted. MP covers a wide range of meanings and includes, people carrying out planning tasks, inputting data to automated systems and a wide range of different automated systems for planning activities. Consequently, MP is an activity that often requires interaction between multiple entities. This may be to support distributed planning, in which the responsibility for different aspects of mission operations planning is spread over multiple entities. It may also be to facilitate collaboration between missions, or to allow the planning of payloads by multiple end-users.

BACKGROUND NOTES

MISSION PLANNING

Pre-mission planning Planning carried out before any execution starts. This implies using a predicted start state but being able to take time to plan and allows for significant human involvement.

Mission Management / Re-planning Planning during execution (for a vehicle while it is moving) to adjust a plan in the light of new information. Implies a tighter time restriction on the planning. Specialised algorithms exist to trade off coverage and optimality against run-time.
Planning Finding a set of actions to achieve a goal. The problem is finding a set of actions from many possible actions. Involves an explicit model of what the future state of the world is predicted to be if the actions are undertaken.

Scheduling Finding the best order in which to carry out a set of tasks. Typically the set of tasks is well defined and simple to achieve individually. Involves an explicit model of what the future state of the world is predicted be if the actions are undertaken.

Route planning (global) Finds a route from a start position to a desired goal position, based primarily on pre-gathered map information. May include elements such as risk, exposure and ground type (for ground vehicles). Ground route planning is primarily concerned about finding the best route given details of the terrain. Air route planning, while having an extra dimension to worry about, is generally simpler as terrain has a much lower impact. Global planning can take a long time to carry out and may be undertaken before a platform starts moving (pre-mission route planning) or while a platform is moving (route re-planning).

Path planning (local) Path planning is concerned with short term paths for a platform to avoid collisions with obstacle detected by local sensors. Usually takes a planned global route into account but is primarily concerned with giving fast responses to sensor detected obstacles in a local map.

The functions of mission planning in unmnanned aircraft systems operations:

- Planning access to the airspace where the UAS needs to operate including transition to the point of operation
- Planning that exploits the performance characteristics of the UAS and sensor and payload characteristics, cognisant of system limitations
- Planning to penetrate advanced enemy air defences; understanding the threat environment (enemy air defence threat analysis) and planning to avoid or survive them
- Planning for target surveillance and/or tracking; Information gathering to enhance situational awareness
- Planning to engage or strike a target (weapon delivery planning) or to support other assets undertaking a strike mission
- Planning for mixed UAS and manned aircraft teams
- Planning to provide battle damage assessment information post-strike
- Planning that takes advantage of environmental/ geo-data to minimise being seen by the enemy including line-of-sight analysis
- Planning that ensures communications with the ground control station is always maintained and if lost, planned recovery positions
- Planning to deliver supplies in logistics operations
- Planning that incorporates the needs of other operating forces that may need local situational awareness, however fleeting.

Unmanned aircraft system mission planners are in many cases developments of MP tools previously developed for fixed wing or rotary wing aircraft due to similarity of requirements, enabling manufacturers to build capability more rapidly and in some cases to incorporate requirements for manned unmanned teaming missions. The following sections provide a non-exhaustive sample of MP technologies currently available and /or under development.

4.1.1 A Selection Of Mission Planning Tools

Lockheed Martin SharkFin

SharkFin [13] is a Lockheed Martin developed MP capability which provides navigation control, video display, and payload control of multiple UAVs in one integrated package. It includes a sophisticated toolset of decision aids, optimization algorithms, and situational awareness displays. Supported by auto-routing algorithms and physics models, an operator is able to optimally position the UAV for target collection, communications coverage, and detection avoidance. High level planning is provided through a video-game-like interface which allows operators to manage complex UAV missions in a simple, intuitive way. Users focus on the mission objectives rather than flying an aircraft. SharkFin is based on STANAG 4586 and can control any compliant UAV.

Lockheed Martin Multi-Domain Synchronized Effects Tool (MDSET)

In 2018, Lockheed Martin revealed their Multi-Domain Synchronized Effects Tool (MDSET) [14], which has the ability to operate across a resilient network that connects disparate systems and assets across different domains. MDSET addresses the complexity of the multi-domain battle by transforming command and control into a collaborative cross domain decision-making framework. Assimilating essential information from stove-piped systems into one intuitive system, MDSET creates a comprehensive picture of the integrated plan, allowing decisions to be made based on concurrent (vs. serial) situational awareness of activity in all domains. Unfortunately the open literature does not reveal what algorithmic approaches are being exploited in the MDSET system, nor is it clear how the system copes with limitations and uncertainties inherent in the disparate systems that MDSET seeks to link together.

Collaborative Airborne Planning, Task Evaluation & Authorisation Manager (CAPTEAM)

The QinetiQ developed CAPTEAM [153] system provides a real-time mission planning/management and situational awareness capability. The MP system was originally designed and sold as a Rotary Wing Mission Planning application (Onboard Mission Planning System - OMPS), but is platform agnostic and could be exploited in Fixed Wing or Ground Vehicles. Developments undertaken to date support Manned, Unmanned-Teaming (MUM-T) with STANAG 4586 Levels of Interoperability (LOI) for control/exploitation of UAS Platforms/Sensors. CAPTEAM also provides a (airborne) demonstration platform for Policy Management and Electronic Negotiation technologies to manage autonomy technologies supporting the mission. One of the benefits of STANAG 4586 LOI is that it enables remote tactical users to task and exploit the integrated UAS. The systems provides a Live or LVC airborne MUM-T node for exploitation of UAS capabilities; currently this capability only exists in the USA. CAPTEAM is available as a portable tablet computer-based situational awareness software tool, which optimises human attention, allowing operators to manage their workload using adaptable autonomy. Illustrated in Figure 4.1, this tool can therefore integrate with a variety of manned platforms with the following immediate functionality: carry-on mission planning and execution system for air platforms, tasking and de-confliction of air platforms through a map, managing co-operative search of large areas, sensor control, sensor imagery mark-up and distribution.

The Task Execution Framework

The TEF [161] is a QinetiQ in-house research level hierarchical framework that provides multi-level autonomous control and coordination of single and multiple UAS. The system is designed to be distributed such that different elements of task execution can happen at the appropriate level in the system such that team tasks may be managed from a central hub but the platform level tasks are managed on the platform. The TEF supports research into task models that are used to determine



Figure 4.1: QinetiQ CAPTEAM application and tablet.

how low-level (primitive) autonomy behaviours are combined and sequenced to form more complex mission tasks, tactics and goals.

QinetiQ UxV Autonomy Research Capability (QUARC)

The QUARC [161] system provides a Single Operator, Multi-UxV ground control station (GCS) with autonomy, policy management and electronic negotiation capability, developed for UAS MP and control but potential for UxV systems. The QUARC system is being developed as a Windows-based research capability, but with potential to productionise targeted sub-sets of functionality. QUARC currently supports experimentation with simulated UxV and payloads, or real UxV and payloads, or a hybrid Live Virtual and Constructive capability. Additional functionality includes MUM-T technology enablers through STANAG 4586 LOI hand-off of tasking/exploitation of UxV Platforms/Sensors. The system is also being used to support the rapid-prototyping of Configurable Operating Model for Automated Control of Tasks (COMPACT) [154] concepts in support of control or management of autonomy functionality there-by providing platform-level policy management and negotiation within layered C2. Figure 4.2 shows a view of the QUARC Mission planning system.

A tool box of several search planning algorithms is available with QUARC which vary in complexity; examples include: local search algorithms based on simulated annealing, several variants of A^{*} and Djikstra graph search, and Monte-Carlo search optimisation algorithms.

DreamHammer Ballista

Ballista [15] is an intelligent control platform that integrates unmanned drones and robots from different manufacturers into one system across space, air, sea and land. It can be run from nearly any computer, tablet or smart phone. In 2013, Lockheed Martin provided the US Navy with a capability demonstration of unmanned aerial systems controls in support of the US Navy's Unmanned Carrier Launched Airborne Surveillance and Strike System and Command Control System programs. The UAS were operated from a single command and control system, which a Lockheed Martin team integrated with intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance systems to provide mission planning, sensor and common operational controls. This allows operators to manage multiple UAS platforms simultaneously and provides them with one comprehensive mission picture. After delivering a complete image,



Figure 4.2: QUARC mission planning and viewing system.

the team then used the picture to rapidly re-task and re-route the UAS.

4.1.2 Research & Trends

Developments that are likely to provide benefits to future mission planning systems are in the areas of improved computer processing, distributed, potentially embedded sensors with smaller form-factors, greater connectivity in terms of access to cloud computing and more robust communication systems to ensure that connectivity is maintained. The developments are needed to ensure that greater agility is achieved in the future battle space which will be constrained, cluttered and complex with near-peer adversaries.

In the near term, developments in machine learning (ML) and AI algorithms will support humans in the analysis of data and multi-objective decision making. Trust in such approaches for mission critical tasks remains to be proven, but there are several initiatives to understand where ML/AI systems can support the human with mission planning and Command and Control (C2). In addition to academic applications of ML/AI algorithms, examples of Industry applications currently being evaluated include Deep learning Convolutional Neural Networks for target recognition [158], distributed reinforcement learning for UAV behaviours [160], Combining Planning with Reinforcement Learning for multi-robot task allocation [160] and AI based decision aids for Mission Planning [155].

The post-2025 time horizon might see ML/AI algorithms that are developed and are integrated into sensors, for example, evaluation of the threat, characterisation of the target, assignment of the most appropriate weapon system and positioning of a future UAS to achieve maximum engagement success and battle damage assessment is likely to be demonstrable. From a weapons system mission management perspective, the functionality could include algorithms to optimise the engagement through launch and trajectory/guidance optimisation with the Human on the loop ready to press the stop button. QinetiQ are experimenting with the COMPACT [154] conceptual architecture to manage ML/AI and autonomy algorithms which should be exploitable in this time frame subject to continued investment. COMPACT provides a means for monitoring and controlling UAS using variable levels of autonomy and automation, and by variable techniques, based on a set of pre-determined (and configurable) rules.

Beyond 2030, a greater exploitation of Augmented Reality (AR) and Virtual Reality (VR) within MP systems may be expected. In a robustly and resiliently connected environment, more agile mission planning and C2 (more closely coupled), with human supervision via an immersive C2 environment may be possible. The role of the human at this stage may be to intervene for the more complex engagements, provision of oversight and fine tuning of responses.

4.2 Navigation

Navigation solutions are a core capability requirement for unmanned aircraft systems (UAS). UAS could be considered as platforms for carrying either sensors to enhance situational awareness or payloads to improve communications or payloads that deliver effect. Consequently, the need to navigate safely and accurately is a key enabling requirement. Moreover, the navigation solution needs to be robust and resilient in environments that are constrained, cluttered, contested and complex and, potentially, contested against peer adversaries. The following sections identify a number of navigation technologies that enable a current and/or future UAS to deliver operational requirements.

4.2.1 Global Navigation Satellite Systems

Developed by the Department of Defence (DoD), the Global Positioning Service (GPS) was initially launched in 1973 and completed in 1995, with a total of 24 satellites providing global coverage. It offered geolocation and timing services to receivers in various weather conditions. At first only an encrypted military signal was broadcast, however the system soon became dual-use, offering a civilian signal to everyone.

There are now four operational Global Navigation Satellite Systems at different levels of maturity: the original GPS, which has subsequently been undergoing significant modernization, the Russian GLONASS system, the European Galileo system, and the Chinese Beidou system. These have been designed with a certain level of interoperability in mind due to the trend towards taking advantage of the resilience of multi-constellation, multi-frequency receivers. As of 2016, around 30% of receivers were capable of receiving signals on more than one frequency from the satellites in the same constellation, although 65% of receivers could support 2 constellations. The most common constellation combination is GPS+GLONASS [16].

Multi-constellation capability typically provides an increase in the number of GNSS satellites in the field of view which should improve GNSS performance in terms of:

- availability: overcoming issues related to blockages in the field of view, such as foliage and urban canyons;
- accuracy: more satellites in view means an improved position confidence;
- robustness: some signal diversity if one constellation is being interfered with or has malfunctioning satellites;
- Time-To-First-Fix; improved chance of having satellites with a sufficient signal quality to enable acquisition

Multi-frequency operation allows the virtual elimination of one of the primary sources of error in GNSS position accuracy, namely ionospheric error. This is achieved by comparing the delays in the signals received on multiple frequencies from the same satellites, where each frequency will be impacted

differently but somewhat predictably, relative to one another. Some mitigation against interference can also be provided by multi-frequency operation – if one frequency band is being affected, other frequencies can still be used.

GNSS provides a worldwide navigation and positioning capability that is available to everyone with an appropriate receiver. However, the low received power at the Earth's surface makes all GNSS susceptible to intentional and unintentional interference which can easily deny the signal to receivers. Portable personal jammers (that can be attached to car cigarette lighters) have proven to be effective at 6-8 km with an omni-directional patch antenna and a transmit power of around 650 mW (across 20 MHz L1 bandwidth) [133]. Note GNSS jamming is discussed in detail within Section 9.1.2.

All GNSS constellations are susceptible to natural phenomena such as solar flares [143] and could be simultaneously disrupted if a sufficiently large solar eruption occurred. The vulnerabilities of GNSS necessitate a reversionary mode of operation and are currently limiting its usage in critical applications.

Multi-constellation, multi-frequency can provide an enhanced level of protection against spoofing, in that, spoofing multiple constellations across multiple frequencies will be a more challenging task than a single frequency on a single constellation. This is because a successful attack must spoof (almost) every signal which a receiver is receiving, otherwise the receiver can easily do consistency checks between the different signals. More constellations on more frequencies will require more signals to spoof, that will need more processing, as it will pose a more complex synchronisation problem, and will require more power/hardware to combine and transmit signals without losing timing information between them.

The most resilient approach to defend against spoofing is to take advantage of the encrypted GNSS signals such as the military P(Y) and M-Code signals for GPS, or the Galileo Public Regulated Service (PRS). However, these signals are only available to authorized users.

Multi-constellation, multi-frequency GNSS receivers are highly applicable to all sizes of UAS. They are ubiquitous and already embedded within small handheld devices such as mobile phones. Increased performance does increase the SWAP, but the chip size is still of the order of centimetres as shown in source [16] below. For GNSS, it is likely that the technology would be used not just for positioning in isolation, but as part of an integrated navigation scheme, such as with an INS [149].

Most major chipset manufacturers produce mass-market chipsets/System-on-Chip solutions with multi-constellation capability, albeit single frequency (typically L1). Multi-frequency capable chipsets are fewer in number and mainly used in professional markets¹.

Multi-constellation operation will become standard across GPS chipsets in the next few years. Already, low cost chipsets are available that support all current GNSS (and Space Based Augmentation Systems (SBASs)).

As of 2016, multi-frequency operation was limited to the high precision sector (e.g. surveying and agricultural control), where accuracy and integrity are paramount. These relatively low scale sectors mean that receiver costs are high, with increased complexity and power demands due to the multi-frequency operation.

Multi-frequency operation will begin to permeate high volume markets as the improvements in accuracy and integrity become apparent to the developers and users in those markets.

A further future possibility is the provision of a further constellation in the form of a British Global Navigation Satellite System [147, 145]. This will provide multi-frequency capability as well as its own encrypted signals to provide authorized users additional resilience to the spoofing threat. It will also

¹Providers include: Novatel (dual frequency): OEM6/7nnn range, OEM 7660 (GPS L1 C/A, L1C, L2C, L2P ; GLONASS L1, L2 ; BeiDou B1, B2 ; Galileo E1, E5b ; SBAS L1 ; QZSS L1 C/A, L1C, L2C) [119] and Septentrio (quad frequency – true MCMF experience): AsteRx4 OEM, Supported signals: GPS (L1, L2, L5), GLONASS (L1,L2,L3), Galileo (E1, E5ab, AltBoc, E6), BeiDou (B1, B2, B3), IRNSS(L5), QZSS (L1,L2,L5) (Galileo, Beidou, IRNSS, E6/B3 and Altboc are optional features), all-in-view SBAS (EGNOS, WAAS, GAGAN, MSAS, SDCM) (including L5 tracking) [142].

be designed with multi-constellation compatibility in mind.

4.2.2 Inertial Navigation Systems

High-end INS

An inertial navigation system (INS) uses measurements of angular rate and specific force provided by three orthogonally mounted gyroscopes and three orthogonally mounted accelerometers, in order to propagate a navigation solution consisting of attitude, velocity, and position, forward in time. Consequently, an INS is a dead reckoning system. In the 1960s, ring laser gyroscopes (RLG) became available, which were able to measure much higher angular rates than their gimballed predecessors and making it possible to mount the ensemble of three accelerometers and three gyroscopes, which is known as inertial measurement unit (IMU), directly to the vehicle. Therefore, these INS are known as strap-down INS, and are the majority of the systems used today. INS systems maintain a continuous navigation solution in environments where GNSS is unavailable with a horizontal position growth of up to 1NM/hr. Vertical positioning requires the use of baro-altimeter to stabilize the height channel.

The major error source within inertial sensors is the bias variation. The inertial sensor bias can be seen as composed of a constant and a varying part. Most of the constant part can be calibrated, while the varying part, if not estimated continuously during operation of the INS, directly contributes to the growth of INS navigation errors with time. A high-end INS accumulates a position error of around one nautical mile after one hour of operation. In order to achieve such a performance, gyroscope biases of 0.01deg/h and accelerometer biases of 0.01mg or better are required. Besides the improved sensor quality, a high-end INS might differ from a lower grade INS in the gravity model used. In a tactical grade INS, a simple gravity model is usually used, in which gravity is modelled as a function of latitude and height only, pointing strictly in the down direction of the north-east-down (NED) frame. In a navigation grade INS, more sophisticated gravity models, considering deflections and variations of the gravity vector by means of maps, might be applied. In order to allow for longer stand-alone operation, the height channel needs to be stabilized e.g. using a baro-altimeter.

An INS cannot be jammed or spoofed, and is not dependent on a line of sight to satellites. Therefore, the INS navigation solution is continuously available, which makes it ideal for UAS that may be operating in a GNSS denied environment. However, SWAP for high-end INS is large, making it only applicable for the larger UAS platforms.

A typical example that can be seen as a benchmark is the Honeywell HG9900² [121], which has following characteristics: size: 13.97 x 16.26 x 13.56cm, weight: < 2.95kg, power: < 10W. The system will also require a position correction from an alternative navigation source for extended mission durations.

The future trend is not necessarily to improve upon the performance of high-end INS, but to provide this capability in a smaller form-factor. Consider, for example, the DARPA programmes to develop a navigation-grade Micro-Electrical-Mechanical-System (MEMS) IMU, e.g. [105], [140]. The trend for miniaturization could potentially make high-end INS capability available even to the smallest IMUs. However, this capability appears very optimistic given the rate of improvement in the accuracy of low-cost sensors over the last 20 years.

²Honeywell is a leading producer of tactical and inertial grade IMUs for aerospace, military and commercial applications. With the HG9900, Honeywell offers a high-end RLG-based IMU [121]. Other suppliers: Northrop Grumman manufactures the LN-100 high-end INS, which is also available integrated with a GNSS receiver as the LN-100G [137]. Safran is active in optronics, avionics, electronics and critical software for both civil and military markets. Safran offers the Sigma 95N, an inertial grade INS, that is also readily integrated with a GPS or GPS/GLONASS receiver [141]. KVH is a manufacturer of tactical grade IMUs, INS, and integrated navigation systems for defense and commercial guidance and stabilization applications. The high-end product by KVH is the GEO FOG 3D INS [128].

Low-end INS

As with high-end INS, lower grade INS technology is also based on the integration of angular rate measurements provided by gyroscope and accelerometer measurements. Following on from Ring Laser Gyro technology, Fibre Optic Gyroscopes (FOG) and MEMS gyroscopes became available. FOG sensors typically provide tactical grade performance, such as that required for missiles, while MEMS sensors are typically more for commercial applications such as smartphones or for automobiles.

MEMS are built from tiny electronic components of 0.001mm to 0.1mm that are packaged within an electronic microchip around 1mm in size. Through exploiting the electrostatic effect, the MEMS enables the measurement of acceleration and rotation within three axes.

The error characteristics for MEMS grade sensors can be of the order of 100deg/hr and 10mg for the static biases meaning that it is not possible to navigation purely on MEMS IMU data alone, the position error can be several or dozens of metres within seconds. This why low-end INS are typically combined with alternative sensors such as GNSS to provide a continuous integrated navigation solution.

The benefits of GNSS/INS integration are that the INS' estimates can be corrected by the GNSS data and that the INS can provide position and angle updates at a quicker rate than GNSS. Additionally, GNSS signal losses may occur and the INS can continue to calculate position, velocity and orientation angles during outages, providing significant advantage over a standalone GNSS solution.

Four categories are possible for the integration of GNSS and INS to provide a combined navigation solution (from un-coupled to ultra-tightly coupled, we are more closely correlating the physical parameters issued by the INS and GNSS sensors):

- un-coupled: the two systems operate independently, but when a GNSS position and/or velocity measurement is available the IMU is reset.
- loosely coupled: it uses GNSS and INS position and velocity measurements in a Kalman filter that models INS error dynamics.
- tightly coupled: it uses separate GNSS tracking loops for each satellite channel, with an extended Kalman filter operated independently using the measurement output from the GNSS receiver and modelling the INS error dynamics.
- ultra-tightly coupled: the extended Kalman filter uses the correlator output from the GNSS receiver and models the INS error dynamics. The outputs from the INS processing, when projected into satellite line-of-sight coordinates, are used to control the code and carrier replica signals for each satellite channel.

The ultra-tightly coupling is considered a more robust design to jamming and vehicle dynamics but is the hardest to achieve given the combination of GNSS receiver signal processing and extended Kalman Filtering.

An INS cannot be jammed or spoofed, and is not dependent on a line of sight to satellites. Therefore, the INS navigation solution is continuously available, which makes it ideal for UAS that may be operating in a GNSS denied environment. SWAP for low-end INS is small enough to make it appropriate for all sizes of UAS platforms. At the small end of the scale, an electronic microchip typically measures 3x5x0.9mm, taking 2.16V to 3.6V supply voltage with 1 mW power consumption. Slightly larger, and fully integrated with GNSS, as an example³, the VectorNav VN-200 [149] has the following characteristics: size: 24 x 22 x 3mm, weight <4g, power <500mW.

The future trend is to improve MEMS quality such that they can perform as well as a navigationgrade MEMS IMU, e.g. [105], [140]. The trend for miniaturization could potentially make high-end

³Examples of manufacturers: VectorNav is a leading producer of miniature, high-performance Inertial Navigation Systems (INS), including the VN-100, VN-200 and VN-300 series [149]; Invensense produces MEMS IMU chips such as the MPU-6050 that may be integrated with other navigation sensors [125]; UTC Aerospace Systems produce MEMS IMU and integrated sensors such as the SiIMU02, MinIM and SiNAV which are applicable to medium sized IMUs, [148].

INS capability available to even the smallest IMUs. However, this capability appears very optimistic given the rate of improvement in the accuracy of low-cost sensors over the last 20 years.

Further research is also ongoing into Ultra-Tightly-Coupled integration which will also improve performance in GNSS degraded environments, although this is a niche capability that requires close co-operation between the integrators and GNSS receiver manufacturers.

Quantum Inertial Navigation through Cold Atom Interferometry

There is currently research underway exploiting the quantum interference of ultra-cold atoms to build gyroscopes and accelerometers that could enable advanced INS with unprecedented accuracy. Such devices are expected to be capable of maintaining a positional accuracy to within 1 metre during the course of a day's movement; this is several orders of magnitude greater than current classical devices.

The physics behind this innovation concerns interferometry and exploits the wave-like property of matter and the quantum phenomenon known as superposition. It is similar in principle to optical interferometry, where light waves are sent on different paths and then combined, creating fringing patterns due to constructive or destructive interference. Atomic interferometry exploits the wave-like nature of atoms, sending them on different paths, in different quantum ground states. Through analysing their subsequent interference it is possible to make extremely sensitive measurements of quantities such as rotation and acceleration. It also enables sensitive measurement of the strength and direction of gravity. Some sources [146], claim a thousand-fold improvement on existing inertial measurement devices and envisage that, when mature, such technology could augment or even replace satellite navigation solutions for many applications.

At the current time there is still concern as to how such technology would perform as part of a system of systems. This has yet to be established.

Whilst still immature and a topic of research, the prospect of quantum inertial navigation has received a lot of interest, particularly by the military. Nevertheless, the technology will only become relevant to UAS when it becomes available in a small form factor that is transportable, standalone and lightweight. At least one source from 2016 [124], claims the technology could be in a state that is usable in mobile phones in ten years, but this is highly unlikely.

There are currently at least two research groups active in this field. These are based in the US and UK, although it is suspected that there are research teams operating in other countries, such as Australia and the Far East. Known progress includes:

- The US Defence Advanced Research Project Agency (DARPA) Quantum-Assisted Sensing and Readout (QuASAR) project is developing quantum devices that are expected to find broad application across the Department of Defence (DoD), particularly in the areas of biological imaging, inertial navigation and robust global positioning systems [109].
- Imperial College London (ICL), Birmingham University and other members of the UK Government's National Quantum Technology Programme are developing a portable cold atom interferometer for greatly improved inertial navigation [124].
- In late 2018, a team from Imperial College London and the photonics company, M Squared, demonstrated a quantum accelerometer for navigation [114].

According to researchers involved with the UK National Quantum Technologies Programme [146] Quantum IMUs are expected to arise between 5 and 10 years from now and to offer a thousand-fold improvement on existing IMUs. This appears very optimistic given the maturity of current research. However, the rewards for successfully building a reliable Quantum IMU of millimetric accuracy, that is secure, practically non-jammable and highly resilient, are enormous, notwithstanding the huge advantage in capability that could be realised by those militaries that adopt the technology. For these reasons alone, one can expect continued research efforts in this field, and the appearance of a commercially available IMU in the next ten years cannot be ruled out.

4.2.3 Terrain Referenced Navigation: Visual, LIDAR and SLAM

Visual navigation is the exploitation of visual sensor data in order to navigate. One research method focuses on using visual navigation to calculate the geo-location of a target [152]. This method exploits visual odometry to enable a Micro Aerial Vehicle (MAV) to perform low cost navigation. This is limited to a reference area of catalogued images, however, it works in non-GNSS viable areas such as urban canyons and areas of large interference. Other methods are based on open service databases; using computer vision to identify objects observed by an Unmanned Air Vehicle (UAV), correlating with maps of the relevant areas, and subsequently estimating the UAV's location [116],[157]. It is possible to extend this concept to many drones, resulting in a network of navigation data [681]. The low-cost of visual navigation systems contribute to the attractiveness of the navigation technique, and this contribution will only increase as camera technology becomes cheaper and its form factor reduces.

LIDAR (Light Detection And Ranging) is a remote sensing method that utlises the same physical principals as radar, but with laser light, compared to radio waves[135]. LIDAR is used to generate a 3D map of the vicinity of the sensor, which can then be exploited as a means for robots and drones to navigate. Indeed, the LIDAR version of Dronevolt's Heliplane [135] is a recent example of LIDAR technology achieving integration with UAVs.

SLAM (Simultaneous Location And Mapping) is defined as the synchronous location awareness and recording of the environment in a map of a computer, device, robot, drone or other autonomous vehicle [324], [253]. It is the computational means of constructing or updating a map of an unknown environment while simultaneously keeping track of an agent's location within it. This technology was developed within the robotics industry and is now used by autonomous vehicles to concurrently map and navigate through unfamiliar environments. SLAM algorithms employ information from sensors (often LIDAR and/or visual imagery) to compute a best estimate of the device's location and a map of the environment around it. A recent example of the application of SLAM is its use in enabling the safe landing and recovery of drones [827].

Use of LIDAR, visual sensors and SLAM are highly relevant for drone and robot navigation. Such techniques can be supported by Inertial Navigation Systems (INS) and prove particularly useful in urban environments, indoor settings and areas where Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) are unavailable. Several commercial solutions are available⁴.

The current trend appears to be a greater adoption of LIDAR over visual techniques. LIDAR is currently one of the most popular sensor systems for autonomous vehicles. With specific regard to UAVs, there are challenges in mounting LIDAR sensors on drones that will then have appropriate battery life. This is a symptom of most LIDAR units being too heavy for the payload of most drone batteries. That said, the previously mentioned Dronevolt Heliplane [112], [113]. is a recent breakthrough, however, the general trend is yet to catch up; LIDAR sensors are still not light enough to mount on most commercially available small UAS.

The future is likely to witness PNT systems that utilise a variety of sensors to provide the highest level of accuracy.

4.2.4 Ground-based Navigation: Enhanced Long Range Navigation (eLoran)

The current leading Hyperbolic navigation system is enhanced LORAN (eLoran) which is built on internationally standardised LORAN-C. eLoran improves on former versions of LORAN in that it utilises an added data channel to the radio signal to provide the requirements for high accuracy Position

⁴Dronevolt is a drone manufacturer, based in France, claims expertise on the development of new technologies based on UAVs, see use of LIDAR [112],[113]. Livox offers LIDAR devices for autonomous navigation, robotics, and UAV or automotive-based mapping rigs [120]. GeoSLAM - this company specialises in Geospatial mobile mapping using 3D SLAM technology [117].

Navigation Timing (PNT) applications. This includes real time differential corrections, station identity information and an absolute time based on the Coordinated Universal Time scale (UTC).

Similar to GNSS, the position is derived from a time of flight system. The master towers contain atomic clocks and send this accurate time to the slave towers in their respective chain. With advancements in antenna technology, the user is able to exploit an "all-in-view" approach, utilising every possibly chain system in view. The previous systems (e.g. LORAN-C) could only use one chain at a time to determine a user's location.

The differential corrections are provided through monitor stations that analyse and measure propagation delays in the groundwaves, analysing them and relaying corrections to compensate.

The eLoran system is currently one of the most popular solutions as a back-up for Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS), with countries such as the US, South Korea and India looking to budget and build a system in the near future [107]. South Korea has already signalled its intention to use eLoran for autonomous vehicles and drones [17, 150]. The main advantage of eLoran is its powerful signal, which is very resilient to jamming and can be received indoors, underground and underwater accurately and reliably. Typical performance: position to within 5m [258], timing to within 30 nanoseconds [779], weight (receiver): 0.7kg (UN-152A), power (receiver): 14W (UN-152A). Key players in the field include:

- ExCom Helped champion the consideration and support of a bill in the US to budget and put forward a plan to build an eLoran system [18]
- Babcock International Owners and operators of the eLoran system at Anthorn Radio Station and developing it as a navigational aid for mariners. Transmitting at 100kHz
- United States Coast Guard Responsible for evaluating and possibly constructing the new US eLoran service
- UrsaNav Supplier and consultant of eLoran design technology
- Chronos European manufacturer of eLoran receivers.

There is increasing interest in eLoran, particularly as a backup to GNSS. This interest is likely to drive investment in the technology and as a result, one can expect further sites to be built to increase the current coverage. In early 2018 there were signs of support for eLoran from the UK Government [19].

4.2.5 Infrastructure Independent Navigation: Automated Celestial Navigation

Current state-of-the art celestial navigation systems have developed as a result of automatic systems that were mainly designed for space and high altitude applications.

The popular approach for many of these automated celestial navigation (ACN) systems is to use automatic star trackers that can observe multiple stars simultaneously. Such systems combine a telescopic device and a photo sensor, such as a Charge-Coupled-Device (CCD), to capture the light from a star field and convert it into a digitised signal. The aim is to recognise the pattern of stars captured by the CCD. To this end, pattern recognition algorithms and database matching techniques are used to identify the star field and thereby determine a celestial frame of reference.

The evolution of such technology, coupled with recent advances in sensor and star tracker technology, is encouraging the development of smaller, lightweight, inexpensive, reliable celestial systems that can be coupled to existing INS for aircraft and ships.

The trend towards smaller, lightweight celestial navigation systems is making ACN systems more viable for the larger UAS. Characteristics include:

- ACN systems are highly secure as they are generally self-contained units. They are highly resilient (particularly to jamming, spoofing and radio frequency interference).
- Arc-second precision enabling < 30 metres positional accuracy [386] is potentially possible.

• ACN systems are dependent on suitable weather conditions, although some state-of-the-art systems can operate in daylight using the Sun and other celestial bodies.

One of the key players in this field is Lockheed Martin. A typical example of a state-of-the-art ACN system is their AST-201, which has been developed for satellites. This system has an 8.8° field of view and observes multiple stars in the visual band down to magnitude 7 with 0.7 to 2 arc-second precision (the human eye can only manage to see magnitude 6 on a very dark night) [19]. Another company developing ACN solutions is Trex Enterprises Corporation. They have been involved in the development of day/night ACN for US Navy Aircraft/Ships using K-band or H-band infrared light from multiple stars.

The accessibility of improved technology, such as low-cost, but accurate, CCD sensors coupled with cheaper computing resources, is now making it easier to develop low-priced ACN systems. It is worth noting that the former issue of discontinuous operation, due to inclement weather conditions, can now largely be mitigated by Inertial Navigation Systems. All of these factors combined with the superior security and resilience of ACN systems (compared to GNSS) are likely to make ACN systems a more attractive alternative in the future.

4.2.6 Signals of Opportunity & All Source Positioning & Navigation

The term 'Signals of Opportunity' (SoOP) refers to PNT systems that use signals that are not transmitted for navigational purposes, but may be exploited for such. ASPN (All Source Positioning and Navigation) is a specific instantiation of SoOP that is currently receiving considerable support. ASPN researchers are developing multi-sensor systems that pick up 'signals of opportunity' such as television, radio and even lightning, to assist in location tracking. ASPN is being pursued by DARPA in its Adaptable Navigation Systems (ANS) program in order to provide GPS-quality PNT to military users regardless of the operational environment. SoOP, and ASPN in particular, could prove useful to some UAS in the longer term, given that they promise high accuracy, low cost, robust, and seamless navigation solutions.

SoOP and ASPN are still very much a research topic. Most work is being conducted by academia, the defence industry and military organisations. Here are a few examples: DARPA's Adaptable Navigation Systems (ANS) project [110], NAVSOP (BAE Systems has developed an advanced positioning system that exploits existing transmissions such as Wi-Fi, TV, radio and mobile phone signals, to calculate the user's location to within a few metres [136]) and a Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Georgia Tech collaboration on an ASPN project that seeks to enable low cost, robust, and seamless navigation solutions for users on any operational platform and in any environment [132]. In general, ASPN development is expected to be heavily dependent on the results of US Defence research.

Chapter 5

Communications

When discussing communications for unmanned air systems, it is wireless digital communication that is of interest and there are several different applications which need to be considered (Salehi and Proakis [670]).

In the military domain, White [805] identifies a problem that has long existed for manned aircraft – the need to interact with multiple independent systems in order to operate effectively. As a hint of the complexity of modern aircraft communications systems, Hargreaves reports that there are up to 20 antennas on modern civil airliners [20], which serve a variety of purposes including, for example, direction finding, positioning, collision avoidance, distance measuring, telecoms etc.

When considering unmanned aircraft systems, the number of individual communications systems is unlikely to reduce, but there is an interesting systems architecture question about whether the communication needs to be with the platform, or the operator.

5.1 Control & Telemetry

Control and telemetry provides the capability necessary to remotely operate a UAS. In the space sector, this function is formalised as tracking, telemetry and control (TT&C) when applied to launch vehicles and satellites [395]. When a UAS is being remotely piloted, TT&C provides the data necessary for a pilot to maintain situational awareness and control the platform. The General Atomics Predator, for example, uses RF communications at C-band for line-of-sight communications and Ku-band satellite links for over-the-horizon operations [21]. TT&C channels are usually encrypted [395].

The ICAO has identified additional communication channels that could be considered as part of TT&C when an unmanned aircraft system is operating in civil airspace shared with manned aircraft [22]. These include air traffic management (ATM) VHF voice [23] and UHF transponder data links [24]. Note that the ATM voice link does not need to be available at the unmanned aircraft, but the pilot must be able to communicate with the airspace controllers where the aircraft is actually operating [22]. Nolan provides a comprehensive study of the US air traffic system [597], which highlights the procedural as well a technical complexities involved.

NATO has developed standard interfaces for controlling UAS, with the aim of promoting interoperability across platforms and services [25] [26] (Lockheed provide a good plain-language summary in [27]). The US is developing this further by specifying a UAS control segment architecture [209] (a shorter summary paper [388] is available) which will enable an open architecture for military unmanned aircraft systems.

One trend that has been seen in the space sector, and which is relevant to unmanned aircraft systems, is the move to very large constellations [634] (or swarms of unmanned aircraft [459]). For these systems to be operationally feasible, a large amount of automation is necessary [415]. In the

case of swarms, this requires the individual UAS to have a degree of reasoning and decision-making capability ('autonomy') [28]; it is not tractable to control all individual UAS in a swarm the same way that large UAS are flown today [21]. Efficient execution of swarming missions will also require inter-UAS communications to coordinate activity and optimise resources. Campion et al. have looked at different architectures for command and control of swarms [259] and Zeng et al [846] discuss a particular swarm communication approach using cellular infrastructure.

The missions addressed by swarms will become more sophisticated, with diverse platforms, potentially operating in different environments (Ball has reported recent DARPA trials of exactly this scenario [29]) which in turn will increase the amount of autonomy that must be delegated to the swarm, and the individual platforms [775].

The use of swarms with a large degree of autonomy raises new communications issues; how does the user communicate with the swarm as an entity (rather than with individual platforms) when updating mission requirements, for example? Some of these issues are raised by Gupta [397], but there are still many open questions.

5.2 Mission Data

UAS are used for a wide array of applications, from shooting wedding videos through making geophysical surveys, to mineral exploration [758], or tracking multiple moving ground targets of interest [202]. In all these cases, information is collected and needs to be provided to a user in a timely manner.

Data rates from UAS sensor systems can vary widely, depending on sensor size, frame rate, data encoding approach etc. As a hint of the data rates required, Summerson reports that Netflix requires a little under 6 Mbps when streaming 1080p resolution video [736]. This should probably be taken as lower bound, as sensor resolutions are set to increase over time; Nedomansky's survey of video cameras commercially available in 2014 showed data rate requirements up to 3.5Gbps [589].

The technology required to provide the mission data communication channels is dependent on the application, and will probably be shared with the command and control channel [21]: the ability to communicate over the required range is the same, even when the data rates may be quite different. The size of the platform will also have an impact as the power constraints of smaller UAS will restrict data rates or effective range.

UAS swarms have been mentioned in the context of command and control, but inter-UAS sharing of sensor data will become more widespread [175], either to reduce mission data rates by transmitting composite results rather than raw data; provide resilience against congested RF environments [729] by sharing sensor data; provide range extension by data relays [438]; or support swarm autonomy by sharing situational awareness between platforms [353].

5.3 Radio Frequency

Radio frequency (RF) data communication is a well-established engineering discipline (see Gustrau [399]), which continues to develop rapidly, primarily from the commercial drive for very high bandwidth mobile data systems [473]. RF systems are always a trade-off between range, data rate and power consumption: see Sharma et al for one example of a low power wireless data network design for drones [704].

The choice of RF communications technology for Line-of-Sight (LOS) operations will be determined by various constraints such as bandwidth, directionality and available antenna size [670]. For example, high resolution video streaming (say 3 Gbps) will not be possible using VHF RF systems with a centre frequency of 150 MHz. Beyond-Line-of-Sight (BLOS) operations will usually require satellite communications capabilities [617]. BLOS RF operations using HF are possible with voice bandwidths and very low data rates, but not for the data rates demanded by most sensor payloads.

5.4 Software Defined Radio (SDR)

The term 'software defined radio' (SDR) refers to the technology where the received RF signal is digitised before being demodulated. What is meant by SDR is a little imprecise, but the American Radio Relay League (ARRL) summary is a good working definition: *"Software Defined Radio attempts to place much or most of the complex signal handling involved in communications receivers and transmitters into the digital [domain]."* [189]. While the ideal is to covert the signal at the antenna directly to digital, in practice some RF signal conditioning is still required. Tuttlebee describes the technologies necessary to implement SDR [764] and Bard and Kovarik discuss the system-level considerations of SDR when defining a Joint Tactical Radio System architecture that is implementation agnostic [205].

SDR offers the promise of significantly reducing the amount of RF hardware required in any communications system, digitising the antenna signal and reprogramming the SDR to operate on the desired frequencies with the desired waveforms. This is one reason SDR is popular with radio amateurs [234]. White, as mentioned earlier, recognised the potential for SDR to reduce hardware complexity for military aircraft in 1999 [805], while early satellite communications terminals for civil airliners using SDR [198] (although still with fairly complex RF front-ends) were in operational service in 1994 [662].

The civil aircraft industry continues to be an incubator for new RF technologies, due to the demand for data services, taken for granted on the ground, being available in the air [789]. Much of this development is transferrable to the problems of UAS communications systems.

While the ideal of SDR is to digitise the RF signal at the antenna, this is not practical today, so interim approaches are used which have a few RF modules to create a digital intermediate frequency (IF) signal as soon as practicable, and then distributing the IF across the platform. One example of this approach is the FAST architecture [217]. The practical advantages include reducing the number of different radios on a platform, and reducing weight by removing the need for heavy, shielded RF cabling from the antennas to the radios. Digital IF signals are distributed using the Integrated Modular Avionics (IMA) systems [176] (for a more future-looing view of IMA, see Gaska et al [358]).

The pace of change in communications technologies means that SDR is necessary to allow complex platforms to keep up with new developments, without the need to develop and add new radio systems. There are major changes on the horizon for satellite communications, for example, with Iridium [443], SpaceX [726] and OneWeb [603] launching large constellations into low earth orbits. Low earth orbit satellite communications places new burdens on receiving systems [285] such as rapid satellite handoff and high Doppler components [177].

5.5 Data Networks

Mobile data networks are widespread [565] and Gupta has started to address the issues around data networking in a swarm of UAS [397], but this is still an active research area. There are several standard RF data networking protocols [472] that could be used or adapted for this purpose (eg Bluetooth [235] or IEEE 802.11 WLAN [30] standards). It seems likely that swarms, especially swarms with a high level of autonomy, will require very dynamic networking capability, possibly based on peer-to-peer [569] or one of the many Mesh networking protocols [169].

When considering the issues around UAS swarms, it will be worth watching the field of autonomous vehicles, which is already trying to address similar problems. One of the key themes already emerging from connected vehicle developments is that 5G communications technologies will be crucial [31] [280].

BACKGROUND NOTES

5G

5G is the latest iteration of mobile data networking technology to become widely available [32]. It is different from previous mobile data networks [33] in that it is technology agnostic, providing a set of protocols that will allow different networks to interoperate seamlessly. Users will generally be unaware of which networks are being used. For example, video streaming to a car might cross a satellite data network, an LTE mobile data network and finally a dynamic mesh network containing the destination vehicle.

5G has strong support for machine-to-machine communications as one of its design principle [186] [531], which makes it an interesting candidate communications technology for autonomous platforms.

5.6 Optical Technologies

Infrared (IrDA) is used as a data network technology, usually at very short ranges [34] for 'personal area networks' connecting computer accessories together. Line of sight is not always required, as indoor operation can provide reflective surfaces to distribute the IR.

Free-space optical (FSO) communications [178] is a LOS technology, which uses modulated lasers to provide potentially very large data rates (similar to optical fibre). For space-based applications (inter-satellite communications for example) FSO communication have been used successfully [465] on several missions [724].

FSO systems have been marketed (Blackbox [35]) as medium data rate (≈ 16 Mbps) short range ($\approx 1,500$ m) network elements, intended to provide business LAN connectivity between buildings. FSO systems need accurate pointing; have heavy optical elements and are susceptible to local environmental conditions. If mounted on a mobile platform, accurate tracking between the transmitter and receiver is required [466].

5.7 Acoustic Communications

Acoustic communication is usually associated with underwater systems where other technologies are not effective and water provides a good transmission medium. Acoustic data communication in free space has been demonstrated in the laboratory [571], with low effective data rates. Ultrasonic acoustic systems have been demonstrated for indoor positioning (see Khyam for one [474]), but they only operate over short range in benign acoustic environments.

5.8 Metamaterials

Metamaterial is the term used to describe materials whose characteristics are defined by their exacting structure rather than their chemical composition; metamaterials fall broadly into three categories electromagnetic, acoustic and seismic [752]. The earliest metamaterials were electromagnetic and as the bulk of research is still in this field [564]. Much of the practical application of metamaterials has been in wideband communications [669] [181], but the underlying concepts of wide bandwidth, omni-directionality and planar steerable arrays are equally applicable to radar and ESM.

A potential major application of metamaterials is the manufacture of conformal antennas. The prospect of using metamaterials for conformal antennas is not new [534] (it was one of the first appli-

cations to be seriously pursued), but now the technology has reached the point where it can be seriously considered for low and medium cost radar systems [246]. The advantage of conformal antennas is that they can become structure elements in small manned and unmanned aerial vehicles (wing and body panels, depending on required pointing direction).

Recent work with metamaterial antennas suggests that they can be fabricated to replace reflector antennas at reasonably high power in some situations, which means they may be viable long range directional transmitters rather than just passive receivers in future [389].

The development of conformal antennas for UAVs has been sponsored by the US DOD for many years now [680], and an interesting summary of the particular problems and possible approaches to UAV conformal antennas can be found in work published by the Naval Postgraduate School [449]. A particularly good overview of technologies for conformal ultra-wideband phased array antenna for space-based applications is available from NASA [599].

Chapter 6

Sensor Systems

Unmanned aircraft systems require sensors in order to sense and understand their environment, to sense and be aware of their own states, to sense external and internal threats (security), to sense how well they are delivering against goals that they are set, to sense mission relevant data for human decision makers. Consequently, today sensors on unmanned aircarft are generally discrete, compartmentalised elements measuring and providing data to be interpreted by processors on-board the UAS or is often more likely, communicated off-board to humans managing the system. Future sensors are more likely to be distributed, incorporated directly into surface structures, including processing such that sensors are providing information in context as opposed to data.

In this chapter we discuss sensing via sensor systems, rather than sensors per se, with an emphasis on the *capability* that the sensor system enables. For example, while Hall effect sensors are in widespread use and can be fabricated in many different ways [651], our focus here is the ability to determine variation in the local magnetic field. A sensor 'is a device that converts a physical phenomenon into an electrical signal' [808] and as such requires additional processing of that electrical signal in order to extract usable information. Where the underlying sensor technology is important to the functioning of the sensor system, that will be highlighted (for example when discussing the change in capability that may be enabled by new materials such as graphene [36]).

Although sensor systems are discussed in isolation, in practice it is now normal that the output from different sensors are combined in order to supply users with information which no sensor alone can provide; this is called either data fusion, or sensor fusion [330].

6.1 Radar Systems

Both radar systems and UAS platforms are evolving rapidly in defence and civil markets, and both are wide areas of technology. Radar systems in particular cover a vast array of different sensing techniques and applications. This review outlines the trends and state-of-the-art technologies in radar systems as they are applied to UAS, discussion the constraints, capabilities and applications of radar systems on unmanned platforms.

A radar is an electronic device for the detection and location of objects – see [722] for a good introduction to the basic concepts and [649] for an up-to-date account of how information is extracted from the sensors. For more detail on how contemporary radar systems function, the reader is referred to the works of Galati [349] and Meikle [561].

Radar systems (like many other sensor systems) have capabilities that may be used by the platform in order to operate effectively – many current UAS have short-range radar to support automatic landing or collision avoidance [582, 667]. However, the majority of radar systems will be UAS payloads, which provide the capability and justification for using the UAS in the first place. For payloads, the ability to transmit information to either a user or another platform which can use it in a timely manner is also crucial: data fusion is considered a key capability of the F-35 Lightning, for example [37], while SAR observations using relatively cheap technology, use accurate positioning information to build high resolution images, as demonstrated by the space radar start-up ICEYE [38, 39]. Given this, the separation of sensor, communications and PNT functions is somewhat artificial as it is the combination that provides the desired payload capability.

BACKGROUND NOTES

RADAR

Radar systems operate on the basic principle of detecting reflections from a 'target' object which has been 'illuminated' with radio frequency energy. In traditional systems, the radar transmits a series of RF pulses, and detects the reflections from object that the pulses hit. Processing of the reflections (or returns) over time can determine the distance and speed of the target. Additional processing can determine direction, material composition and even shape information. Although initially an important military sensing technology, radar is increasingly finding applications in security and civilian markets.

Radar systems operate at a wide range of frequencies (see below) and powers depending on the particular application, from proximity detection for vehicles (parking radar) to air traffic control to deep space object tracking. Long range systems tend to need low frequencies (hence big antenna) and high power, and are consequently physically large, whereas short range systems tend to be smaller with high frequency and low power.

Conventionally radar systems transmit pulses of RF energy in order to detect and locate targets in the environment. However, modern radar systems are able to do far more, and are more properly described as multi-function RF systems (MRFS) – the term 'radar' is still used as a convenient shorthand. These modern systems may have the ability to operate actively, passively, multi-statically, cognitively and adaptively.

Radar systems are used in a wide variety of applications which make use of the characteristic properties of the sensor. Firstly, radar systems can operate day or night since they do not rely on the Sun's illumination. In most cases the radar will transmit its own illumination beam. Radars can be 'all weather', particularly at lower frequencies. As frequency increases beyond 10GHz, rain and moisture attenuation increases. Radars can provide wide area coverage, for both detection and imaging. Radars directly measure range (unlike most optical systems) and therefore can provide information for target locations and for tracking. The radar signal itself can provide unique information about a scene. Radar signals can be polarized and then carry information which can reveal details of crop orientation or soil moisture content. Synthetic Aperture Radar images carry phase information that can be used for highly sensitive change detection, or for three dimensional height mapping of terrain.

Frequency bands. Radars operate across a range of frequency bands (Table 6.1). The radar operating band determines many characteristics of the radar system and its applications. Lower frequency radar signals are more penetrative – can pass through foliage, snow and even buildings. But low frequency components are large and high bandwidth signals (necessary for resolution) are not possible. Higher frequency signals have compact components and great imaging properties, but are highly attenuated by the atmosphere and so are only able to operate at limited ranges. For airborne

applications the physical size of components operating below UHF becomes difficult to incorporate into an airframe. The vast majority of airborne radar systems operate in X-band and Ku-band, where the compromise between size of physical components, microwave circuits, available bandwidths and attenuation is most beneficial. Systems are available outside of these bands, but they will trade out performance in one aspect in order to enhance something else.

Atmospheric Attenuation. The atmosphere is not transparent to microwave energy at all frequencies. Atmospheric attenuation broadly increases with microwave frequency. This has the effect of limiting the frequency bands that can be used for different applications. Long range radar systems tend to be designed around X-band in order to maximise antenna gain and minimise atmospheric attenuation. Smaller platforms compromise attenuation by going for higher frequency Ku-band which provides smaller components and higher gain. These are not suitable for long range applications. Very small UAVs can go to even higher frequencies in order to achieve imaging performance in tightly constrained component sizes. However this necessarily limits range performance.

Antenna. The interface between the radar system and the outside world is the antenna, and this determines and constrains important characteristic of the radar such as the beamwidth. The beamwidth (in radians) is approximately given by the wavelength divided by the antenna width. A tightly focussed radar beam therefore requires an antenna which is many wavelengths across. A 3° beamwidth will require an antenna 20 wavelengths across. At X-band (0.03m wavelength) this antenna would be 0.6m across, at 1GHz 6m, and at 100MHz a 60m antenna would be required. A more focussed beam will put more of the radar energy where it is required, and hence enable the radar to see further. There is some trade-space however, in that the tighter the beam the smaller the area illuminated. For some applications (maritime surveillance for instance) a very narrow beam is not desired. Antenna technology has moved quickly from mechanically scanned devices (physically moving the antenna face via a gimbal mechanism) to phased arrays. A phased array contains a large number of small elements (transmit/receive modules - TRMs) which can be phased to change the characteristics of the beam, including the pointing direction. Semi-conductor development and new materials such as Gallium Arsenide and Gallium Nitride have enabled rapid evolution in the frequency and power available from solid-state microwave devices. Microwave devices are now smaller, lighter and provide higher sensitivity [156]. This trend is continuing. The size of antenna required in order to achieve the necessary level of performance will be one factor in determining the size of UAV required.

Radar technology continues to develop incrementally, but there are some major innovations related to new materials or novel approaches to signal processing: the increase in computer processing power particularly allows for performance improvements even with existing microwave technologies.

One particular trend that seems likely to continue is the move to III-V semiconductor materials which have several advantages over traditional high power RF materials. Silicon-germanium (SiGe) alloys and gallium nitride (GaN) are emerging as serious technologies to displace gallium arsenide (GaAs) in high-power, high-frequency RF applications such as solid-state AESA radars (Tee and Quinlan [753]). A key component of these radars is the large number of active high-power microwave elements required to provide the beam-steering, so technologies that support element size reductions while maintaining RF power handling, high-frequency operation and which can be readily fabricated are prized [230].

SiGe is potentially cheap to manufacture and integrate with existing semiconductor technologies and appears to offer useable performance at X-band frequencies. SiGe could become an important technology, particularly for high-volume applications at short-range and low power (for example collision avoidance radar for autonomous vehicles which could be adapted for UAS [582, 667]).

Designation	Frequency band
High Frequency (HF)	3 - 30 MHz
Very High Frequency (VHF)	30 - 300MHz
Ultra High Frequency (UHF)	$300 \mathrm{MHz}$ - $1 \mathrm{GHz}$
L	1 - 2GHz
\mathbf{S}	2 - 4GHz
\mathbf{C}	4 - 8GHz
Х	8 - 12GHz
Ku	12 - 18GHz
Ka	27 - 40GHz
V	40 - $75 \mathrm{GHz}$
W	75 - 110GHz
mm	100 - 300GHz

Table 6.1: Radio frequency band designations

6.1.1 Synthetic Aperture Radar

Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) is the most common active sensor used for Earth observation (EO). Transmitted electromagnetic pulses are reflected or scattered by features on Earth's surface. The intensity of the return pulse and the time it takes to arrive back at the antenna are used to generate SAR imagery. The key feature of SAR is that a single antenna with a known motion in space and time provides measurements that are processed to provide the higher resolution of a significantly larger antenna [339].

The main advantage of radar imaging for Earth observation is that it is insensitive to the day / night cycle and most of the time to the meteorological conditions (shorter wavelength signals such as X band can be degraded by heavy intense rain cells). The selected frequency band impacts what is observed from the scene by influencing the level at which the incident radiation will backscatter. SAR can be used for detecting ships and oil spills, or monitoring sea ice, forests, soil moisture, and critical infrastructure etc.

SAR interferometry makes high accuracy measurements of surface geophysical characteristics. The phase of two or more complex radar images, acquired from slightly different positions or at different times, is compared. Phase information is accurate to a small fraction of the radar wavelength, so it is possible to detect and measure path length differences with millimetric precision. Comparison of the coherence between several data acquisitions can be used for change detection such as vehicle tracks or foot tracks in fields [40].

SAR for Earth observation is now readily available as a space-based sensor system , but the technology is suitable for use on piloted aircraft, as demonstrated by JPL [41], or operational UAV platforms such as ScanEagle [42].

6.1.2 Radar Altimetry

Radar altimeters provide precise measurements of height above a surface by measuring the time interval between the transmission and reception of very short electromagnetic pulses [810]. Radar altimetry could be useful when generating precise terrain mapping, but is more likely to find application when used as part of the platform flight management system, especially when flying close to the ground.

6.1.3 Microwave Radiometry

For space-based Earth observation applications, microwave radiometry (MWR) is used to measure the integrated atmospheric water vapour column and cloud liquid water content to obtain correction terms for radar altimetry. MWR also measures surface emissivity, soil moisture and ice characterisation. Small instruments are available which can be mounted on aircraft to be used for specific tasks such as measuring oil spill quantities (for example, the Optimare MWR-P).

6.1.4 Radar Scatterometry

Radar scatterometers are specifically designed to measure scattering of incident RF energy from a diffusing media [528]. Space-based scatterometers provide important information for Numerical Weather Prediction (NWP), oceanography and climate studies and can also provide information such as sea ice cover [43]. Ground-based systems can be used to determine wind speeds (for example, at airfields).

BAE Systems have demonstrated a laser scatterometer which can determine the platform airspeed (replacing pitot tube systems) [44], but there does not appear to be any investigations into using radar for this purpose.

6.1.5 Passive Radar Systems

Passive radar is a radar technique that uses 'signals of opportunity' (such as broadcast television signals) which are not under the control of the monitoring agent. The radar processing compares the signals received at a known location and one or more other locations to infer the existence of, and information about, a target.

Passive radar is not a new technique but the availability of massive signal processing capabilities means that it is becoming more widely adopted, and is a trend that we would expect to continue. A significant advantage of passive radar is that it does not require scanning or rotating transmitters and receivers, and the receiving elements can monitor continuous signals, not just pulses [45], [391]. An additional advantage is that signals at frequencies not usually associated with radar systems can be used with very good results against targets optimised against microwave systems.

Traditionally passive radar systems have been terrestrial, but the trends in processing power, navigation sensing and signal processing algorithms, means that having airborne receivers with varying geometry is feasible.

6.1.6 Bistatic Radar / Holographic Radar

Bistatic radar uses transmitters and receivers which are not co-located [281]. This may be considered a controlled form of passive radar (at least at the receiver) with the advantage that the radar signals can be crafted to optimise collection of a particular data type. As available signal processing power increases it will be possible to extract ever more useful information from such systems.

A form of bistatic radar that is receiving attention at the moment is the so-called holographic radar [46] from Aveillant [47]. This radar system potentially provides a continuous 'staring' surveillance mode with the ability to detect and track small targets [46] and identify and remove complex environmental noise (e.g. wind farms [48]).

This type of radar system is usually ground-based, but as positioning technologies improve, it seems possible that very wide aperture staring radars could be built using flying platforms as either transmitters or receivers. The processing would be a form of complicated SAR to account for the continually variable relative positions of transmit and receive elements, and the use of multiple sources and receivers could be used to build resilience into such a surveillance sensor.

6.1.7 Quantum Radar

Quantum radar [650] is one proposed application of the developing quantum technologies. As with other quantum technologies, practical deployment is many years in the future although experimental results by Barzanjeh et al [208] suggest that there could be a real effect that might be exploited in practical systems (a summary of the paper can be found in the MIT Technology Review [49]). For example, Durak et al have recently published results of a proof of principle object detection and identification using quantum radar techniques [322]. It has been speculated that quantum radar may be effective against current airborne stealth technologies [777], but this has yet to be verified experimentally.

BACKGROUND NOTES

QUANTUM TECHNOLOGIES

Quantum technology refers to exploitation of the physics of the very small scale (atomic-level), which requires the mathematics of probability to describe the properties of matter and energy rather than the absolute quantities we are used to measuring in the macroscopic world. The quantum physics principles being exploited are either superposition, which is the simultaneous existence of a particle in all possible states (position, momentum etc.) until a measurement is made, and entanglement, in which multiple particles share a probability distribution so that a measurement of one determines the actual state of the others.

Superposition is exploited in quantum computers and quantum sensors such as gravimeters or inertial navigation sensors. Entanglement is the underlying principle exploited in quantum imaging, quantum radar and quantum key communications, where entangled particles are separated and the interaction of a distant particle has an observable effect on the local article.

Quantum technology is extremely susceptible to interaction with the environment, and much of the development effort related to quantum technologies is the engineering required to prevent unintended 'measurements' destroying the desired quantum states prematurely.

6.1.8 LIDAR

LIDAR is an active sensor technology which works in a manner similar to radar except that it uses a laser as the transmitted source and is able to accurately measure distance due to the short wavelength of visible light [50]. When used to scan in two dimensions, LIDAR is able to generate accurate three dimensional models of the scene being viewed.

LIDAR is now commonly used on autonomous vehicles as a navigation aid [51] where it is used to build a model of the local environment, including obstacles, with accurate depth measurements that would otherwise be difficult to determine from visual imagery alone. There is some discussion about whether LIDAR technology is mature enough to be used as a safety-critical element for selfdriving vehicles which interact with humans (see for example Simonite [52]) although the technology is developing rapidly [53].

It can be seen that LIDAR is a technology that could be part of the unmanned platform navigation and control system (particularly ground vehicles), as well as one of the mission payloads carried by those vehicles.

6.1.9 Platform Considerations: Size, Weight & Power

The size, weight and power of the UAV will determine the radar system that can be installed. There is a very wide variety of UAV platforms available and in development, from tiny tactical systems weighing only 100g up to large aircraft. Typical small radar systems such as the Leonardo PicoSAR [108] have a mass of 10kg. Experimental systems operating in the V-band have been demonstrated on 6kg class quadcopters, but these will have effective ranges of only a few tens of metres [131].

The QinetiQ RIBI experimental system weighs less than 6kg and can be carried on a 20kg class quadcopter, operating in the S band using a software definable radio [426]. Mid range radar systems with ranges of tens of kilometres will be 50kg to 100kg, and large high power systems for longer ranges (one hundred kilometres plus) will be even heavier. These obviously require large and very large UAVs.

Smaller UAVs also have less power available, and much shorter endurance. The QinetiQ RIBI system [426] has less than ten minutes of useful flight time before the battery is exhausted. This is ideal for imaging areas which are close by, but would not be practical in many applications where transit to the area of interest is necessary or where persistent surveillance is a requirement. Larger air platforms using conventional fuels can have much longer endurance, though the power requirements of the radar may take up a significant chunk of the energy available to the aircraft.

6.1.10 Radar & Autonomy

Depending upon the application the UAS will require different levels of autonomy. The collection of radar images close by could be entirely achieved by an operator-in-the-loop, with very little autonomy. Conversely a penetrating UAV system designed to operate far into hostile airspace may need to be entirely autonomous. Between these two extremes are platforms such as the UK MOD Watchkeeper [54] (Thales), and the USN Fire Scout [55] (Northrop Grumman), which are flown by an operator, and the autonomous systems are there to make the job easier.

Autonomy can help with the tasking of the radar too. A fully autonomous system will have to search for and find its own targets, cross-cueing and fusing information as required. This will require significant onboard processing for image formation (in the case of an imaging radar), target detection, tracking and recognition.

A semi-autonomous system will be able to undertake tasks at the command of an operator, and may process onboard or potentially stream the data back for processing in a ground station. For short duration systems the data may just be stored onboard for later retrieval and processing. The large amounts of data that can be generated by radar systems will place stresses on communications data links, especially as the distance of remote operation increases. These data links are vulnerable to deliberate attack (via jamming) and accidental interference through congested RF spectrum as well as obscuration. Robust data links are essential for remote operation of UAS radar systems.

6.1.11 Persistent Radar Surveillance

One significant advantage of UAV platforms over manned aircraft is the potential for very long endurance on tasks that would otherwise be extremely taxing for the crew. There are two particular classes that are of military interest High Altitude Long Endurance (HALE) and Medium Altitude Long Endurance (MALE). An example of a HALE platform is the Northrop Grumman RQ-4 Global Hawk, a UAV with a 40m wingspan and an endurance of more than 30 hours [56]. An example of a MALE is the MQ-9 Reaper with a 20m wingspan and 24 hour endurance [57]. Both these platforms can be equipped with highly capable radar systems – in the case of Global Hawk this has a mass of nearly 1000kg, and in the case of the Reaper over 50kg.

The Zephyr UAV [58] can remain inflight potentially indefinitely due to the solar recharge of its batteries. However, use of RF systems will be seriously constrained by the requirements both for lower

power and low mass.

6.1.12 Perching Platforms

One way of achieving longer endurance for persistent surveillance is perching. This has been demonstrated by a number of academic institutions. Essentially the UAV lands (perches) in a location with good view of the area of interest, such as a rooftop. This then enables the system to monitor the area of interest without having to remain airborne. For radar systems the application of perching is quite limited. Radar imaging techniques such as SAR require the platform to be moving. However, scanning an area and alerting to moving objects via their Doppler signatures could achievable and may be useful in some surveillance applications.

6.1.13 Mission Fit Sensor Payloads

There is a trend currently for medium and large UAV platforms to have role-fit sensors. Essentially these expensive systems have to be reconfigurable to undertake a number of different roles. One way of achieving this is to have sensor bays or pods that can carry a variety of sensor packages. Sometimes this might be a radar sensor, sometimes a camera, sometimes a LIDAR, sometimes ESM. This can make for a highly versatile UAS, but does provide challenges for the sensor manufacturers. Typically the radar system will need to be entirely self-contained and fit within the confines of the bay or pod. The I-MASTER radar (installed on Thales's Watchkeeper platform [59]) is a good example of such a system. Close integration with the rest of the aircraft platform is not possible since compromises will be required in order to meet the differing requirements of the disparate sensors. This may require that the radar payload carry its own high grade INS/IMU systems, for instance, to enable SAR, or its own atomic clocks to enable coherence between platforms.

6.1.14 Applications of Radar Systems

Sense & Avoid

Radar systems on larger UAVs can provide a 'sense and avoid' function ensuring that they are safe to operate in airspace that may contain other users. These systems can be safety critical and therefore have to be highly reliable, but successful systems will enable the UAVs to operate effectively in shared airspace. MIT Lincoln Labs have been developing the Airborne Sense and Avoid (ABSAA) Radar Panel [60], a lightweight radar that can perform quick and repeatable scanning of the search volume meeting the exacting timeline and reliability demanded of search and avoid. The ABSAA supports both the detection of other aircraft and weather sensing. A Ku-band system, this provides good all weather performance in a fairly compact package and is principally designed to meet the Federal Aviation Authority requirements for aircraft to be able to sense and avoid other air traffic. If approved this will remove one of the serious limitations to the use of UAS in US airspace.

Surveillance

The majority of radar applications for UAS fall within the broad category of surveillance. Radar provides advantages of all weather, day/night operation and potential for wide area coverage. There are surveillance applications of UAS radars across both military and civil space. For military applications UAVs may offer surveillance opportunities where the mission would be too dangerous for a manned aircraft, or where close range and time criticality mean that a small UAV is much more practical. In civil applications UAVs may offer radar data that it would be too expensive to collect with a manned platform. Surveillance radars will typically offer a variety of modes in a single system making use of the same basic radar hardware and reconfiguring the waveforms, scan patterns and processing. SAR

and GMTI are commonly offered in a single system, and maritime and ESM modes are also easily integrated. The General Atomics Lynx Multi-mode Radar [61], is a good example of a multi-mode surveillance radar designed for medium scale UAV platforms.

Change Detection

Change detection is a specific application of synthetic aperture radar. This requires that two images of the same area are collected from the same geometry but at different times. Comparison of the two images allows determination of changes within the scene over the intervening period. These changes can be macroscopic movement of objects detected through changes in pixel brightness (Amplitude Change Detection), or more subtle changes in texture detected through changes in phase (Coherent Change Detection). Comparison of the two images can be done in a ground-station by an operator, in which case the only demands on the UAV are to fly the same aperture twice to collect the images. Alternatively an autonomous UAS would need to carry previously collected images in order to undertake onboard change detection. The Thales Bright Spark system has published some particularly impressive results [159]. The General Atomic Lynx radar system offers change detection as a standard mode [61].

Ground Moving Target Indication (GMTI)

GMTI is the equivalent of scanning a radar speed gun over an area of interest. As the radar beam is scanned back and forth, moving objects are detected by virtue of their Doppler shifted reflections, and their range, bearing and velocity measured. These are then plotted as dots in real time, in range and azimuth from the platform. The I-MASTER radar on the Watchkeeper UAV is an example of a GMTI radar [59]. GMTI is a useful tool for building up 'pattern of life' information, looking at a large area to determine traffic flow, sources, sinks and pinch points. The real time information is also very useful for tactical applications. For UAVs a data link is necessary for operators to make use of the data and the data is collected continually. In low traffic environments (where only a small number of moving targets are in the beam) individual targets may be tracked, but this is quickly overwhelmed when traffic increases as placement inaccuracies make target association impossible.

UAS may use GMTI as a cross-cueing aid, allowing camera systems to be quickly slewed to image moving vehicles in an area of interest, where long persistent will support security applications like border monitoring [62].

Foliage Penetration

The use of lower frequency radar signals allows Foliage Penetration (FOPEN). Radar signals at these frequencies do not scatter from the tree canopy and therefore are able to look beneath the foliage at the ground and possible targets below. Typically operating at L-band and below these systems carry large boom antennas in order to form a focussed beam and typically operate at short range due to the low gain. A FOPEN system such as FORESTER [63] can form SAR imagery or collect GMTI data of areas under tree canopy with both civil and military applications. This system operates at UHF and is able to provide GMTI and SAR with real time, onboard processing. Low frequency operation typically requires large antennas or aerials, and this is not easily accommodated on a small drone. Quadcopter systems have been trialled for ground penetration using long, lightweight aerials for use in agriculture monitoring.

Maritime Applications

Radar systems on UAVs are proving particularly popular with naval users who are faced with the 'what is over the horizon?' problem. A ship's view of the horizon is limited by the height of its crow's

nest. Getting sensors airborne allows the horizon to be pushed back, giving the vessel a much greater situational awareness. This role was until recently filled by the use of manned helicopter systems, however UAVs provide significant advantages. A small UAV can be launched from any deck area and can quickly provide real-time surveillance and situational awareness out to long ranges. The Skeldar V-200 [64] from Saab is typical of such systems. This is a 4m long rotor UAV able to carry a payload of up to 40kg, and can be fitted with a variety of small form-factor radar systems such as the Leonardo PiocSAR [108]. Radar operation allows the wide area detection of vessels including small FIACs in all weathers, as well as operation in littoral regions to provide SAR and GMTI information along coastlines.

Electronic Sensor Measures (ESM)

Electronic Sensor Measures (ESM) covers the use of the radar RF system in a passive mode, detecting and locating the emissions of radar and communications systems. Many modern RF systems are able to provide this capability as one of their operating modes, but dedicated specialist systems are also available. Saab produce the EPS-50 electronic surveillance payload [65] which is able to provide Electronic Order of Battle via a datalink to a ground-station. This small system (16kg including bother the antennas and the controller) provides high accuracy Direction Finding of emitters from 0.5GHz to 18GHz (L-band to Ku-band). QinetiQ have developed the AS3 COMINT system for Watchkeeper [66] with ability to detect, locate and listen to military communications. This system can be swapped into one of the two sensor bays on the Watchkeeper UAV to provide a quick change of role. The advantage of a dedicated system is that it can typically provide a much wider band of operation than a multi-function radar can achieve.

Agriculture

There are a wide variety of uses of radar systems in the agricultural technology (agritech). Many satellite services are now being offered that can provide farmers with detailed information regarding their crops on a vast scale. Civil satellite constellations such as Copernicus [67] are able to provide data that can be exploited by third parties to derive agricultural information. SAR polarimetry is especially useful in providing indications of poor crop quality or variations in soil content. UAS can also undertake these measurements, but at a smaller scale and with a shorter timeline. This can have benefits for certain applications – for instance when change detection measurements are required with a time separation of hours rather than the revisit time of many days available from satellites. Agritech applications are seen as a potential growth market by military system designers such as Lockheed Martin [68]. High resolution 3D mapping can help with flood monitoring and water catchment, ground-penetrating radar (L-band and below) can provide root survey information.

Search & Rescue

Radar sensors can be used to search for a locate victims under rubble in collapsed buildings, landslides and avalanches. Penetrating microwaves are required, so typically L-band and S-band systems are developed for these applications. Researchers have investigated the detection of vital signs of life via the Doppler returns of radar signals caused by the movement (breathing, etc.) of buried victims. Imaging techniques can be used to discern cavities where survivors may be trapped. In avalanches, nonlinear and harmonic radar techniques have been used to find and locate small passive transponders attached to clothing. All these techniques are applicable to UAS. Emergency services could be able to deploy small drones with dedicated radar systems to quickly search for victims without having to rely on lighting conditions [773].

Environmental Monitoring

Environmental monitoring is a significant growth area and radar-equipped UAS can provide valuable capability. UAS can reach otherwise hard to image areas – forests, mountain regions, glaciers, volcanoes, etc. – and allow operators to collect sensitive measurements. Radar systems are particularly useful for imaging areas that are continuous covered in clouds. Real time data can be collected by researchers at a safe distance [69].

6.1.15 Advances & Trends

Advances in critical radar system technologies are currently being driven by the mobile communications and computing civil market. Microwave technology has leapt forward through the investment of mobile phone manufacturers, making previously expensive materials and devices affordable and undertaking miniaturisation research and development on a scale that would not have been possible with military defence spending. This is fuelling a growth in available radar technologies in specific areas, while other areas are being left behind. Multifunction RF Systems which offer radar functionality along with communications and ESM in a single array architecture are going to dominate in future – capabilities and modes are primarily software enabled, and so can be easily changed.

Advances in solid state materials are providing ever more efficient means of generating microwave power across increasing bandwidth. This is enabling compact radar systems to be developed which are suitable for installation on small and medium UAV platforms. New materials are being developed that will lower the cost of antenna elements, making phased array systems cheaper.

The selection of radar operating bands will remain critical in determining the capabilities of the system. Wide tunable transmit bandwidths are difficult and expensive to achieve. For most applications it would be more efficient to design different radar systems to concentrate on different bands, rather than a single expensive system able to cover several.

Spectral congestion will be a problem in the future, with the proliferation of RF sources across mobile communications. Operation in a highly congested environment will make increasing demands on the radar system, interference will cause increased noise to erode image and detection quality. Equally the controls placed on the design of the radar systems will likely increase in order to better manage a crowded spectrum; spectral leakage will be limited through better design. Operation at bands where there is greater atmospheric attenuation will be beneficial in applications where the radar imaging can be conducted at close range. These signals do not propagate far and therefore do not suffer from spectral congestion and interference as much as the lower bands. V-band and W-band systems can provide very high resolution imaging and measurement at close range, and are available as very compact systems suitable for small UAVs.

Phased array antennas are dominating in the larger radar markets for military applications, but other antenna solutions are also in development for specialist applications. Small patch antennas can provide adequate performance at higher frequencies, while lightweight helical and spiral antennas have advantages in terms of bandwidth and polarization. For low frequency radars such as FOPEN long aerials are necessary in order to achieve a usable beam and this requires the development of lightweight structures for small UAV applications.

Radar processing can be computationally intensive. Advances in computer processors are allowing more and more to be squeezed onto smaller chips. However, these processors do come with penalties in terms of increased power and cooling requirements, and this does provide limitations for aircraft applications.

Current advances in computer power are focussing on multi-core processors (MCP). These processors offer multiple processing cores that share common functions such as I/O, network interfaces and memory management. They offer a substantial increase in performance over conventional single core chips, and reduce the overall chip count necessary for a system implementation. MCPs are increasingly

dominating the civil computer markets due to the performance advantages that they offer. However, the shared-resource nature of MCP make them very difficult to certify for use in aircraft. This is being addressed, but could prove a significant limitation on the computer processing power available to future UAV radar systems. CAST have produced a useful position paper on these issues and their implications [70].

Cognitive sensing [71] is a current buzzword to describe what is, essentially, adaptive radar. The radar itself has some understanding of its environment (either through its own sensing, or other cues) and can adapt in characteristics and behaviour accordingly in order to make best use of available RF power for the task in hand. This could involve changing frequency of operation in congested environments, adjusting clutter filters or changing waveforms to adapt to the properties of the target. Cognitive sensing techniques and concepts are well suited to the principles of autonomous UAVs. A multifunction RF system is able to undertake a variety of modes pseudo simultaneously and cognition will allow this to be optimised to the prevailing conditions.

Advances in solid state materials are providing ever more efficient means of generating microwave power across increasing bandwidth. This is enabling compact radar systems to be developed which are suitable for installation on small and medium UAV platforms. New materials are being developed that will lower the cost of antenna elements, making phased array systems cheaper.

The selection of radar operating bands will remain critical in determining the capabilities of the system. Wide tunable transmit bandwidths are difficult and expensive to achieve. For most applications it would be more efficient to design different radar systems to concentrate on different bands, rather than a single expensive system able to cover several.

Data and information fusion are essential for autonomy and understanding. Tightly integrated systems and common data structures will enable the effective combination of information derived from different sources in order to achieve a single fused picture or understanding. Sensor fusion covers the combination of data derived from disparate sources such that the information derived has a higher quality and less uncertainty than the individual sources this is particularly important for radar systems which have strengths in target detection and location, but are potentially weak in imagery understanding and target recognition. Intra-platform sensor fusion will take the sensor feeds from the platform itself and all small UAVs that might be quite limited. Inter-platform fusion will take off-board and on-board data. This will be a critical enabler of UAV swarms (see below).

Robust and reliable communications are essential for radar-equipped UAS. Short and medium range systems may require line-of-sight communications links with their operators in order to maintain high bandwidth datalinks. This is clearly quite limiting for military applications where deeper penetration may be an advantage, but this is also true for some types of wider area environment monitoring. Data links are highly vulnerable to interception and jamming in a military context and to interference in all situations. Some platform autonomy can help cover gaps in communications, but operating a UAV in deep theatre will require almost complete autonomy. This clearly limits the missions and roles that such a platform can undertake. Surveillance UAVs can be sent out to monitor an area of interest and only report back when they find something, which increases the burden of onboard processing. Systems operating in the deep will necessarily be large, requiring long endurance, multiple sensors, onboard radar data processing and exploitation, sensor fusion and long range communication links.

The exploitation and understanding of radar information is difficult. Conventionally this has been undertaken by high trained and experienced personnel. However, this is no longer sustainable – the proliferation of radar systems is leading to a data deluge – the existing radar data analysts are simply overwhelmed by the amount of data. This can be addressed by lowering the training burden and enabling the experts to focus on the critical tasks. Both of these activities are enabled through automated exploitation, and this is therefore directly relevant to future UAS.

Automatic target recognition techniques are in development for surface targets (using SAR) and air targets (using Range Doppler Imaging). These allow the radar to classify and recognise the target

object. In the case where there is a human operator in the loop this simply allow ?eyes-on? to be achieved much faster; the imagery can be annotated with candidate target locations and identities that the operator can then analyse. In fully automated cases the ATR can provide cross cueing information to collect more data on the target of interest, or to report back to base only when a relevant target of interest is discovered. Data links can be far more efficient if only the imagery of detected targets is sent back, rather than streaming the full raw data. Current imagery understanding and ATR research is investigating the use of Convolutional Neural Networks, Deep Learning and Artificial Intelligence. There has been a great deal published, particularly by Chinese researchers, around the world. Useful performance is now being achieved in aspects such as pre-screening.

Multistatic imaging is a broad term to cover the situation when the transmitting and receiving platforms are different. A bistatic situation is easiest to consider, with one UAV illuminating an area and a separate UAV receiving the reflected signals and processing the data. There are advantages to this geometry. The receiving platform can remain entirely passive and hence more stealthy; any jamming will be directed at the transmitting platform and not the receiver. The receive-only platform can be smaller and simpler by not having to incorporate a transmitter. However there are significant penalties, chiefly the maintenance of coherence between the platforms to enable high accuracy image formation or target location to occur. This will require highly accurate time references (atomic clocks) and high grade GPS. The case of multi-static imaging extends this to more platforms; this could be a single transmit platform (possibly stand-off, conceptually a satellite) illuminating an area of interest, with multiple receive platforms collecting the scattered signals. Alternatively, it could be multiple platforms, each operating as transmitters and receivers in a complex multi-baseline scenario; and this is the situation being investigated by the QinetiQ/Dstl RIBI programme [426]. The advantage of multi-baseline imaging is that it can allow images to be built up in three dimensions (volumetric imaging); this is particularly useful when imaging the inside of buildings.

A further extension of multistatic imaging is the situation with non-cooperating illuminators, socalled *illuminators of opportunity*. These systems use the RF signals already within the environment to undertake target detection and imaging. This might be mobile phone signals, DVB-T signals, wifi routers and the like. These passive radars are able to operate most effectively in congested spectral environments. This is a likely use of future UAS RF systems, but will require significant development of PNT (positioning navigation and timing) technologies to be integrated.

Finally, let us consider an idea that has been considered for a number of years: *swarms of radar* equipped-UAVs. The concept is that the swarm is able to form up as required to undertake different radar tasks; for instance gathering in a close proximity to provide more gain and power in a certain direction, or spreading out around a target to achieve multi-baselines and volumetric imaging. Swarm approaches for mini UAVs equipped with radar sensors have been considered [72], often taking inspiration from the natural world in terms of flocking and stigmergic behaviour. Achieving the benefits of swarms requires dozens of drones, which therefore requires them to be relatively cheap and simple. This may run counter to the complexity of the tasks that they are then required to carry out, and the range at which such systems can operate. For military applications some form of delivery system may be required to get a sufficient number of short-lived drones to the area of interest before deployment.

The use of drone swarms in general is likely to have a significant impact on all areas of defence and security [73]. The communication links and computing power necessary to allow self-organising drone swarms is coming and their potential (and threat) as elements of a radar network should not be underestimated.

6.2 Hyperspectral & Optical Sensors

Hyperspectral and optical sensors are passive imagery systems which can detect electromagnetic emissions from constituents of the Earth's surface and atmosphere. These emissions can be locally produced (e.g. thermal radiation from vegetation in the infrared spectrum) or be the result of reflected sunlight in the visible spectrum. Much of the following information is based on satellite Earth observation technology [40], but the same concepts apply to aircraft mounted sensors.

6.2.1 Panchromatic Sensors

Panchromatic sensors measure light intensity over a broad range of the electromagnetic spectrum which allows a large energy per pixel to be collected leading to high resolution images. A typical panchromatic sensor will record the light intensity from the observed scene in the full visible spectrum, typically wavelengths between $0.47\mu m$ and $0.83\mu m$, as a greyscale image.

Panchromatic imaging may include thermal infrared sensors at wavelengths between 10μ m and 12μ m; IR is constantly emitted by the Earth and clouds it is possible to obtain IR imagery even when the scene is not illuminated by the sun.

6.2.2 Multi-Spectral

Multi-spectral sensors image a scene in several narrow bands of the electromagnetic spectrum. This is similar to the way commercial digital cameras generate 'true' colour images from three narrow-band sensors (RGB). Narrowband sensing elements have less energy available so need to be larger than panchromatic sensors, resulting in lower resolution images. Multi-spectral sensors are not restricted to the visible spectrum: measurements can be done in the infrared (IR) fields, ultraviolet (UV), microwave, etc. presented as 'false' colour images.

Many combinations of bands are possible, depending on the information required. For example:

- Shortwave infrared (red), near infrared (green), and green (blue) is often used to show floods or newly burned land;
- Blue (red), two different shortwave infrared bands (green and blue) is used to differentiate between snow, ice, and clouds;
- Blue (blue), near infrared (green), mid infrared (red) is used to represent, on one image, water depth, vegetation coverage, soil moisture content, and the presence of fires.

6.2.3 Pan-sharpened

It is possible to use common front optics (i.e. main lens) and then use prisms or dichroic mirrors to divert different wavelengths to different sensor arrays. However, this typically requires bulky packaging to encompass the different optical paths and multiple focal planes. Such solutions are practical for gross spectral discrimination: the JAI AD-080 uses a single prism to separate visible band and near-infra-red energy giving four broad spectral responses (red, green and blue sensed using a conventional CFA-based colour image sensor, and NIR using a separate panchromatic image sensor).

A more simplistic approach is to co-site multiple cameras together, each with their own optics. This approach has been used for UAS sensors for agricultural monitoring applications for example. Each lens/sensor combination is sensitive to a different wavelength range. The offset in position of each lens can potentially introduce differences in the imaged scene due to parallax effects. However, as the difference in viewpoint position is small this is only likely only to be an issue when imaging scenes at very close range (i.e. within a very few metres).

It is generally impractical to have a multi-lens spectral sensor with anything other than fixed focus, fixed focal-lens optics so that data from the different sensors remains consistent. Additionally the cost, size, weight and power increase with the number of additional optics introduced. Consequently this approach is entirely practical for some applications such as agricultural monitoring where a small number of known wavelengths are of interest and observations are made from overflight at a limited range of predetermined altitudes (and hence enabling the use of fixed optical geometry). This is very different from applications where greater stand-off, altitude or variation in flight plan is required: here, larger optics to provide longer and potentially variable focal length lenses are required. It is impractical to have duplicated optics on grounds of size, weight and cost. Calibrating the optics such that images are consistently acquired between the multiple cameras is also more difficult – with narrower field-of-view lenses small variations in set-up can result in the poor overlap in scene coverage between the different cameras.

In summary, methods using multiple focal planes or lenses do not scale well to large numbers of spectral bands as typically required in hyperspectral imaging.

Pan-sharpening is a post-processing technique that merges multi-spectral and panchromatic data to get high resolution coloured images by exploiting the spectral resolution of multi-spectral images with the spatial resolution of panchromatic images.

6.2.4 Hyper-Spectral Sensors

It is desirable to extract spectral information in remote sensing applications, such as land use monitoring, vegetation health assessment in agricultural uses and detection of decoys and camouflage in military use. Spectral information provides additional information to that available in conventional imaging techniques.

Hyperspectral sensors capture data on a nearly continuous spectrum for each pixel in the image of a scene. Each pixel captures the light intensity in typically a few tens to several hundred contiguous narrow spectral bands. The high spectral resolution allows for detection, identification and quantification of surface materials, as well as inferring biological and chemical processes.

Until recently, hyperspectral sensing was limited to aerial imagery and scientific demonstration missions [74], but commercially available hyperspectral imagining systems are now available for small UAS able to carry a payload of 5kg [75].

Imaging sensors are typically 2D arrays of pixels, measuring scene intensity with broadband spectral response (e.g. visible band, or broad wavelength bands thereof such as red, green and blue). Images can typically be acquired in quick succession. Obtaining spectral information requires sacrificing aspects of conventional camera imaging. For example, the acquisition rate is reduced. This is because spectral information is obtained by repeatedly placing different narrowband filters in the optical path, thus obtaining a sequence of images with different spectral sensitivity. This means that multiple frames are required to generate complete spectral information for the scene, hence the rate sacrifice. An alternative approach is to use a spectrometer such that one axis of the 2D array is used to record spectral information with the other axis giving spatial coverage. In effect, a 2D conventional imaging array is operated as a linescan spectral sensor, requiring either the sensor to be scanned or moved (e.g. from platform motion) to construct spectral information over a scene. This is known as 'pushbroom' imaging (see below). Conventional colour cameras often use a single imaging array and sacrifice some spatial resolution to obtain colour information by using a Colour Filter Array (CFA) over the image sensor. Pixels are sensitive to either red, green or blue wavelength bands. This approach has been extended to use a greater range of narrower-band filters, e.g. using a repeating pattern of 4x4 or 5x5 filters rather than the 2x2 (red, green, green, blue) CFA patterns used for conventional colour imaging. A further approach is to use multiple cameras, each with its own distinct spectral response. However, there are size, cost, weight and power implications if more than a very few spectral bands are to be observed.

There are two further points to note. First, many approaches to spectral imaging provide a fixed range of wavelengths that are observed (e.g. using a CFA bonded to a sensor, or a spectrometer). Other approaches can by dynamic, such as using a liquid crystal tunable filter where the observed wavelength can be changed variably. The wavelengths and number of bands observed can be altered dynamically, allowing on-the-fly trade-offs between update rate and spectral coverage.

Secondly, observation of narrow wavelength bands means that the amount of energy reaching the sensor pixels is greatly diminished relative to conventional broadband imaging and consequently sensitive image sensors are required and/or increased integration times (reducing frame rate and potentially introducing motion blur). Typically, this means that sensors with large pixel sizes are required and, for thermal imaging bands, sensor cooling sensors is required to achieve useful sensitivity.

Pushbroom Imaging

Pushbroom imaging effectively provides linescan imaging functionality. One axis of the 2D sensor array corresponds to different spatial locations along a line, whilst the other axis is used to sense the different spectral content. Movement of the sensor (or equivalently the platform) is used to build-up an area view of the imaged scene.

Linescan imaging (whether conventional or spectral) typically requires that the imaged scene remains static and that movement of the sensor/platform is consistent. Otherwise various distortions can be introduced into the image. This is particularly true for independently moving scene objects (e.g. vehicles moving along a road) where objects may be stretched or compressed depending upon how their movement interacts with the movement of the sensor.

Conventional pushbroom imagers use an optical imaging spectrometer, with a slit and diffraction grating or prism, to separate out incoming light into its spectral content and project it across the imaging array. Whilst the aforementioned geometric distortions can occur, the spectral measurement is consistent with the different wavelength energy arising from the scene is measured simultaneously for all points along the line.

An alternative approach to pushbroom sensing is to use a conventional imaging sensor with a bespoke 'spectral wedge' colour filter array. Here different rows of the image sensor are sensitive to different wavelengths. Such devices have been fabricated by IMEC and can typically 100-150 different bands over visible and near-infra-red bands.

The advantage of this CFA based approach is that a very lightweight and robust system is possible. The CFA adds negligible weight and complexity to a conventional imaging camera. However, unlike a spectrometer based approach the acquisition of spectral data over different wavelength bands must occur sequentially at different times for any specific scene location. With a conventional spectrometer approach the shape or position of scene content may be distorted but the measure spectra should always be consistent. With a wedge CFA the actual spectral response may be distorted but is less prone to spatial distortion, as a full 2D images of the scene (rather than a line) are acquired, albeit with spatially varying wavelength sensitivity.

With the wedge CFA based approach it is important that the scene is scanned sufficiently slowly to ensure that each scene point is imaged by each wavelength band of the filter, otherwise sparse spectra will be obtained. For a spectrograph based approach the spectra will always be complete, but the scanning must at an appropriate speed to avoid gaps in spatial coverage.

The use of a CFA might be considered to be wasteful of energy collected from the scene, given the filter only transmits a narrow wavelength bandwidth at each location. This is different to a spectrometer based approach where the energy is spread across a range of pixels without filtering. However, because the spectrometer only senses in one spatial axis, all energy collected by the lens outside the line actually sampled is discarded (by the spectrometer slit), whereas the CFA sensor observes the scene simultaneously in both spatial axes.

For both the spectrometer and CFA based approaches the wavelengths sampled are fixed by the design and manufacture of the equipment. The choice of approach is dependent upon application. Where size or weight is critical, the wedge CFA approach is advantageous, whereas consistency of

spectral measurements is inherently guaranteed by spectrometer based approaches.

Sequential Waveband Imaging

Pushbroom based techniques described in the previous section require movement of the sensor/platform to build up either spatial (using an imaging spectroscope) or spectral (using a wedge CFA) information.

An alternative technique is to use varying spectral filters in front of a conventional image sensor, i.e. imaging the whole scene but at a single wavelength band at a time. This can be readily achieved using mechanical techniques (such as a rotating filter wheel) that sequentially place a set of filters physically into the optical path.

Clearly a number of image acquisitions are required to build up the spectral information and this takes time. Either the imaged scene must be held static during the acquisition period (e.g. by physically stabilising the sensor) or the imaged data must be realigned in a post-processing step to ensure the spectral measurements made correspond to the same scene locations. Correction for objects moving independently within may be problematic and hence spectral measurements of moving objects and areas adjacent to the movement may be distorted.

Mechanical filter wheels are conceptually simple but undesirable in many applications: the power, weight and reliability of filter wheel mechanisms are concerns and the number of filters (and hence wavelength bands) is limited by practical considerations. Consequently filtering is desirably performed using other techniques for UAS applications.

- Liquid Crystal Tunable Filters (LCTF): the filter provides a narrow pass-band at a wavelength that depends upon the applied voltage. Switching between different wavelengths can be achieved at relatively high rates (above 20Hz) for some configurations. Filters are commercially available from suppliers such as PerkinElmer (VariSpec), MeadowLark Optics, Kurios and Kent Optronics.
- Piezo-actuated Fabry-Perot interferometers: a piezo-actuator is used to subtly change the distance between two mirrors and hence change the pass-band of a Fabry-Perot interferometers.

An advantage of both these approaches is that the pass band wavelength can be controlled dynamically. It is therefore possible to sample a discrete set of wavelengths of interest, rather than obtaining whole spectra.

LCTF filters have some limitations, in so far as there are losses in optical transmission (due to the use of polarising elements) and limited out-of-pass band attenuation (although this may be compensated for in post-processing). However, it is possible to commercially procure filters that can be dynamically tuned both in terms of passband wavelength and bandwidth (i.e. allowing spectral resolution to be traded against sensitivity). Senop (formerly Rikola) commercially produce a hyperspectral camera that use piezo-actuated Fabry-Perot interferometers, the HSC-2. This can acquire images (one band at a time) at up to 150Hz.

Area Based Imaging

The use of CFAs to provide spectral imaging can be highly advantageous due to the absence of bulky optical components. A spectral wedge type CFA has already been discussed in the previous section of pushbroom imaging but other options are available.

One alternative is based on a 'tiled mosaic' where the filter overlaid on the sensor focal plane has distinct rectangular regions with different spectral sensitivity. This requires additional optical components to replicate the incoming image to every rectangular region. The required optics (typically a field stop and microlens array) are compact and robust.

Another option is a 'snapshot mosaic' where the filter overlaid on the sensor focal plane differs in spectral sensitivity between adjacent pixels, much as a conventional single focal plane colour image

sensor uses a pattern of adjacent red, green and blur sensitive pixels. The issue with this approach is that the scene may be under-sampled because each waveband is only sparsely sampled – there will be a gap of several pixels between the pixels sensitive to any particular wavelength. Aliasing distortions can be avoided using an optical low-pass filter. This can be achieved either on the focal plane, such as anti-aliasing filters used in high quality digital cameras, or by deliberate defocussing of the lens. In either case there is no significant impact upon size or weight. For the snapshot mosaic sensor, postprocessing is used to estimate spectra at specific pixel positions using information from nearby pixels of different wavelength sensitivity (in a similar vein to the 'demosaicing' processing used in conventional cameras to estimate the red, green and blue component at each pixel site from nearby pixels with differing colour sensitivity).

These approaches permit rapid acquisition of hyperspectral video, albeit at reduced spatial resolution in comparison to a monochrome sensor of the same pixel count. However, to maintain reasonable spatial resolution the number of spectral bands is typically limited, currently to around 32 spectral bands (IMEC SNt32 sensor), on commercially available devices. In principle different CFA designs are possible and can be designed and produced on demand for specific applications, albeit at considerable expense.

There are a number of other techniques developed that can provide snapshot spectral imaging (i.e. instantaneous acquisition of spectral data for a 2D scene) that are outside the scope of this document but well represented in the literature. Some approaches have shown theoretical promise but have failed to be developed further and adopted for general use (e.g. due to cost or difficulties in fabricating required components).

Trends

Pushbroom imaging using conventional optical spectrometers is well established but has limitations when attempting to observe scenes with independently moving objects. The size and weight of optical components may impact upon platform performance (e.g. endurance) particularly for smaller UAS. However, pushbroom imaging can provide excellent spectral coverage (in terms of the number of wavelength bands). Other methods typically compromise spectral coverage to improve spatial representation.

It is likely that in the near future snapshot mosaic imaging (using Colour Filter Arrays on the focal plane) will become more established. This is relatively recent technology and, whilst commercially available, is not in mass production. Several scientific camera manufacturers now offer devices with this technology, operating over visible and near infra-red wavelengths. Increased demand and production could reduce costs substantially and the approach requires little variation from existing conventional camera installation.

Piezo-actuated Fabry-Perot interferometer based imagers are likely to become more popular. These offer faster switching between different wavelength filters than the more established Liquid Crystal Tunable Filter technique, enabling faster and more consistent scene content acquisition which is beneficial to UAS platforms due to movement. This type of technique is advantageous in so far as the number and selection of wavebands observed can be dynamically altered and provides the ability to trade spectral coverage against update rate.

The extension of existing multi-camera spectral sensors to an increased number of wavebands may be readily achieved. However, with cost, size and weight also increasing the technique will still limited to a relatively small number of wavebands and (due to lens size and weight considerations) close-range/low-altitude operation.

In the longer terms (into the late 2020s) techniques based upon principles of computational photography, such as compressed sensing, will likely be increasingly feasible. Conventional spectral observation attempts to measure each waveband response at each pixel. In practice mixed measurements can be made (of sets of pixels and/or sets of different wavelengths) with post-processing used to de-correlate the observations back into conventional spatially-localised spectra. There are strong statistical correlations in the data both spatially and spectrally. Compressed sensing techniques enable fewer data observations to be made: full spatial and spectral resolution data is generated by post-processing on the proviso that the imaged scene fulfils anticipated, but non-stringent, statistical properties. Making fewer data observations enables a faster update rate to be achieved which is useful with dynamically manoeuvring platforms and moving observed scene content.

It is difficult to predict developments beyond 2030 but, as a general trend, influences from technologies outside sensor development are likely to have an impact upon spectral sensor design. For example, the use of Deep Learning AI techniques is increasingly impacting upon automatic image analysis. Current image sensing is driven predominantly by historic applications requiring that data is in a form for human interpretation (i.e. a conventional image or spectral datacube). This requirement may become less dominant as the use of AI techniques increases, where data in non-conventional formats may be as acceptable, or even beneficial, as input to autonomous processing applications. Further, novel machine learning techniques may place different emphasis upon the relative resolution of, and potential distortions present within, spatial and spectral data. These factors may drive longer-term future sensor design and operation.

6.2.5 Electro-Optical & Infrared Imaging

A recent tutorial report on EO/IR systems, produced by The Institute for Defense Analyses by Koretsky [492], provides a very good grounding in the current technology and also a summary of trends in EO/IR imaging requirements that are driving new technology developments.

One area of particular interest is that of non-traditional optical systems. Several research groups are looking at electrically steerable optical assemblies which are hoped will replace the rotating mirrors and other mechanical structures in current IR systems. The reduced complexity, and associated weight and cost (both in manufacture and maintenance) have the potential to enable this technology on new, lighter platforms and for applications for which current technology is too expensive. Examples include silicon nanopillars for IR steering [76] and electrically controlled LCD refraction gratings (see Patent US6765644B1).

Metamaterial applications are being demonstrated at IR. An example is the construction of an IR diffraction grating by a team at Duke University that could be used to create small optical steering structures [762]. A considerably more detailed exploration of the theory of IR-effective metamaterials can be found in [761].

6.2.6 Visible Light

Digital still and video cameras are widely available for UAS use [77], and filming or visual inspection is probably the most common use of small UASs, at least in the commercial sector. The commercial market for digital imaging generally (not just for use with UAS) seems likely to drive continuing improvements in performance for these sensors.

Video cameras provide the basis for computer vision systems [460]. When incorporated with the flight management systems, visible imagery can be used to support navigation (visual SLAM, for example, can build maps of the local environment from video imagery [78]).

One particular application where visible light camera payloads are likely to remain important is photogrammetry [519] [730], where high resolution imagery is used to determine additional information about the scene, either by directly processing the image or combining the image with the outputs from other sensors (for example hyperspectral images or gravimeter measurements).

An interesting potential application is combination of a large number of video feeds from moving platforms to emulate continuously staring video of a particular location. Demonstrations of merging
multiple video views of a scene from unstructured camera arrays have already been made by Disney Research in Switzerland [79] [80].

6.2.7 Sonar & Other Acoustic Sensors

Acoustic sensors are not often seen on UAS, but there have been some experiments [265] [593] where the UAS is used to replace existing anti-submarine helicopters [81] which use dipping sonar systems to lower acoustic sensors into the sea.

Acoustic sensors are sometimes used for distributed intrusion detection [82], or gunshot detection [138], but these systems require a network of sensors to triangulate the acoustic source, and may not be suitable for mounting on relatively noisy and mobile platforms.

6.3 Chemical & Radiation Sensors

There is growing interest in using UAS to host chemical and radiation sensors, especially when surveying areas after natural disasters or accidents. The ability to quickly and safely capture information about the extent of potentially harmful events is valuable when developing a response to those events.

Chemical and radiation sensors have not undergone the same degree of miniaturisation that other sensors (especially visible light sensors) have seen in recent years. Some work has been done tracing chemical plumes by detecting aerosol concentrations [840]. Determining chemical composition using spectroscopy is well-known and has been demonstrated from a UAS [162]; the technique is quite similar to hyperspectral imaging.

Measurements of radiation contamination by mapping gamma ray intensities have been demonstrated [83] [671] and UAS platforms with gamma ray sensors have been used to survey the area around Fukushima [572].

6.3.1 Graphene

Graphene is a form of molecular carbon [442] which has interesting electrical properties that are enabling commercial applications in, for example, flexible displays and wearable electronics. Graphene is also being investigated as a basis for small magnetic field sensors [725] and (along with the closely related material carbon nanotubes) novel chemical detectors [84]. The current maturity of graphene displays implies that industrialisation of graphene-based sensors could be close [631].

The properties of graphene suggest that future sensors, particularly chemical sensors, could be made small and conformal, so that they could be integrated into the structure of even very small UAV platforms for example [720]. Chemical sensing capability can be used to detect and track the source of precursor chemicals in the atmosphere, and the sensor should be built into a variety of platforms, from large high-altitude persistent monitoring to mission specific micro-UAVs close to the source.

Graphene is also being investigated for THz sensing [85]. The challenge here is that the ranges will be short, so to be useful (and covert) very small sensors on small UAVs will be needed [86]; however, the flexibility, and hence conformal possibilities of these sensors could make them practical at these scales.

Chapter 7

Autopilot Systems

Autopilots for aviation usage were largely developed towards the end of the second world war, although the first crude aircraft autopilot was developed by the Sperry Corporation in 1912. The early autopilots were analogue, largely mechanical devices. The first digital autopilots were developed in the 1960s.

Manned aviation autopilot systems tend to be expensive (as a result of the need for certification) and there has been little exploitation of these within the UAV community.

In recent years developments in the mobile phone industry have had a considerable impact in the technology of unmanned autopilots. This has largely been led by Apple who pioneered the use of MEMS (Microelectromechanical systems) sensing elements in mobile phones. A modern smartphone is capable of accurately sensing its absolute attitude thanks to the inclusion of MEMS accelerometers, gyros, and magnetometers. Similarly, the development of miniaturised, cheap, low power consumption GNSS receivers has allowed smart phones to geolocate quickly and accurately. The unmanned aviation community benefits considerably from this high-volume consumer-product led research. The extremely competitive mobile phone industry continues to develop smaller, lighter, lower power, more accurate, robust and low-cost devices. Interestingly, an open source project called Flone¹ has taken this trajectory to a logical conclusion in that it allows an Android smartphone on the ground to control one fitted onto an airframe via Bluetooth.

The industry leaders for small autopilot systems include *Micropilot*, *Piccolo*, *UAVnavigation* and *Embention*. Large military UAVs use autopilot systems supplied by defence avionics companies such as Bendix, Garmin and Thales.

A very significant development has been the availability of open source autopilot systems including PX4, Paparazzi, LibrePilot and ArduPilot. Although these started out being used in academica and the hobby community the PIXHAWK range is now starting to be used in large commercial UAV systems. The DRONECODE organisation now incorporates other software products including ground station software QGroundControl, communications software MAVLink and the development toolkit MAVSDK.

7.1 Case Study: An Academic Research Team's Experience

Academic research into unmanned aircraft systems is generally significantly limited by budgetary constraints, but it often has greater agility and risk-tolerance than industrial development processes; developments in autopilot technology are no exception to this and, as an illustration, this case study reviews the experience of such a team at the University of Southampton.

The first driver of autopilot developments at Southampton was a low cost air vehicle developed at the National Oceanography Centre for ship based science missions [802] (Figure 7.1). Featuring a range

¹https://flone.cc/en/home-2/

OFFICIAL



Figure 7.1: NOC-developed Oceanographic UAV flown in 2008 (left), auto-landing repeatability trials at Ramsgate (centre), and BBC camera platform built in 2010.

of more than 1000km and carrying a payload of 2kg, the aircraft could be launched and recovered from a coastal research vessel. It flew successfully in Force 4 gusting Force 6-7 wind conditions, an important requirement for operation at sea. As part of this development the University team was compelled to develop its in-house autopilot system[226], as existing systems were either too expensive or immature at the time. The system implemented controllers that used Pseudo-Derivative Feedback (PDF). Innovative features included controlling the derivative of heading rate to command an achievable trajectory and controlling the closing speed on the path by adjusting bank angle. The advantage of using PDF based controllers as opposed to the PID (Proportional Integral and Differential) controllers typically used in autopilots is that PDF only has two tuning parameters rather than the three needed for PID (See section 7.3 for more on autopilot tuning).

This prototype autopilot went on to be developed into a commercial product (SC2), which was marketed by spin-out *Sky Circuits*. The SC2 is currently marketed by Callen-Lenz.

This autopilot was used successfully on the early 2SEAS (SPOTTER) prototype aircraft developed subsequently at the University. One of the critical aspects of flight automation is the ability to fly accurate and repeatable take offs and landings. As part of the 2SEAS project², trial flights of the aircraft were undertaken at Ramsgate port. The second panel of Figure 7.1 shows the tracks resulting from a highly successful series of continuous take-offs and landings using the SC2 autopilot. The tracks show a tight approach (from the right hand side of the image), resulting in repeatable touch-down points within a five metre radius.

Subsequently, an aircraft equipped with the SC2 autopilot undertook one of the UK's first Beyond Visual Line of Sight (BVLOS) flights at the MetOffice danger area near Cardington in 2009, by climbing to an altitude of 5000 feet. At this altitude the aircraft was invisible to the naked eye (though the noise of the propeller was just audible). The following year a large, fixed wing camera platform (Figure 7.1, right-hand panel) commissioned by the BBC was developed by the same team, receiving the UK's first Civil Aviation Authority permit for civilian drones heavier than 20kg.

7.2 Reliability

The aspiration for beyond visual line of sight operations requires highly reliable systems with predictable behaviour. With regard to the avionics, this can be achieved either by very tight quality control (to certified standards) of both hardware and software (which is costly), or by the use of redundant systems.

The development of fully certified avionics hardware with fully traceable supply chain components is both complex and expensive. Suppliers of components are not always prepared to provide this level

²https://www.sotonuav.uk/projects/#2seas

Design Assurance	Description	Target failure rate	Example
Level		per flight hour	
A - catastrophic	Causes deaths	10^{-9}	Flight controls
B - hazardous	May cause deaths	10^{-7}	Braking system
C - major	May cause stress, injuries	10^{-5}	Backup systems
D - minor	May cause inconvenience	no safety metric	Ground navigation systems

T_{-1}	T	f _ 11		f	-		r	-1		1 1 -
Table (1	Taroet	rannre	rates	TOT	ч.	rance o	IT I	nesion.	assurance	IEVEIS
TUDIO I III	Largou	Innuro	LUUUD	TOL	с.	Tunge 0	· 1	ucorgii	assurance	IC VOID.
	()					()		()		

of quality control and this can narrow down the choice of parts. This can also lock the system designer into the use of legacy parts and not allow access to the latest technology.

For avionics and safety critical software there are standards that define procedures for the development of code, such as DO-178C. This standard defines Model based development and certification, formal methods as well as tool qualification (commercial tools have been developed that embody and comply with DO-178C standards, such as SCADE [87]). The cost of complying with safety critical standards for avionics software is very high. The ultimate goal is to develop systems capable of achieving a target level of failure rate (seeTable 7.1). It is clear that a large platform flying beyond visual line of sight in un-segregated airspace arguably requires Design Assurance Level (DAL) category A flight control systems.

The traditional approach to this in, for example, commercial airliners is to use a triple redundant autopilot system, which may even mean that each of the three autopilots is developed by a different team using different hardware in order to mitigate against common mode failures. Such multiply redundant architectures require a master controller in order to arbitrate the multiple autopilot outputs. At its simplest, this master controller is essentially an automatic 'switch' that directs the output of one of the autopilots to the flying controls of the aircraft. In order to switch from the primary autopilot to a secondary device some form of health monitoring logic is required. The master controller needs to be capable of monitoring all of the available autopilots and applying criteria to switch to a secondary backup (and tertiary backup if required). The master controller, whilst being a functionally simple device, in practice is relatively complex involving both hardware and health monitoring software. Furthermore, the master controller represents a single point of failure in this architecture. If the master controller malfunctions, then this can lead to catastrophic failure. There are many possible failure modes. An architecture with a master (centralised) element is vulnerable despite the use of redundancy within it.

The inadequacy of current avionics architectures has been recognised by the research community and alternative have been proposed. A recent paper [237] argues the case for the use of Integrated Modular Architectures (IMA) within UAV platforms. However, this does not explicitly deal with the need to eliminate logic or physical single points of failure. Even within an avionics system based on the IMA logical switching between partitions is required.

In 2018 researchers at the University of Southampton developed an alternative to centralised or switch-based architectures. This work partially builds upon ideas outlined in a paper proposing the use of arrays of low-cost sensors to provide high performance [549]. This paper presents three advanced array-based techniques that could be applied to improve the performance of low-cost (uncalibrated) MEMS IMUs. The new architecture developed by the university uses a fully decentralised approach which has no master controllers. A test platform was flown in 2018 (see image below). This work is now being developed as a commercial offering by *Distributed Avionics Limited* and a patent has been submitted to cover the IP.



Figure 7.2: A world first: maiden flight of a platform controlled using a 'masterless' flight control architecture.

The advantages of the Distributed Avionics Limited system are:

- it provides extremely high robustness
- it can achieve high DAL levels using building blocks that are themselves low DAL (and therefore low cost)
- extra resources (sensing and computing) can easily be added
- it is applicable to a wide range of platform configurations including fixed wing, rotary wing and hybrids.

Some simple numerical analysis of the robustness of the DAL masterless architecture has been carried out.

This analysis estimates the fault state space of the overall system by running a Monte-Carlo model which randomly assigns either a faulty or functioning status to the devices within the system. This model is illustrated below. This analysis shows that the conventional architecture has an overall fault-free state space of only 4.3%. On the other hand, the masterless architecture has an overall fault free state space of 51.8%. In other words, this new architecture, using the same resources, has more than an order of magnitude better robustness.

7.3 Auto-Tuning

Most autopilot systems use standard control techniques with the use of Proportional, Integral and Differential (PID) algorithms, the proportional gain, differential gain and integral gain parameters need to be 'tuned' in order to establish a 'best' control response [400]. This is generally a compromise between stability (robustness) and response. For a fixed wing aircraft, the PID parameters need to be set for the roll, pitch and yaw axes, which involves estimating nine PID gain parameters. Historically, tuning of control loops has been a subjective, heuristic process, with control engineers relying on existing knowledge of the system and on skill [427]. This is a time-consuming process when carried out manually but can also entail some risk to the platform.

Automatic tuning techniques have been developed based on classical control theory. If the UAV platform has well-understood performance, aerodynamic and inertial properties they can be modelled, and tuning carried out as a simulation exercise [170]. However, the effort needed to characterise the drone accurately is substantial. Furthermore, validation and verification of this model may require



Figure 7.3: Robustness analysis: conventional triple redundant autopilot (top) and masterless architecture.

flight testing anyway [417]. Techniques have been developed that essentially use hardware in the loop testing whereby the platform undertakes a series of flight manoeuvres with step inputs to control axes. The PX4 family of autopilots is capable of auto-tuning to establish good first order estimates of PID parameters. By flying the platform in auto-tuning mode, the aircraft progressively 'learns' the necessary gains to achieve a given level of response. This level of response can be selected; for example, the *Ardupilot*³ ground station allows operators to select a value that corresponds from 'weak' (ie slow but stable) to 'aggressive' (i.e., highly responsive) auto-tuning. In the case of Ardupilot, the platform is flown, and each axis is tuned starting with the roll axis (for fixed wing aircraft). This involves undertaking fast full deflection of control surfaces for a number of iterations to represent a 'step' input.

Auto-tuning is a very important development and leads to safer, and less time-consuming establishment of satisfactory control parameters for both fixed wing and rotary wing platforms. This capability is continually developed especially by the open source community with tools such as PX4, and QGround control.

7.4 Path Planning

7.4.1 The Unmanned Aircraft Systems Context

The current generation of unmanned aircraft can best be described as 'remotely piloted'. These vehicles are commanded and monitored by a human operator and generally follow a pre-programmed path. Such vehicles are currently unable to (and not generally allowed to) automatically modify a flight plan. Furthermore, the initial flight plan is generated and checked manually.

In the future there will be a need for automatic and dynamic path planning. Many experts predict that, in the event of the widespread commercial deployment of unmanned aircraft, a 'one to one' allocation of human operators to unmanned platform will be both uneconomic and impractical. In particular, the dynamic nature of airspace and changing conditions such as weather and emergency occurrences means that 'on-board' sensing and decision making is needed [329].

In order to plan a collision free path through a cluttered environment, a set of mathematical tools are needed to model these constraints and to store such data. From an optimization theory point of view, finding a 3D path is an NP-hard problem and heuristic solutions are required.

In a recent paper Yakolev [823] solves the path planning task for a multirotor unmanned aerial vehicle. The work proposes an approach of automatically estimating path geometry constraints based on drone flight dynamics model and control constraints. Jiang et al. show how stereoscopic cameras can be used to automatically navigate, avoid obstacles and plan a path [705]. They compare four algorithms (Dijkstra algorithm, Floyd algorithm, A* (pronounced A-star) algorithm and Ant colony algorithm) and find that the Dijkstra algorithm has the shortest run time. Cabreira et al. show examples of path planning for terrain coverage, such as surveillance, smart farming, photogrammetry, disaster management, civil security, and wildfire tracking [256]. Shiri et al [405] show how machine learning (ML) can be used to solve the path planning problem by use of an ML enhanced mean-field game (MFG) model to solve realistic problems including wind disturbances. Dogancay [314] demonstrates a model path planning for drones trying to geolocate an emitter using passive payload sensors. The objective is to generate a sequence of waypoints for each vehicle that minimizes localization uncertainty.

Of course, such research based on idealised mathematical model is hard to validate using realistic conditions.

Schuman has demonstrated how an agent based simulation model can be used to model and compare search and rescue missions and evaluate their metrics [691]. This work was later developed in order to show how agent based simulation can be integrated into the platform design process in order to match platform performance with path planning [690]. This work is continuing using agent-based

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{http://ardupilot.org}$

modelling to evaluate different platform assets undertaking generic missions with simulated weather and stochastic target locations. In general, one of the key research directions at the moment is the development of stochastic agent-based models [215].

Within the EPSRC CASCADE project⁴ a consortium is developing a very detailed and realistic simulation environment to evaluate a future unmanned aircraft traffic scenario with very crowded, stochastic events. The CASCADE team is collaborating with both NATS (National Air Traffic Service) and their Swedish counterpart Luftfartsverket (LFV) and Linköping University. LFV and Linköping have been undertaking air traffic modelling for many years. For example Lundberg et al [532] developed UTM50, an environment that simulates very high-fidelity path modelling and obstacle avoidance. In particular, it demonstrates automated path planning to avoid collisions. UTM50 uses a detailed ground and airspace model and utilises physics-based modelling of platform performance.

7.4.2 A Broader View: General Approaches & Their Potential In Autopilot Design

Path planning is probably the most important function of all mobile robotic systems. In general, the objectives of path planning involve computing collision-free trajectories and ensuring that the robot reaches the goal location in the shortest time possible. Specifically, motion planning involves the following key elements: (i) the start pose of the robot, (ii) the goal of the robot (iii) a model of the robot (iv) a model of the world. Then, we need to find a path that moves the robot from start to goal while never touching any obstacle. Moving a robot in a geometrically defined model of the world requires first defining all the possible ways the robot could move in that space. This is important to define based on the various parts and degrees of freedom of a robot. The set of all possible configurations is typically termed the configuration space or C-Space. If a well defined model of the world is available, the C-space is generated by sliding the robot along the edge of obstacle regions and motion planning can be summarised as the task of finding a continuous path while assuming the robot is simply a point in the C-space.

Network Models

The C-space is typically discretised before path planning algorithms can be used and there are a number of ways in which such planning can be done. For example, the free space available can be discretised into a network and then finding a path simply involves applying combinatorial optimisation algorithms to find the shortest collision-free paths. Examples of such approaches include: Visibility graphs, Voronoi Diagrams, Exact Cell decomposition, and Approximate Cell Decomposition. While providing optimal or quality guarantees, most of these approaches unfortunately do not scale well as the dimensionality of the C-space increases, particularly when robots can have many different moving parts or degrees of freedom, leading to a number of non-linearities and turning C into a non-trivial manifold.

Another class of path planning algorithms involve sampling, whereby collision detection is incrementally used find out where the obstacles and free spaces are and compute a path. Two key techniques are typically applied (i) Probabilistic road maps (PRM) [467] and (ii) Rapidly Exploring Random Trees (RRTs) [506]. Both methods are non-optimal but can compute solutions for high-dimensional C-spaces. PRMs in particular, do not work well for narrow passages and are not complete algorithms (i.e., a solution may not be guaranteed). RRTs instead guarantee a solution but the rate of convergence to a solution may not be determined. In general, such sampling based approaches have been show to be more efficient and are more widely used.

⁴https://cascadeuav.com/

Potential Field Methods

The above approaches focus on a network model of the C-Space and finding a route through a set of nodes. Instead, potential field methods look at the use of forces to direct the motion of a robot with a grid-based representation of the search space. Specifically, obstacles generate repulsive forces while the goal exerts an attractive force. The robot then moves as a particle under the influence of such forces which constitute the potential field. Based on this model, a number of algorithms can be applied to find a collision free path e.g., gradient descent, A^* search, or standard breadth/depth first search methods. The selection of the algorithm typically depends on the amount of information available about the environment. For example, breadth-first search may be used if there is no information about the cost/ benefit of choosing the next best point. If more is known about the benefit of certain cells over others then A^* or D^* may be used.

A particular challenge for robots working in partially known or unknown environments is the fact that obstacles may be detected as the robot navigates the environment. Furthermore, algorithms such as A^{*} do not scale well with large maps. Recent work on path planning for micro-UAVs (MAVs) introduced Receding Horizon Planning [525] which continuously plans trajectories within a safe flight corridor for UAVs. Their technique uses the Joint Point Search technique [409] to reduce the number of points to consider within A^* search [664]. This technique is particularly useful in a uniform cost grid where symmetries can lead to A^{*} evaluating many equivalent states and increase computation time. Other recent works in receding horizon planning include [273, 502, 574, 309, 342] and [555]. All these approaches look to provide collision-free navigation for different kinds of environments. For example, [342] look to build more reactive models that avoid the use of a map and apply probabilistic estimates of obstacles using depth information. Mohta et al. [574] actually demonstrate how systems using receding horizon control could combine a number of sensor feeds (vision, LIDAR, etc) to deliver a working platform that can navigate cluttered environments with no apriori knowledge about the potential obstructions. More recently, Zichao and Scaramuzza [853] proposed a system that could account for uncertainty in perception, thus building solutions that can more robustly estimate the state of the UAV and therefore plan more robust trajectories. While many of these approaches have been demonstrated to work in real-world trials as prototype systems, they are gradually being adopted by many commercial UAV manufacturers. A key driver for adoption is the wide availability of opensource code bases that include many if not all of the algorithms published on path planning under uncertainty.⁵

⁵A simple search on Github.com will reveal many ready-coded algorithms for UAV path planning, camera calibration, and collision avoidance as derived from published papers.

Chapter 8

Artificial Intelligence & Machine Vision

The ability for an autonomous system to think and collaborate independently from human intervention is a key requirement for future autonomous unmanned systems. In previous chapters we have already discussed how researchers are beginning to deploy artificial intelligence and machine learning to improve mission planning, radar and other UAS focused technologies. Artificial intelligence and the related field of machine vision are therefore key technologies and it's important to understand the state of the art in both areas in order to understand the potential benefits to UAS that both might help realise in the future. To that end the following chapter captures the current state of the art in swarm intelligence and swarm robotics as well as advanced recognition systems including computer vision, deep learning, object detection, image segmentation, generative adversarial networks and beyond.

8.1 Swarm Intelligence

Inspired by nature, *Swarm Intelligence* is the study of simple agents operating in large sets that can solve problems by interacting with each other and the environment. One of the benefits of decentralized systems, in general, is that there is no single module capable of affecting or controlling the whole system. Avoiding single points of failure is the main motivation to study agents that operate in a group with decentralized control.

8.1.1 Definition of Swarm Robotics

"A group of non-intelligent robots forming, as a group, an intelligent robot" is called *intelligent* swarm [223]. Throughout this document the term robot swarm refers to the concept defined above as an intelligent swarm. As the definition implies each agent in the swarm is not an intelligent robot but the collective of all agents is intelligent in a way that its behavior is neither predictable nor random [224]. It is not predictable because intelligent robots should have the freedom to choose for any decision and it is not fully random as we assume that its intelligence is not the result of pure random selection. "The study of how large numbers of relatively simple physically embodied agents can be designed such that a desired collective behavior emerges from the local interactions among agents and between the agents and the environment" is called *Swarm Robotics* [668].

8.1.2 Advantages of Swarm Robotics

Robustness is the first advantage of swarm robotics to avoid single points of failure, assuring that the swarm continues to operate even when failures occur in some of the robots. Robustness is the result of:

• Redundancy; if a robot fails, there are other functioning robots that compensate the error.

- Decentralized control; one of the main characteristics of a swarm robotics system is that the robots do not have access to centralized control [241]. Robots interact with each other and with the environment and decide their behavior individually without having a central control unit.
- Simplicity; in swarm robotics, the robots are simple in comparison to single complex robots. The simplicity in the design of the robots helps the designer to easily detect anomalies of robots. Simplicity also helps in decreasing the costs and allows mass production of robots.
- Distributed sensing; the likelihood that the majority of the robots in a swarm have faulty sensor values is quite low making the swarm a robust sensing system as a whole.

Adaptivity is the second advantage of swarm robotics. The swarm is flexible and adapts to changes in the environment or the tasks. It is easier to reconfigure a system that consists of multiple separate modules compared to a large system with tightly coupled components. *Scalability*, as the third advantage, means that scaling the swarm size up or down should not largely interfere in the operation of the system. If the swarm density—the area divided by the swarm size—changes, then a direct impact may be expected on the efficiency of the system [403].

8.1.3 Local Information: Communication and Sensing

Robots interact with each other and with the environment. Interaction between the robots can be implicit or explicit. Explicit communication is a direct transfer of information between robots via a specific channel such as infra-red or Bluetooth. In implicit communication the information is inferred without an explicit engagement in interaction [367]. Robots also get an understanding about their environment using simple sensors (e.g., ambient light sensor) that provide the information needed for mapping robot states to suitable actions. An important characteristic of a swarm robotics system is that robots receive information from a limited range in their neighborhood. Swarm robots can only communicate and sense locally which is a precondition for scalability [241].

8.1.4 Collective Decision-Making

With no agent in charge of decision-making, how does a swarm overcome the chaos and reach a consensus?

Collective decisions are the outcome of competition among individuals for different types of information [356]. The probability of selecting an option raises non-linearly with the number of the individuals that selected the same option [260]. Starting from a random set of options, the positive feedback gradually leads the swarm to a consensus on a decision.

There are many collective decision-making strategies including the local majority rule where every individual obeys the dominant decision in its neighborhood [494]. Different varieties of majority-based decisions are introduced and tested on various robot platforms [767, 769, 768, 325].

8.1.5 Design Challenges

There are two levels in a swarm robotic system: *micro-* and *macro-level*. The micro-level is the level of individual robots and what they perceive, how they act based on their rules, etc. The macro-level is the level of the whole swarm as a group. Reaching from one level to the other might not be trivial. For example, on the macro-level we can define a task for the swarm to move an object in an arena. The design decisions on the level of individual robots (micro-level) may be to let the robots follow a moving light source to accomplish the goal defined on the macro-level [216]. Tasks are defined on macro-level and it is the duty of a designer to find the local control algorithm for individual robots so that the swarm successfully performs an intended task. There are studies that investigate the micro-macro link

but a general approach for relating the features of the two levels stays as a challenge [404, 647, 402]. Another challenge is to understand the sources of a behavior in a swarm. It may often be unclear whether a behavior is caused by an individual robot, several robots independently, or interactions of multiple robots over time.

8.1.6 Swarm Robotics vs Multi-Robot Systems

We should clarify the boundaries of swarm robotics with multi-robot systems. It is not easy to distinguish the two fields by looking at the size of the system. A multi-robot system is a collection of two or more autonomous mobile robots [360] (e.g., soccer playing robots [318]); whereas for the swarm there is no consensus for a certain size among researchers [403], even though the term 'swarm' implies a large number. The difference is in the communication range and relying on local or global information. While in a multi-robot system there can be global information, in swarm robotics the information has to be communicated only in local neighbourhoods. Global communication with non-scalable technologies, such as wireless local area networks, is not allowed in swarm robotics. Any global consensus needs to be the result of local interactions. For instance, there is no access to a global clock for synchronicity in swarm robotics. The swarm has to reach synchronicity through local interactions and information rather than an easy access to a central clock.

8.1.7 Examples of Swarm Robotics Systems

There are a number of examples of swarm robotics systems within the literature. The projects Replicator and Symbrion demonstrated robots crossing a barrier to a charging station [470]. Other examples include the Swarm-bot crossing a gap [577] and the CoCoRo underwater robots [668].

8.1.8 Aerial Robot Swarms

Low cost of production and removal of single point of failure have not created enough motivation for applying swarm robotics into real world applications yet. Despite the interest in using large set of robots, for example in Amazon warehouses [863], the robots are not fully autonomous and they have access to central coordination. An application domain that might bring the missing motivation is using multiple Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs) or aerial robot swarms [284]. Researchers are now studying the challenges that lie ahead of multi-UAV systems. Some of the main challenges are task allocation and planning [513, 351, 734, 624], vision-based state estimation [563], path planning [277, 312, 218], transportation [557] in applications such as disaster management [556, 684, 333, 332], remote sensing [195, 407], and many more.

8.2 Advanced Recognition Systems

UAS platforms are used to recognise targets, obstacles, and scenes in order to carry out its mission to completion, while avoiding collisions, detection (in some cases), and to determine what course of action to take. Latest advances in computer vision systems and multi-sensor fusion techniques will soon enable platforms to orientate and act fully autonomously rather than rely on humans in the loop. In particular, here we cover the latest advances in computer vision and machine learning techniques used in UAS navigation and mission execution.

Detecting and understanding objects captured in images is a key task for UAVs. [490] present one of the earliest system architectures to integrate computer vision and machine learning techniques into a UAV vision system for airborne surveillance system. The typical task involves extracting features from images (sensed from across the electromagnetic spectrum) and determining whether the features can be used to recognise objects of interest. Combined with proximity sensors, GPS, altitude measurements, this can be used to reconstruct scenes in 3D, detect obstacles, and route optimally in an environment. While, [490] use a simple threshold-based technique to detect fires in the wild, [545] proposed an extended Kalman filter (EKF) that performs sensor fusion using GPS and machine vision-based data to support aerial refuelling of a UAV from a tanker. The solution generates accurate measurements of pose, distances between the tanker and the UAV, and the orientation of the two platforms. Corner detection algorithms are applied on images from a digital camera to calculate orientation and positions. Other approaches such as [520] also use lasers for object detection, and RGB image analysis (colour, markers etc..) to detect specific items in live video streams [180].

Applications of UAV vision are increasingly getting more complex, and going beyond taking measurements, raising alerts, or orientating the UAV. Indeed, applications will increasingly need higher degrees of intelligence that can capture the *meaning* or *semantics* of the scene around a UAV (e.g., as perceived through one or many sensors). In this vein, many new approaches based on Machine Learning (ML), and in particular, efficient Deep Learning algorithms based on GANs (generative adversarial networks) [375] and transfer learning, are being developed to provide on-board vision capabilities [568, 544, 774]. In the next section, we delve into more detail on the specific use of deep learning for computer vision.

8.2.1 Computer Vision & Deep Learning

In recent years, the state of the art in computer vision has become very tightly coupled with deep learning. Deep learning allows models to encompass several layers of abstraction; for computer vision this means the shallow learning of edges and textures which can be interpreted by models as human-recognisable concepts such as cars and faces. The rise of deep learning is due in part to the increased accessibility of large labelled datasets (essential for the training of deep neural networks), and improvements in computing power, notably the transfer from CPUs to GPUs, providing significant improvements in the speed at which large models can be trained [787].

The shift from traditional computer vision to the modern era of deep learning powered computer vision is best captured by the progress in the ImageNet competition (a very large dataset for visual object recognition, consisting of more than 14 million images across over 20,000 categories). In the 2012 iteration of the competition, a deep convolutional neural network (CNN) won with an error rate of 15.3% compared to the 26.2% achieved by the second-best entry - a staggering result for the time that arguably marks the start of the deep learning revolution [495]. The ImageNet Competition focused on the classification of images - assigning specific images into distinct classes, with the main target of the models being accuracy of classification. The use of deep learning within computer vision has now branched out into several other areas and we elaborate on the state of the art in the following sections.

8.2.2 Object Detection

The process of object detection encapsulates image classification but with localisation of objects, i.e. identifying objects within an image and providing a *bounding box* that surrounds the object in question. This can be extended to locating several objects within an image, with differing sizes and classes. Object detection is applicable in many domains, such as facial detection [830] and autonomous driving [275], and it is closely linked to further computer vision tasks such as segmentation and scene understanding. The persisting framework for object detection is to provide a *sliding window* over an image that finds regions of interest that may be applicable for image classification (covering both multiple scales and aspect rations), however recent efforts have investigated avoiding an exhaustive search over the entire image by using deep learning [523] with some promising results.

8.2.3 Image Segmentation

The goal of image segmentation algorithms is to assign pixels into semantic groups. Its extension beyond generic object detection with bounding boxes is two-fold: segmentation aims to provide much finer detection of objects in the image, but can also segment unknown categories (i.e. segmenting but not labelling) [396]. In a similar vein to image classification tasks, deep learning has rendered traditional methods of image segmentation (such as edge detection and clustering) obsolete, with many of the current stage of the art algorithms using variations on CNNs. For a comparison of object classification, detection and segmentation, see Figure 8.1.

Image segmentation also provides the foundation for multi-object tracking and object instance segmentation. This allows models to deal with several objects of the same class that overlap within an image, e.g. identifying individuals within a crowd as distinct objects rather than a single human group [785]. Deep learning for image segmentation has been applied heavily in medical image analysis, where it plays an important role in clinical diagnosis [501, 445, 573].



(c) Semantic Segmentation

(d) Object Instance Segmetation

Figure 8.1: A comparison of computer vision applications for object recognition and localisation (from [523]). Note the improvement from (b) to (c): generic object detection suffers from an overlap of bounding boxes, but semantic segmentation does not.

8.2.4 Generative Adversarial Networks

A generative model is one that learns the underlying representation of a dataset such that in can produce new, unique data points that are similar to other elements of the dataset. For example, it is possible to create photorealistic images of fake celebrities by training a generative model against a dataset of real celebrities [463]. The most prominent generative methods within deep learning use generative adversarial networks (GANs). In this method, two networks are trained simultaneously, with one generating new images and the other attempting to discriminate if the images are real or fake [376]. Both networks learn simultaneously, resulting in a generator network that can produce new data that is indistinguishable from the original data.

GANs have been utilised for a diverse range of tasks within computer vision. Super resolution is the process of producing a high resolution image from a low resolution one, such that elements like

texture detail are not lost at high upscaling factors; recent research has successfully used GANs to provide start of the art results [508]. An additional use of GANs is image-to-image translation, where a target image is converted to an image of another type, for example translating line drawings to fully rendered images or converting satellite images to maps [860]. For UAV or multi-UAV systems, this capability can be particularly useful in generating maps of a given area on-the-fly for human operators to update their missions or for the UAVS to coordinate their movements. The wide applicability of GANs is due to the deeper understanding they provide of the target dataset, allowing better semantic understanding of the relationships in the data.

8.2.5 Beyond Computer Vision

The area of computer vision does not stand on its own within deep learning. By combining the state of the art deep learning methods for computer vision with other areas of machine learning, it is possible to create even more powerful systems with wider applications. One such related area is natural language processing (NLP) - the family of techniques for understanding human language. When used in conjunction with NLP, computer vision can be applied to tasks such as image captioning [838], visual question answering [858], and text to image generation [819]. Going further, NLP can be used to support voice-based interactions between UAVs and their human counterparts. In Chapter 10 we elaborate on the variety of interaction modalities that are being explored.

Chapter 9

Protection Technologies

Protection technologies mitigate against known or anticipated threats, either to the UAS itself, or to the mission it is executing, and need to evolve as threats change and new threats appear. For UAS, protection technologies may be roughly classified under avoidance, mitigation and redundancy.

Avoidance, or stealth, attempts to reduce the likelihood that the UAS will be detected so that there is no attempt to actively interfere with the platform or mission; mitigation encompasses steps that can be taken to reduce or eliminate the effect of actual interference with the platform or mission, while redundancy attempts to reduce the effect of the threat by distributing essential functionality to avoid single points of failure. There is, of course, overlap between these approaches and successful protection probably uses several together, depending on a risk evaluation.

The following chapter reviews the state of the art in each of these three areas. Mitigation against electromagnetic interference e.g. jamming, spoofing and EMP is considered, followed by avoidance through signature reduction methods. Finally, redundancy is addressed, including through the use of swarms of unmanned systems.

9.1 Electromagnetic Interference

Electromagnetic interference (EMI), either accidental or deliberate, is probably the most common non-physical threat to the operation of UAS. EMI may affect either the navigation, communication or payload systems of the UAS, resulting in a range of effects from mission degradation to compete platform loss.

EMI can affect any electronic component in a system. EMI is a well understood discipline of electronic engineering, and any UAS subsystem that is expected to operate in an adverse EM environment should combine best practice EMI compatible design and physical shielding [263] [320]. EM shielding uses conductive enclosures to prevent radiation reaching susceptible components; this becomes difficult when complex shapes, or apertures are required.

Research is ongoing into new materials that provide robust shielding against EMI while being lighter and stronger than existing ones; Singh et al provide a good overview of work in this area [719]. Other materials that might be useful include graphene, and composites of graphene and related nano-carbons [442]. When EMI shielding materials are used as major structural elements, they may also help reduce the radar signature of the platform [630] [673].

When the EMI is affecting systems that are intended to receive RF energy, protection becomes more complicated.

BACKGROUND NOTES

JAMMING AND SPOOFING

Jamming describes the situation where relatively high powered electromagnetic signals interfere with the operation of the platform by saturating a receiver, preventing the detection of desired RF signals. Complete saturation is not necessary to cause problems, as any unwanted signal will increase the receiver noise and consequently the Bit Error Rate (BER) which in turn will reduce the effective data rate, potentially to zero. Jamming may be accidental or deliberate. Platforms with multiple RF systems require careful 'co-site' design in order to avoid jamming themselves [728]. The effect of jamming depends on how the platform is designed to behave when control and navigation signals are lost.

Spoofing is a deliberate attack on a target receiver, with the aim of causing the receiver to decode and act upon incorrect information. Spoofing is a particular concern for radio navigation systems where the signal at the receiver is very small, and can be overwhelmed by a locally generated signal which, when decoded, results in incorrect position information. Whereas jamming a global navigation satellite system (GNSS) signal can result in incorrect position information, spoofing can control what that incorrect position information is – effectively taking navigational control of the platform.

9.1.1 Jamming

Spread-spectrum RF systems are widespread as a countermeasure to jamming. Spread spectrum RF distributes the transmit energy across considerably wider bandwidth than required by the underlying data rates [861]. The two main spread spectrum techniques in current use are frequency-hopping and direct sequence.

Frequency hopping, as the name suggests, rapidly 'hops' a narrowband RF signal around in a bandwidth several orders of magnitude larger, according to a key-generated sequence [428]. This technique loses a small amount of RF energy when individual hops coincide with jamming signals, but the underlying assumption is that most signal energy will be received, and lost elements can be recovered using error correction.

Direct sequence spread spectrum (DSSS) modulates the narrowband data sequence with a pseudorandom spreading code sequence with a bit rate orders of magnitude greater than the data rate [861, 472]. The signal can be recovered by demodulating with the same spreading code sequence. In this case the signal energy is present across the full spreading bandwidth at all times, but only a tiny fraction should be lost to narrow band interfering signals, degrading receiver the signal to noise ratio slightly.

Ultra-wideband systems spread signal energy across a large part of the RF spectrum (significantly more than the spread spectrum systems discussed above) [310]. These systems tend to be very short range, as they use low transmit power in order not to interfere with other RF systems, and are capable of relatively high data rates. Reed [644] provides a good introduction to ultra-wideband systems. The non-interfering design of ultra-wideband systems means that it is also difficult to detect and jam these systems.

Spread spectrum and ultra-wideband RF systems are also used in applications where many transmitters are operating in close proximity, and rely on the low probability that two transmitters will share a frequency when operating with different sequence codes (frequency-hopping), or that a DSSS signal demodulated with the wrong spreading code appears as low level noise against the high level desired signal. Frequency hopping is central to the Bluetooth system [235], while DSSS (described as Code Division Multiple Access, or CDMA) is used in UMTS 3G mobile telephony data networks [565], and GNSS positioning systems [504].

Frequency hopping is used in some military systems where deliberate jamming is anticipated [248], such Link16 with the US forces [88], [766]. It is noted that deliberate jamming technology is also developing (see for example, Zhang on a technique to identify the modulation used by low probability of intercept signals [848]), so there is a de facto arms race between jamming and jamming resistant technology (see Grover for a recent summary of jamming techniques and countermeasures [393]).

Free-space optics [178], has been proposed as a jamming-proof short-range communications option which uses modulated lasers to transmit data. For relatively long-ranges (100s of metres) these systems are highly directional and relatively large, requiring optical structures with accurate pointing maintained between transmitter and receiver. For very short range (10 metres) infrared wireless network systems using the Infrared Data Association (IrDA) protocols may be an option [34]. Free-space optical systems can be susceptible to local environmental conditions, being affected by water vapour and dust, for example.

9.1.2 GNSS jamming

GNSS receivers are particularly susceptible to jamming, either deliberate or accidental, because the receive signal is very low power so that the necessarily sensitive receiver is easy to saturate. The vulnerability of GNSS systems was described in detail by Volpe in 2001 [89].

Whilst illegal, it is easy to purchase a small GNSS jammer (for 'personal' use) for around \$100 [90] and such devices have been implicated in major service outages at airports [91].

Volpe [89] recommended that the Loran terrestrial positioning systems be retained as a backup position and time source. Loran works with high power signals in a different frequency band (100 kHz centre frequency) to GNSS, but the support for the infrastructure is still patchy and the receive equipment is still rather large compared to GNSS. GPS World discussed the state of Loran and its applications in 2015 [92].

The main countermeasure to GNSS Jamming is the use of controlled radiation pattern antennas (CRPA) which use multiple receive elements to create nulls in the antenna radiation pattern, steered in the direction of the interference source [93]. Recent developments additionally steer high-gain radiation-pattern beams in the direction of individual satellites, providing even better jammer rejection[129].

While somewhat effective, CPRA require comparatively large antenna structures (for the element spacing necessary to generate the required radiation patterns) and intensive signal processing to detect and track the interfering signals. As such, CPRA antennas are usually only found on larger platforms where space and power are not a big problem (see the IAI ADA products for example [94]).

Although current CPRA antennas are large, there is some hope that metamaterial antennas [389] [181] may be able to cheaply implement large arrays of antenna elements that could be incorporated into UAS structures such as wings, while continuing improvements in signal processing hardware will allow the required processing to be feasible for small platforms.

There is significant research into signal processing approaches to interference mitigation for GNSS systems (for example Amin [183]) and Inside GNSS has a good overview from 2017 [95], but these all require at least a workable amount of signal to be received, something which cannot be guaranteed, especially against deliberate jamming.

The deployment of new space-based satellite constellations such as Iridium, which provide a positioning signal, means that in future there could be a diversity of positioning signals on different frequencies available [96]; however, the signals will still be small at the receiver so deliberate jamming would be straightforward. Loran, and its variants, might also be used to diversify positioning sources and increase resilience [92]. An alternative 'protection' against GNSS jamming is to fuse together data from a range of sensors e.g. optical, radar, IMU, altimeter and avionics sensors in order to generate reliable odometry.

9.1.3 Spoofing

Spoofing describes the situation where an attacker causes a target to receive, and act on, a signal other than the one the target desired. The attacker effectively impersonates the desired signal to gain some control over the target.

The main defence against spoofing is signal authentication [182], which is usually implemented using cryptographic techniques. In many communications systems, especially wireless systems, data encryption is commonplace and serves protect the message content being observed by eavesdroppers [688, 336]. When data is encrypted in a closed membership network, correct cryptographic key management and distribution is sufficient to authenticate a signal – the encryption protects the data content, and the fact it was encrypted with the correct key authenticates the transmission.

Spoofing of GNSS signals is particularly concerning. Although some GNSS signals are encrypted [206], access to receivers capable of decrypting these signals, particularly the GPS M-code, is restricted. Most systems relying on GNSS today, and for the foreseeable future, use unencrypted positioning signals.

Spoofing of GNSS was demonstrated in 2012 at the University of Texas Austin [97]. Since then, there have been several incidents which implicate Russia in spoofing incidents against shipping around its border [98], and some speculation that the loss of a drone in the Middle East was due to a spoofing attack by Iran [99].

GNSS spoofing is difficult to prevent but the techniques described to protect against jamming are applicable. There is active research into detecting the existence of spoofing signals in real time (for example Psiaki [628]) although some of these approaches require additional antennas, special receiver hardware or additional sensors, such as IMUs [742] [743].

9.1.4 Electromagnetic Pulse

Electromagnetic pulses (EMP) are extreme events where short, wideband and very high energy pulses (potentially produced by nuclear explosion or solar flares) are produced. Protection against EMP is always at best partial, and usually focused on survivability, resilience and recovery. The guidelines from the US National Coordinating Center for Communications (NCC) are probably the best available overview of this EMI threat [100].

9.2 Signature Reduction

Technologies and techniques that reduce the visibility of a platform are referred to as signature reduction, and sometimes by the more popular 'stealth technology' (Samso [673]). Stealth usually refers to radar but also covers optical (camouflage), acoustic (damping) and thermal (shielding) visibility. The principles of signature reduction in platform design are well described by Zikidis et al [862].

Radar signature reduction uses a combination of techniques to design a platform which has a minimal, or misleading, radar return. Kumar and Vadera [496] describe materials that contribute to small radar returns while Qin and Brosseau [630] focus on microwave absorbing carbon composite materials. Graphene (and other forms of molecular carbon) is being investigated as a constituent of microwave absorbent materials by Munir [584], among others.

Plasma layers created around the platform absorb and re-radiate incident RF energy which makes them a potentially interesting stealth technology. Singh et al discuss the theoretical principles involved in plasma radar cross-section reduction [721], although it is not clear whether the engineering for practical application is close to being ready yet. Metamaterials [101] are of interest because it seems possible that they can be fabricated as structural components of the platform while designed to actively disperse incident microwave energy (a bit like an inverse antenna) [331] [181]. Laboratory experiments have suggested that metamaterials can become completely transparent to microwaves, shielding anything within the metamaterial structure [269]. While exciting, such shielding technology is far from practical and only works at very narrow frequency ranges [752].

While stealth technologies are being applied, and continue to develop, there is concern that radar technology is outpacing them too fast for the more expensive approaches to enter widespread use. Passive radar techniques in particular appear capable of defeating the state-of-the-art airborne stealth platforms quite cheaply [804], while there is speculation that, should it be practical, quantum radar will also defeat stealth technologies [777].

When considering physical protection, a range of airborne countermeasures, such as flares and decoys, are used by military and some civil aircraft (for example the Saab CAMPS systems [102]). These are probably too large for use by smaller UAS, but may be appropriate for larger platforms.

9.3 Redundancies

Redundancy, where important functionality is implemented multiple times, is a core principle of safetycritical systems, including avionics systems. As platform size reduces, the ability to provide redundancy is restricted by size and power constraints. Redundancy on UAS has been addressed by Hiergeist [420] and Duan [319] among others.

One topic that is attracting attention is how to maintain safety-critical performance as the aviation industry moves towards integrated modular avionics subsystems [614] and increased software functionality [421]. These concerns are equally relevant to UAS.

9.3.1 Swarms

There are many good reasons for using swarms [459], including providing sensor arrays and data fusion platforms. In the context of protection, a large number of relatively low cost UAS provide mission redundancy – the ability of the swarm to withstand a large amount of individual unit loss while still achieving the mission aims.

In this sense, redundancy is the opposite of protection: defences are overcome by attrition rather than stealth with low cost [103], possibly improvised payloads [539]. There is an argument that the 2019 attacks on Saudi Arabia oil refineries meets this low-cost, improvised payload UAS swarm scenario [192], even if there were no significant air defences systems to be overcome.

Chapter 10

Collaborative Robotics & Human-Machine Teaming

No matter the form that a future UAS may take, a requirement that will never go away is the need for interaction on some level with humans. Predominantly this interaction takes the form of an instruction which defines a task or mission for the system to perform. However, other forms of interaction also exist, for example, where humans and machines collaborate to complete a mission. A thorough understanding of the current research in this area is therefore necessary in order to predict the possible future directions that human machine interactions may take.

The following section begins by reviewing the current state of the art in human-UAS interactions considering, for example, gesture, voice and brain-computer interfaces. This is followed by a comprehensive review of the state of the art in collaborative robotics and human-machine teaming.

10.1 Interaction Modalities

The traditional mode of interaction with UAVs (whether rotor-based or fixed wing systems) have focused on the use of joy sticks for granular manipulation and way-point-based routing through ground control stations. In recent years a number of approaches have emerged that attempt to provide other ways to interact with UAVs, for example, using speech, hand or body gestures, or virtual reality-based approaches. There are a number of circumstances where such interaction modalities could prove to be more useful than using joysticks or touch screens:

- Freeing a pair of hands (holding an RC-controller) or just one hand allows an operator to do more tasks.
- When operating in communication denied settings, visual or audio-based methods of interaction become more valuable in close-range interactions (i.e., human operator and UAV are co-located).
- High-level voice-based directives (e.g., move to a safe area, or take a picture of the target) are better undertaken by the UAV with minimal intervention, leaving the human to focus on other tasks.

In this respect, a number of approaches have been proposed in the last few years. We first focus on interaction modalities that are non-invasive (e.g., gesture, voice) and then go on to survey advances in brain-computer interface research.

10.1.1 Gesture & Voice

For example, Shan et al [701] develop a gesture-based interaction modality for collocated flying robots and drawing upon methods used in falconeering. [585] focus on localising human operators and detecting specific hand gestures. Both approaches were demonstrated to work on Parrot AR Drones using the onboard cameras. Pfeil et al. [620] show how upper body 3D spatial interaction metaphors for control and communication with Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV). They carry out a study using Parrot AR Drone and Microsoft Kinect. They use a number of metaphors (i) first-person interaction where the user acts like a winged aircraft, (ii) a game controller metaphor where the hands mimic the movement of a joystick (iii) proxy manipulation where the user manipulates the UAV as if they were holding it, and (iv) a pointing metaphor in a similar vein to falconeering. Cauchard et al [266] followed up with a Wizard-of-Oz elicitation study that informs how to naturally interact with UAV and they show that gesturing tends to be a natural way to express specific instructions (e.g., start, stop, move closer). Body gestures are the least preferred mode, particularly because of the exhaustion they can cause and the variability in pose across different operators. In general, these gesture based approaches rely on very accurate detection of gestures, that can adapt to different operators' hand or body movements. This places significant constraints on the environments within which such interaction modalities can be used, which, more recently has pushed researchers to look at multi-modal interactions with UAVs. In this vein, Abioye et al. [163] introduced multi-modal interactions with UAVs whereby speech and hand gestures could be used to manipulate a UAV. Their system was shown to be more robust to environmental conditions such as low light conditions which would affect the gesture recognition system. Voice-based directives are also demonstrated to be particularly useful in issuing high level commands under the assumption that UAV is able to automatically avoid obstacles and guarantee safety around it.

Costantini et al [287], go further to consider emotional exchange through different channels: face muscles, body posture, voice modulation, skin responses, odors, etc. They show how a number of these channels can be measured using wearable sensors. This results in a system that is more empathetic to human needs and stress levels. This 'empathetic' aspect of interaction modalities is key if we are to deploy large swarms of UAVs while minimising cognitive workload (as we will see in Section 10.2. In particular, it is important to design systems that can adapt their input modalities (or feedback) based on the mental state of the human collaborators. In this respect, in the next section, we review work on brain-computer interfaces which have shown some promising results.

10.1.2 Brain-Computer Interfaces

Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) rely on neuroimaging technologies such as the Electroencephalogram or Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (FNIRS), to help assess cognitive and motivational states of human operators. FNIRs in particular has been shown to be particularly appropriate given its low cost and being non-invasive (requiring only a light headband in some applications).

Several works have demonstrated that neurophysiological variables can be good indicators of cognitive activity [612, 806]. Going beyond providing measurements of cognitive workload, spatial working memory and other brain functions [196], BCIs provide an exciting opportunity for human-machine collaboration by virtue of being able to recognise when both cognitive workload levels and human intent. In particular, in the past, BCIs have focused on systems that help those suffering from neuromuscular disorders resulting, for example, in locked-in syndrome [627]. Typical applications include the virtual keyboard and the P300 speller [267]. However, BCI technologies are likely to make a significant impact in more advanced real-time brain-controlled robotic systems. Some of the most common applications include robotic wheelchairs and exoskeletons in the health domain. In the same vein, due to the high cognitive workload faced by UAV operators, BCIs are being developed to help reduce operator workload and drive systems with low operator to vehicle ratios. BCI interfaces are still in their infancy and research is being done in order to determine both the neurological measurements that can be used for robotic control and interaction mechanisms that support smooth interactions between humans and autonomous agents, depending on the architecture adopted (e.g., man-in-the-loop v/s man-on-the-loop).

A BCI is particularly useful for high-level control elements (e.g., routing, adjusting course, choosing targets) rather than having direct control over inner-loop elements that involve fine grained navigation parameters. In particular, the interpretation of commands via a user-interface powered by a machine learning system (that interprets signals from a BCI) plays a central role in the control loop. BCIs could be complemented by other wearable technologies such as eye-tracking, or gesture recognition (see previous section).

The challenge in designing BCIs for UAV or multi-UAV control requires an understanding of biomarkers used by different BCI technologies. These biomarkers can effectively be categorised in terms of 'evoked' or 'induced' potentials. Evoked potentials are those that are generated by external stimulus. All other biomarkers are induced potentials. Recognising the difference between the two can be difficult and requires significant amount of training of machine learning algorithms to ascribe intent to specific biomarkers. For example, most evoked potentials are shown to be linear in behaviour, have short peaks, and are consistent across subjects while induced potentials tend to be non-linear, have shorter peaks, and are subject-specific [598]. These can result in poor performance of BCIs, particularly in the UAV control domain. As a result, there has been a push to create hybrid systems that couple BCIs with other wearable technologies as well as autonomous decision-making, effectively using other ways of transferring information between humans and machines, while also providing more options to confirm or reinforce control actions predicted by other sensors.

10.2 Collaborative Robotics & Human-Machine Teaming

Man-machine collaboration has been a growing area of research since the seminal work of Sheridan in the 1960s [337] and more recently by Goodrich et al. [378]. The latest reviews by Miri et al. [570] and [763] have summarised some of the main open issues and challenges relating to collaborative robotics, human machine teaming, with emphasis on the manufacturing/production environment. In relation to human-swarm interaction, Kolling et al. [487] provide a deep survey of swarming approaches and the interactional issues they raise. We elaborate on these in what follows, as well as new approaches developed for human-machine collaboration to manage multi-robot teams.

10.2.1 Interacting With Multiple Robots

Indeed, [602] provide a framework to study interactions with multi-robot systems. Interactions in such settings tend to break down as follows, where each takes a portion of time:

- 1. Robot Monitoring and Selection assess the state of each robot and deciding which one to monitor or control.
- 2. Context Switching when shifting attention to another robot, the user must understand the context within which the robot is deployed and the goals it is trying to achieve.
- 3. Problem Solving working either on her own or with decision support aids, the user must plan paths or decide on the next best steps for the robot.
- 4. Command Expression the user may need to manipulate the robot in case it has a low level of autonomy or give it a high level set of goals to achieve in case it has high levels of autonomy.

The total time dedicated to all these activities form part of what [602] call the *interaction time* which, along with *activity time* (i.e., the amount of time the robot does its work), help define the concept of Fan-Out. Fan-Out is a ratio of activity time to interaction time and is effectively a measure of how much human attention is useful in helping all the robots accomplishing their mission. A high interaction time and a low activity time would lead to a low Fan-Out measure, indicating the human may be quickly overloaded. The Fan-Out model can be a good method to measure the effectiveness of human-machine teaming in terms of a cognitive complexity measure but can be difficult to use to design new systems as it only provides clues as to where the key interactional challenges might be without explicitly revealing the causes.

To reduce interaction time while still providing some level of control to the user, Miller et al., [567] develop a 'Playbook' of tasks for automated agents to perform when faced with certain situations (upon request from human controllers). Similar to a football team, the robots try to match the context they find themselves in with an appropriate plan that involves actions for each individual member of the team. Once they complete their tasks, another play is selected depending on the state reached. Such an approach is commonly used in defence settings (for human teams) to simplify the planning process and define predictable behaviours. In a similar vein, [377] study how different levels of autonomy (as per [706]) given to teams of agents can impact on performance and workload. Specifically, they show that reliance on team autonomy (i.e., a team allocates tasks amongst its members independently of human control) results in neglect from the operator though it reduces workload. Hence, they suggest there should be shifts between different levels of autonomy as per the requirements of the tasks.

Cummings et al. [291] evaluate a mixed-initiative system with a single pilot and with an auctionbased task allocation scheme. However, they focused on how *often* an operator should be asked to re-plan, and through a set of lab studies, show that operator performance with too many frequent re-planning requests. Tasks are generally specified and the UAVs (acting as bidding agents) create allocations of tasks by themselves based on the context (e.g., position of UAVs and tasks) and can offer to the pilot to replan (by applying the task schedule offered or constructing one manually, or adjusting the one offered.

While the above solutions typically experiment with a team of UAV operators at a single location, Franchi et al. [343] instead develop a control framework to allow a group of UAVs to be controlled by two groups of operators. Their framework is shown to allow for decentralized topological motion control which effectively ensures the UAVs have coordinated trajectories. Furthermore, they show how autonomy can be adjusted based on the tasks faced by the team of UAVs. They also consider how individual UAVs can be Finally they show how force-feedback can be used to improve the telepresence of the human assistants. Specifically they show how haptic cues can be used to indicate UAV behaviour.

Finally, Ramchurn et al. [637] present a study of human-machine collaboration whereby a swarm of UAVs need to be controlled by only two commanders to carry out search and rescue missions. They demonstrate how multi-agent coordination algorithms can be used to recommend efficient routes for sets of UAVs (where their capabilities may be complentary), particularly in situations where UAVs may drop out or new tasks are discovered. They show that significant challenges remain in translating human intent into plans that can be assimilated and executed by such multi-agent techniques. They also show that interfaces designed to support human-machine collaboration need to be designed to be more responsive to operators' cognitive workload and task focus. While their scenario is limited to no more than 5 UAVs, their conclusions can be extended to robot swarm systems which, in addition to workload challenges, also imply many more control challenges as we see next.

10.2.2 Human-Swarm Interaction

Swarm robotics originate from research in bio-inspired computation. In an attempt to recreate the highly resilient behaviours that exist in nature, researchers have developed a number of swarming

models: (i) using computational models of animal or insect behaviours (e.g., flocks of birds, or groups of ants) (ii) physics inspired models [782] or (iii) control theory driven [361]. The typical swarm characteristics include short range communication, use of simple decision rules rather than explicit communication, and high scalability. A typical metric of performance of a swarm is Neglect Tolerance [290], whereby a robot's performance degrades if the robot not monitored for some time (i.e., neglect time). Along with this, a measure of the time of interaction and frequency of such interactions can be used to measure the workload of swarm operators.

Models of interactions with a swarm have focused on minimising the number of operations required to manipulate members of the swarm. Specifically, a key goal is to ensure that swarms reduce the interaction to specifying a few parameters or goals that does not grow with the number of agents n (i.e., O(k) where $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ rather than O(n)). This is different to interactions with multi-robot systems where supervisory control is used and can be much more complex (e.g., manipulate individual limbs of a robot or orientate a camera for a specific robot). This is particularly harder in the context of human-swarm interactions due to the added complexity of swarm behaviours and interaction modalities. Kolling et al. [487] summarize key approaches that have been proposed to interact with swarms as follows:

- 1. Switching or optimising the swarming algorithm to use: a swarm may use a number of models (bio-inspired foraging models or flocking behaviours, or even leader follower behaviours) and the operator may choose to switch between them depending on the needs of a task.
- 2. Parameter adjustment: this involves tuning a given swarm algorithm (E.g., reducing the speed of the robots, or increasing the frequency of communication).
- 3. Environmental influence: this may involve adding constraints on passable areas or pheromone trails that decay over time to induce adaptive changes.
- 4. Leader-follower manipulation: picking a specific robot and driving its behaviour with either explicit (where others are meant to follow it) or implicit (where others do not know it's a leader) impacts on the behaviour of the swarm.

These different approaches can be difficult to design using traditional models of supervisory control or teaming as proposed by [337] or the PACT framework [623]. Indeed, traditional human-machine interaction principles can be difficult to translate to a multi-robot setting or swarm settings due to the emergent nature of behaviours resulting from coordination between robots or swarming algorithms used. In particular, the communication restrictions, the complexity of the robot states and their joint beliefs, as well as those of their human counterparts can present significant challenges for engineers to design systems of humans and machines that work in a predictable way.

In terms of UAV control, the seminal work by [515] developed and trialled interfaces to help operators interact with large numbers of UAVs (hundreds). The platform is tested with experts and is shown to reduce the workload of operators by automating target detection, (re) planning through a set of user-friendly widgets.d Bertuccelli et al. [228] instead, developed operators models for UAV control and, under simulations, study the performance of their 'human-in-the-loop' algorithms whereby operators are unreliable detectors and the algorithm may not perform well in search tasks. In [229] they experiment with re-queuing models for visual search tasks and help reduce operator performance drops. In a non-UAV setting, Kolling et al. [487] develop an interface for human-swarm interactions (for different models of swarms including bio-inspired). They identify two types of interactions: (i) Proximal interaction: centralised control by a human. They go on to discussing the challenges of state estimation and visualisation, based on which a swarm can then be controlled by one or multiple operators (e.g., allowing them to select different algorithms or setting different parameters or even directly influencing their environment).

10.2.3 Human-Machine Teaming

In this section, we focus on human-machine teams where there are may be more than one human and more than one machine in the team (i.e., a team of three or more). To conceptualise such teams, Jennings et al. [450] proposed the paradigm of Human-Agent Collectives (HACs), systems involving humans and machines working in partnership, where neither human nor machine may always be in control or be willing to collaborate (i.e., there may be self-interested parties involved). They define four key aspects of HACs: (i) Flexible Autonomy: control may shift between humans and machines according to the needs of the situation (ii) Agile Teaming: teams of humans and machines may form and disband over time and interactional arrangements between them may also change (iii) Incentive Engineering: incentives may need to be provided to co-opt rather than coerce actors into working for the benefit of the whole team (iv) Accountable Information Infrastructure: the data generated by individual actors and decisions made are tracked and audited to guarantee the system is working correctly and safely. This framework can be used to characterise large systems of humans and machines and ensure that teaming, control, incentive, and accountability elements are factored in the design.

Specifically, work on HACs has led to a number of advances in human-machine teaming, focusing on planning support for emergency response teams [811, 638, 636]. Although there is much literature dealing with planning support, task assignment, and human-agent collaboration, very few real world studies of how human teams actually handle agent support have been carried out. For example, [807] propose a framework for humans to monitor large teams of agents and robots, but they ignore the interactional challenges when such teams need to work in different interactional arrangements (e.g., agent as commander or team member). Work by [683] and [692], focuses on humans acting as peers to agents in computational simulations rather than real-world deployments in the field. In addition, many multi-agent coordination algorithms have the potential to be applied to support task assignment of responder teams. Indeed, work by Tambe et al. [748, 303] has shown how humans may be able to implement plans computed as solutions to a Stackelberg game. While their solutions have been deployed with various human teams (e.g., guards at Los Angeles airport or security teams in the Boston/New York/LA harbours), they do not consider how such plans can be generated in real-time in collaboration with humans (i.e., taking into account human input dynamically) nor do they study how humans react to plans suggested by planning agents. Controlled experiments designed by the Human Factors community have sought to identify key aspects of human-agent collaboration [240, 587, 735, 788], propose transfer-of-control policies to shift control between humans and agents [682], and evaluate strategies of agent support for human teams [514].

Ramchurn et al. [640] built upon such results and developed an initial prototype [639] of a humanagent collaboration interface for field responders. In that prototype, a human commander worked with an agent-based planner (using decision-theoretic multi-agent planning algorithms) to deliver instructions to players of a mixed-reality disaster response game. The *interactional arrangement* between the human commander and the agent-based planner was such that the agent took control of which instructions to send to field responders on the ground. Results of field trials of the system showed that field responders on the ground were not always compliant with instructions sent to them as the agent was not aware of their level of tiredness, their preferences for tasks, or their preference to work with specific team-mates.

In [638] they go on to develop a new version of the planning interface that provides better control to the human commander and people on the ground. As such, the interface allows for a less rigid collaboration model, in the use of the autonomous planning agent to suggest plans that can be refined by the humans. This is further evaluate with both experts and non-experts in field trials to determine its effectiveness. Building upon this, in [811] and [174], an algorithm and a platform are specifically designed for the deployment of humans and UAVs working in collaboration. Their results show that the algorithm is able to efficiently recover targets from a dangerous environment by ensuring that UAVs

identify threats lying ahead of paths taken by emergency responders. The platform then demonstrates how such a system can be deployed in the field with non-expert users in limited scenarios. They also do not evaluate the performance of human teams in terms of cognitive workload.

Bibliography

- [1] https://cordis.europa.eu/project/rcn/104265/factsheet/en. Accessed on 9 Oct 2019.
- [2] https://www.dsiac.org/resources/news/darpas-icarus-vapr-programs-develop -vanishing-polymer-materials-air-delivery-vehicles. Accessed on 28 Oct 2019.
- [3] https://www.wired.com/2017/02/brilliant-drone-thatll-deliver-medicine-rot-away/. Accessed on 28 Oct 2019.
- [4] Bureau d'enqueues et d'Analyses pour la security de l'aviation civile, Events Associated with an Engine Malfunction Thielert TAE 125 Engines. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [5] https://www.wired.com/2012/06/grey-eagle/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [6] https://techcrunch.com/2019/07/12/naval-veteran-aluminum-air-metalectrique/. Accessed on 28 Oct 2019.
- [7] https://www.avinc.com/resources/press-releases/view/aerovironments_stratospheric _global_observer_unmanned_aircraft_system_makes. Accessed: 22 Sep 2019.
- [8] https://www.avinc.com/resources/press-releases/view/aerovironment_Global_Observer __experiences_mishap_during_extended_duration_f. Accessed: 22 Sep 2019.
- [9] https://www.unmannedsystemstechnology.com/2016/02/ cella-energy-solid-hydrogen-fuelled-uav-completes-first-flight/. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [10] https://www.darpa.mil/about-us/timeline/autonomous-highaltitude-refueling. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [11] https://www.suasnews.com/2019/08/ skysense-announcing-new-high-power-outdoor-charging-pad/. Accessed: 24 Sep 2019.
- [12] https://www.nasa.gov/directorates/spacetech/centennial
 _challenges/after_challenge/lasermotive.html. Accessed: 21 Aug 2019.
- [13] https://www.lockheedmartin.com/en-us/products/sharkfin.html.
- [14] https://news.lockheedmartin.com/2018-09-17-Lockheed-Martin-Introduces-Mission-Planning-System-That-Connects-Systems-and-Assets-Across-Domain.
- [15] https://www.dreamhammer.com/.
- [16] https://www.gsa.europa.eu/system/files/reports/ gnss_user_technology_report_webb.pdf/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.

- [17] https://rntfnd.org/2018/06/08/s-korea-to-use-eloran-for-autonomous-vehicles-drones/. Accessed: 13 August 2019.
- [18] http://rntfnd.org/2015/12/11/pnt-excom-backs-eLoran-as-a-step-to-full-gps-backup-system/. Accessed: 13 August 2019.
- [19] https://www.maritimejournal.com/news101/onboard-systems/navigation-and-communication /uk-government-supporting-e-loran/. Accessed: 13 August 2019.
- [20] https://www.mro-network.com/engineering-design/ understanding-today-s-antenna-complexities. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [21] http://www.ga-asi.com/Websites/gaasi/images/products/ aircraft_systems/pdf/PredatorXP021915.pdf. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [22] https://www.icao.int/Meetings/UAS/Documents/Circular%20328_en.pdf. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [23] https://www.faa.gov/documentLibrary/media/Advisory_Circular/AC90-50D.pdf. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [24] https://aea.net/AvionicsNews/ANArchives/April05ModeS.pdf. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [25] https://standards.globalspec.com/std/10266887/STANAG%204586. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [26] https://standards.globalspec.com/std/10266816/AEP-84%20VOL%201. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [27] https://www.lockheedmartin.com/en-us/products/cdl-systems/stanag-4586.html. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [28] https://www.popularmechanics.com/military/aviation/a24675/pentagon-autonomousswarming-drones/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [29] https://www.unmannedsystemstechnology.com/2019/08/ darpa-autonomous-drone-swarm-program-completes-urban-field-experiments/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [30] https://standards.ieee.org/standard/802_11-2016.html. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [31] https://5g.co.uk/guides/5g-and-the-connected-car/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [32] https://5g.co.uk/guides/what-is-5g/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [33] https://whatsag.com/4g-and-lte-standards/understanding_4g.php. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [34] http://ww1.microchip.com/downloads/en/devicedoc/adn006.pdf. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [35] http://ftp.blackbox.com/manuals/L/LWU0500_v1.0.pdf. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [36] https://www.graphene.manchester.ac.uk/. Accessed on October 2019.
- [37] https://www.aviationtoday.com/2018/09/04/f-35-data-fusion/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [38] https://www.iceye.com. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.

- [39] https://www.iceye.com/satellite-data. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [40] https://business.esa.int/newcomers-earth-observation-guide. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [41] https://uavsar.jpl.nasa.gov/education/what-is-uavsar.html. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [42] https://newatlas.com/scaneagle-uav-gets-synthetic-aperture-radar-sar/9007/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [43] https://winds.jpl.nasa.gov/aboutscatterometry/history/. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [44] https://optics.org/news/7/7/20. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [45] https://www.hensoldt.net/solutions/air/radar/passive-radar/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [46] https://www.defenceiq.com/defence-technology/articles/holographic-radar-to-counter-uasattacks. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [47] http://www.aveillant.com/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [48] https://www.mwrf.com/industrial/holographic-radar-cuts-wind-farm-clutter. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [49] https://www.technologyreview.com/s/614160/ quantum-radar-has-been-demonstrated-for-the-first-time/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [50] https://coast.noaa.gov/data/digitalcoast/pdf/lidar-101.pdf. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [51] https://www.wired.com/story/lidar-self-driving-cars-luminar-video/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [52] https://www.technologyreview.com/s/603885/autonomous-cars-lidar-sensors/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [53] https://www.popularmechanics.com/technology/infrastructure/a28833748/what-is-lidar-selfdriving-technology/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [54] https://www.army-technology.com/projects/watchkeeper/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [55] https://www.northropgrumman.com/Capabilities/FireScout/Pages/default.aspx. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [56] https://www.northropgrumman.com/Capabilities/GlobalHawk/Pages/default.aspx. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [57] https://www.raf.mod.uk/aircraft/mq-9a-reaper/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [58] https://www.airbus.com/defence/uav/zephyr.html. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [59] https://www.thalesgroup.com/en/countries/europe/united-kingdom/markets-weoperate/defence/air-systems-uk/isr-air/imaster.
- [60] https://www.techbriefs.com/component/content/article/tb/techbriefs/aerospace/27674.
- [61] http://www.ga-asi.com/lynx-multi-mode-radar.
- [62] https://corpwatch.org/article/drone-inc-f-ground-moving-target-indicator.
- [63] https://www.srcinc.com/what-we-do/radar-and-sensors/forester-radar.html.

- [64] https://www.naval-technology.com/projects/skeldar-v-200-maritime-uav/.
- [65] https://saab.com/air/electronic-warfare/sigint/esp/.
- [66] https://ukdefencejournal.org.uk/qinetiqs-as3-comint-system-ready-fly-watchkeeper/.
- [67] https://ec.europa.eu/growth/sectors/space/copernicus_en.
- [68] https://www.agritech-east.co.uk/seizing-the-systems-integration-opportunity-lockheed-martinat-reap/.
- [69] https://www.mapping-solutions.co.uk/applications_new.php?mid=8&Radar.
- [70] https://www.faa.gov/aircraft/air_cert/design_approvals/air_software/cast/cast_papers/ media/cast-32A.pdf.
- [71] http://tangentlink.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/1.-Cognitive-Radar.pdf.
- [72] https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1901/1901.02885.pdf.
- [73] https://mwi.usma.edu/era-drone-swarm-coming-need-ready.
- [74] https://www.specim.fi/the-top-10-questions-about-airborne-hyperspectral-imaging/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [75] https://resonon.com/airborne-remote-system. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [76] https://physicsworld.com/a/silicon-nanopillars-steer-infrared-light/. Accessed on October 2019.
- [77] https://www.pcmag.com/roundup/337251/the-best-drones. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [78] https://www.gislounge.com/robotic-mapping-simultaneous-localization-and-mapping-slam/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [79] https://phys.org/news/2015-05-algorithm-combines-videos-unstructured-camera.html. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [80] https://phys.org/news/2013-06-team-techniques-high-quality-resolution.html. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [81] https://www.naval-technology.com/features/feature-the-worlds-best-anti-submarine-warfareasw-helicopters-4153353/. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [82] https://www.bandweaver.com/sectors/fire-and-security/perimeter-intrusion-detection-system/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [83] https://doi.org/10.3997/2214-4609.201802510. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [84] https://www.graphene-info.com/graphene-sensors. Accessed on October 2019.
- [85] https://phys.org/news/2019-04-graphene-tremendous-boost-future-terahertz.html. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [86] https://spectrum.ieee.org/nanoclast/semiconductors/devices/graphenebased-terahertzdetector-gets-flexibility. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [87] https://www.ansys.com/en-gb/products/embedded-software/ansys-scade-suite. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.

- [88] https://www.tonex.com/link-16-tutorial/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [89] https://navcen.uscg.gov/pdf/vulnerability_assess_2001.pdf. Accessed 8 Oct 2019.
- [90] https://www.thesignaljammer.com/products/GPS-Jammer.html. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [91] https://rntfnd.org/2017/09/15/gps-jammer-delays-flights-in-france/. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [92] https://www.gpsworld.com/innovation-enhanced-loran/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [93] https://www.gpsworld.com/anti-jam-technology-demystifying-the-crpa/. Accessed 8 Oct 2019.
- [94] https://www.iai.co.il/drupal/sites/default/files/2019-05/ADA%20Brochure.pdf. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [95] https://insidegnss.com/a-fresh-look-at-gnss-anti-jamming/. Accessed on 9 Oct 2019.
- [96] https://modernbattlespace.com/2018/04/09/in-todays-battlespace-signal-diversity-strengthens-satellite-precision-navigation-and-timing/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [97] https://www.ae.utexas.edu/news/todd-humphreys-research-team-demonstrates-first-successfuluav-spoofing. Accessed on 1 October 2019.
- [98] https://www.c4reports.org/aboveusonlystars. Accessed on 7 Oct 2019.
- [99] https://www.wired.com/2011/12/iran-drone-hack-gps/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [100] https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/19 _0307_CISA_EMP-Protection-Resilience-Guidelines.pdf.
- [101] https://www.mwrf.com/components/metamaterials-provide-technology-future. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [102] https://saab.com/air/electronic-warfare/self-protection-systems/camps/. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [103] https://warontherocks.com/2019/02/drones-of-mass-destruction-drone-swarms-and-the-future-of-nuclear-chemical-and-biological-weapons/. Accessed on 8 October 2019.
- [104] Aeropah2 power systems. https://www.hes.sg/aeropak. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [105] Burke j., darpa positioning, navigation and timing (pnt) technology and their impacts on gps users, gps advisory board, june 2019. https://www.gps.gov/governance/advisory/meetings/2019-06/burke.pdf. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [106] China-made solar-powered unmanned aircraft makes maiden flight. http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-07/30/c_138270560.htm. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [107] 'coast guard must build eloran for gps backup house of t&i committee passes bill', resilient navigation and timing solution, 15 sep 2016. http://rntfnd.org/2016/09/17/coast-guard-mustbuild-eLoran-for-gps-backup-house-ti-committee-passes-bill/. Accessed: 13 August 2019.
- [108] Compact, lightweight airborne ground surveillance radar, 2017. https://www.leonardocompany.com/en/products/picosar-1. Accessed: 16 August 2019.

- [109] Curcic, t., quantum-assisted sensing and readout (quasar), may 2013. https://www.darpa.mil/program/quantum-assisted-sensing-and-readout/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [110] Darpa, "adaptable navigation systems,". http://www.darpa.mil/program/adaptable-navigation-systems,/. Accessed: 2 August 2019.
- [111] Diamond aircraft proudly presents the world's first serial hybrid electric aircraft 'da36 estar'. https://www.diamondaircraft.com/en/about-diamond/newsroom/news/article/diamondaircraft-proudly-presents-the-worlds-first-serial-hybrid-electric-aircraft-da36-e-star. Accessed: 29 Sep 2019.
- [112] Dronevolt: 'dronevolt's multi-mode heliplane transitions from vtol to winged flight for 60minute endurance', new atlas, 8 august 2019. https://newatlas.com/drone-volt-heliplane-vtolwinged/60955/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [113] Dronevolt: 'heliplane v2, hybrid vtol uav, august 2019. https://www.dronevolt.com/wpcontent/uploads/leaflet_pdf/heliplane_brochure_2019_en.pdf. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [114] Dunning h., et al.: 'quantum 'compass' could allow navigation without relying on satellites', imperial college london, 9 november 2018. https://www.imperial.ac.uk/news/188973/quantumcompass-could-allow-navigation-without//. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [115] From gas-powered to laser-powered! NASA research team successfully flies first laser-powered aircraft. https://www.nasa.gov/centers/marshall/news/news/releases/2003/03-180.html. Accessed: 20 Aug 2019.
- [116] Gadgets360, "new autonomous flying drones don't require gps to navigate", 27 may 2015. http://gadgets.ndtv.com/others/news/new-autonomous-flying-drones-dont-require-gpsto-navigate-696750/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [117] Geoslam, company developing 3d geospatial technology solutions, 23 january 2019. http://geoslam.com/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [118] Hawk30 takes flight AeroVironment achieves successful first test flight of next generation solar haps unmanned aircraft system. https://www.avinc.com/resources/press-releases/view/hawk30takes-flight-aerovironment-achieves-successful-first-test-flight-of. Published and accessed: 16 September 2019.
- [119] Hexagon positioning intelligence, oem7600 dual-frequency gnss receiver. http://www.novatel.com/products/gnss-receivers/oem-receiver-boards/oem7receivers/oem7600/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [120] Higgins, s., livox announces \$600 lidar for autonomous vehicles, UAV mapping, and more, 23 january 2019. https://www.spar3d.com/news/lidar/livox-announces-600-lidar-for-autonomous-vehicles-uav-mapping-and-more-an-its-shipping-now/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- Honeywell, hg9900 inertial measurement unit. https://aerospace.honeywell.com/en/products/navigation-and-sensors/hg9900/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [122] Hurricane casualty kq-x unmanned refueling demo. https://aviationweek.com/blog/hurricanecasualty-kq-x-unmanned-refueling-demo. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.

- [123] Hycopter hydrogen electric multi-rotor. https://www.hes.sg/hycopter. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [124] Innovate uk & epsrc, uk quantum technologies programme, national strategy for quantum technologies, march 2016. https://www.epsrc.ac.uk/newsevents/pubs/quantumtechstrategy/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [125] Invensense inc, r., rm-mpu-6000a-00, revision 4.2, aug 2013. https://www.invensense.com/products/motion-tracking/6-axis/mpu-6050/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [126] Ion tiger fuel cell powered uav. https://www.nrl.navy.mil/lasr/content/ion-tiger-fuel-cell-powered-uav. Accessed: 21 Aug 2019.
- [127] Kq-x yes, that is how they do it. https://aviationweek.com/blog/kq-x-yes-how-they-do-it. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [128] Kvh, intelligent inertial navigation systems, august 2019. http://www.kvh.com/Military-and-Government/Gyros-and-Inertial-Systems-and-Compasses/Gyros-and-IMUs-and-INS/INS.aspx/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [129] Lockheed Martin gstar brochure. https://www.lockheedmartin.com/content/dam/lockheedmartin/rms/documents/electronic-warfare/GSTARAccessed: 31 October 2019.
- [130] Lockheed Martin performs first ever outdoor flight test of laser powered UAS. https://news.lockheedmartin.com/2012-08-07-Lockheed-Martin-Performs-First-Ever-Outdoor-Flight-Test-Of-Laser-Powered-UAS. Accessed: 21 Aug 2019.
- [131] Microwave integrated systems laboratory. https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/research/activity/eese/communicationssensing/misl/index.aspx/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [132] Mit, "all source positioning and navigation". http://people.csail.mit.edu/chiu/projects_files/ASPN.htm. Accessed: 2 August 2019.
- [133] Mitch, r. et al, signal characteristics of civil gps jammers, gps world, published january 2012. http://gpsworld.com/gnss-systeminnovation-know-your-enemy-12475/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [134] Mq-25 stingray: the first drone to refuel fighter jets in flight. https://www.naval-technology.com/features/mq-25-stingray-drone-navy/. Accessed: 23 Sep 2019.
- [135] National ocean service, "what is lidar?", national oceanic and atmospheric administration, 2019. https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/lidar.html. Accessed: 23 October 2019.
- [136] Navigation via signals of opportunity (navsop), bae systems, 2019. https://www.baesystems.com/en/product/navigation-via-signals-of-opportunity-navsop. Accessed: 2 August 2019.
- [137] Northrop grumman, navigation systems, august 2019. http://www.northropgrumman.com/Capabilities/NavigationSystems/Pages/default.aspx/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [138] OnSound Acoustic Gunshot Detection. https://v5systems.us/products/onsound-acousticgunshot-detection/.

- [139] The Phantom Eye: The eye in the sky. https://www.boeing.com/features/2012/06/the-phantomeye-the-eye-in-the-sky-06-4-12.page. Accessed: 21 Aug 2019.
- [140] Polcawich, r., precise robust inertial guidance for munitions (prigm), 23 july 2016. https://www.darpa.mil/program/precise-robust-inertial-guidance-for-munitions/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [141] Safran, navigation systems, august 2019. http://www.safran-electronicsdefense.com/aerospace/military-aircraft/navigation-systems/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [142] Septentrio asterx4 oem , september 2019. http://www.septentrio.com/products/gnss-receivers/rover-base-receivers/oem-receiver-boards/asterx4-oem/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [143] Sowala, k. mitigating gnss vulnerabilities in commercial network timing applications, published may 2013. http://www.microsemi.com/document-portal/doc_view/133474-mitigatinggnss-vulnerabilities-in-commercial-network-timing-apps/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [144] Tethered drone could fly forever. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-tethered-droneidUSKCN10L1U1. Accessed: 29 Sep 2019.
- [145] Uk ends galileo talks, says it will explore a homegrown alternative, december 2018. https://spacenews.com/uk-ends-galileo-talks-says-it-will-explore-a-homegrown-alternative/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [146] Uk quantum technologies programme, 2013. http://uknqt.epsrc.ac.uk/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [147] Uk space agency leads work on options for independent satellite system, may 2018. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-space-agency-leads-work-on-options-forindependent-satellite-system/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [148] Utc, guidance navigation control, august 2016. https://utcaerospacesystems.com/product_gallery/guidance-navigation-control/. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [149] Vn-200 user manual, firmware v1.1.0.0, revision um400 2.43, 2017. https://www.vectornav.com/products/vn-200/specifications,/. Accessed: 16th August 2019.
- [150] South Korea revives GPS backup project after alleged jamming by North Korea. The Japan Times, May 2016.
- [151] Nrl completes first flight of ion tiger with custom fuel cell. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017(1):5, 2017.
- [152] A. Annaiyan, M. Yadav, and H. Voos. Visual odometry based absolute target geo-location from micro ariel vehicle. International Conference on Robotics Automation Control and Embedded Systems -RACE, 2015.
- [153] R.J. Cottrell. Collaborative autonomy stage 2 lvc evaluation no. 2, cardigan bay 17 (air) trial. February 2018.
- [154] R.J. Cottrell and M.J. Thomas . Hybrid architectures for adaptable autonomy, v1.3. 2013.
- [155] S.A. Harrison and C.J. Kennedy. Ai based decision aids for mission planning; october 2000. 2000.

- [156] M. Kameche and N.V. Drozdovsk. Gaas-, inp- and gan hemt-based microwave control devices: what is best and why. *Microwave Journal*, 48, Issue 5, 2019.
- [157] J. Martinez-Carranza, N. Lowen, F. Marquez, E.O. Garcia Rodriguez, and W. Mayol-Cuevas. Towards autonomous flight of micro aerial vehicles using orb-slam. *IEEE 3rd Workshop* on Research, Education and Development of Unmanned Aerial Systems (RED-UAS).
- [158] C.P. Moate, S. Hayward, J. Ellis, L.O. Russel, R. Timmerman, R. Lane, and T.J. Strain . Vehicle detection in infra-red imagery using neural networks with synthetic training data. 2018.
- [159] M. Stevens, O. Jones, P. Moyse, S. Tu, and A. Wilshire. Bright spark: Ka-band sar technology demonstrator, international conference on radar systems. 2017.
- [160] M.J.A. Strens. Distributed reinforcement learning for uav behaviours final report. 2004.
- [161] N. Swain and A. Humphreys . Adaptable autonomy rapid prototyping assessment v1.1. August 2016.
- [162] Helge Aasen, Eija Honkavaara, Arko Lucieer, and Pablo Zarco-Tejada. Quantitative Remote Sensing at Ultra-High Resolution with UAV Spectroscopy: A Review of Sensor Technology, Measurement Procedures, and Data Correction Workflows. *Remote Sensing*, 10:1091, July 2018.
- [163] Ayodeji Opeyemi Abioye, Stephen D Prior, Glyn T Thomas, Peter Saddington, and Sarvapali D Ramchurn. Multimodal human aerobotic interaction. In Unmanned Aerial Vehicles: Breakthroughs in Research and Practice, pages 142–165. IGI Global, 2019.
- [164] M. C. Achtelik, J. Stumpf, D. Gurdan, and K. Doth. Design of a flexible high performance quadcopter platform breaking the MAV endurance record with laser power beaming. In 2011 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pages 5166–5172, Sep. 2011.
- [165] Desmond Adair and Mergen Alimaganbetov. Propeller wing aerodynamic interference for small uavs during vstol. In 56th Israel Annual Conference on Aerospace Sciences, 2016.
- [166] Till Julian Adam, Guangyue Liao, Jan Petersen, Sebastian Geier, Benedikt Finke, Peter Wierach, Arno Kwade, and Martin Wiedemann. Multifunctional composites for future energy storage in aerospace structures. *Energies*, 11(2), 2018.
- [167] Zachary Adams, Moble Benedict, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, and Inderjit Chopra. Design, development, and flight test of a small-scale cyclogyro UAV utilizing a novel cam-based passive blade pitching mechanism. *International Journal of Micro Air Vehicles*, 5(2):145–162, jun 2013.
- [168] P Aguiar, D Brett, and N Brandon. Solid oxide fuel cell/gas turbine hybrid system analysis for high-altitude long-endurance unmanned aerial vehicles. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 33(23):7214–7223, dec 2008.
- [169] Waqas Ahmad and Awais Salman Qazi. Comparison of Routing Protocols in Wireless Mesh Network on the Basis of Performance. International Journal of Networks and Communications, 8(2):29–33, 2018.
- [170] Mansoor Ahsan, Khalid Rafique, and Farrukh Mazhar. Optimization based tuning of autopilot gains for a fixed wing UAV. International Journal of Mechanical, Aerospace, Industrial, Mechatronic and Manufacturing Engineering, 7(5), 2013.
- [171] Ahmed Al-Timimy, Mahir Al-Ani, Michele Degano, Paolo Giangrande, Chris Gerada, and Michael Galea. Influence of rotor endcaps on the electromagnetic performance of high-speed PM machine. *IET Electric Power Applications*, 12(8):1142–1149, sep 2018.
- [172] Ahmed Al-Timimy, Gaurang Vakil, Michele Degano, Paolo Giangrande, Chris Gerada, and Michael Galea. Considerations on the effects that core material machining has on an electrical machine's performance. *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, 33(3):1154–1163, sep 2018.
- [173] Amer Eid Salem Eid Thafnan Alajmi, Nor Mariah Adam, Abdul Aziz Hairuddin, and Luqman Chuah Abdullah. Fuel atomization in gas turbines: A review of novel technology. *Interna*tional Journal of Energy Research, 43(8):3166–3181, feb 2019.
- [174] Alper Turan Alan, Chang Liu, Elliot Salisbury, Stephen D. Prior, Sarvapali D. Ramchurn, Feng Wu, Kerry Tatlock, and Gareth Rees. Human-uav teaming in dynamic and uncertain environments. In Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and MultiAgent Systems, AAMAS 2018, Stockholm, Sweden, July 10-15, 2018, pages 1791–1793, 2018.
- [175] Ramón Alcarria, Borja Bordel, Miguel Ángel Manso, Teresa Iturrioz, and Marina Pérez. Analyzing UAV-Based Remote Sensing and WSN Support for Data Fusion. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Technology & Systems (ICITS 2018), Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 756–766. Springer International Publishing, 2018.
- [176] Richard Alena, John Ossenfort, Kenneth Laws, Andre Goforth, and Fernando Figueroa. Communications for Integrated Modular Avionics. pages 1–18, April 2007.
- [177] Irfan Ali, Pierino G. Bonanni, Naofal Al-Dhahir, and John E. Hershey. Doppler Applications in LEO Satellite Communication Systems. The Springer International Series in Engineering and Computer Science. Springer US, 2002.
- [178] Abdulsalam Ghalib Alkholidi and Khaleel Saeed Altowij. Free Space Optical Communications — Theory and Practices. *Contemporary Issues in Wireless Communications*, November 2014.
- [179] Michael Allen and Victor Lin. Guidance and Control of an Autonomous Soaring Vehicle with Flight Test Results.
- [180] Bilal Hazim Younus Alsalam, Kye Morton, Duncan Campbell, and Felipe Gonzalez. Autonomous uav with vision based on-board decision making for remote sensing and precision agriculture. In 2017 IEEE Aerospace Conference, pages 1–12. IEEE, 2017.
- [181] A. Alu, F. Bilotti, N. Engheta, and L. Vegni. CoMetAs: Design of Conformal Omnidirectional Metamaterial Antennas. In 2005 18th International Conference on Applied Electromagnetics and Communications, pages 1–4, 2005.
- [182] M. G. Amin, P. Closas, A. Broumandan, and J. L. Volakis. Vulnerabilities, threats, and authentication in satellite-based navigation systems. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 104(6):1169–1173, June 2016.
- [183] M. G. Amin, X. Wang, Y. D. Zhang, F. Ahmad, and E. Aboutanios. Sparse Arrays and Sampling for Interference Mitigation and DOA Estimation in GNSS. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 104(6):1302– 1317, 2016.

- [184] K. Andersson, K. Jones, V. Dobrokhodov, and I. Kaminer. Thermal highs and pitfall lows notes on the journey to the first cooperative autonomous soaring flight. In 2012 IEEE 51st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), pages 3392–3397, Dec 2012.
- [185] Roberto Andriani, Antonella Ingenito, Fausto Gamma, and AntonioAgresta. Low-fuel consumption gas turbine engines for extended-range uavs. In *52nd Aerospace Sciences Meeting*, 2014.
- [186] Carles Anton-Haro and Mischa Dohler. Machine-to-machine (M2M) Communications 1st Edition. Woodhead Publishing, 2015.
- [187] Oualid Araar, Mohamed Zakaria Mimouni, Khaled Fellah, and Hafsa Osmani. Identification & control of a multirotor UAV in the presence of actuator asymmetry. In 2017 25th Mediterranean Conference on Control and Automation (MED). IEEE, jul 2017.
- [188] Alden P. Armagnac. A famous prophet of science looks into the future. Popular Science Monthly, November:16–17, 1928.
- [189] ARRL. Software Defined Radio.
- [190] J. M. Arteaga, S. Aldhaher, G. Kkelis, C. Kwan, D. C. Yates, and P. D. Mitcheson. Dynamic capabilities of multi-mhz inductive power transfer systems demonstrated with batteryless drones. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 34(6):5093–5104, June 2019.
- [191] Michael P. Ashley-Rollman, Seth Copen Goldstein, Peter Lee, Todd C. Mowry, and Padmanabhan Pillai. Meld: A declarative approach to programming ensembles. In 2007 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems. IEEE, oct 2007.
- [192] Associated Press. Major Saudi Arabia oil facilities hit by Houthi drone strikes. *The Guardian*, 2019.
- [193] Shikhar Asthana, Shubham Bansal, Shubham Jaggi, and Naveen Kumar. A comparative study of recent advancements in the field of variable compression ratio engine technology. SAE Technical Papers, 04 2016.
- [194] P.V.A. Atienza, H.J.L Lim, P. Lo, J. Mercadejas, and C.Y. Ong. Autonomous takeoff and landing sequences of an rc helicopter (atlas). In 21st Mechatronics and Machine Vision in Practice, 2015.
- [195] Gustavo Avellar, Guilherme Pereira, Luciano Pimenta, and Paulo Iscold. Multi-uav routing for area coverage and remote sensing with minimum time. *Sensors*, 15(11):27783–27803, 2015.
- [196] Hasan Ayaz, Murat P Çakir, Kurtuluş İzzetoğlu, Adrian Curtin, Patricia A Shewokis, Scott C Bunce, and Banu Onaral. Monitoring expertise development during simulated uav piloting tasks using optical brain imaging. In 2012 IEEE Aerospace Conference, pages 1–11. IEEE, 2012.
- [197] F. Azevedo, A. Oliveira, A. Dias, J. Almeida, M. Moreira, T. Santos, A. Ferreira, A. Martins, and E. Silva. Collision avoidance for safe structure inspection with multirotor UAV. In 2017 European Conference on Mobile Robots (ECMR). IEEE, sep 2017.
- [198] Tony Bailey. SATCOM: Taming the Beast. Avionics News, December 2003.
- [199] S. Baldis, H. Baldis, and J. Baldis. Wireless power transmission system. US Patent US20060266917A1, 2006.
- [200] Mike Ball. DARPA awards phase ii funding for rotary UAV diesel engine development. Unmanned Systems News, 2018.

- [201] Jérémie X. J. Bannwarth, Z. Jeremy Chen, Karl A. Stol, Bruce A. MacDonald, and Peter J. Richards. Aerodynamic force modeling of multirotor unmanned aerial vehicles. *AIAA Journal*, 57(3):1250–1259, mar 2019.
- [202] Yaakov bar Shalom. Tracking with a Cooperatively Controlled Swarm of GMTI Equipped UAVS. page 55, 2008.
- [203] Davide Barater, Fabio Immovilli, Alessandro Soldati, Giampaolo Buticchi, Giovanni Franceschini, Christopher Gerada, and Michael Galea. Multistress characterization of fault mechanisms in aerospace electric actuators. *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, 53(2):1106–1115, mar 2017.
- [204] Fábio Coelho Barbosa. Aircraft electric propulsion technology review a shift from turbofan to the ethrust era. In *SAE Technical Paper Series*. SAE International, sep 2018.
- [205] John Bard and Vincent Kovarik. Software Defined Radio: The Software Communications Architecture. March 2007.
- [206] Capt Brian C Barker, John W Betz, John E Clark, Jeffrey T Correia, James T Gillis, Steven Lazar, Lt Kaysi A Rehborn, and John R Straton. Overview of the GPS M Code Signal. *MITRE* technical report, page 8, May 2000.
- [207] J. Philip Barnes. Flight without fuel regenerative soaring feasibility study. In General Aviation Technology Conference and Exhibition, 2006.
- [208] S. Barzanjeh, S. Pirandola, D. Vitali, and J. M. Fink. Experimental Microwave Quantum Illumination. arXiv 1908.03058, 2019.
- [209] Parag Batavia, Ann Jennings, George Romanski, and Brian Schechter. The UAS control segment architecture: an overview. Proc. SPIE 8754, Open Architecture/Open Business Model Net-Centric Systems and Defense Transformation 2013, 875404, 2011.
- [210] David S. Bayard, Dylan T. Conway, Roland Brockers, Jeff H. Delaune, Larry H. Matthies, Håvard F. Grip, Gene B. Merewether, Travis L. Brown, and Alejandro M. San Martin. Visionbased navigation for the NASA mars helicopter. In *AIAA Scitech 2019 Forum*. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2019.
- [211] Didier El Baz, Vincent Boyer, Julien Bourgeois, Eugen Dedu, and Kahina Boutoustous. Distributed discrete state acquisition and concurrent pattern recognition in a MEMS-based smart surface. In 2010 First Workshop on Hardware and Software Implementation and Control of Distributed MEMS. IEEE, jun 2010.
- [212] Didier El Baz, Vincent Boyer, Julien Bourgeois, Eugen Dedu, and Kahina Boutoustous. Distributed part differentiation in a smart surface. *Mechatronics*, 22(5):522–530, aug 2012.
- [213] Nathan Beals. Design of small rotors for multicopter uas. In 73rd Annual AHS International Forum and Technology Display, 2017.
- [214] Christopher Simon Beaverstock, Benjamin King Sutton Woods, James Henry Sun-Ming Fincham, and Michael Ian Friswell. Performance comparison between optimised camber and span for a morphing wing. Aerospace, 2(3):524–554, 2015.
- [215] Zoltán Beck, W.T. Luke Teacy, Alex Rogers, and Nicholas R. Jennings. Collaborative online planning for automated victim search in disaster response. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 100:251 – 266, 2018.

- [216] Aaron Becker, Golnaz Habibi, Justin Werfel, Michael Rubenstein, and James McLurkin. Massive uniform manipulation: Controlling large populations of simple robots with a common input signal. In 2013 IEEE/RSJ international conference on intelligent robots and systems, pages 520–527. IEEE, 2013.
- [217] H. Beljour, S. Lescrinier, O. Palmer, A. J. Michaels, R. Mathes, M. Beeler, T. Reinking, and M. Phillips. FAST Digital IF Architecture and Open Standard Digital IF Interfaces. In 2014 IEEE Military Communications Conference, pages 1344–1350, October 2014.
- [218] John Bellingham, Michael Tillerson, Arthur Richards, and Jonathan P How. Multi-task allocation and path planning for cooperating uavs. In *Cooperative control: models, applications and algorithms*, pages 23–41. Springer, 2003.
- [219] M. Benedict, T. Jarugumilli, and I. Chopra. Experimental investigation of the effect of rotor geometry and blade kinematics on the performance of a mav-scale cycloidal rotor. In AHS Specialists' Meeting on Unmanned Rotorcraft and Network Centric Operations, 2011.
- [220] Moble Benedict, Tejaswi Jarugumilli, and Inderjit Chopra. Effects of asymmetric blade-pitching kinematics on forward-flight performance of a micro-air-vehicle-scale cycloidal-rotor. *Journal of Aircraft*, 53(5):1568–1573, sep 2016.
- [221] Moble Benedict, Joseph Mullins, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, and Inderjit Chopra. Development of a quad cycloidal-rotor unmanned aerial vehicle. *Journal of the American Helicopter Society*, 61(2):1–12, apr 2016.
- [222] Moble Benedict, Elena Shrestha, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, and Inderjit Chopra. Development of a micro twin-rotor cyclocopter capable of autonomous hover. *Journal of Aircraft*, 51(2):672–676, mar 2014.
- [223] Gerardo Beni. From swarm intelligence to swarm robotics. In Erol Şahin and William M. Spears, editors, *Swarm Robotics*, pages 1–9, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005. Springer.
- [224] Gerardo Beni and Jing Wang. Swarm intelligence in cellular robotic systems. In Paolo Dario, Giulio Sandini, and Patrick Aebischer, editors, *Robots and Biological Systems: Towards a New Bionics?*, pages 703–712, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1993. Springer.
- [225] Gary L. Bennett, James J. Lombardo, Richard J. Hemler, Gil Silverman, C. W. Whitmore, Wayne R. Amos, E. W. Johnson, Roy W. Zocher, James C. Hagan, and Richard W. Englehart. The general-purpose heat source radioisotope thermoelectric generator: A truly general-purpose space RTG. AIP Conference Proceedings, 969(1):663–671, 2008.
- [226] Matt Bennett. Development of Technologies for Low-cost Oceanographic Unmanned Aeronautical Vehicles. University of Southampton, 2009.
- [227] Christian Bermes, Samir Bouabdallah, Dario Schafroth, and Roland Siegwart. Design of the autonomous micro helicopter muFly. *Mechatronics*, 21(5):765–775, aug 2011.
- [228] LF Bertuccelli, NWM Beckers, and ML Cummings. Developing operator models for uav search scheduling. AIAA Conf. on Guidance, Navigation and Control, Toronto, Canada, 2010.
- [229] L.F. Bertuccelli and M.L. Cummings. Operator choice modeling for collaborative uav visual search tasks. Systems, Man and Cybernetics, Part A: Systems and Humans, IEEE Transactions on, 42(5):1088–1099, Sept 2012.

- [230] A. Bettidi, D. Carosi, A. Cetronio, F. Corsaro, C. Costrini, C. Lanzieri, and L. Marescialli. Xband transmit/receive module mmic chip-set based on emerging gan and sige technologies. 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Phased Array Systems and Technology, pages 250–255, Oct 2010.
- [231] Morten Bisgaard, Anders la Cour-Harbo, and Jan Bendtsen. Swing damping for helicopter slung load systems using delayed feedback. In AIAA Guidance, Navigation, and Control Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, aug 2009.
- [232] Morten Bisgaard, Anders la Cour-Harbo, and Jan Dimon Bendtsen. Adaptive control system for autonomous helicopter slung load operations. *Control Engineering Practice*, 18(7):800–811, jul 2010.
- [233] Simon Blakey, Lucas Rye, and Christopher Willam Wilson. Aviation gas turbine alternative fuels: A review. *Proceedings of the Combustion Institute*, 33(2):2863–2885, jan 2011.
- [234] Bliley Technologies. 10 Popular Software Defined Radios (SDRs) of 2019, December 201.
- [235] Bluetooth SIG. Bluetooth Core Specifications. https://www.bluetooth.com/specifications/ bluetooth-core-specification/.
- [236] Robert Cameron Bolam, Yuriy Vagapov, and Alecksey Anuchin. Review of electrically powered propulsion for aircraft. In 2018 53rd International Universities Power Engineering Conference (UPEC). IEEE, sep 2018.
- [237] F. Boniol and Virginie Wiels. Towards modular and certified avionics for UAV aerial robotics. AerospaceLab Journal, pages 1–8, 2014.
- [238] Julien Bourgeois and Seth Copen Goldstein. Distributed intelligent MEMS: Progresses and perspectives. *IEEE Systems Journal*, 9(3):1057–1068, sep 2015.
- [239] Thomas H. Bradley, Blake A. Moffitt, Dimitri N. Mavris, and David E. Parekh. Development and experimental characterization of a fuel cell powered aircraft. *Journal of Power Sources*, 171(2):793 – 801, 2007.
- [240] Jeffrey M Bradshaw, Paul Feltovich, and Matthew Johnson. Human-Agent Interaction. In G Boy, editor, *Handbook of HumanMachine Interaction*, chapter 13, pages 293–302. Ashgate, 2011.
- [241] Manuele Brambilla, Eliseo Ferrante, Mauro Birattari, and Marco Dorigo. Swarm robotics: a review from the swarm engineering perspective. *Swarm Intelligence*, 7(1), 2013.
- [242] Mantas Brazinskas, Stephen Prior, and James Scanlan. An empirical study of overlapping rotor interference for a small unmanned aircraft propulsion system. *Aerospace*, 3(4):32, oct 2016.
- [243] Benjamin J. Brelje and Joaquim R.R.A. Martins. Electric, hybrid, and turboelectric fixed-wing aircraft: A review of concepts, models, and design approaches. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 104:1 – 19, 2019.
- [244] Wilson Daniel Briggs. Guidance, Navigation and Control for UAV Close Formation Flight and Airborne Docking. PhD thesis, University of Sydney, 2015.
- [245] A. Brocklehurst and G.N. Barakos. A review of helicopter rotor blade tip shapes. Progress in Aerospace Sciences, 56:35–74, jan 2013.

- [246] Eli Brookner. Metamaterial Advances for Radar And Communications. Brisbane, Australia, 2018.
- [247] Andrew Brown and Jonathan Rogers. A sampling-based probabilistic path planner for multirotor air vehicles in cluttered environments. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 231(1):143–162, nov 2016.
- [248] Colin Brown and Philip J Vigneron. Robust Frequency Hopping for High Data Rate Tactical Communications. Military Communications, Meeting Proceedings RTO-MP-IST-054, pages 1– 12, 2006.
- [249] Joseph M. Brown, Jesse A. Coffey, Dustin Harvey, and Jordan M. Thayer. Characterization and prognosis of multirotor failures. In *Structural Health Monitoring and Damage Detection, Volume* 7, pages 157–173. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [250] W. Brown, J. Mims, and N. Heenan. An experimental microwave-powered helicopter. In 1958 IRE International Convention Record, volume 13, pages 225–235, March 1965.
- [251] Elliott Bryner, David Ransom, John Bishop, Shane Coogan, and Grant Musgrove. Design of a small scale gas turbine for a hybrid propulsion system. In *Volume 8: Microturbines, Turbochargers* and Small Turbomachines Steam Turbines. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2015.
- [252] Ronald S. Bunker. Evolution of turbine cooling. In *Proceedings of the ASME Turbo Expo*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2017.
- [253] W. Burgard, C. Stachniss, K. Arras, and M. Bennewitz. Slam: Simultaneous localization and mapping. Accessed: 16 August 2019.
- [254] B. Burrage. Enabling technologies for a centre-line tiltrotor. The Aeronautical Journal, 117(1190):389–414, apr 2013.
- [255] G. Butcher, J. Mottar, United States. National Aeronautics, and Space Administration. Tour of the Electromagnetic Spectrum. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2010.
- [256] Tauã M. Cabreira, Lisane B. Brisolara, and Paulo R. Ferreira Jr. Survey on coverage path planning with unmanned aerial vehicles. *Drones*, 3(1):4, 2019.
- [257] Cengiz Camci and Ali Akturk. A vtol-uav inlet flow distortion reduction concept using a new flow control approach: Double-ducted-fan (ddf). 16th International Symposium on Transport Phenomena and Dynamics of Rotating Machinery, 2016.
- [258] A. Cameron. Gnss backup delivers 5-meter accuracy. GPS World, April 2016.
- [259] Mitch Campion, Prakash Ranganathan, and Saleh Faruque. UAV swarm communication and control architectures: a review. *Journal of Unmanned Vehicle Systems*, 7(2):93–106, 2018.
- [260] Alexandre Campo, Simon Garnier, Olivier Dédriche, Mouhcine Zekkri, and Marco Dorigo. Selforganized discrimination of resources. *PLoS One*, 6(5):e19888, 2011.
- [261] Wenping Cao, B. C. Mecrow, G. J. Atkinson, J. W. Bennett, and D. J. Atkinson. Overview of electric motor technologies used for more electric aircraft (MEA). *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 59(9):3523–3531, sep 2012.

- [262] Stefano Capocchiano, Pietro Panizza, Davide Invernizzi, and Marco Lovera. Closed-loop datadriven attitude control design for a multirotor UAV. In 2018 IEEE Conference on Control Technology and Applications (CCTA). IEEE, aug 2018.
- [263] Joseph J. Carr. The Technician's EMI Handbook. Elsevier, 2000.
- [264] L. Casarsa and P. Giannattasio. Experimental study of the three-dimensional flow field in cross-flow fans. *Experimental Thermal and Fluid Science*, 35(6):948–959, sep 2011.
- [265] Loney R. Cason. Continuous acoustic sensing with an unmanned aerial vehicle system for antisubmarine warfare in a high-threat area. PhD thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, 2015.
- [266] Jessica R Cauchard, Kevin Y Zhai, James A Landay, et al. Drone & me: an exploration into natural human-drone interaction. In *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM international joint conference* on pervasive and ubiquitous computing, pages 361–365. ACM, 2015.
- [267] Hubert Cecotti. Spelling with non-invasive brain–computer interfaces–current and future trends. Journal of Physiology-Paris, 105(1-3):106–114, 2011.
- [268] Christopher Chaney, Patrick Adam, Jacob Leachman, and Konstantin Matveev. Development of the Genii-UAS Demonstrator: a Small-Class Vehicle with Low Wing Loading and Fuel Cell Propulsion.
- [269] Sougata Chatterjee and Shantanu Das. Metamaterial Based Electromagnetic Shielding. Asian Journal of physics, 17(2 (2012)):1–6, 2012.
- [270] Chao Chen, Lincheng Shen, Daibing Zhang, and Jiyang Zhang. Identification and control of a hovering tiltrotor UAV. In 2016 12th World Congress on Intelligent Control and Automation (WCICA). IEEE, jun 2016.
- [271] Gregory Chen, Matthew Fojtik, Daeyeon Kim, David Fick, Junsun Park, Mingoo Seok, Mao-Ter Chen, Zhiyoong Foo, Dennis Sylvester, and David Blaauw. Millimeter-scale nearly perpetual sensor system with stacked battery and solar cells. In 2010 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC). IEEE, feb 2010.
- [272] Gregory Chen, Hassan Ghaed, Razi ul Haque, Michael Wieckowski, Yejoong Kim, Gyouho Kim, David Fick, Daeyeon Kim, Mingoo Seok, Kensall Wise, David Blaauw, and Dennis Sylvester. A cubic-millimeter energy-autonomous wireless intraocular pressure monitor. In 2011 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference. IEEE, feb 2011.
- [273] Jing Chen, Tianbo Liu, and Shaojie Shen. Online generation of collision-free trajectories for quadrotor flight in unknown cluttered environments. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pages 1476–1483. IEEE, 2016.
- [274] She Chen, Yifei Zhu, Jingyi Tu, and Feng Wang. Numerical investigation of an electroaerodynamic driven aeroplane: electrical properties, ionic wind and flight performance. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 52(36):365203, jul 2019.
- [275] Xiaozhi Chen, Huimin Ma, Ji Wan, Bo Li, and Tian Xia. Multi-view 3d object detection network for autonomous driving. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 1907–1915, 2017.

- [276] Yajing Chen, Nikolaos Chiotellis, Li-Xuan Chuo, Carl Pfeiffer, Yao Shi, Ronald G. Dreslinski, Anthony Grbic, Trevor Mudge, David D. Wentzloff, David Blaauw, and Hun Seok Kim. Energyautonomous wireless communication for millimeter-scale internet-of-things sensor nodes. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 34(12):3962–3977, dec 2016.
- [277] YongBo Chen, JianQiao Yu, XiaoLong Su, and GuanChen Luo. Path planning for multi-uav formation. Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems, 77(1):229–246, 2015.
- [278] Z M Chen and Y D Choi. Performance and internal flow characteristics of a cross-flow turbine by guide vane angle. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 52(5):052031, dec 2013.
- [279] Z.J. Chen, K.A. Stol, and P.J. Richards. Preliminary design of multirotor UAVs with tilted-rotors for improved disturbance rejection capability. *Aerospace Science and Technology*, 92:635–643, sep 2019.
- [280] Xiang Cheng, Rongqing Zhang, and Liuqing Yang. 5G-Enabled Vehicular Communications and Networking. Springer International Publishing, 2019.
- [281] Mikhail Cherniakov. Bistatic Radar: Emerging Technology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2008.
- [282] Jonathan J. Chiew and Michael J. Aftosmis. Efficient simulation of multi-rotor configurations with low reynolds number propellers. In 2018 Applied Aerodynamics Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jun 2018.
- [283] Chun-Lung Chiu, Y.-T. Chen, You-Len Liang, and Ruey-Hsun Liang. Optimal driving efficiency design for the single-phase brushless DC fan motor. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, 46(4):1123–1130, apr 2010.
- [284] Soon-Jo Chung, Aditya Avinash Paranjape, Philip Dames, Shaojie Shen, and Vijay Kumar. A survey on aerial swarm robotics. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, 34(4):837–855, 2018.
- [285] Roger Cochetti. Low Earth Orbit (LEO) Mobile Satellite Communications Systems. In Mobile Satellite Communications Handbook, pages 119–156. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2014.
- [286] S.F. Cordero. Investigation of performance improvements including application of inlet guide vanes to a cross-flow fan. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2009.
- [287] Stefania Costantini, Giovanni De Gasperis, and Patrizio Migliarini. Multi-agent system engineering for emphatic human-robot interaction. In 2019 IEEE Second International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Knowledge Engineering (AIKE), pages 36–42. IEEE, 2019.
- [288] Walton Pereira Coutinho, Joerg Fliege, and Maria Battarra. A conic programming-based approach for the trajectory optimisation of unmanned gliders. pages 183–187, 2016.
- [289] Nicholas B Cramer, Daniel W Cellucci, Olivia B Formoso, Christine E Gregg, Benjamin E Jenett, Joseph H Kim, Martynas Lendraitis, Sean S Swei, Greenfield T Trinh, Khanh V Trinh, and Kenneth C Cheung. Elastic shape morphing of ultralight structures by programmable assembly. Smart Materials and Structures, 28(5):055006, apr 2019.
- [290] Jacob W Crandall and Michael A Goodrich. Measuring the intelligence of a robot and its interface. In Proc. of PERMIS, 2003.

- [291] Mary L Cummings, Andrew Clare, and Christin Hart. The role of human-automation consensus in multiple unmanned vehicle scheduling. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors* and Ergonomics Society, 2010.
- [292] Julius Dahms and Andreas Bardenhagen. Propulsion model for (hybrid) unmanned aircraft systems (UAS). Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, 91(2):373–380, feb 2019.
- [293] Daniel Dale. Automated Ground Maintenance and Health Management for Autonomous Unmanned Aerial Vehicles. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2007.
- [294] Thong Q. Dang and Peter R. Bushnell. Aerodynamics of cross-flow fans and their application to aircraft propulsion and flow control. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 45(1-3):1–29, jan 2009.
- [295] DARPA Microsystems Technology Office. Inbound, controlled, air-releasable, unrecoverable systems (ICARUS). Broad Agency Announcement, October 2015.
- [296] Marcelino M. de Almeida and Guilherme V. Raffo. Nonlinear control of a TiltRotor UAV for load transportation. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(19):232–237, 2015.
- [297] Ramiro Chagas de Carvalho. Development of the regenerative soarer: theoretical and practical aspects. In 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, 2018.
- [298] Diulhio de Oliveira and Marco Wehrmeister. Using deep learning and low-cost RGB and thermal cameras to detect pedestrians in aerial images captured by multirotor UAV. Sensors, 18(7):2244, jul 2018.
- [299] B.B.V.L. Deepak and Pritpal Singh. A survey on design and development of an unmanned aerial vehicle (quadcopter). International Journal of Intelligent Unmanned Systems, 4(2):70–106, apr 2016.
- [300] Defence-Safety-Authority. Loss of Watchkeeper (wk043) Unmanned Air Vehicle over Cardigan Bay in West Wales. DSA/DAI B/17/006, 2017.
- [301] John Delaat, George Kopasakis, Joseph Saus, Clarence Chang, and Changlie Wey. Active combustion control for aircraft gas-turbine engines - experimental results for an advanced, lowemissions combustor prototype. In 50th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting including the New Horizons Forum and Aerospace Exposition. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2012.
- [302] C.T. Delagrange. Viability of cross-flow fan for vertical take-off and landing aircraft. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2012.
- [303] Francesco Maria Delle Fave, Eric Shieh, Manish Jain, Albert Xin Jiang, Heather Rosoff, Milind Tambe, and John P Sullivan. Efficient solutions for joint activity based security games: fast algorithms, results and a field experiment on a transit system. Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, 29(5):787–820, 2014.
- [304] Yangping Deng. Experimental investigation on ground effect of ducted fan system for VTOL UAV. In *Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering*, pages 1602–1609. Springer Singapore, 2019.
- [305] Nathan T. Depenbusch, John J. Bird, and Jack W. Langelaan. The autosoar autonomous soaring aircraft, part 1: Autonomy algorithms. *Journal of Field Robotics*, 35(6):868–889, 2018.

- [306] Nathan T. Depenbusch, John J. Bird, and Jack W. Langelaan. The autosoar autonomous soaring aircraft part 2: Hardware implementation and flight results. *Journal of Field Robotics*, 35(4):435– 458, 2018.
- [307] Robert W. Deters, Or D. Dantsker, Stefan Kleinke, Narcrisha Norman, and Michael Selig. Static performance results of propellers used on nano, micro, and mini quadrotors. In 2018 Applied Aerodynamics Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jun 2018.
- [308] D.J. Dewey, M.P. Ashley-Rollman, M. De Rosa, S.C. Goldstein, T.C. Mowry, S.S. Srinivasa, P. Pillai, and J. Campbell. Generalizing metamodules to simplify planning in modular robotic systems. In 2008 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems. IEEE, sep 2008.
- [309] Debadeepta Dey, Kumar Shaurya Shankar, Sam Zeng, Rupesh Mehta, M Talha Agcayazi, Christopher Eriksen, Shreyansh Daftry, Martial Hebert, and J Andrew Bagnell. Vision and learning for deliberative monocular cluttered flight. In *Field and service robotics*, pages 391–409. Springer, 2016.
- [310] Maria-Gabriella Di Benedetto and G. Giancola. Understanding Ultra Wide Band Radio Fundamentals. Prentice Hall, 2004.
- [311] Ryan P. Dibley and Michael J. Allen. Autonomous airborne refueling demonstration, phase I flight-test results. Technical Report NASA/TM-2007-214632, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Dryden Flight Research Center, Edwards, California, December 2007.
- [312] Xu Chu Ding, Amir R Rahmani, and Magnus Egerstedt. Multi-uav convoy protection: An optimal approach to path planning and coordination. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, 26(2):256–268, 2010.
- [313] Suhas Divakar. ATmega8 based obstacle avoiding helicopter. Advanced Materials Research, 403-408:4888–4892, nov 2011.
- [314] K. Dogancay. UAV path planning for passive emitter localization. *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, 48(2):1150–1166, 2012.
- [315] Kevin Dorling, Jordan Heinrichs, Geoffrey G. Messier, and Sebastian Magierowski. Vehicle routing problems for drone delivery. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics:* Systems, 47(1):70–85, jan 2017.
- [316] John M. Doyle. Paddlewheel propulsion is now vertical and multi-modal. Vertifite, 2017.
- [317] Louis K. Dressel and Mykel J. Kochenderfer. Efficient and low-cost localization of radio signals with a multirotor UAV. In 2018 AIAA Guidance, Navigation, and Control Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2018.
- [318] Yong Duan, Bao Xia Cui, and Xin He Xu. A multi-agent reinforcement learning approach to robot soccer. Artificial Intelligence Review, 38(3):193–211, 2012.
- [319] Zhen Duan, Dong Hai Qiu, and Jiu Zhou Gao. Fault-Tolerant Control System Design of UAV Based on Dissimilar Redundancy. *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 397-400:1434–1437, Sep 2013.
- [320] William G Duff. Fundamentals of electromagnetic compatibility. Don White Consultants Inc, 1988.

- [321] V. Dugar, S. Choudhury, and S. Scherer. Smooth trajectory optimization in wind: First results on a full-scale helicopter. In *Proceedings of the 73rd Annual AHS International Forum and Technology Display*, 2017.
- [322] Kadir Durak, Naser Jam, and Cagri Dindar. Object identification and tracking by quantum radar. In *Quantum Technologies and Quantum Information Science V*, volume 11167, page 111670N. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2019.
- [323] Matt Durkee and Richard J. Gaeta. Characterization of thrust and noise of small turboprop and turbojet engines. In AIAA Scitech 2019 Forum. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2019.
- [324] H. Durrant-Whyte and T. Bailey. Simultaneous localisation and mapping: Part 1. *IEEE Robotics Automation Magazine*, pages 99–108, 2006.
- [325] Julia T. Ebert, Melvin Gauci, and Radhika Nagpal. Multi-feature collective decision making in robot swarms. In Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, pages 1711–1719. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, 2018.
- [326] Ali Eftekhari. On the theoretical capacity/energy of Lithium batteries and their counterparts. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 7(4):3684–3687, 2019.
- [327] Derek Egan. Development and characterisation of a lightweight alkaline Aluminium-air cell. PhD thesis, University of Southampton, 2015.
- [328] Rija Ejaz, Gen Good, Shivesh Sharma, and Michele Trancossi. Energetic design of a new autogyro aircraft with cyclorotors with possibility of energy harvesting. *International Journal of Heat and Technology*, 35(Special Issue1):S405–S412, sep 2017.
- [329] M. Elbanhawi, A. Mohamed, R. Clothier, J.L. Palmer, M. Simic, and S. Watkins. Enabling technologies for autonomous MAV operations. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 91:27 – 52, 2017.
- [330] Wilfried Elmenreich. An Introduction to Sensor Fusion, Technical Report, Vienna University of Technology, Austria. 2002.
- [331] Nader Engheta and R.W. Ziolkowski. A positive future for double-negative metamaterials. IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques, 53(4):1535–1556, 2005.
- [332] Milan Erdelj, Michał Król, and Enrico Natalizio. Wireless sensor networks and multi-uav systems for natural disaster management. *Computer Networks*, 124:72–86, 2017.
- [333] Milan Erdelj, Enrico Natalizio, Kaushik R Chowdhury, and Ian F Akyildiz. Help from the sky: Leveraging uavs for disaster management. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, 16(1):24–32, 2017.
- [334] Xing Fang, Fei Liu, and Zhengtao Ding. Robust control of unmanned helicopters with high-order mismatched disturbances via disturbance-compensation-gain construction approach. Journal of the Franklin Institute, 355(15):7158–7177, oct 2018.
- [335] Margarida Faria, Ricardo Marin, Marija Popovic, Ivan Maza, and Antidio Viguria. Efficient lazy theta path planning over a sparse grid to explore large 3d volumes with a multirotor UAV. Sensors, 19(1):174, jan 2019.
- [336] Niels Ferguson, Bruce Schneier, and Tadayoshi Kohno. Cryptography Engineering: Design Principles and Practical Applications. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.

- [337] W.R. Ferrell and T.B. Sheridan. Supervisory control of remote manipulation. Spectrum, IEEE, 4(10):81–88, Oct 1967.
- [338] Arthur Fisher. Secret of perpetual flight? Beam powered plane. *Popular Science*, January:62–65, 1988.
- [339] J. Patrick Fitch. Synthetic Aperture Radar. Springer New York, 1988.
- [340] Torsten Fleischer, Sarah Meyer-Soylu, Jens Schippl, and Michael Decker. Personal aerial transportation systems (PATS) – a potential solution for the urban mobility challenges? *Futures*, 109:50–62, may 2019.
- [341] Flightglobal. General atomics test-flies upgraded gray eagle. Flight International, 2013.
- [342] Pete Florence, John Carter, and Russ Tedrake. Integrated perception and control at high speed: Evaluating collision avoidance maneuvers without maps. In Workshop on the Algorithmic Foundations of Robotics (WAFR), 2016.
- [343] Antonio Franchi, Cristian Secchi, Markus Ryll, Heinrich H Bulthoff, and Paolo Robuffo Giordano. Shared control: Balancing autonomy and human assistance with a group of quadrotor uavs. *IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine*, 19(3):57–68, 2012.
- [344] Jeffrey Freeman, Philip Osterkamp, Michael Green, Andrew Gibson, and Benjamin Schiltgen. Challenges and opportunities for electric aircraft thermal management. *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, 86(6):519–524, sep 2014.
- [345] C. Friedrich and P.A. Robertson. Hybrid-electric propulsion for aircraft. Journal of Aircraft, 52(1):176–189, 2015.
- [346] Shohei Fujita, Kazuma Sekiguchi, and Mitsuji Sampei. Experiment of height and attitude control using monorotor unmanned aerial vehicle. In *Proceedings of the SICE Annual Conference*, 2012.
- [347] Junichiro Fukutomi and Rei Nakamura. Performance and internal flow of cross-flow fan with inlet guide vane. JSME International Journal Series B, 48(4):763–769, 2005.
- [348] Dominic A. Funke, Philipp Hillger, Jurgen Oehm, Pierre Mayr, Lukas Straczek, Nils Pohl, and John S. McCaskill. A 200μ by 100μ smart submersible system with an average current consumption of 1.3na and a compatible voltage converter. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, 64(12):3013–3024, dec 2017.
- [349] Gaspare Galati. Advanced radar techniques and systems. Peter Peregrinus, 1993.
- [350] Samuel F. Gall, Deborah A. Furey, and Othon K. Rediniotis. Aerodynamic investigations of the freewing tilt-body uav. In 36th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting and Exhibit, 1998.
- [351] Jeremi Gancet, Gautier Hattenberger, Rachid Alami, and Simon Lacroix. Task planning and control for a multi-uav system: architecture and algorithms. In 2005 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pages 1017–1022. IEEE, 2005.
- [352] Xian-Zhong Gao, Zhong-Xi Hou, Zheng Guo, Jian-Xia Liu, and Xiao-Qian Chen. Energy management strategy for solar-powered high-altitude long-endurance aircraft. Energy Conversion and Management, 70:20 – 30, 2013.
- [353] Y. Gao, D.-S Li, and X. Liu. UAV Swarm Cooperative Situation Perception Consensus Evaluation. Tien Tzu Hsueh Pao/Acta Electronica Sinica, 47:190–196, January 2019.

- [354] Gonzalo A. Garcia, A Ram Kim, Ethan Jackson, Shawn S. Kashmiri, and Daksh Shukla. Modeling and flight control of a commercial nano quadrotor. In 2017 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS). IEEE, jun 2017.
- [355] Michele Garibaldi, Chris Gerada, Ian Ashcroft, Richard Hague, and Herve Morvan. The impact of additive manufacturing on the development of electrical machines for mea applications: A feasibility study. In *MEA2015 More Electric Aircraft*, 2015.
- [356] Simon Garnier, Jacques Gautrais, and Guy Theraulaz. The biological principles of swarm intelligence. Swarm Intelligence, 1(1):3–31, Jun 2007.
- [357] Przemysław Gasior, Adam Bondyra, Stanisław Gardecki, and Andrzej Kasinski. Cascade control algorithms of position and attitude for multirotor UAV. In 2017 22nd International Conference on Methods and Models in Automation and Robotics (MMAR). IEEE, aug 2017.
- [358] Thomas Gaska, Chris Watkins, and Yu Chen. Integrated Modular Avionics Past, present, and future. *IEEE Aerospace and Electronic Systems Magazine*, 30:12–23, September 2015.
- [359] Mauro Gatti and Fabrizio Giulietti. Preliminary design analysis methodology for electric multirotor. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 46(30):58–63, 2013.
- [360] A. Gautam and S. Mohan. A review of research in multi-robot systems. In 2012 IEEE 7th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS), pages 1–5, Aug 2012.
- [361] Veysel Gazi and Barış Fidan. Coordination and control of multi-agent dynamic systems: Models and approaches. In *International Workshop on Swarm Robotics*, pages 71–102. Springer, 2006.
- [362] Aboma Wagari Gebisa and Hirpa G. Lemu. Additive manufacturing for the manufacture of gas turbine engine components: Literature review and future perspectives. In Volume 6: Ceramics Controls, Diagnostics, and Instrumentation Education Manufacturing Materials and Metallurgy. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2018.
- [363] I. Geiß and R. Voit-Nitschmann. Sizing of the energy storage system of hybrid-electric aircraft in general aviation. CEAS Aeronautical Journal, 8(1):53–65, Mar 2017.
- [364] N.K. Gentry, R. Hsieh, and L.K. Nguyen. Multi-use unmanned aerial vehicle docking station. US Patent US9527605B1, 2014.
- [365] Behdad Geranmehr, Esmaeel Khanmirza, and Shahab Kazemi. Trajectory control of aggressive maneuver by agile autonomous helicopter. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 233(4):1526–1536, feb 2018.
- [366] Sumana Ghosh. Thermal barrier ceramic coatings a review. In Advanced Ceramic Processing. InTech, nov 2015.
- [367] Naomi Gildert, Alan G. Millard, Andrew Pomfret, and Jon Timmis. The need for combining implicit and explicit communication in cooperative robotic systems. Frontiers in Robotics and AI, 5:65, 2018.
- [368] Giovanni Di Girolamo. Current challenges and future perspectives in the field of thermal barrier coatings. In Production, Properties, and Applications of High Temperature Coatings, pages 25–59. IGI Global, 2018.

- [369] Albert R. Gnadt, Raymond L. Speth, Jayant S. Sabnis, and Steven R.H. Barrett. Technical and environmental assessment of all-electric 180-passenger commercial aircraft. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 105:1–30, feb 2019.
- [370] Amir S. Gohardani, Georgios Doulgeris, and Riti Singh. Challenges of future aircraft propulsion: A review of distributed propulsion technology and its potential application for the all electric commercial aircraft. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 47(5):369–391, jul 2011.
- [371] Andreas Goldmann, Waldemar Sauter, Marcel Oettinger, Tim Kluge, Uwe Schröder, Joerg Seume, Jens Friedrichs, and Friedrich Dinkelacker. A study on electrofuels in aviation. *Energies*, 11(2):392, feb 2018.
- [372] S.C. Goldstein, J.D. Campbell, and T.C. Mowry. Programmable matter. Computer, 38(6):99– 101, may 2005.
- [373] D. Goll, D. Schuller, G. Martinek, T. Kunert, J. Schurr, C. Sinz, T. Schubert, T. Bernthaler, H. Riegel, and G. Schneider. Additive manufacturing of soft magnetic materials and components. *Additive Manufacturing*, 27:428–439, may 2019.
- [374] Andrew Gong and Dries Verstraete. Fuel cell propulsion in small fixed-wing unmanned aerial vehicles: Current status and research needs. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 42(33):21311 - 21333, 2017.
- [375] Ian Goodfellow, Jean Pouget-Abadie, Mehdi Mirza, Bing Xu, David Warde-Farley, Sherjil Ozair, Aaron Courville, and Yoshua Bengio. Generative adversarial nets. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 2672–2680, 2014.
- [376] Ian Goodfellow, Jean Pouget-Abadie, Mehdi Mirza, Bing Xu, David Warde-Farley, Sherjil Ozair, Aaron Courville, and Yoshua Bengio. Generative adversarial nets. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 2672–2680, 2014.
- [377] Michael A Goodrich, Timothy W McLain, Jeffrey D Anderson, Jisang Sun, and Jacob W Crandall. Managing autonomy in robot teams: observations from four experiments. In Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE international conference on Human-robot interaction, pages 25–32. ACM, 2007.
- [378] Michael A Goodrich and Alan C Schultz. Human-robot interaction: a survey. Foundations and trends in human-computer interaction, 1(3):203–275, 2007.
- [379] Andres M. Pérez Gordillo, Juan Sebastian Villegas Santos, Omar D. Lopez Mejia, Laura Juliana Suárez Collazos, and Jaime A. Escobar. Numerical and experimental estimation of the efficiency of a quadcopter rotor operating at hover. *Energies*, 12(2):261, jan 2019.
- [380] D. H. Gossett. Investigation of cross flow fan propulsion for lightweight vtol aircraft. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2000.
- [381] Ioannis Goulos and Marco Bonesso. Variable rotor speed and active blade twist for civil rotorcraft: Optimum scheduling, mission analysis, and environmental impact. Aerospace Science and Technology, 88:444–456, may 2019.
- [382] M. Govardhan and D. Lakshmana Sampat. Computational studies of flow through cross flow fans - effect of blade geometry. *Journal of Thermal Science*, 14(3):220–229, sep 2005.

- [383] N.D. Grannan and E. Gutmark. Feasibility study of an inverse brayton uav propulsion system. In 53rd AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting, 2015.
- [384] Colin Greatwood, Thomas Richardson, Jim Freer, Rick Thomas, A. MacKenzie, Rebecca Brownlow, David Lowry, Rebecca Fisher, and Euan Nisbet. Atmospheric sampling on ascension island using multirotor UAVs. Sensors, 17(6):1189, may 2017.
- [385] J. Greene. PLA and PHA biodegradation in the marine environment. Contractor's Report, California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, 2012.
- [386] Cdr.C. Gregerson, J. Bangert, and F. Pappalardi. Celestial augmentation of inertial navigation systems: A robust navigation alternative. SPAWAR Systems Center, White Paper, US Naval Observatory, Washington, DC (USNO), 2000.
- [387] Christine E. Gregg, Joseph H. Kim, and Kenneth C. Cheung. Ultra-light and scalable composite lattice materials. *Advanced Engineering Materials*, 20(9):1800213, may 2018.
- [388] Douglas A. Gregory, Parag Batavia, Mark Coats, Chris Allport, Ann Jennings, and Richard Ernst. The UAS control segment architecture: an overview. In Open Architecture/Open Business Model Net-Centric Systems and Defense Transformation 2013, volume 8754, page 875404. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2013.
- [389] M. D. Gregory, J. A. Bossard, Z. C. P. O. Morgan, C. S. Cicero, J. A. Easum, J. D. Binion, D. Z. Zhu, C. P. Scarborough, P. L. Werner, D. H. Werner, S. Griffiths, M. Ketner, and J. Pompeii. A Low Cost and Highly Efficient Metamaterial Reflector Antenna. *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, 66(3):1545–1548, March 2018.
- [390] Christopher Griffiths, Timothy Wilson, Jeffrey Schneider, and Peter Pierpont. Unmanned aircraft system propulsion systems technology survey. Air Traffic Organization, NextGen and Operations Planning, Office of Research and Technology Development, Washington, DC 20591, 2009.
- [391] H Griffiths and Christopher J Baker. An introduction to passive radar. Artech House, 2017.
- [392] H.F. Grip, W. Johnson, C. Malpica, D.P. Scharf, M. Mandic, L. Young, B. Allan, B.F. Mettler May, and M.S. Martin. Flight dynamics of a mars helicopter. In 43rd European Rotorcraft Forum, 2017.
- [393] Kanika Grover, Alvin Lim, and Qing Yang. Jamming and anti-jamming techniques in wireless networks: A survey. *International Journal of Ad Hoc and Ubiquitous Computing*, 17:197, 2014.
- [394] Michal Grzes, Maciej Slowik, and Zdzisław Gosiewski. Multirotor UAV sensor fusion for precision landing. *Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology*, 91(2):241–248, feb 2019.
- [395] Arthur Norman Guest. Handbook of Satellite Applications; Telemetry, Tracking, and Command (TT&C). Springer New York, 2016.
- [396] Yanming Guo, Yu Liu, Theodoros Georgiou, and Michael S Lew. A review of semantic segmentation using deep neural networks. International journal of multimedia information retrieval, 7(2):87–93, 2018.
- [397] L. Gupta, R. Jain, and G. Vaszkun. Survey of Important Issues in UAV Communication Networks. *IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials*, 18(2):1123–1152, 2016.
- [398] Ohad Gur and Aviv Rosen. Optimizing electric propulsion systems for unmanned aerial vehicles. Journal of Aircraft, 46(4):1340–1353, jul 2009.

- [399] Frank Gustrau. RF and Microwave Engineering: Fundamentals of Wireless Communications | RF / Microwave Theory & Techniques | General & Introductory Electrical & Electronics Engineering | Subjects | Wiley, August 2012.
- [400] J.L. Guzman, T. Hagglund, K.J. Astrom, S. Dormido, M. Berenguel, and Y. Piguet. Understanding pid design through interactive tools. *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, 47(3):12243 – 12248, 2014. 19th IFAC World Congress.
- [401] Atanu Halder and Moble Benedict. Role of blade flexibility on cycloidal rotor hover performance. Journal of Aircraft, 55(5):1773–1791, sep 2018.
- [402] Heiko Hamann. Space-time continuous models of swarm robotic systems: Supporting global-tolocal programming, volume 9. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [403] Heiko Hamann. Swarm Robotics: A Formal Approach. Springer, 2018.
- [404] Heiko Hamann, Gabriele Valentini, Yara Khaluf, and Marco Dorigo. Derivation of a micromacro link for collective decision-making systems. In Thomas Bartz-Beielstein, Jürgen Branke, Bogdan Filipič, and Jim Smith, editors, *Parallel Problem Solving from Nature – PPSN XIII*, pages 181–190, Cham, 2014. Springer International Publishing.
- [405] Mehdi Bennis Hamid Shiri, Jihong Park. Massive autonomous UAV path planning: A neural network based mean-field game theoretic approach. *IEEE GLOBECOM*, 2019.
- [406] Jared R. Hammerton, Weihua Su, Guoming Zhu, and Sean Shan-Min Swei. Optimum distributed wing shaping and control loads for highly flexible aircraft. Aerospace Science and Technology, 79:255 – 265, 2018.
- [407] Jinlu Han, Yaojin Xu, Long Di, and YangQuan Chen. Low-cost multi-uav technologies for contour mapping of nuclear radiation field. *Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems*, 70(1-4):401–410, 2013.
- [408] M.A. Hannan, Jamal A. Ali, Azah Mohamed, and Aini Hussain. Optimization techniques to enhance the performance of induction motor drives: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81:1611–1626, jan 2018.
- [409] Daniel Damir Harabor and Alban Grastien. Online graph pruning for pathfinding on grid maps. In *Twenty-Fifth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 2011.
- [410] Jessie E. Harlow, Xiaowei Ma, Jing Li, Eric Logan, Yulong Liu, Ning Zhang, Lin Ma, Stephen L. Glazier, Marc M. E. Cormier, Matthew Genovese, Samuel Buteau, Andrew Cameron, Jamie E. Stark, and J. R. Dahn. A wide range of testing results on an excellent lithium-ion cell chemistry to be used as benchmarks for new battery technologies. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 166(13):A3031–A3044, 2019.
- [411] Franklin D. Harris, Eugene F. Kasper, and Laura E. Iseler. Us civil rotorcraft accidents, 1963 through 1997. Technical report, NASA, 2000.
- [412] M. Hassanalian and A. Abdelkefi. Classifications, applications, and design challenges of drones: A review. Progress in Aerospace Sciences, 91:99–131, may 2017.
- [413] A. Koichi Hayashi, Xinmeng Tang, Nobuyuki Tsuboi, Kohei Ozawa, Kazuhiro Ishii, Tetsuro Obara, Shinichi Maeda, Edyta Dzieminska, and Toshiharu Mizukaki. Development of a high efficiency system with a rotating detonation engine for a gas turbine engine (RDE-GTE) using

pressure gain combustion. In AIAA Scitech 2019 Forum. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2019.

- [414] Markus Henke, Gerrit Narjes, Jan Hoffmann, Constantin Wohlers, Stefan Urbanek, Christian Heister, Jörn Steinbrink, Wolf-Rüdiger Canders, and Bernd Ponick. Challenges and opportunities of very light high-performance electric drives for aviation. *Energies*, 11(2):344, feb 2018.
- [415] Caleb Henry. Three rules for building a megaconstellation. https://spacenews.com/three-rulesfor-building-a-megaconstellation/, 2019. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [416] Martin Hepperle. Electric flight potential and limitations. Technical report, German Aerospace Center, 2012.
- [417] Jimenez Silva Hernandez. Experimental validation of unmanned aerial vehicles to tune PID controllers in open source autopilots. 7th European Conference for Aeronautics and Space Sciences (EUCASS), 2014.
- [418] John B. Heywood. Internal combustion engine fundamentals. McGraw-Hill, 1988.
- [419] John B. Heywood and Orian Z. Welling. Trends in performance characteristics of modern automobile SI and Diesel engines. SAE International Journal of Engines, 2(1):1650–1662, 2009.
- [420] S. Hiergeist and G. Seifert. Internal redundancy in future uav fccs and the challenge of synchronization. In 2017 IEEE/AIAA 36th Digital Avionics Systems Conference (DASC), pages 1–9, Sep 2017.
- [421] Robert Hilbrich and Laurent Dieudonn'e. Deploying Safety-Critical Applications on Complex Avionics Hardware Architectures. Journal of Software Engineering and Applications, 06(05):229– 235, 2013.
- [422] Ajmal Hinas, Roshan Ragel, Jonathan Roberts, and Felipe Gonzalez. A framework for visionbased multiple target finding and action using multirotor UAVs. In 2018 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS). IEEE, jun 2018.
- [423] Christopher Hockley and Brian Butka. The SamarEye: A biologically inspired autonomous vehicle. In 29th Digital Avionics Systems Conference. IEEE, oct 2010.
- [424] Th. Van Holten. A single rotor without reaction torque: a violation of newton's laws or feasible? In 28th European Rotorcraft Forum, 2002.
- [425] Atsushi Hori, Tatsuya Furui, Daisuke Iwakura, and Kenzo Nonami. A study of adaptive control for multi-rotor helicopter. In 12th International Conference on Motion and Vibration Control, 2014.
- [426] A. Horne, A. Blake, A. Lawson, and C. Stevenson. Exploration of multidimensional radio frequency imaging to derive remote intelligence of building interiors. 2018.
- [427] Stephen Hornsey. A review of relay auto-tuning methods for the tuning of PID-type controllers. Reinvention: an International Journal of Undergraduate Research, 5(2), 2012.
- [428] Naser Hossein. Frequency Hopping Spread Spectrum: An Effective Way to Improve Wireless Communication Performance. In Mutamed Khatib, editor, Advanced Trends in Wireless Communications. InTech, 2011.

- [429] Qing-Ming Hou, Jie Zhao, Hong-Zhe Jin, Li Ge, Yan-He Zhu, and Shu-Fei Yu. Structure optimization of ducted-fan uav based on cfd. *Journal of Aeronautics, Astronautics and Aviation*, 2013.
- [430] Vikram Hrishikeshavan, Moble Benedict, and Inderjit Chopra. Identification of flight dynamics of a cylcocopter micro air vehicle in hover. *Journal of Aircraft*, 52(1):116–129, jan 2015.
- [431] B. Hu, L. Lu, and S. Mishra. A control architecture for fast and precise autonomous landing of a vtol uav onto an oscillating platform. In 71st American Helicopter Society International Annual Forum, 2015.
- [432] Jinshuo Hu and Hongbin Gu. Survey on flight control technology for large-scale helicopter. International Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 2017:1–14, 2017.
- [433] Y. Hu, H.L. Zhang, and C. Tan. The effect of the aerofoil thickness on the performance of the MAV scale cycloidal rotor. *The Aeronautical Journal*, 119(1213):343–364, mar 2015.
- [434] Yu Hu, Xuyang Fu, Hailang Zhang, Gengqi Wang, and Hussain Farhat. Effects of blade aspect ratio and taper ratio on hovering performance of cycloidal rotor with large blade pitching amplitude. *Chinese Journal of Aeronautics*, 32(5):1121–1135, may 2019.
- [435] Yanting Huang, Ming Zhu, Zewei Zheng, and Mir Feroskhan. Fixed-time autonomous shipboard landing control of a helicopter with external disturbances. Aerospace Science and Technology, 84:18–30, jan 2019.
- [436] Yong Huang. Development of a Rectenna Adapted to Ultra-wide Load Range for Microwave Power Transmission. PhD thesis, Kyoto University, 2015.
- [437] Zhi-Cheng Huang, Cheng-Yang Yeh, Kuo-Hsin Tseng, and Wen-Yang Hsu. A UAV-RTK lidar system for wave and tide measurements in coastal zones. *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, 35(8):1557–1570, aug 2018.
- [438] K. Hui, D. Phillips, and A. Kekirigoda. Beyond line-of-sight range extension in contested environments with OPAL using autonomous unmanned aerial vehicles. In 2017 27th International Telecommunication Networks and Applications Conference (ITNAC), pages 1–5, 2017.
- [439] In Seong Hwang, Seung Yong Min, Choong Hee Lee, and Seung Jo Kim. Development of a four-rotor cyclocopter. *Journal of Aircraft*, 45(6):2151–2157, nov 2008.
- [440] In Seong Hwang, Seung Yong Min, Choong Hee Lee, Yun Han Lee, and Seung Jo Kim. Structural design and analysis of elliptic cyclocopter rotor blades. In 16th International Conference on Composite Materials, 2007.
- [441] Adrian Ieta and Marius Chirita. Electrohydrodynamic propeller for in-atmosphere propulsion rotational device first flight. *Journal of Electrostatics*, 100:103352, jul 2019.
- [442] Krzysztof Iniewski and James E. Morris. Graphene, Carbon Nanotubes, and Nanostructures. John Wiley and Sons, 2017.
- [443] Iridium. Iridium Satellite Communications.
- [444] Askin Isikveren, Sascha Kaiser, Clément Pornet, and Patrick Vratny. Pre-design strategies and sizing techniques for dual-energy aircraft. Aircraft engineering and aerospace technology, 86:525– 542, 10 2014.

- [445] Ali Işın, Cem Direkoğlu, and Melike Şah. Review of mri-based brain tumor image segmentation using deep learning methods. *Procedia Computer Science*, 102:317–324, 2016.
- [446] Mohammad Izadi Najafabadi and Nuraini Abdul Aziz. Homogeneous charge compression ignition combustion: Challenges and proposed solutions. *Journal of Combustion*, 2013:14, 2013.
- [447] Soheil Jafari, Seyed Miran Fashandi, and Theoklis Nikolaidis. Control requirements for future gas turbine-powered unmanned drones: JetQuads. *Applied Sciences*, 8(12):2675, dec 2018.
- [448] A Javaid, KKC Ho, A Bismarck, JHG Steinke, MSP Shaffer, and ES Greenhalgh. Improving the multifunctional behaviour of structural supercapacitors by incorporating chemically activated carbon fibres and mesoporous silica particles as reinforcement. *Journal of Composite Materials*, 52(22):3085–3097, 2018.
- [449] David Jenn. Overview of Antennas for UAVs, November 2002.
- [450] Nicholas R Jennings, Luc Moreau, D Nicholson, Sarvapali D Ramchurn, S Roberts, T Rodden, and Alex Rogers. On human-agent collectives. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(12):33–42, 2014.
- [451] Junho Jeong, Seungkeun Kim, and Jinyoung Suk. Control system design for a ducted-fan unmanned aerial vehicle using linear quadratic tracker. International Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 2015:1–12, 2015.
- [452] Akhilesh K. Jha and Jayanth N. Kudva. Morphing aircraft concepts, classifications, and challenges. In Eric H. Anderson, editor, Smart Structures and Materials 2004: Industrial and Commercial Applications of Smart Structures Technologies, volume 5388, pages 213 224. International Society for Optics and Photonics, SPIE, 2004.
- [453] Tao Jiang, Defu Lin, and Tao Song. Finite-time control for small-scale unmanned helicopter with disturbances. *Nonlinear Dynamics*, 96(3):1747–1763, mar 2019.
- [454] Seunghwan Jo, Byoungju Lee, Jangjin Oh, Jeonggyu Song, Changmin Lee, Seungkeun Kim, and Jinyoung Suk. Experimental study of in-flight deployment of a multicopter from a fixed-wing UAV. International Journal of Aeronautical and Space Sciences, 20(3):697–709, feb 2019.
- [455] Wilhelm Johannisson, Dan Zenkert, and Göran Lindbergh. Model of a structural battery and its potential for system level mass savings. *Multifunctional Materials*, 2(3):035002, sep 2019.
- [456] Sunggoo Jung, Hanseob Lee, Sunyou Hwang, and David Hyunchul Shim. Real time embedded system framework for autonomous drone racing using deep learning techniques. In 2018 AIAA Information Systems-AIAA Infotech @ Aerospace. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2018.
- [457] Sunghun Jung, Yonghyeon Jo, and Young-Joon Kim. Aerial surveillance with low-altitude longendurance tethered multirotor UAVs using photovoltaic power management system. *Energies*, 12(7):1323, apr 2019.
- [458] Yong Su Jung, Ju Yeol You, and Oh Joon Kwon. Numerical investigation of prop-rotor and tail-wing aerodynamic interference for a tilt-rotor UAV configuration. *Journal of Mechanical Science and Technology*, 28(7):2609–2617, jul 2014.
- [459] Zachary Kallenborn. The Era of the Drone Swarm Is Coming, and We Need to Be Ready for It, October 2018.

- [460] Christoforos Kanellakis and George Nikolakopoulos. Survey on computer vision for UAVs: Current developments and trends. Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems, 87(1):141–168, Jul 2017.
- [461] Mustafa Emre Karagozler, Seth Copen Goldstein, and J. Robert Reid. Stress-driven MEMS assembly + electrostatic forces = 1mm diameter robot. In 2009 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems. IEEE, oct 2009.
- [462] Stanislav Karpuk, Petr Kazarin, Snorri Gudmundsson, and Vladimir V. Golubev. Preliminary feasibility study of a multi-purpose aircraft concept with a leading-edge embedded cross-flow fan. In 2018 AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2018.
- [463] Tero Karras, Timo Aila, Samuli Laine, and Jaakko Lehtinen. Progressive growing of gans for improved quality, stability, and variation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1710.10196, 2017.
- [464] S. Karthikayan, S. Ganesan, P. Vasanthakumar, G. Sankaranarayanan, and M. Dinakar. Innovative research trends in the application of thermal barrier metal coating in internal combustion engines. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 4(8):9004–9012, 2017.
- [465] H. Kaushal and G. Kaddoum. Optical Communication in Space: Challenges and Mitigation Techniques. IEEE Communications Surveys Tutorials, 19(1):57–96, 2017.
- [466] Hemani Kaushal, V. K. Jain, and Subrat Kar. Free Space Optical Communication. Springer India, 2017.
- [467] L. E. Kavraki, P. Svestka, J. . Latombe, and M. H. Overmars. Probabilistic roadmaps for path planning in high-dimensional configuration spaces. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation*, 12(4):566–580, Aug 1996.
- [468] A. J. Keane, András Sóbester, and James P. Scanlan. Small unmanned fixed-wing aircraft design : a practical approach. 2017.
- [469] Mike F. Kerho, Phillip J. Ansell, Steve D'Urso, Gavin Ananda, and Aaron Perry. Design, analysis, and evaluation of a propulsive wing concept. In 34th AIAA Applied Aerodynamics Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jun 2016.
- [470] Serge Kernbach, Eugen Meister, Florian Schlachter, Kristof Jebens, Marc Szymanski, Jens Liedke, Davide Laneri, Lutz Winkler, Thomas Schmickl, Ronald Thenius, Paolo Corradi, and Leonardo Ricotti. Symbiotic Robot Organisms: REPLICATOR and SYMBRION Projects. In R. Madhavan and E. Messina, editors, *Proceedings of the Performance Metrics for Intelligent Systems Workshop (PerMIS)*, pages 62–69. NIST Special Publication 1090, 2008.
- [471] Ismail Mohd Khairuddin, Anwar P.P.A. Majeed, Ann Lim, Mohd Azraai Mohd Razman, and Abdul Aziz Jaafar. Altitude and attitude control of a trirotor UAV. Advanced Materials Research, 903:309–314, feb 2014.
- [472] Mutamed Khatib, editor. Advanced Trends in Wireless Communications. InTech, 2011.
- [473] Mutamed Khatib. Contemporary Issues in Wireless Communications. November 2014.
- [474] Mohammad Omar Khyam, Md Noor-A-Rahim, Xinde Li, C. Ritz, Yong Guan, and S. Ge. Design of Chirp Waveforms for Multiple-access Ultrasonic Indoor Positioning. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, PP:1–1, 2018.

- [475] Gyouho Kim, Yoonmyung Lee, Zhiyoong Foo, Pat Pannuto, Ye-Sheng Kuo, Ben Kempke, Mohammad Hassan Ghaed, Suyoung Bang, Inhee Lee, Yejoong Kim, Seokhyeon Jeong, Prabal Dutta, Dennis Sylvester, and David Blaauw. A millimeter-scale wireless imaging system with continuous motion detection and energy harvesting. In 2014 Symposium on VLSI Circuits Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE, jun 2014.
- [476] Hyeongseok Kim, Daejin Lim, and Kwanjung Yee. Development of a comprehensive analysis and optimized design framework for the multirotor uav. In 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, 2018.
- [477] Hyun D. Kim, Aaron T. Perry, and Phillip J. Ansell. A Review of Distributed Electric Propulsion Concepts for Air Vehicle Technology.
- [478] Hyuntak Kim, Taek Hyun Oh, and Sejin Kwon. Simple catalyst bed sizing of a nabh4 hydrogen generator with fast startup for small unmanned aerial vehicles. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 41(2):1018 – 1026, 2016.
- [479] Minhee Kim, Sanghoon Kim, Woore Kim, Chongam Kim, and Yushin Kim. Flow control of tiltrotor unamnned-aerial-vehicle airfoils using synthetic jets. *Journal of Aircraft*, 48(3):1045– 1057, may 2011.
- [480] Tae-An Kim, D. W. Kim, S. K. Park, and Youn J. Kim. Performance of a cross-flow fan with various shapes of a rearguider and an exit duct. *Journal of Mechanical Science and Technology*, 22(10):1876–1882, oct 2008.
- [481] Philip H. King, James Scanlan, and Andras Sobester. From Radiosonde To Papersonde: The Use of Conductive Inkjet Printing in the Massive Atmospheric Volume Instrumentation System (MAVIS) Project. 2015.
- [482] Kristian Klausen, Thor I. Fossen, and Tor Arne Johansen. Nonlinear control with swing damping of a multirotor UAV with suspended load. *Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems*, 88(2-4):379– 394, mar 2017.
- [483] Andrew T. Klesh and Pierre T. Kabamba. Solar-powered aircraft: Energy-optimal path planning and perpetual endurance. *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, 32(4):1320–1329, 2009.
- [484] Andy Ko, Osgar Ohanian, and Paul Gelhausen. Ducted fan UAV modeling and simulation in preliminary design. In AIAA Modeling and Simulation Technologies Conference and Exhibit. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, aug 2007.
- [485] Hideaki Kobayashi, Akihiro Hayakawa, K.D. Kunkuma A. Somarathne, and Ekenechukwu C. Okafor. Science and technology of ammonia combustion. *Proceedings of the Combustion Institute*, 37(1):109–133, 2019.
- [486] Ilker Murat Koc, Semuel Franko, and Can Ozsoy. Hovering stability of a model helicopter. Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, 88(6):810–817, oct 2016.
- [487] Andreas Kolling, Phillip Walker, Nilanjan Chakraborty, Katia Sycara, and Michael Lewis. Human interaction with robot swarms: A survey. *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, 46(1):9–26, 2015.
- [488] Weilu Kong, Yutaka Terao, and Hiroyuki Ohsaki. Optimal design of a superconducting motor for electric-drive aeropropulsion based on finite-element analysis and genetic algorithm. *Journal* of Physics: Conference Series, 1054:012082, jul 2018.

- [489] Zhiwei Kong and Qiang Lu. Mathematical modeling and modal switching control of a novel tiltrotor UAV. Journal of Robotics, 2018:1–12, aug 2018.
- [490] Michael Kontitsis, Kimon P Valavanis, and Nikos Tsourveloudis. A uav vision system for airborne surveillance. In *IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, 2004. Proceedings. *ICRA*'04. 2004, volume 1, pages 77–83. IEEE, 2004.
- [491] K. Kopsa and A.T. Kutay. Reinforcement learning control for helicopter landing in autorotation. In 44th European Rotorcraft Forum, 2018.
- [492] G. M. Koretsky, J. F. Nicoll, and M. S. Taylor. A Tutorial on Electro-Optical/Infrared (EO/IR) Theory and Systems. Technical Report IDA-D-4642, Institute for Defense Analyses, 2013.
- [493] Denis Kotarski, Matija Krznar, Petar Piljek, and Nikola Simunic. Experimental identification and characterization of multirotor UAV propulsion. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 870:012003, jul 2017.
- [494] Paul L. Krapivsky and Sidney Redner. Dynamics of majority rule in two-state interacting spin systems. *Physical Review Letters*, 90(23):238701, 2003.
- [495] Alex Krizhevsky, Ilya Sutskever, and Geoffrey E Hinton. Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. In Advances in neural information processing systems, pages 1097–1105, 2012.
- [496] N. Kumar and S. R. Vadera. Stealth Materials and Technology for Airborne Systems. In N. Eswara Prasad and R. J. H. Wanhill, editors, *Aerospace Materials and Material Technologies* : Volume 1: Aerospace Materials, Indian Institute of Metals Series, pages 519–537. Springer Singapore, 2017.
- [497] Joseph Kummer. Simulation of the Cross-Flow Fan and Application to a Propulsive Airfoil Concept. PhD thesis, Syracuse University, 2006.
- [498] Joseph D. Kummer and Thong Q. Dang. High-lift propulsive airfoil with integrated crossflow fan. Journal of Aircraft, 43(4):1059–1068, jul 2006.
- [499] H. L. Kwek. Viability of cross-flow fan with helical blades for vertical take-off and landing aircraft. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2012.
- [500] Konstantinos G. Kyprianidis and Andrew M. Rolt. On the optimization of a geared fan intercooled core engine design. Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power, 137(4), oct 2014.
- [501] Matthew Lai. Deep learning for medical image segmentation. arXiv preprint arXiv:1505.02000, 2015.
- [502] Benoit Landry, Robin Deits, Peter R Florence, and Russ Tedrake. Aggressive quadrotor flight through cluttered environments using mixed integer programming. In 2016 IEEE international conference on robotics and automation (ICRA), pages 1469–1475. IEEE, 2016.
- [503] J. W. Langelaan, J. Spletzer, C. Montella, and J. Grenestedt. Wind field estimation for autonomous dynamic soaring. In 2012 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, pages 16–22, May 2012.

- [504] Richard B. Langley, Peter J.G. Teunissen, and Oliver Montenbruck. Introduction to GNSS. In Peter J.G. Teunissen and Oliver Montenbruck, editors, *Springer Handbook of Global Navigation Satellite Systems*, Springer Handbooks, pages 3–23. Springer International Publishing, 2017.
- [505] James Large and Apostolos Pesyridis. Investigation of micro gas turbine systems for high speed long loiter tactical unmanned air systems. *Aerospace*, 6(5):55, may 2019.
- [506] Steven M LaValle and James J Kuffner Jr. Randomized kinodynamic planning. The international journal of robotics research, 20(5):378–400, 2001.
- [507] M Le Pera. The reality of the single-fuel concept. Army Logistician; Professional Bulletin of United States Army Logistics, PB 700-05-2 Volume 37, 2005.
- [508] Christian Ledig, Lucas Theis, Ferenc Huszár, Jose Caballero, Andrew Cunningham, Alejandro Acosta, Andrew Aitken, Alykhan Tejani, Johannes Totz, Zehan Wang, et al. Photo-realistic single image super-resolution using a generative adversarial network. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 4681–4690, 2017.
- [509] Choong Hee Lee, Seung Yong Min, Jong Won Lee, and Seung Jo Kim. Design, analysis, and experimental investigation of a cyclocopter with two rotors. *Journal of Aircraft*, 53(5):1527–1537, sep 2016.
- [510] Dong Jin Lee and Hyochoong Bang. Autonomous autorotation of an unmanned helicopter using a reinforcement learning algorithm. *Journal of Aerospace Information Systems*, 10(2):98–104, feb 2013.
- [511] Sanga Lee, Wontae Hwang, and Kwanjung Yee. Robust film cooling hole shape optimization considering surface roughness and partial hole blockage. In *Volume 5C: Heat Transfer*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2018.
- [512] Yoonmyung Lee, Suyoung Bang, Inhee Lee, Yejoong Kim, Gyouho Kim, Mohammad Hassan Ghaed, Pat Pannuto, Prabal Dutta, Dennis Sylvester, and David Blaauw. A modular 1 mm³ die-stacked sensing platform with low power I²c inter-die communication and multi-modal energy harvesting. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, 48(1):229–243, jan 2013.
- [513] Thomas Lemaire, Rachid Alami, and Simon Lacroix. A distributed tasks allocation scheme in multi-uav context. In *IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation*, 2004. *Proceedings. ICRA'04. 2004*, volume 4, pages 3622–3627. IEEE, 2004.
- [514] T. L. Lenox, T. Payne, S. Hahn, M. Lewis, and K. Sycara. Agent-Based Aiding for Individual and Team Planning Tasks. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 44(1):65–68, July 2000.
- [515] Michael Lewis, Katia Sycara, and Paul Scerri. Scaling up wide-area-search-munition teams. *IEEE Intelligent Systems*, 24(3):10–13, 2009.
- [516] Hualei Li and Zhiyong Tan. Thermodynamic analysis on optimum pressure ratio split of intercooled recuperated turbofan engines. In *Volume 1: Aircraft Engine Fans and Blowers Marine*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2018.
- [517] Hui Li. Streamline computation study on rotation aerodynamic noise prediction of cross-flow fan. Acoustical Physics, 65(4):418–431, jul 2019.

- [518] Tzu-Jui Lin, Siyu Long, and Karl A. Stol. Automated perching of a multirotor UAV atop round timber posts. In 2018 IEEE/ASME International Conference on Advanced Intelligent Mechatronics (AIM). IEEE, jul 2018.
- [519] Wilfried Linder. Digital Photogrammetry: A Practical Course. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2016.
- [520] Lars Lindner, Oleg Sergiyenko, Moisés Rivas-López, Benjamin Valdez-Salas, Julio C Rodríguez-Quiñonez, Daniel Hernández-Balbuena, Wendy Flores-Fuentes, Vera Tyrsa Misael, Medina Barrera, Fabian N Muerrieta-Rico, et al. Machine vision system for uav navigation. In 2016 International Conference on Electrical Systems for Aircraft, Railway, Ship Propulsion and Road Vehicles & International Transportation Electrification Conference (ESARS-ITEC), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2016.
- [521] Jonathan S. Litt, Jeffrey C. Chin, and Yuan Liu. Simulating the use of alternative fuels in a turbofan engine. Technical report, NASA Glenn Research Center, 2013.
- [522] Bin Liu, Rod Badcock, Hang Shu, and Jin Fang. A superconducting induction motor with a high temperature superconducting armature: Electromagnetic theory, design and analysis. *Energies*, 11(4):792, mar 2018.
- [523] Li Liu, Wanli Ouyang, Xiaogang Wang, Paul Fieguth, Jie Chen, Xinwang Liu, and Matti Pietikäinen. Deep learning for generic object detection: A survey. arXiv preprint arXiv:1809.02165, 2018.
- [524] Shaohua Liu, Pavlo Gordiichuk, Zhong-Shuai Wu, Zhaoyang Liu, Wei Wei, Manfred Wagner, Nasser Mohamed-Noriega, Dongqing Wu, Yiyong Mai, Andreas Herrmann, Klaus Müllen, and Xinliang Feng. Patterning two-dimensional free-standing surfaces with mesoporous conducting polymers. *Nature Communications*, 6(1), nov 2015.
- [525] Sikang Liu, Michael Watterson, Kartik Mohta, Ke Sun, Subhrajit Bhattacharya, Camillo J Taylor, and Vijay Kumar. Planning dynamically feasible trajectories for quadrotors using safe flight corridors in 3-d complex environments. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, 2(3):1688– 1695, 2017.
- [526] Yaolong Liu, Michael Kreimeier, Eike Stumpf, Yaoming Zhou, and Hu Liu. Overview of recent endeavors on personal aerial vehicles: A focus on the US and Europe led research activities. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 91:53–66, may 2017.
- [527] Yisi Liu, Qian Sun, Wenzhang Li, Keegan R. Adair, Jie Li, and Xueliang Sun. A comprehensive review on recent progress in aluminum–air batteries. *Green Energy & Environment*, 2(3):246 – 277, 2017. Special Issue on Energy Storage and Conversion.
- [528] David Long. Radar Scatterometers. In Eni G. Njoku, editor, *Encyclopedia of Remote Sensing*, pages 532–535. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2014.
- [529] Yuhao Lu, John B. Goodenough, and Youngsik Kim. Aqueous cathode for next-generation alkali-ion batteries. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 133(15):5756–5759, 2011. PMID: 21443190.
- [530] Patrick Chi-Kwong Luk. Superconducting machines the enabling technology for future electric propulsion in aircraft. In 2017 7th International Conference on Power Electronics Systems and Applications - Smart Mobility, Power Transfer & Security (PESA). IEEE, dec 2017.

- [531] Eridy Lukau. 5G Cellular Network for Machine to Machine Communication. PhD thesis, 03 2015.
- [532] Jonas Lundberg, Mattias Arvola, Carl Westin, Stefan Holmlid, Mathias Nordvall, and Billy Josefsson. Cognitive work analysis in the conceptual design of first-of-a-kind systems designing urban air traffic management. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 37(9):904–925, 2018.
- [533] Delin Luo, Rongzeng Xie, and Haibin Duan. A guidance law for uav autonomous aerial refueling based on the iterative computation method. *Chinese Journal of Aeronautics*, 27(4):875 – 883, 2014.
- [534] Yu Luo, Jingjing Zhang, Lixin Ran, Hongsheng Chen, and Jin Au Kong. New Concept Conformal Antennas Utilizing Metamaterial and Transformation Optics. *IEEE*, 2008.
- [535] Ximin Lyu, Haowei Gu, Ya Wang, Zexiang Li, Shaojie Shen, and Fu Zhang. Design and implementation of a quadrotor tail-sitter VTOL UAV. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA). IEEE, may 2017.
- [536] Tielin Ma, Xiangsheng Wang, Zhihua Wei, Xue Zihan, and Dawei Bie. Conceptual design of a VTOL box-wing UAV with rotatable duct-fans. In AIAA Scitech 2019 Forum. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2019.
- [537] Yimin Ma, Ming Chen, Qiang Wang, and Fang Wang. Main helicopter rotor trimming using computational fluid dynamics method in forward flight. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 232(1):169–179, oct 2016.
- [538] Vincenzo Madonna, Paolo Giangrande, and Michael Galea. Electrical power generation in aircraft: Review, challenges, and opportunities. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, 4(3):646–659, sep 2018.
- [539] Alexis Madrigal. Drone Swarms Are Going to Be Terrifying and Hard to Stop. *The Atlantic*, March 2018.
- [540] Liubov Magerramova, Michail Volkov, Maria Svinareva, and Alex Siversky. The use of additive technologies to create lightweight parts for gas turbine engine compressors. In *Volume 7A: Structures and Dynamics*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2018.
- [541] Oyvind Magnussen, Geir Hovland, and Morten Ottestad. Multicopter UAV design optimization. In 2014 IEEE/ASME 10th International Conference on Mechatronic and Embedded Systems and Applications (MESA). IEEE, sep 2014.
- [542] Øyvind Magnussen, Morten Ottestad, and Geir Hovland. Multicopter design optimization and validation. Modeling, Identification and Control: A Norwegian Research Bulletin, 36(2):67–79, 2015.
- [543] Mohammad H. Mahoor, R. Godzdanker, K. Dalamagkidis, and K. P. Valavanis. Vision-based landing of light weight unmanned helicopters on a smart landing platform. *Journal of Intelligent* & Robotic Systems, 61(1-4):251–265, nov 2010.
- [544] Seyed Majid Azimi. Shuffledet: Real-time vehicle detection network in on-board embedded uav imagery. In Proceedings of the European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV), pages 0–0, 2018.

- [545] Marco Mammarella, Giampiero Campa, Marcello R Napolitano, Mario L Fravolini, Yu Gu, and Mario G Perhinschi. Machine vision/gps integration using ekf for the uav aerial refueling problem. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part C (Applications and Reviews)*, 38(6):791–801, 2008.
- [546] Charalampos D. Manolopoulos, Matteo F. Iacchetti, Alexander C. Smith, Kevin Berger, Mark Husband, and Paul Miller. Stator design and performance of superconducting motors for aerospace electric propulsion systems. *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, 28(4):1– 5, jun 2018.
- [547] A. Marcellan, W. P. J. Visser, and P. Colonna. Potential of micro turbine based propulsion systems for civil UAVs: A case study. In *Volume 1: Aircraft Engine Fans and Blowers Marine*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2016.
- [548] P.T. Marshall. Power line sentry charging. US Patent US7398946B1, 2005.
- [549] Henry Martin, Paul Groves, Mark Newman, and Ramsey Faragher. A new approach to better low-cost mems imu performance using sensor arrays. volume 3, 09 2013.
- [550] M. J. Martin. Designing a cross-flow fan rotor for vertical take-off and landing aircraft. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2013.
- [551] C. Martínez, T. Richardson, and P. Campoy. Towards autonomous air-to-air refuelling for uavs using visual information. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, pages 5756–5762, May 2013.
- [552] Richard Mason. Feasibility of laser power transmission to a high-altitude unmanned aerial vehicle. Technical report, The RAND Corporation, prepared for the US Air Force, 2011.
- [553] Andrea Massa, Giacomo Oliveri, Federico Viani, and Paolo Rocca. Array designs for longdistance wireless power transmission: State-of-the-art and innovative solutions. *Proceedings of* the IEEE, 101:1464–1481, 2013.
- [554] Philippe J. Masson and Cesar A. Luongo. HTS machines for applications in all-electric aircraft. In 2007 IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting. IEEE, jun 2007.
- [555] Larry Matthies, Roland Brockers, Yoshiaki Kuwata, and Stephan Weiss. Stereo vision-based obstacle avoidance for micro air vehicles using disparity space. In 2014 IEEE international conference on robotics and automation (ICRA), pages 3242–3249. IEEE, 2014.
- [556] Iván Maza, Fernando Caballero, Jesús Capitán, José Ramiro Martínez-de Dios, and Aníbal Ollero. Experimental results in multi-uav coordination for disaster management and civil security applications. Journal of intelligent & robotic systems, 61(1-4):563–585, 2011.
- [557] Ivan Maza, Konstantin Kondak, Markus Bernard, and Aníbal Ollero. Multi-uav cooperation and control for load transportation and deployment. In *Selected papers from the 2nd International Symposium on UAVs, Reno, Nevada, USA June 8–10, 2009*, pages 417–449. Springer, 2009.
- [558] John S. McCaskill. Microscopic Chemically Reactive Electronic Agents, pages 81–91. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2018.

- [559] John S McCaskill, Günter von Kiedrowski, Jürgen Oehm, Pierre Mayr, Lee Cronin, Itamar Willner, A Hermann, Steen Rasmussen, Frantisek Stepanek, Norman H Packard, et al. Microscale chemically reactive electronic agents. *International Journal of Unconventional Computing*, 8(4):289–299, 2012.
- [560] F. Patrick McCluskey, Yonatan Saadon, Zhaoxi Yao, and Alexander Camacho. Cooling for electric aircraft motors. In 2019 18th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITherm). IEEE, may 2019.
- [561] Hamish Meikle. Modern radar systems. Artech House, Boston, 2008.
- [562] F Memet and C Faitar. A thermodynamic optimization of a gas turbine cycle with a supplementary regenerator. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 591:012094, aug 2019.
- [563] Luis Merino, Johan Wiklund, Fernando Caballero, Anders Moe, José Ramiro Martinez De Dios, P-E Forssen, Klas Nordberg, and Anibal Ollero. Vision-based multi-uav position estimation. *IEEE robotics & automation magazine*, 13(3):53–62, 2006.
- [564] Metamaterial Technologies Inc. About Metamaterials. http://content.metamaterial.com/downloadthe-about-metamaterials, 2016. Accessed on 6 Oct 2019.
- [565] Guowang Miao, Jens Zander, Ki Won Sung, and Slimane Ben. Fundamentals of Mobile Data Networks. Cambridge University Press, 2016.
- [566] Giulia Michieletto, Markus Ryll, and Antonio Franchi. Fundamental actuation properties of multirotors: Force-moment decoupling and fail-safe robustness. *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, 34(3):702–715, jun 2018.
- [567] Christopher A Miller and Raja Parasuraman. Designing for flexible interaction between humans and automation: Delegation interfaces for supervisory control. Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 49(1):57–75, 2007.
- [568] Stefan Milz, Tobias Rudiger, and Sebastian Suss. Aerial ganeration: towards realistic data augmentation using conditional gans. In Proceedings of the European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV), pages 0–0, 2018.
- [569] Dr-Shivaji Mirashe and N. Kalyankar. "Peer-to-Peer Network Protocols". International Conference on Signal Acquisition and Processing (ICSAP 2010), 9-10, February 2010, Bangalore, India, 2010.
- [570] Silvia Mirri, Catia Prandi, and Paola Salomoni. Human-drone interaction: state of the art, open issues and challenges. In Proceedings of the ACM SIGCOMM 2019 Workshop on Mobile AirGround Edge Computing, Systems, Networks, and Applications, pages 43–48. ACM, 2019.
- [571] Keiichi Mizutani, Naoto Wakatsuki, and Koichi Mizutani. Acoustic Communication in Air Using Differential Biphase Shift Keying with Influence of Impulse Response and Background Noise. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 46(7S):4541, 2007.
- [572] S. Mochizuki, J. Kataoka, L. Tagawa, Y. Iwamoto, H. Okochi, N. Katsumi, S. Kinno, M. Arimoto, T. Maruhashi, K. Fujieda, T. Kurihara, and S. Ohsuka. First demonstration of aerial gammaray imaging using drone for prompt radiation survey in Fukushima. *Journal of Instrumentation*, 12(11):P11014–P11014, 2017.

- [573] Pim Moeskops, Jelmer M Wolterink, Bas HM van der Velden, Kenneth GA Gilhuijs, Tim Leiner, Max A Viergever, and Ivana Išgum. Deep learning for multi-task medical image segmentation in multiple modalities. In *International Conference on Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention*, pages 478–486. Springer, 2016.
- [574] Kartik Mohta, Michael Watterson, Yash Mulgaonkar, Sikang Liu, Chao Qu, Anurag Makineni, Kelsey Saulnier, Ke Sun, Alex Zhu, Jeffrey Delmerico, et al. Fast, autonomous flight in gps-denied and cluttered environments. *Journal of Field Robotics*, 35(1):101–120, 2018.
- [575] Javier Molina and Shinichi Hirai. Dynamic landing gear for balancing a multirotor helicopter. In 2017 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS). IEEE, jun 2017.
- [576] C. Molter and P.W. Cheng. Optimal placement of an airflow probe at a multirotor uav for airborne wind measurements. In 43rd European Rotorcraft Forum, 2017.
- [577] Francesco Mondada, Giovanni C. Pettinaro, Andre Guignard, Ivo W. Kwee, Dario Floreano, Jean-Louis Deneubourg, Stefano Nolfi, Luca Maria Gambardella, and Marco Dorigo. Swarmbot: A new distributed robotic concept. Autonomous Robots, 17(2):193–221, Sep 2004.
- [578] Jakson Augusto Leger Monteiro, José C. Páscoa, and Carlos M. Xisto. Aerodynamic optimization of cyclorotors. Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, 88(2):232–245, mar 2016.
- [579] Hyungpil Moon, Jose Martinez-Carranza, Titus Cieslewski, Matthias Faessler, Davide Falanga, Alessandro Simovic, Davide Scaramuzza, Shuo Li, Michael Ozo, Christophe De Wagter, Guido de Croon, Sunyou Hwang, Sunggoo Jung, Hyunchul Shim, Haeryang Kim, Minhyuk Park, Tsz-Chiu Au, and Si Jung Kim. Challenges and implemented technologies used in autonomous drone racing. *Intelligent Service Robotics*, 12(2):137–148, jan 2019.
- [580] Joseph Moore. A Powerline Perching with a Fixed-Wing UAV. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2011.
- [581] M. Moore. Insect-like micro air vehicle having perching, energy scavenging, crawling, and offensive payload capabilities. US Patent US7398946B1, 2010.
- [582] Allistair A. Moses. Radar Based Collision Avoidance for Unmanned Aircraft Systems. PhD thesis, University of Denver, 2013.
- [583] Alexandra Moutinho, Estanislao Mateos, and Filipe Cunha. The tilt-quadrotor: Concept, modeling and identification. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Autonomous Robot Systems and Competitions. IEEE, apr 2015.
- [584] Arshad Munir. Microwave radar absorbing properties of multiwalled carbon nanotubes polymer composites: A review. Advances in Polymer Technology, 36(3):362–370, 2017.
- [585] Jawad Nagi, Alessandro Giusti, Gianni A Di Caro, and Luca M Gambardella. Human control of uavs using face pose estimates and hand gestures. In 2014 9th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), pages 1–2. IEEE, 2014.
- [586] Shotaro Nako, Kenta Okuda, Kengo Miyashiro, Kimiya Komurasaki, and Hiroyuki Koizumi. Wireless power transfer to a microaerial vehicle with a microwave active phased array. *Interna*tional Journal of Antennas and Propagation, 2014:Article ID 374543, 2014.
- [587] Gorman Jamie Nancy, Cooke and Bell Brian Pederson Harry. Distributed mission environments: Effects of geographic distribution on team cognition, process, and performance. In *Towards a* science of distributed learning and training. American Psychological Association, 2006.

- [588] A. S. Nathanson, A. R. Ploszajski, M. Billing, J. P. Cook, D. W. K. Jenkins, T. F. Headen, Z. Kurban, A. Lovell, and S. M. Bennington. Ammonia borane–polyethylene oxide composite materials for solid hydrogen storage. J. Mater. Chem. A, 3:3683–3691, 2015.
- [589] Vashi Nedomansky and ACE. 4k and Beyond Video Data Rates | VashiVisuals Blog, June 2014.
- [590] Duc Hung Nguyen, Yu Liu, and Koichi Mori. Experimental study for aerodynamic performance of quadrotor helicopter. Transactions of the Japan Society for Aeronautical and Space Sciences, 61(1):29–39, 2018.
- [591] Phuong D. H. Nguyen, Carmine T. Recchiuto, and Antonio Sgorbissa. Real-time path generation and obstacle avoidance for multirotors: A novel approach. *Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems*, 89(1-2):27–49, jan 2017.
- [592] Joseph W. Nichols, Liang Sun, Randal W. Beard, and Timothy McLain. Aerial rendezvous of small unmanned aircraft using a passive towed cable system. *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, 37(4):1131–1142, 2014.
- [593] Leland M. Nicolai. Patent no. US6409122B1, Lockheed Martin Corp, 2002.
- [594] Akira Nishizawa, Josef Kallo, Olivier Garrot, and Jörg Weiss-Ungethüm. Fuel cell and li-ion battery direct hybridization system for aircraft applications. *Journal of Power Sources*, 222:294 – 300, 2013.
- [595] Naoki Nitta, Feixiang Wu, Jung Tae Lee, and Gleb Yushin. Li-ion battery materials: present and future. *Materials Today*, 18(5):252 264, 2015.
- [596] T Nitta. Superconducting rotating machines: A review of the past 30 years and future perspectives. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1054:012081, jul 2018.
- [597] Michael Nolan. Fundamentals of Air Traffic Control. Cengage Learning, January 2010.
- [598] Amin Nourmohammadi, Mohammad Jafari, and Thorsten O Zander. A survey on unmanned aerial vehicle remote control using brain-computer interface. *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, 48(4):337–348, 2018.
- [599] M. Novak, Alwan Elias, Miranda Felix, and John Volakis. Conformal and Spectrally Agile Ultra Wideband Phased Array Antenna for Communication and Sensing, September 2015.
- [600] P. Oettershagen, A. Melzer, T. Mantel, K. Rudin, R. Lotz, D. Siebenmann, S. Leutenegger, K. Alexis, and R. Siegwart. A solar-powered hand-launchable uav for low-altitude multi-day continuous flight. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pages 3986–3993, May 2015.
- [601] Philipp Oettershagen, Amir Melzer, Thomas Mantel, Konrad Rudin, Thomas Stastny, Bartosz Wawrzacz, Timo Hinzmann, Stefan Leutenegger, Kostas Alexis, and Roland Siegwart. Design of small hand-launched solar-powered UAVs: From concept study to a multi-day world endurance record flight. *Journal of Field Robotics*, 34(7):1352–1377, 2017.
- [602] Dan R Olsen Jr and Stephen Bart Wood. Fan-out: measuring human control of multiple robots. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems, pages 231–238. ACM, 2004.
- [603] Oneweb. OneWeb satellites, February 2019.

- [604] Wayne Ong, Spot Srigrarom, and Henrik Hesse. Design methodology for heavy-lift unmanned aerial vehicles with coaxial rotors. In AIAA Scitech 2019 Forum. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2019.
- [605] Atsushi Oosedo, Satoko Abiko, Atsushi Konno, and Masaru Uchiyama. Optimal transition from hovering to level-flight of a quadrotor tail-sitter UAV. Autonomous Robots, 41(5):1143–1159, jul 2016.
- [606] R. A. Ormiston. Revitalising advanced rotorcraft research and the compound helicopter. *The Aeronautical Journal*, 120(1223):83–129, jan 2016.
- [607] Thomas Orrière, Éric Moreau, and David Z Pai. Electric wind generation by nanosecond repetitively pulsed microplasmas. *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, 52(46):464002, sep 2019.
- [608] Tobias Ostermann. Flight control system of a tiltwing uav. In 72nd American Helicopter Society International Annual Forum, 2016.
- [609] Özgün Özer and Dilek Kumlutaş. Experimental investigation on cross flow fan's casing parameters inside of a split air conditioner indoor unit by stereo particle image velocimetry. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 124:1233–1246, sep 2017.
- [610] Meletios Pagonis. Eletrical power aspects of distributed propulsion systems in turbo-electric powered aircraft. PhD thesis, School of aerospace, transport and manufacturing, Cranfield University, 2015.
- [611] Z.F. Pan, L. An, and C.Y. Wen. Recent advances in fuel cells based propulsion systems for unmanned aerial vehicles. *Applied Energy*, 240:473 485, 2019.
- [612] Raja Parasuraman and Matthew Rizzo. Neuroergonomics: The brain at work, volume 3. Oxford University Press, 2008.
- [613] Jae-Sang Park, Seong-Hwan Kim, Sung Nam Jung, and Myeong-Kyu Lee. Design and analysis of variable-twist tiltrotor blades using shape memory alloy hybrid composites. *Smart Materials* and Structures, 20(1):015001, dec 2010.
- [614] Paul Parkinson and Larry Kinnan. Safety-Critical Software Development for Integrated Modular Avionics. A Wind River white paper, 2015.
- [615] José C. Páscoa and Galina I. Ilieva. Overcoming stopovers in cycloidal rotor propulsion integration on air vehicles. In 14th International Conference on Advanced Vehicle Technologies. ASME, aug 2012.
- [616] Anup Patel, Vicente Climente-Alarcon, Algirdas Baskys, Bartek A Glowacki, and Thomas Reis. Design considerations for fully superconducting synchronous motors aimed at future electric aircraft. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Electrical Systems for Aircraft, Railway, Ship Propulsion and Road Vehicles and International Transportation Electrification Conference (ESARS-ITEC). IEEE, nov 2018.
- [617] Joseph N. Pelton. Satellite Communications. Springer, 2012.
- [618] Ariel Perez-Rosado, Rachel D Gehlhar, Savannah Nolen, Satyandra K Gupta, and Hugh A Bruck. Design, fabrication, and characterization of multifunctional wings to harvest solar energy in flapping wing air vehicles. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 24(6):065042, may 2015.

- [619] Aaron T. Perry and Phillip J. Ansell. Crossflow fan power requirements for boundary-layer suction in transonic flow. *Journal of Aircraft*, 54(3):1217–1220, may 2017.
- [620] Kevin Pfeil, Seng Lee Koh, and Joseph LaViola. Exploring 3d gesture metaphors for interaction with unmanned aerial vehicles. In *Proceedings of the 2013 international conference on Intelligent* user interfaces, pages 257–266. ACM, 2013.
- [621] Luca Piancastelli. Powerplant reliability issues and wear monitoring in aircraft piston engines. part ii: Engine diagnostic. *Drones*, 2(1):10, 2018.
- [622] Pilatus. The truth about single-engine safety, performance and economy. 2018.
- [623] J. T. Platts. Autonomy in unmanned air vehicles. *The Aeronautical Journal (1968)*, 110(1104), 2006.
- [624] Sameera S Ponda, Luke B Johnson, Alborz Geramifard, and Jonathan P How. Cooperative mission planning for multi-uav teams. *Handbook of unmanned aerial vehicles*, pages 1447–1490, 2015.
- [625] Robert Porter, Bijan Shirinzadeh, and Man Ho Choi. Experimental analysis of variable collectivepitch rotor systems for multirotor helicopter applications. Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems, 83(2):271–288, nov 2015.
- [626] Priyank Pradeep, Sang Gyun Park, and Peng Wei. Trajectory optimization of multirotor agricultural UAVs. In 2018 IEEE Aerospace Conference. IEEE, mar 2018.
- [627] Girijesh Prasad, Pawel Herman, Damien Coyle, Suzanne McDonough, and Jacqueline Crosbie. Applying a brain-computer interface to support motor imagery practice in people with stroke for upper limb recovery: a feasibility study. *Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation*, 7(1):60, 2010.
- [628] M. L. Psiaki and T. E. Humphreys. GNSS Spoofing and Detection. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 104(6):1258–1270, June 2016.
- [629] Xin Qi, Didier Theilliol, Juntong Qi, Youmin Zhang, and Jianda Han. Self-healing control against actuator stuck failures under constraints: Application to unmanned helicopters. In Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pages 193–207. Springer International Publishing, aug 2015.
- [630] F. Qin and C. Brosseau. A review and analysis of microwave absorption in polymer composites filled with carbonaceous particles. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 111(6):061301, March 2012.
- [631] Tarun Radadiya. The Graphene Sensor Technology. International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR), 4:4–438, 2013.
- [632] Martin Radestock, Johannes Riemenschneider, Hans Peter Monner, Oliver Huxdorf, Noud Werter, and Roeland De Breuker. Deformation measurement in the wind tunnel for an uav leading edge with a morphing mechanism. In *ICAS 2016*, September 2016.
- [633] Bahram Raeisi and Hekmat Alighanbari. Effects of tilting rate variations on the aerodynamics of the tilting ducted fans mounted at the wing tips of a vertical take-off and landing unmanned aerial vehicle. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 232(10):1803–1813, apr 2017.
- [634] RAeS Space Group. Space in 2019 a look ahead. https://www.aerosociety.com/news/space-in-2019-a-look-ahead/. accessed on 6 Oct 2019.

- [635] Parvathy Rajendran and Howard Smith. Implications of longitude and latitude on the size of solar-powered uav. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 98:107 114, 2015.
- [636] Sarvapali Ramchurn, Joel Fischer, Yuki Ikuno, Feng Wu, Jack Flann, and Antony Waldock. A study of human-agent collaboration for multi-uav task allocation in dynamic environments. In International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, 2015.
- [637] Sarvapali D Ramchurn, Joel E Fischer, Yuki Ikuno, Feng Wu, Jack Flann, and Antony Waldock. A study of human-agent collaboration for multi-uav task allocation in dynamic environments. In *Twenty-Fourth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 2015.
- [638] Sarvapali D. Ramchurn, Trung Dong Huynh, Feng Wu, Yuki Ikuno, Jack Flann, Luc Moreau, Joel E. Fischer, Wenchao Jiang, Tom Rodden, Edwin Simpson, Steven Reece, Stephen J. Roberts, and Nicholas R. Jennings. A disaster response system based on human-agent collectives. J. Artif. Intell. Res., 57:661–708, 2016.
- [639] Sarvapali D. Ramchurn, Feng Wu, Wenchao Jiang, Joel E. Fischer, Steve Reece, Chris Greenhalgh, Tom Rodden, Nicholas R. Jennings, and Stephen Roberts. AtomicOrchid: Human-agent collectives to the rescue (demostration). In *Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems (AAMAS)*, pages 1693–1694, Paris, France, 2014.
- [640] Sarvapali D Ramchurn, Feng Wu, Wenchao Jiang, Joel E Fischer, Steve Reece, Stephen Roberts, Tom Rodden, Chris Greenhalgh, and Nicholas R Jennings. Human-agent collaboration for disaster response. Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, 30(1):82–111, 2015.
- [641] Anton Rassolkin, Ants Kallaste, Toomas Vaimann, and Hans Tiismus. Control challenges of 3d printed switched reluctance motor. In 2019 26th International Workshop on Electric Drives: Improvement in Efficiency of Electric Drives (IWED). IEEE, jan 2019.
- [642] Gustavo Raush, Laura Villafane, and Guillermo Paniagua. Optical characterization of a cross flow fan for distributed propulsion. In 52nd AIAA/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jul 2016.
- [643] Carolyn M Reed, David A Coleman, and Moble Benedict. International Journal of Micro Air Vehicles, jan.
- [644] Jeffrey Reed. An Introduction to Ultra Wideband Communication Systems. Prentice Hall, 2005.
- [645] Faizan Rehmatullah and Jonathan Kelly. Vision-based collision avoidance for personal aerial vehicles using dynamic potential fields. In 2015 12th Conference on Computer and Robot Vision. IEEE, jun 2015.
- [646] J.R. Reid, V. Vasilyev, and R.T. Webster. Building micro-robots: A path to sub-mm3 autonomous systems. *TechConnect Briefs*, 3:174–177, 2008.
- [647] Andreagiovanni Reina, Roman Miletitch, Marco Dorigo, and Vito Trianni. A quantitative micromacro link for collective decisions: the shortest path discovery/selection example. Swarm Intelligence, 9(2-3):75–102, 2015.
- [648] Fabio Riccardi and Marco Lovera. Dynamic inflow and ground effect in multirotor uav attitude dynamics. 43rd European Rotorcraft Forum, 2017.
- [649] M.A. Richards. Fundamentals of Radar Signal Processing, Second Edition. McGraw-Hill Education, 2014.

- [650] Jack Ringwood. Technology Briefing Quantum Radar. Thales UK Technology Watch, (47):28, 2018.
- [651] Pavel Ripka. Magnetic sensors and magnetometers. Artech House, 2001.
- [652] Alberto Rivas, Pablo Chamoso, Alfonso González-Briones, and Juan Corchado. Detection of cattle using drones and convolutional neural networks. *Sensors*, 18(7):2048, jun 2018.
- [653] David Rochelle and Hamidreza Najafi. A review of the effect of biodiesel on gas turbine emissions and performance. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 105:129–137, may 2019.
- [654] Colin Rodgers. High altitude recuperated 50 kWe turboprop study. In Volume 1: Aircraft Engine Ceramics Coal, Biomass and Alternative Fuels Manufacturing, Materials and Metallurgy Microturbines and Small Turbomachinery. ASME, 2008.
- [655] David Rohr, Thomas Stastny, Sebastian Verling, and Roland Siegwart. Attitude and cruise control of a VTOL tiltwing UAV. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, 4(3):2683–2690, jul 2019.
- [656] Kay Römer. Tracking real-world phenomena with smart dust. In Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 28–43. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004.
- [657] A. Romeyn. Aircraft reciprocating engine failure: An analysis of failure in a complex engineered system. Aviation Safety Research and Analysis Report; Australian Government: Canberra, ACT, Australia, B2007/0191, 2007.
- [658] M. De Rosa, S. Goldstein, Peter Lee, J. Campbell, and P. Pillai. Scalable shape sculpting via hole motion: motion planning in lattice-constrained modular robots. In *Proceedings 2006 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, 2006. ICRA 2006.* IEEE, 2006.
- [659] Michael De Rosa, Seth Goldstein, Peter Lee, Padmanabhan Pillai, and Jason Campbell. Programming modular robots with locally distributed predicates. In 2008 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. IEEE, may 2008.
- [660] Rotax. Operator manual for 914 series. Rotax Corporation, 2010.
- [661] K. Rouser, N. Lucido, M. Durkee, A. Bellcock, and T. Zimbelman. Development of turboelectric propulsion and power for small unmanned aircraft. In *Joint Propulsion Conference*, 2018.
- [662] Krishna Roy. Racal-honywell ground-to-air satellite system (extended), July 1995.
- [663] Carl C. Runco, Moble Benedict, and David Coleman. Design and development of a meso-scale cyclocopter. In AIAA Infotech @ Aerospace. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2016.
- [664] Stuart J Russell and Peter Norvig. Artificial intelligence: a modern approach. Malaysia; Pearson Education Limited, 2016.
- [665] Minhyoung RYU, Leesang CHO, and Jinsoo CHO. The effect of tip clearance on performance of a counter-rotating ducted fan in a VTOL UAV. Transactions of the Japan Society for Aeronautical and Space Sciences, 60(1):1–9, 2017.
- [666] Azri Mat Saad and Khairul Nizam Tahar. Identification of rut and pothole by using multirotor unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV). *Measurement*, 137:647–654, apr 2019.

- [667] Laith R. Sahawneh, James Mackie, Jonathan Spencer, Randal W. Beard, and Karl F. Warnick. Airborne Radar-Based Collision Detection and Risk Estimation for Small Unmanned Aircraft Systems. Journal of Aerospace Information Systems, 12(12):756–766, 2015.
- [668] Erol Şahin. Swarm robotics: From sources of inspiration to domains of application. In Erol Şahin and William M. Spears, editors, *Swarm Robotics*, pages 10–20, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005. Springer.
- [669] Ratikanta Sahoo and Damera Vakula. Gain enhancement of conformal wideband antenna with parasitic elements and low index metamaterial for WiMAX application. AEU - International Journal of Electronics and Communications, 105:24–35, June 2019.
- [670] Massoud Salehi and John Proakis. Digital Communications. McGraw-Hill Education, 2007.
- [671] Ondrej Salek, Milan Matolin, and Lubomir Gryc. Mapping of radiation anomalies using UAV mini-airborne gamma-ray spectrometry. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 182:101–107, 2018.
- [672] C. Salpingidou, Z. Vlahostergios, D. Misirlis, S. Donnerhack, M. Flouros, A. Goulas, and K. Yakinthos. Thermodynamic analysis of recuperative gas turbines and aero engines. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 124:250–260, sep 2017.
- [673] L. Samso. Stealth technology: The potential to make the visible, invisible. AUVSI Unmanned Systems, 2:1463–1482, 01 2014.
- [674] Anand Sanchez, Juan Escareño-Castro, Octavio Garcia-Salazar, and Rogelio Lozano. Autonomous hovering of a noncyclic tiltrotor uav: Modeling, control and implementation. In Proceedings of the 17th World Congress, International Federation of Automatic Control, 2008.
- [675] P. J. Sanchez-Cuevas, Guillermo Heredia, and Anibal Ollero. Experimental approach to the aerodynamic effects produced in multirotors flying close to obstacles. In *ROBOT 2017: Third Iberian Robotics Conference*, pages 742–752. Springer International Publishing, nov 2017.
- [676] Sandia National Laboratories. Unmanned air vehicle (UAV) ultra-persistence research. Project accomplishments summary, Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (1714) between Sandia National Labs and Northrop Grumman Systems Corporation, 2012.
- [677] Bulent Sarlioglu and Casey T. Morris. More electric aircraft: Review, challenges, and opportunities for commercial transport aircraft. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, 1(1):54–64, jun 2015.
- [678] Nina Sarvašová, Pavel Ulbrich, Viola Tokárová, Aleš Zadražil, and František Štěpánek. Artificial swarming: Towards radiofrequency control of reversible micro-particle aggregation and deposition. *Powder Technology*, 278:17–25, jul 2015.
- [679] Shintaro Sato, Haruki Furukawa, Atsushi Komuro, Masayuki Takahashi, and Naofumi Ohnishi. Successively accelerated ionic wind with integrated dielectric-barrier-discharge plasma actuator for low-voltage operation. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), apr 2019.
- [680] SBIR. Conformal Antennas for Unmanned Aircraft System (UAS), 2010.
- [681] D. Scaramuzza, M. C. Achtelik, L. Doitsidis, F. Friedrich, E. Kosmatopoulos, A. Martinelli, M. W. Achtelik, M. Chli, S. Chatzichristofis, L. Kneip, D. Gurdan, L. Heng, G. H. Lee, S. Lynen, M. Pollefeys, A. Renzaglia, R. Siegwart, J. C. Stumpf, P. Tanskanen, C. Troiani, S. Weiss, and

L. Meier. Vision-controlled micro flying robots: From system design to autonomous navigation and mapping in gps-denied environments. *IEEE Robotics Automation Magazine*, 21(3):26–40, 2014.

- [682] P. Scerri, M. Tambe, and D. V. Pynadath. Towards adjustable autonomy for the real-world. Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research, 17(1):171–228, 2002.
- [683] Paul Scerri, David Pynadath, Lewis Johnson, Paul Rosenbloom, Mei Si, Nathan Schurr, and Milind Tambe. A prototype infrastructure for distributed robot-agent-person teams. In Proceedings of the Second International Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, AAMAS '03, pages 433–440, New York, NY, USA, 2003. ACM.
- [684] Jürgen Scherer, Saeed Yahyanejad, Samira Hayat, Evsen Yanmaz, Torsten Andre, Asif Khan, Vladimir Vukadinovic, Christian Bettstetter, Hermann Hellwagner, and Bernhard Rinner. An autonomous multi-uav system for search and rescue. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Micro Aerial Vehicle Networks, Systems, and Applications for Civilian Use, pages 33–38. ACM, 2015.
- [685] Sebastian Scherer, Lyle Chamberlain, and Sanjiv Singh. Autonomous landing at unprepared sites by a full-scale helicopter. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 60(12):1545–1562, dec 2012.
- [686] R. Schiferl, A. Flory, S.D. Umans, and W.C. Livoti. High temperature superconducting synchronous motors: Economic issues for industrial applications. In 2006 Record of Conference Papers - IEEE Industry Applications Society 53rd Annual Petroleum and Chemical Industry Conference. IEEE, sep 2006.
- [687] Florian Schmidt and Stephan Staudacher. Generalized thermodynamic assessment of concepts for increasing the efficiency of civil aircraft propulsion systems. In *Volume 1: Aircraft Engine Fans and Blowers Marine*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2015.
- [688] Bruce Schneier. Applied Cryptography: Protocols, Algorithms, and Source Code in C. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- [689] A.E. Scholz, A. Hermanutz, and M Hornung. Feasibility analysis and comparative assessment of structural power technology in all-electric composite aircraft. *Deutscher Luft- und Raumfahrtkongress*, page 12, 2018.
- [690] Benjamin Schumann, Mario Ferraro, Amrith Surendra, James P. Scanlan, and Hans Fangohr. Better design decisions through operational modeling during the early design phases. *Journal of Aerospace Information Systems*, 11(4):195–210, 2014.
- [691] Benjamin Schumann, James Scanlan, Hans Fangohr, and Mario Ferraro. A Generic Unifying Ontology for Civil Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Missions.
- [692] Nathan Schurr, Janusz Marecki, John P Lewis, Milind Tambe, and Paul Scerri. The defacto system: Training tool for incident commanders. In *National Conference on Artificial Intelligence* (AAAI), pages 1555–1562, 2005.
- [693] Marten Schutt, Tobias Islam, Philipp Hartmann, and Dieter Moorman. Scalable design approach to analyze flight mechanical performance of tilt-wing uavs. In 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, 2018.

- [694] Travis J. Schuyler, S. M. Iman Gohari, Gary Pundsack, Donald Berchoff, and Marcelo I. Guzman. Using a balloon-launched unmanned glider to validate real-time wrf modeling. *Sensors*, 19(8), 2019.
- [695] Meinhard Schwaiger and David Wills. D-dalus VTOL efficiency increase in forward flight. Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, 88(5):594–604, sep 2016.
- [696] Jacopo Serafini, Matteo Cremaschini, Giovanni Bernardini, Luca Solero, Corrado Ficuciello, and Massimo Gennaretti. Conceptual all-electric retrofit of helicopters: review, technological outlook and a sample design. *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, pages 1–1, 2019.
- [697] Etienne Servais, Hugues Mounier, and Brigitte d'Andrea Novel. Trajectory tracking of trirotor UAV with pendulum load. In 2015 20th International Conference on Methods and Models in Automation and Robotics (MMAR). IEEE, aug 2015.
- [698] S. Setu and Abhishek. Flight dynamic modeling and control of an unmanned helicopter during autonomous autorotation. In *Proceedings of the 75th Annual Forum and Technology Display*, 2019.
- [699] Danial Sufiyan Bin Shaiful, Luke Thura Soe Win, Jun En Low, Shane Kyi Hla Win, Gim Song Soh, and Shaohui Foong. Optimized transition path of a transformable HOvering rotorcraft (THOR). In 2018 IEEE/ASME International Conference on Advanced Intelligent Mechatronics (AIM). IEEE, jul 2018.
- [700] M Shamiyeh, R. Rothfeld, and M. Hornung. A performance benchmark of recent personal air vehicle concepts for urban air mobility. In 31st Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Sciences, 2018.
- [701] Wai Shan and Ehud Sharlin. Collocated interaction with flying robots. In 2011 Ro-Man, pages 143–149. IEEE, 2011.
- [702] Mohammad Shaqura, Khalid Alzuhair, Fadl Abdellatif, and Jeff S. Shamma. Human supervised multirotor UAV system design for inspection applications. In 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Safety, Security, and Rescue Robotics (SSRR). IEEE, aug 2018.
- [703] Abhishek Sharma, and John S. McCaskill. Autonomous lablet locomotion and active docking by sensomotory electroosmotic drive. In 07/20/2015-07/24/2015. The MIT Press, jul 2015.
- [704] Vishal Sharma, Ilsun You, Giovanni Pau, Mario Collotta, Jae Deok Lim, and Jeong Nyeo Kim. LoRaWAN-Based Energy-Efficient Surveillance by Drones for Intelligent Transportation Systems. *Energies*, 11(3):573, 2018.
- [705] Jiang Shenlu, Hong Zhonghua, Zhang Yun, Han Yanling, Zhou Ruyan, and Shen Bo. Automatic path planning and navigation with stereo cameras. In 2014 Third International Workshop on Earth Observation and Remote Sensing Applications (EORSA), pages 289–293.
- [706] Thomas B Sheridan and William L Verplank. Human and computer control of undersea teleoperators. Technical report, DTIC Document, 1978.
- [707] N. Shinohara. Beam control technologies with a high-efficiency phased array for microwave power transmission in Japan. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 101(6):1448–1463, June 2013.
- [708] E. Shrestha, B. Davis, V. Hrishikeshavan, and I. Chopra. Design and experimental validation of a mav-scale quad-cyclocopter with all-terrain capability. In 73rd American Helicopter Society International Annual Forum and Technology Display, 2017.
- [709] Elena Shrestha, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, Moble Benedict, and Inderjit Chopra. Flight dynamics modeling and system identification of a cyclocopter in forward flight. In American Helicopter Society 71st Annual Forum, 2015.
- [710] Elena Shrestha, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, Moble Benedict, Derrick Yeo, and Inderjit Chopra. Development of control strategies for a twin-cyclocopter in forward flight. *Journal of the American Helicopter Society*, 61(4):1–9, oct 2016.
- [711] Elena Shrestha, Derrick Yeo, Moble Benedict, and Inderjit Chopra. Development of a mesoscale cycloidal-rotor aircraft for micro air vehicle application. *International Journal of Micro Air Vehicles*, 9(3):218–231, may 2017.
- [712] Robin Shrestha, Moble Benedict, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, and Inderjit Chopra. Hover performance of a small-scale helicopter rotor for flying on mars. *Journal of Aircraft*, 53(4):1160–1167, jul 2016.
- [713] Dhwanil Shukla and Narayanan Komerath. Low reynolds number multirotor aerodynamic wake interactions. *Experiments in Fluids*, 60(4), apr 2019.
- [714] S. Shukla, S.S. Sinha, and S.N. Singh. Ship-helo coupled airwake aerodynamics: A comprehensive review. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 106:71–107, apr 2019.
- [715] Stefan Siegel, Jürgen Seidel, Kelly Cohen, and Thomas McLaughlin. A cycloidal propeller using dynamic lift. In 37th AIAA Fluid Dynamics Conference and Exhibit. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jun 2007.
- [716] Du Siliang and Tang Zhengfei. The aerodynamic behavioral study of tandem fan wing configuration. International Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 2018:1–14, oct 2018.
- [717] Du Siliang, Tang Zhengfei, Xu Pei, and Ji Mengjiang. Study on helicopter antitorque device based on cross-flow fan technology. *International Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, 2016:1–12, 2016.
- [718] Manuel Silva, Nicolas Tantot, Serge Selezneff, Mike Walsh, Rose Nyatando, Erik Johann, Thomas Klauke, Michele Coppola, and André Kando. Advanced aero-engines technology enablers: An overview of the european project e-BREAK. In *Volume 1: Aircraft Engine Fans and Blowers Marine*. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, jun 2016.
- [719] Ashish Kumar Singh, Andrei Shishkin, Tarmo Koppel, and Nikhil Gupta. A review of porous lightweight composite materials for electromagnetic interference shielding. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, 149:188–197, September 2018.
- [720] Eric Singh, M. Meyyappan, and Hari Singh Nalwa. Flexible Graphene-Based Wearable Gas and Chemical Sensors. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 9(40):34544–34586, 2017.
- [721] Hema Singh, Simy Antony, and Rakesh Mohan Jha. *Plasma-based Radar Cross Section Reduction.* SpringerBriefs in Computational Electromagnetics. Springer Singapore, 2016.
- [722] M.I. Skolnik. Introduction to Radar Systems. Electrical engineering series. McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [723] Eric D. Smitley. Development of a cross-flow fan powered quad-rotor unmanned aerial vehicle. Master's thesis, Monterey, California: Naval Postgraduate School, 2015.
- [724] Z. Sodnik, B. Furch, and H. Lutz. Optical Intersatellite Communication. 16(5):1051–1057, 2010.

- [725] Guibin Song, Mojtaba Ranjbar, and Richard A. Kiehl. Operation of graphene magnetic field sensors near the charge neutrality point. *Communications Physics*, 2(1):65, 2019.
- [726] SpaceX. Starlink.
- [727] Adam Stambler, Spencer Spiker, Marcel Bergerman, and Sanjiv Singh. Toward autonomous rotorcraft flight in degraded visual environments: experiments and lessons learned. In Jack Sanders-Reed and Jarvis J. Arthur, editors, *Degraded Visual Environments: Enhanced, Synthetic,* and External Vision Solutions 2016. SPIE, may 2016.
- [728] L. Steinert. Multiple Radio Communications Cosite Design. In 1974 IEEE Electromagnetic Compatibility Symposium Record, pages 1–5, 1974.
- [729] NATO STO. Distributed EW Operations in the Modern Congested RF Environment, SCI-297. https://www.sto.nato.int/Lists/test1/activitydetails.aspx?ID=16016.
- [730] J. B. Stoll. Unmanned Aircraft Systems for Rapid Near Surface Geophysical Measurements. International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 1:391–394, 2013.
- [731] Lukas Straczek, Thomas Maeke, Dominic A. Funke, Abhishek Sharma, John S. McCaskill, and Jurgen Oehm. A CMOS 16k microelectrode array as docking platform for autonomous microsystems. In 2016 IEEE Nordic Circuits and Systems Conference (NORCAS). IEEE, nov 2016.
- [732] F. Straub, V.R. Anand, T. Birchette, and B.H. Lau. Smart rotor development and wind tunnel test. In 35th European Rotorcraft Forum, 2009.
- [733] Richard O. Stroman, Michael W. Schuette, Karen Swider-Lyons, Joseph A. Rodgers, and Daniel J. Edwards. Liquid hydrogen fuel system design and demonstration in a small long endurance air vehicle. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 39(21):11279 – 11290, 2014.
- [734] PB Sujit, A Sinha, and D Ghose. Multi-uav task allocation using team theory. In Proceedings of the 44th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pages 1497–1502. IEEE, 2005.
- [735] Gita Sukthankar, Katia Sycara, Joseph A Giampapa, and Christopher Burnett. Communications for agent-based human team support. Handbook of Research on Multi-agent Systems: Semantics and Dynamics of Organizational Models, page 285, 2009.
- [736] Cameron Summerson. How Much Data Does Netflix Use?, January 2018.
- [737] Mike D. Sumption. AC loss of superconducting materials in motors and generators for very high density motors and generators for hybrid-electric aircraft. In 2018 AIAA/IEEE Electric Aircraft Technologies Symposium. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jul 2018.
- [738] Jingxuan Sun, Boyang Li, Chih-Yung Wen, and Chih-Keng Chen. Design and implementation of a real-time hardware-in-the-loop testing platform for a dual-rotor tail-sitter unmanned aerial vehicle. *Mechatronics*, 56:1–15, dec 2018.
- [739] Zachary N. Sunberg, Nathaniel R. Miller, and Jonathan D. Rogers. A real-time expert control system for helicopter autorotation. *Journal of the American Helicopter Society*, 60(2):1–15, apr 2015.
- [740] Michael A. Susner and Timothy J. Haugan. A review of the state-of-the-art superconductor technology for high power applications. In 2018 AIAA/IEEE Electric Aircraft Technologies Symposium. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jul 2018.

- [741] Swati Swarnkar, Hardik Parwana, Mangal Kothari, and Abhishek Abhishek. Biplane-quadrotor tail-sitter UAV: Flight dynamics and control. *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, 41(5):1049–1067, may 2018.
- [742] Peter Swaszek, Scott Pratz, Benjamin Arocho, Kelly Seals, and Richard Hartnett. GNSS Spoof Detection Using Shipboard IMU Measurements. Proceedings of the 27th International Technical Meeting of the Satellite Division of The Institute of Navigation, 2014.
- [743] Peter F. Swaszek, Richard J. Hartnett, and Kelly C. Seals. APNT for GNSS Spoof Detection. Proceedings of the 2017 International Technical Meeting of The Institute of Navigation, pages 933–941, 2017.
- [744] K. E. Swider-Lyons, R. O. Stroman, J. A. Rodgers, D. Edwards, J. A. MacKrell, M. W. Schuette, and G. S. Page. Liquid hydrogen fuel system for small unmanned air vehicles. In *Proceedings* of 51st AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting including the New Horizons Forum and Aerospace Exposition 2013, Grapevine, TX, 01/2013 2013. AIAA, AIAA.
- [745] Karen Swider-Lyons, Richard Stroman, Gregory Page, Michael Schuette, Joseph Mackrell, and Joseph Rodgers. *Hydrogen Fuel Cell Propulsion for Long Endurance Small UVAs*.
- [746] Kurt A Swieringa, Clarence B Hanson, Johnhenri R Richardson, Jonathan D White, Zahid Hasan, Elizabeth Qian, and Anouck Girard. Autonomous battery swapping system for small-scale helicopters. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. IEEE, may 2010.
- [747] M. Tafreshi, I. Shafieenejad, and A. A. Nikkhah. Open loop and closed loop optimal guidance policy for samarai aerial vehicle with novel algorithm to consider wind effects. *International Journal of Engineering and Technical Research*, 2014.
- [748] Milind Tambe. Security and Game Theory: Algorithms, Deployed Systems, Lessons Learned. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, USA, 1st edition, 2011.
- [749] Jiwei Tang, Yu Hu, and Bifeng Song. Investigation on the unsteady aerodynamics of cycloidal propeller in hovering flight. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 229(13):2519–2536, apr 2015.
- [750] Jiwei Tang, Yu Hu, Bifeng Song, and Hui Yang. Unsteady aerodynamic optimization of airfoil for cycloidal propellers based on surrogate model. *Journal of Aircraft*, 54(4):1241–1256, jul 2017.
- [751] I. Tawk, J. Aubry, P. Navarro, J.-F. Ferrero, S. Marguet, S. Rivallant, S. Lemaire, and P. Rauch. Study of impact on helicopter blade. *Engineering Failure Analysis*, 24:38–45, sep 2012.
- [752] David Tee. Technology Briefing Metamaterials. Thales UK Technology Watch, (24):36, 2013.
- [753] David Tee and Mike Quinlan. Technology Briefing SiGe Materials for AESA. Thales UK Technology Watch, (44):8, 2016.
- [754] Yutaka Terao, Akihisa Seta, Hiroyuki Ohsaki, Hitoshi Oyori, and Noriko Morioka. Lightweight design of fully superconducting motors for electrical aircraft propulsion systems. *IEEE Transac*tions on Applied Superconductivity, 29(5):1–5, aug 2019.
- [755] Shantanu Thakar and Ashwini Ratnoo. Rendezvous guidance laws for aerial recovery using mothership-cable-drogue system. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 49(1):24 – 29, 2016. 4th IFAC Conference on Advances in Control and Optimization of Dynamical Systems ACODS 2016.

- [756] Peter R. Thomas, Ujjar Bhandari, Steve Bullock, Thomas S. Richardson, and Jonathan L. du Bois. Advances in air to air refuelling. *Progress in Aerospace Sciences*, 71:14 35, 2014.
- [757] Peter R. Thomas, Steve Bullock, Thomas S. Richardson, and James F. Whidborne. Collaborative control in a flying-boom aerial refueling simulation. *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, 38(7):1274–1289, 2015.
- [758] Thomson Aviation. UAV Thomson Aviation, airborne geophysical survey company located in Griffith, Australia, 2019.
- [759] Andrea Toffolo. On the theoretical link between design parameters and performance in cross-flow fans: a numerical and experimental study. *Computers & Fluids*, 34(1):49–66, jan 2005.
- [760] Tuna Toksoz. Design and Implementation of an Automated Battery Management Platform. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2012.
- [761] Yu-Ju Tsai. Infrared Metamaterials for Diffractive Optics. PhD thesis, Duke University, 2013.
- [762] Yu-Ju Tsai, Stéphane Larouche, Talmage Tyler, Guy Lipworth, Nan M. Jokerst, and David R. Smith. Design and fabrication of a metamaterial gradient index diffraction grating at infrared wavelengths. *Optics Express*, 19(24):24411–24423, 2011.
- [763] Panagiota Tsarouchi, Sotiris Makris, and George Chryssolouris. Human-robot interaction review and challenges on task planning and programming. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 29(8):916–931, 2016.
- [764] Wally H. W Tuttlebee. Software defined radio: enabling technologies. J. Wiley & Sons, New York, 2002.
- [765] Office for the Secretary for Defence United States Department of Defense. Uav reliability study. 2003.
- [766] US Department of Defense. MIL-STD-6016 C NOTICE-2 INTEROPERABILITY TACTICAL DATA. http://everyspec.com/MIL-STD/MIL-STD-3000-9999/MIL-STD-6016C_NOTICE-2_22648/. Accessed on 8 Oct 2019.
- [767] G Valentini, H Hamann, and M Dorigo. Global-to-local design for self-organized task allocation in swarms. IRIDIA, Universite Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium, Tech. Rep. TR/IRIDIA/2016-002, 2016.
- [768] Gabriele Valentini, Davide Brambilla, Heiko Hamann, and Marco Dorigo. Collective perception of environmental features in a robot swarm. In *International Conference on Swarm Intelligence*, pages 65–76. Springer, 2016.
- [769] Gabriele Valentini, Heiko Hamann, and Marco Dorigo. Efficient decision-making in a selforganizing robot swarm: On the speed versus accuracy trade-off. In R. Bordini, E. Elkind, G. Weiss, and P. Yolum, editors, *Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems*, AAMAS '15. IFAAMAS, 2015.
- [770] A. Valera-Medina, D.G. Pugh, P. Marsh, G. Bulat, and P. Bowen. Preliminary study on lean premixed combustion of ammonia-hydrogen for swirling gas turbine combustors. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 42(38):24495–24503, sep 2017.

- [771] Dennis van Gerwen and Theo van Holten. A new approach to forced flapping for the ornicopter. In *The 26th Congress of ICAS and 8th AIAA ATIO*. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, sep 2008.
- [772] Theo van Holten, Monique Heiligers, and Gerard-Jan van de Waal. The ornicopter: A single rotor without reaction torque, basic principles. In 24th International Congress of the Aeronautical Sciences, 2004.
- [773] T.P. Van Nguyen, L. Tang , V. Demir , S.F. Hasan , and D.M. Mukhopadhyay . Review-microwave radar sensing systems for search and rescue purposes. *Sensors 2019*, (2879; doi:10.3390/s19132879), 2019.
- [774] Ashley Varghese, Jayavardhana Gubbi, Akshaya Ramaswamy, and P Balamuralidhar. Changenet: a deep learning architecture for visual change detection. In *Proceedings of the European Conference on Computer Vision (ECCV)*, pages 0–0, 2018.
- [775] Gábor Vásárhelyi, Csaba Virágh, Gergő Somorjai, Tamás Nepusz, Agoston E. Eiben, and Tamás Vicsek. Optimized flocking of autonomous drones in confined environments. *Science Robotics*, 3(20):eaat3536, 2018.
- [776] Julius M. Vegh and Juan J. Alonso. Design and Optimization of Short-Range Aluminum-Air Powered Aircraft. 2016.
- [777] Heidi Vella. Could quantum radars expose stealth planes? Engineering and Technology, Apr 2019.
- [778] Jon Verbeke and Joris De Schutter. Experimental maneuverability and agility quantification for rotary unmanned aerial vehicle. International Journal of Micro Air Vehicles, 10(1):3–11, oct 2017.
- [779] J. Verrico. Dhs s&t demonstrates precision timing technology at the new york stock exchange. Department for Homeland Security, 20 April 2016.
- [780] Dries Verstraete, Andrew Gong, Dylan D.-C. Lu, and Jennifer L. Palmer. Experimental investigation of the role of the battery in the aerostack hybrid, fuel-cell-based propulsion system for small unmanned aircraft systems. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 40(3):1598 – 1606, 2015.
- [781] Michael J. Vick, Andrew Heyes, and Keith Pullen. Design overview of a three-kilowatt recuperated ceramic turboshaft engine. In Volume 5: Microturbines and Small Turbomachinery Oil and Gas Applications. ASMEDC, jan 2009.
- [782] Tamás Vicsek, András Czirók, Eshel Ben-Jacob, Inon Cohen, and Ofer Shochet. Novel type of phase transition in a system of self-driven particles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 75:1226–1229, Aug 1995.
- [783] Ralph K. Cavin Victor V. Zhirnov. Microsystems for Bioelectronics: The Nanomorphic Cell. Elsevier LTD, Oxford, 2010.
- [784] Tomáš Vogeltanz. Conceptual design and control of twin-propeller tail-sitter mini-UAV. CEAS Aeronautical Journal, 10(3):937–954, mar 2019.
- [785] Paul Voigtlaender, Michael Krause, Aljosa Osep, Jonathon Luiten, Berin Balachandar Gnana Sekar, Andreas Geiger, and Bastian Leibe. Mots: Multi-object tracking and segmentation. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 7942– 7951, 2019.

- [786] David Vorsin and Shai Arogeti. Flight transition control of a multipurpose UAV. In 2017 13th IEEE International Conference on Control & Automation (ICCA). IEEE, jul 2017.
- [787] Athanasios Voulodimos, Nikolaos Doulamis, Anastasios Doulamis, and Eftychios Protopapadakis. Deep learning for computer vision: A brief review. Computational intelligence and neuroscience, 2018, 2018.
- [788] Thomas Wagner, J Phelps, V Guralnik, and R VanRiper. An application view of coordinators: Coordination managers for first responders. *AAAI*, 2004.
- [789] Anne Wainscott-Sargent. Embracing Satcom in an Age of Fast, Seamless Connectivity.
- [790] J. Wan and M. D. Pavel. Directional handling quality assessment for ornicopter. In 38th European Rotorcraft Forum, 2012.
- [791] J. Wan and M. D. Pavel. The ornicopter a tailless helicopter with active flapping blades. *The Aeronautical Journal*, 118(1205):743–773, jul 2014.
- [792] Jia Wan. Ornicopter Multidisciplinary Analyses and Conceptual Design. PhD thesis, Delft Technical University, 2014.
- [793] Jia Wan and Marilena D Pavel. Designing the ornicopter, a tailless helicopter with active flapping blades: a case study. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 230(12):2195–2219, aug 2016.
- [794] Kaipeng Wang, Hua Rong, Miqing Shi, Zhijun Meng, and Yaoming Zhou. Reactive obstacle avoidance for unmanned helicopter using fuzzy control. In 2018 37th Chinese Control Conference (CCC). IEEE, jul 2018.
- [795] Kangli Wang, Yijie Ke, Shupeng Lai, Kehong Gong, Ying Tan, and Ben M. Chen. Model-based optimal auto-transition and control synthesis for tail-sitter UAV KH-lion. In 2017 13th IEEE International Conference on Control & Automation (ICCA). IEEE, jul 2017.
- [796] Shaoqi WANG, Dongli MA, Muqing YANG, Liang ZHANG, and Guanxiong LI. Flight strategy optimization for high-altitude long-endurance solar-powered aircraft based on gauss pseudospectral method. *Chinese Journal of Aeronautics*, 2019.
- [797] Yongchao Wang, Yaoming Zhou, and Chenghao Lin. Modeling and control for the mode transition of a novel tilt-wing UAV. *Aerospace Science and Technology*, 91:593–606, aug 2019.
- [798] Zhengzhi Wang, Ning Zhao, and Chunling Zhu. Numerical simulation for three-dimensional rotor icing in forward flight. *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, 10(4):168781401877240, apr 2018.
- [799] B. Warneke, M. Last, B. Liebowitz, and K.S.J. Pister. Smart dust: communicating with a cubic-millimeter computer. *Computer*, 34(1):44–51, 2001.
- [800] Shinya Watanabe, Daisuke Mori, Sou Taminato, Yasuaki Matsuda, Osamu Yamamoto, Yasuo Takeda, and Nobuyuki Imanishi. Aqueous lithium rechargeable battery with a tin(ii) chloride aqueous cathode and a water-stable lithium-ion conducting solid electrolyte. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 166(4):A539–A545, 2019.
- [801] T. Watanabe and E.N. Johnson. Automatic landing on a moving platform using deep neural network estimation. In th AHS Technical Meeting on VTOL Unmanned Aircraft Systems and Autonomy, 2017.

- [802] Ed Waugh and Matthew Mowlem. Technical note: A low cost unmanned aerial vehicle for ship based science missions. *Ocean Science (OS)*, 6, 2010.
- [803] Feng Weiwei, Wu Yanxuan, Chen Yang, and Wang Zhengjie. Dynamic analysis and CFD calculation of a differential control type for ducted fan UAV. In Proceedings of 2014 International Conference on Modelling, Identification & Control. IEEE, dec 2014.
- [804] Arend G. Westr. Radar Versus Stealth: Passive Radar and the Future of US Military Power. Joint Force Quarterly, 55:136–143, 2009.
- [805] B.E. White. Tactical data links, air traffic management, and software programmable radios. In Gateway to the New Millennium. 18th Digital Avionics Systems Conference. Proceedings (Cat. No.99CH37033), volume C.2-7 vol.1, pages 5.C.5-1-5.C.5-8, St Louis, MO, USA, 1999. IEEE.
- [806] Christopher D Wickens, Justin G Hollands, Simon Banbury, and Raja Parasuraman. *Engineering* psychology and human performance. Psychology Press, 2015.
- [807] David E Wilkins, Thomas J Lee, and Pauline Berry. Interactive execution monitoring of agent teams. Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research (JAIR), 18:217–261, 2003.
- [808] Jon S. Wilson, editor. Sensor technology handbook. Newnes, 2005.
- [809] Justin Winslow, Vikram Hrishikeshavan, and Inderjit Chopra. Design methodology for smallscale unmanned quadrotors. *Journal of Aircraft*, 55(3):1062–1070, may 2018.
- [810] D. K. Woolf and C. Gommenginger. Radar altimetry: Introduction and application to air-sea interaction. In *Remote Sensing of the European Seas*, pages 283–294. Springer Netherlands, 2008.
- [811] Feng Wu, Sarvapali D. Ramchurn, and Xiaoping Chen. Coordinating human-uav teams in disaster response. In International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI-16), pages 524–530, 2016.
- [812] Mingjian Wu, Tianhang Xiao, Haisong Ang, and Hongda Li. Optimal flight planning for a zshaped morphing-wing solar-powered unmanned aerial vehicle. Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics, 41(2):497–505, 2018.
- [813] X Xiao, J J Zhang, and Q Zhang. Flight control reconfiguration of unmanned tiltrotor aircraft. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, 439:032103, nov 2018.
- [814] Carlos M. Xisto, J. A. Leger, J. C. Páscoa, L. Gagnon, P. Masarati, D. Angeli, and A. Dumas. Parametric analysis of a large-scale cycloidal rotor in hovering conditions. *Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, 30(1):04016066, jan 2017.
- [815] Carlos M. Xisto, José C. Páscoa, M. Abdollahzadeh, Jakson A. Leger, Meinhard Schwaiger, David Wills, Pierangelo Masarati, and Louis Gagon. PECyT - plasma enhanced cycloidal thruster. In 50th AIAA/ASME/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jul 2014.
- [816] Dan Xu, Zhe Hui, Yongqi Liu, and Gang Chen. Morphing control of a new bionic morphing uav with deep reinforcement learning. *Aerospace Science and Technology*, 92:232 – 243, 2019.
- [817] Haofeng Xu, Yiou He, and Steven R. H. Barrett. A dielectric barrier discharge ion source increases thrust and efficiency of electroaerodynamic propulsion. *Applied Physics Letters*, 114(25):254105, jun 2019.

- [818] Haofeng Xu, Yiou He, Kieran L. Strobel, Christopher K. Gilmore, Sean P. Kelley, Cooper C. Hennick, Thomas Sebastian, Mark R. Woolston, David J. Perreault, and Steven R. H. Barrett. Flight of an aeroplane with solid-state propulsion. *Nature*, 563(7732):532–535, nov 2018.
- [819] Tao Xu, Pengchuan Zhang, Qiuyuan Huang, Han Zhang, Zhe Gan, Xiaolei Huang, and Xiaodong He. Attngan: Fine-grained text to image generation with attentional generative adversarial networks. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, pages 1316–1324, 2018.
- [820] Nansi Xue, Wenbo Du, Joaquim R. R. A. Martins, and Wei Shyy. Lithium-ion batteries: Thermomechanics, performance, and design optimization. In *Handbook of Clean Energy Systems*, pages 1–16. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- [821] Song Xue and Wing Ng. Turbine blade tip external cooling technologies. *Aerospace*, 5(3):90, aug 2018.
- [822] Weijiang Xue, Zhe Shi, Liumin Suo, Chao Wang, Ziqiang Wang, Haozhe Wang, Kang Pyo So, Andrea Maurano, Daiwei Yu, Yuming Chen, Long Qie, Zhi Zhu, Guiyin Xu, Jing Kong, and Ju Li. Intercalation-conversion hybrid cathodes enabling li–s full-cell architectures with jointly superior gravimetric and volumetric energy densities. *Nature Energy*, 4(5):374–382, 2019.
- [823] K. S. Yakovlev, D. A. Makarov, and E. S. Baskin. Automatic path planning for an unmanned drone with constrained flight dynamics. *Sci. Tech. Inf. Process.*, 42(5):347–358, 2015.
- [824] Yavuz Yaman. Morphing wings and control surfaces: A new approach in aircraft design. In Mehmet Ismet Can Dede, Mehmet İtik, Erwin-Christian Lovasz, and Gökhan Kiper, editors, Mechanisms, Transmissions and Applications, pages 3–10. Springer International Publishing, 2018.
- [825] Chongyin Yang, Ji Chen, Xiao Ji, Travis P. Pollard, Xujie Lu, Cheng-Jun Sun, Singyuk Hou, Qi Liu, Cunming Liu, Tingting Qing, Yingqi Wang, Oleg Borodin, Yang Ren, Kang Xu, and Chunsheng Wang. Aqueous Li-ion battery enabled by halogen conversion-intercalation chemistry in graphite. *Nature*, 569(7755):245–250, 2019.
- [826] Hang Yang, Huangxing Lin, Jingyao Wang, and Jianping Zeng. Flight control of tilt rotor UAV during transition mode based on finite-time control theory. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Euro-China Conference on Intelligent Data Analysis and Applications*, pages 65–77. Springer International Publishing, dec 2018.
- [827] T. Yang, P. Li, H. Zhang, J. Li, and Z. Li. Monocular vision slam-based uav autonomous landing in emergencies and unknown environments. 2018.
- [828] Xiao-Guang Yang, Teng Liu, Yue Gao, Shanhai Ge, Yongjun Leng, Donghai Wang, and Chao-Yang Wang. Asymmetric temperature modulation for extreme fast charging of lithium-ion batteries. Joule, 2019/10/30.
- [829] Xingbang Yang, Tianmiao Wang, Jianhong Liang, Guocai Yao, and Miao Liu. Survey on the novel hybrid aquatic–aerial amphibious aircraft: Aquatic unmanned aerial vehicle (AquaUAV). Progress in Aerospace Sciences, 74:131–151, apr 2015.
- [830] Zhenheng Yang and Ramakant Nevatia. A multi-scale cascade fully convolutional network face detector. In 2016 23rd International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), pages 633–638. IEEE, 2016.

- [831] Zhi Qiang Yang and C.J. Wu. The influence of non-uniform impeller on the cross flow fan noise. *Key Engineering Materials*, 693:251–256, may 2016.
- [832] Penghui Yao, Haobin Yu, Zhiyu Ding, Yanchen Liu, Juan Lu, Marino Lavorgna, Junwei Wu, and Xingjun Liu. Review on polymer-based composite electrolytes for lithium batteries. Frontiers in Chemistry, 7:522, 2019.
- [833] Junrong Ye and Pier Marzocca. Hybrid propulsion strategies for a multi-modal UAV. In 2018 AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2018.
- [834] Hyeonsoo Yeo. Design and aeromechanics investigation of compound helicopters. Aerospace Science and Technology, 88:158–173, may 2019.
- [835] I. K. Yeo. Thrust augmentation study of cross-flow fan for vertical take-off and landing aircraft. Master's thesis, Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, 2013.
- [836] Yih Tang Yeo and Hugh H. Liu. Transition control of a tilt-rotor VTOL UAV. In 2018 AIAA Guidance, Navigation, and Control Conference. American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, jan 2018.
- [837] Sungwon Yoon, Gwon Deok Han, Dong Young Jang, Jun Woo Kim, Dong Hwan Kim, and Joon Hyung Shim. Fabrication of yttria-stabilized zirconia aerogel for high-performance thermal barrier coating. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, 806:1430–1434, oct 2019.
- [838] Quanzeng You, Hailin Jin, Zhaowen Wang, Chen Fang, and Jiebo Luo. Image captioning with semantic attention. In Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, pages 4651–4659, 2016.
- [839] Larry A. Young. What is a tiltrotor? a fundamental reexamination of the tiltrotor aircraft design space. In Proceedings of the AHS International Technical Meeting on Aeromechanics Design for Transformative Vertical Flight, 2018.
- [840] Fangjie Yu, Yunfei Liu, Longqing Fan, Linhua Li, Yong Han, and Ge Chen. Design and implementation of atmospheric multi-parameter sensor for UAV-based aerosol distribution detection. *Sensor Review*, 37:196–210, 2017.
- [841] Hu Yu, Zhang Hai Lang, and Wang Geng Qi. Two-dimensional and three-dimensional numerical simulations of cycloidal propellers in hover. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 232(7):1223–1234, nov 2016.
- [842] Li Yu, Daibing Zhang, and Jiyang Zhang. Transition flight modeling and control of a novel tilt tri-rotor UAV. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation (ICIA). IEEE, jul 2017.
- [843] Ziquan Yu, Youmin Zhang, and Yaohong Qu. Fault-tolerant control for autonomous aerial refueling against actuator fault in receiver uav. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 51(24):274 – 279, 2018. 10th IFAC Symposium on Fault Detection, Supervision and Safety for Technical Processes SAFE-PROCESS 2018.
- [844] C.Y. Yun, I. Park, H.Y. Lee, J.S. Jung, I.S. Hwang, S.J. Kim, and S.N. Jung. A new vtol uav cyclocopter with cycloidal blades system. In 60th Annual Forum Proceedings - American Helicopter Society, 2004.

- [845] Solomon Zaromb. The use and behavior of aluminum anodes in alkaline primary batteries. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 109(12):1125–1130, 1962.
- [846] Tengchan Zeng, Mohammad Mozaffari, Omid Semiari, Walid Saad, Mehdi Bennis, and Merouane Debbah. Wireless Communications and Control for Swarms of Cellular-Connected UAVs. arXiv:1812.00743, 2018.
- [847] Chengyu Zhang and Volker Gummer. The potential of helicopter turboshaft engines incorporating highly effective recuperators under various flight conditions. Aerospace Science and Technology, 88:84–94, may 2019.
- [848] G. Zhang, Y. Dong, and P. Liu. Classification of low probability of interception communication signal modulations based on time-frequency analysis and artificial neural network. In 2011 International Conference on Electronics, Communications and Control (ICECC), pages 1936– 1939, 2011.
- [849] Hailang Zhang, Yu Hu, and Gengqi Wang. The effect of aerofoil camber on cycloidal propellers. Aircraft Engineering and Aerospace Technology, 90(8):1156–1167, nov 2018.
- [850] Qingqing Zhang, Kai Liu, Fei Ding, and Xingjiang Liu. Recent advances in solid polymer electrolytes for lithium batteries. Nano Research, 10(12):4139–4174, Dec 2017.
- [851] Xu Zhang, David J. J. Toal, Andy J. Keane, Frederic Witham, Jonathan Gregory, Murthy Ravikanti, Emmanuel Aurifeille, Simon Stow, Mark Rogers, and Marco Zedda. Isothermal combustor prediffuser and fuel injector feed arm design optimization using the prometheus design system. Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power, 138(6), nov 2015.
- [852] Xu Zhang, Bin Xian, Bo Zhao, and Yao Zhang. Autonomous flight control of a nano quadrotor helicopter in a GPS-denied environment using on-board vision. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 62(10):6392–6403, oct 2015.
- [853] Zichao Zhang and Davide Scaramuzza. Perception-aware receding horizon navigation for mavs. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pages 2534–2541. IEEE, 2018.
- [854] Moju Zhao, Koji Kawasaki, Tomoki Anzai, Xiangyu Chen, Shintaro Noda, Fan Shi, Kei Okada, and Masayuki Inaba. Transformable multirotor with two-dimensional multilinks: Modeling, control, and whole-body aerial manipulation. *The International Journal of Robotics Research*, 37(9):1085–1112, aug 2018.
- [855] Jingyang Zhong, Bifeng Song, Wenqing Yang, and Peng Nian. Modeling and hover control of a dual-rotor tail-sitter unmanned aircraft. In *Intelligent Robotics and Applications*, pages 589–601. Springer International Publishing, 2017.
- [856] Guangmin Zhou, Feng Li, and Hui-Ming Cheng. Progress in flexible Lithium batteries and future prospects. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 7:1307–1338, 2014.
- [857] Ling Zhou, Lin Yao, Shixiong Li, Jiantao Zai, Shutang Li, Qingquan He, Kai He, Xiaomin Li, Donghai Wang, and Xuefeng Qian. The combination of intercalation and conversion reactions to improve the volumetric capacity of the cathode in Li–S batteries. J. Mater. Chem. A, 7:3618– 3623, 2019.

- [858] Luowei Zhou, Hamid Palangi, Lei Zhang, Houdong Hu, Jason J Corso, and Jianfeng Gao. Unified vision-language pre-training for image captioning and vqa. arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11059, 2019.
- [859] Rui Zhou, Dan Wu, and Jianping Wang. Progress of continuously rotating detonation engines. Chinese Journal of Aeronautics, 29(1):15–29, feb 2016.
- [860] Jun-Yan Zhu, Taesung Park, Phillip Isola, and Alexei A Efros. Unpaired image-to-image translation using cycle-consistent adversarial networks. In *Proceedings of the IEEE international* conference on computer vision, pages 2223–2232, 2017.
- [861] Rodger E. Ziemer. Fundamentals of Spread Spectrum Modulation. Synthesis Lectures on Communications, 2(1):1–79, January 2007.
- [862] Konstantinos Zikidis, Alexios Skondras, and Charisios Tokas. Low Observable Principles, Stealth Aircraft and Anti-Stealth Technologies. Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Applications of Mathematics and Informatics in Military Sciences, 104, 2013.
- [863] Le Zou. Mobile robot group for moving an item, May 2 2017. US Patent 9,637,310.
- [864] Muhammad Akmal Zulkipli and Khairul Nizam Tahar. Multirotor UAV-based photogrammetric mapping for road design. *International Journal of Optics*, 2018:1–7, oct 2018.